
 
 
 

 
PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE 

 
Date: Tuesday, 9 August 2022 

Time: 6.30pm, 
Location: Council Chamber 

Contact: Lisa Jerome 01438 242203 
committees@stevenage.gov.uk 

 
 
Members: Councillors:  M Downing (Chair), A Brown (Vice-Chair), M McKay, S Barr, 

T Callaghan, M Creasey, C Howells, G Lawrence CC, Mrs J Lloyd, 
A Mitchell CC, C Parris, G Snell, A Wells and Ashley-Wren 

 
_______________________________________________________________________________ 

AGENDA 
 

PART 1 
 

1.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 

2.   MINUTES - 14 JULY 2022 
 
To approve as a correct record the Minutes of the previous meeting held on 14 July 
2022. 

 
Pages 3 – 24 
 

3.   ANNUAL MONITORING REPORT 2020-21 
 
To consider the Annual Monitoring Report 2020-21. 

 Pages 25 – 84 
 

4.   19/00062/OPM - LAND AT MAXWELL ROAD 
 
To consider and outline application (with all matters reserved except access) for the 
demolition of existing buildings and replacement buildings to accommodate new office 
and residential floorspace (Class B1 and Class C3), with associated landscaping, car 
parking and ancillary works. 

 
Pages 85 - 222 

  
5.   22/00625/PATELE - BURGHLEY CLOSE 

 
To consider a proposed 5G telecoms installation: 15M street pole and 3 additional 
ancillary equipment cabinets and associated ancillary works. 

 
Pages 223 – 234 
 
 

Public Document Pack



 

6.   22/00635/PATELE - LAND ADJACENT TO VILLAGE CARS, BROADWATER 
CRESCENT 
 
To consider the installation of a new 15m-high telecommunications monopole and 3no. 
ground-based equipment cabinets; and ancillary development thereto. 

 
Pages 235 – 246 
 

7.   INFORMATION REPORT - DELEGATED DECISIONS 
 
To note a report on decisions taken by the Assistant Director Planning and Regulatory in 
accordance with his delegated authority. 

 
Pages 247 - 262 

  
8.   INFORMATION REPORT - APPEALS/CALLED IN APPLICATIONS 

 
To note a report on decisions taken by the Assistant Director Planning and Regulatory in 
accordance with his delegated authority. 

 
Pages 263 – 290 
 

9.   URGENT PART I BUSINESS 
 
To consider any Part I Business accepted by the Chair as urgent. 

 
10.   EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 

 
To consider the following motions that: 
 

1. Under Section 100(A) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press and 
public be excluded from the meeting for the following item of business on 
the grounds that it involved the likely disclosure of exempt information as 
described in paragraphs 1-7 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act as 
amended by Local Government (Access to information) (Variation) Order 
2006. 

 

2. That Members consider the reasons for the following reports (if any)being 
in Part II and determine whether or not maintaining the exemption from 
disclosure of the information contained therein outweighs the public 
interest in disclosure. 

 
11.   URGENT PART II BUSINESS 

 
To consider any Part II Business accepted by the Chair as urgent. 
 

 

 
 
Agenda Published 1 August 2022 

 



1 

STEVENAGE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE 
MINUTES 

 
Date: Thursday, 14 July 2022 

Time: 6.30pm 
Place: Council Chamber 

 
Present: Councillors: Michael Downing (Chair), Adrian Brown (Vice-Chair), Julie 

Ashley-Wren, Teresa Callaghan, Matt Creasey, Graham Lawrence CC, 
Mrs Joan Lloyd, Maureen McKay, Adam Mitchell CC, Claire Parris, 
Graham Snell and Anne Wells 
 

Start / End 
Time: 

Start Time: 6.30pm 
End Time: 8.18pm 

 
 
1   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 
 Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillors Sandra Barr and 

Chris Howells. 
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

2   MINUTES - 22 JUNE 2022  
 

 It was RESOLVED that the minutes of the Planning and Development Committee 
held on 22 June 2022 be approved as a correct record and signed by the Chair. 
 

3   21/00719/FP - CLARE'S LITTLE BEARS PLAYGROUP, STANMORE HALL, 
STANMORE ROAD, STEVENAGE  
 

 The Committee consider a report in respect of application 21/00719/FP seeking 
permission for the erection of single storey extensions to front, side and rear, dormer 
roof extensions, construction of mezzanine floor and partial replacement of boundary 
fence (Amended description) at Clare’s Little Bears Playgroup, Stanmore Hall, 
Stanmore Road, Stevenage. 
 
The Assistant Director (Planning & Regulation) gave a presentation in respect of this 
application. 
 
The Committee was addressed by the applicant, Clare Cole, in support of the 
application.  Members were informed that the Playgroup had been founded in 2016 
and currently had a “Good” OFSTED rating.  The children had access to all areas of 
the site (indoors and outdoors).  The proposal was to expand the premises to 
provide break out rooms for focussed learning, currently held in the less than ideal 
outhouse in the garden area. 
 
Clare explained that the internal improvements would include upgrading toilets.  Any 

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



2 

hiring out of the facility would be for events not involving the sale or consumption of 
alcohol.  The facility would continue to be open for 45 weeks of the year, with 
provision for a holiday club subject to demand.  The majority of parents lived in the 
local area and walked their children to the premises.  She considered that the 
majority of traffic in the vicinity of the site at peak times was primarily associated with 
dropping off/collecting at the nearby Letchmore School.  The proposed roof 
terrace/balcony would be a break out area for staff 
 
Clare stated that the proposals aimed to improve the functionality of the building, 
and she hoped that she had demonstrated that the children were at the forefront of 
the Playgroup’s plans for the future.   
 
The Committee was then addressed by Andy Whitmore, a resident of an adjoining 
property, in objection to the proposal.  Mr Whitmore stated that he was also 
speaking on behalf of some fellow objectors.  He was concerned with the impact on 
his privacy of the dormer windows on the north side of the extension.  He 
commented that these were 3m from the boundary of his property and would result 
in overlooking.  The daylight in his rear garden would also be affected by the 
scheme. 
 
Mr Whitmore noted that the proposed balcony/terrace had been screened from his 
property, but that the screen was not a structural addition to the plans.  Furthermore, 
there was nothing in place to prevent that space being used for social gatherings. 
 
Mr Whitmore referred to two trees on his property adjacent to the boundary with the 
Playgroup building whose roots could be impacted by the development works.  He 
also expressed concerns about the increase in traffic/parking on already congested 
roads that could result should be extension be approved.  He felt that his property 
was already impacted by the activity on the site, and he considered that this would 
only worsen should the application be granted permission. 
The Assistant Director (Planning & Regulation) advised that the site was well-
established for use by the Playgroup.  No increase in staffing was proposed, just a 
small increase in the number of children that could be accommodated. 
The objector’s concerns regarding overlooking had been alleviated by the screening 
of the terrace/balcony area, and there would be no first floor windows facing towards 
the adjoining property.  In view of the distance between the building and properties 
on the opposite side of Basils Road, the first floor level south facing windows were 
considered acceptable. 
 
In terms of traffic/parking, the Assistant Director (Planning & Regulation) commented 
that the Highway Authority had raised no objection to the application. 
 
The Assistant Director (Planning & Regulation) confirmed that it would be possible to 
add a condition restricting the hours of use of the balcony/terrace, as well an 
informative regarding protection of the roots of the trees in the neighbouring property 
during the construction works.  
 
The Assistant Director (Planning & Regulation) summarised by stating that he was of 
the view that the proposed additions would not have an adverse impact upon the 
character and appearance of the area, as their scale and character would match the 

Page 4



3 

original property, subject to a condition requiring the use of appropriate materials.  
An acceptable relationship with neighbouring properties would be maintained and 
additional measures relating to noise could be secured through condition.  There 
were no concerns with regard to highway safety and the lack of any additional 
parking provision in this location was not considered to be detrimental such that a 
refusal of permission was warranted.  There would be no loss of trees and the small 
amount of hedging to be removed was not considered harmful.  Therefore, the 
proposal would accord with relevant Development Plans and provisions of the 
NPPF. 

In reply to Members’ questions, the Assistant Director (Planning & Regulation) 
commented as follows: 
 

 the wall of the single-storey side extension would form part of the boundary 
with the neighbouring property.  The remainder of the boundary would be 
hedging/fencing; 

 the first floor dormer windows would face Basils Road, with the toilet window 
being obscure glazed; 

 the rooflights in the ground floor side extension were to allow light in and would 
not overlook any part of the adjoining property; and 

 the ratio between the numbers of staff and children was controlled by OFSTED. 
 
In supporting the recommended grant of planning permission, the Committee agreed 
to an additional condition (No. 9) concerning a restriction on the hours of use of the 
roof terrace/balcony, together with an additional informative (No. 4) regarding the 
protection of tree roots adjacent to the site. 
 
It was RESOLVED that application 21/00719/FP be granted planning permission, 
subject to the following conditions, and including an additional Condition concerning 
use of the roof terrace/balcony, and an additional Informative (No. 4) concerning the 
protection of tree roots during the construction works: 
 
1 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

following approved plans:  
6779(P)010, 6779(P)011, 6779(P)100, 6779(P)-101 Rev. A, 6779(P)102, 
6779(P)103, 6779(P)104 Rev. A, 6779(P)105 Rev. A, 6779(P)106 Rev. A, 
6779(P)200 Rev. A, 6779(P)201 Rev. A, 6779(P)202 Rev. A, 6779(P)203 Rev. 
A, 6779(P)300 Rev. A, (P)301  

 
REASON: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 

 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 

three years from the date of this permission. 
  

REASON: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004). 

 
3. No demolition, construction or maintenance activities audible at the boundary 

and no deliveries of construction and demolition materials shall be undertaken 

Page 5



4 

outside the hours 07:30 hours to 18:00 hours Mondays to Fridays, 08:00 hours 
to 13.00 hours on Saturdays and shall not operate on a Sunday or Bank 
Holiday, unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.  

 
REASON: To ensure the demolition of the existing buildings and the 
construction and maintenance of the development does not prejudice the 
amenities of occupiers of nearby premises due to noise pollution.  

 
4. No development above slab level shall take place until details/samples of the 

materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the 
extensions, dormer windows, balcony and canopy hereby permitted have been 
submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
REASON: To ensure the development has an acceptable appearance and is of 
a high quality. 

 
5. The development hereby approved shall not be brought into use until the 

screening treatment to the western edge of the roof terrace, as indicated on 
drawing ref. 6779-(P)105 Rev. A, has been provided and shall be maintained at 
a height no less than 1.7m throughout the lifetime of the development, unless 
otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. 

 
 REASON: To safeguard the privacy of the occupiers of adjoining properties. 
 
6. The development hereby approved shall not be brought into use until a Noise 

Management Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The Plan shall include measures the providers shall 
introduce and carry out in order to control noise levels at the property. The 
development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details.  

 
 REASON: To safeguard the amenities of the occupiers of adjoining properties 

against noise. 
 
7. Notwithstanding the details submitted, the development shall not be brought 

into use until details of all boundary treatments have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Details shall include the 
use of solid treatments, including acoustic treatments behind the retained 
hedging along the eastern and southern boundaries. The development shall 
thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved details prior to first 
use and shall remain in-situ in this form for the length of time the use is 
operating. 

 
 REASON: To safeguard the amenities of the occupiers of adjoining properties 

against noise.  
 
8. Prior to first use of the development hereby permitted the existing vehicular 

access adjacent of the double gates shall be permanently closed, and the 
footway shall be reinstated to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority. 

 

Page 6



5 

 REASON: To ensure construction of a satisfactory development and in the 
interest of highway safety and amenity. 

 
9. The first floor terrace/balcony hereby approved shall not be available for use 

after 19:00 hours Monday to Friday and at no time on Saturdays, Sundays and 
Bank/Public Holidays. 

 
REASON:  In the interests of protecting the amenity of neighbouring residential 
properties. 

 
Informatives 
 
1. Building Regulations 
 

To obtain advice regarding current Building Regulations please contact 
Hertfordshire Building Control Ltd. by emailing us at 
building.control@hertfordshirebc.co.uk or phoning us on 01438 879990. 

 
To make a building regulations application please apply through our website 
portal at https://www.hertfordshirebc.co.uk/contact-us/ payment can be made 
online or by phoning the above number after the application has been 
uploaded.  Please phone Hertfordshire Building Control for fees guidance on 
01438 879990. 

 
Hertfordshire Building Control can also be contacted by post at Hertfordshire 
Building Control Ltd, 4th Floor, Campus West, Welwyn Garden City, 
Hertfordshire, AL8 6BX. 

 
Once a building regulations application has been deposited with relevant 
drawings and fee building work may commence.  You will be advised in their 
acknowledgement letter of the work stages we need to inspect but in most 
instances these are usually: 

 
         Excavation for foundations 
        Damp proof course 
         Concrete oversite 
         Insulation 
         Drains (when laid or tested) 
         Floor and Roof construction 
         Work relating to fire safety 
         Work affecting access and facilities for disabled people 
        Completion 
 

Please phone Hertfordshire Building Control on 01438 879990 before 10.00am 
to ensure a same day inspection (Mon - Fri). 

 
2. Hertfordshire County Council as Highways Authority 

Parking and Storage of materials: The applicant is advised that all areas for 
parking, storage, and delivery of materials associated with the construction of 
this development should be provided within the site on land which is not public 

Page 7



6 

highway, and the use of such areas must not interfere with the public highway.  
If this is not possible, authorisation should be sought from the Highway 
Authority before construction works commence.  Further information is 
available via the website: https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-
roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-
management/highways-development-management.aspx or by telephoning 
0300 1234047. 

 
3 Hertfordshire County Council as Highways Authority 

Obstruction of public highway land: It is an offence under section 137 of the 
Highways Act 1980 for any person, without lawful authority or excuse, in any 
way to wilfully obstruct the free passage along a highway or public right of way. 
If this development is likely to result in the public highway or public right of way 
network becoming routinely blocked (fully or partly) the applicant must contact 
the Highway Authority to obtain their permission and requirements before 
construction works commence.  Further information is available via the website:  
http://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/transtreets/highways/ or by 
telephoning 0300 1234047. 

 
4. Care shall be given during the excavation and construction phase of this 

development hereby permitted to ensure that these works do not cause harm 
to any roots within the root protection area of trees adjacent the application 
site. 

 
4   21/01302/FPH - 22 GROVE ROAD, STEVENAGE  

 
 The Committee considered a report in respect of application 21/01302/FPH seeking 

planning permission for a part single-storey, part two-storey rear extension and front 
porch at 22 Grove Road, Stevenage. 
 
The Development Manager gave a presentation on the application.  He commented 
that the plans had been amended to allow for the proposed extension to be stepped 
back from the boundaries of the adjoining properties.  The proposal was acceptable 
in terms of its impact on the amenity of neighbouring properties, and was in 
accordance with BRE guidelines in relation to daylight, sunlight and overshadowing. 
 
On behalf of the applicant, the Committee was addressed by Martin Webster (Archer 
Architects).  Mr Webster made the following points: 
 

 the initial brief for the project had been to re-model the ground floor rear 
extension (including the kitchen and an additional utility room and downstairs 
toilet) following the demolition of the existing conservatory; 

 an additional bedroom would be created at first floor level; 

 the extension did not breach the 45 degree line in plan and elevation form from 
any habitable room window of the neighbouring properties; 

 the first floor bathroom window on the east flank of the property would be 
obscure glazed; 

 the ground floor extension was 700mm away from the adjoining boundary in 
order to protect the roots of a nearby Yew tree; 

 the front porch extension related to a minor remodelling of the entrance 

Page 8



7 

arrangements; 

 the application site was not in the Old Town Conservation Area and he 
considered the design to be acceptable in this location, with all materials to be 
used matching the existing; and 

 as referred to by the Development Manager, daylight modelling had been 
carried out based on a full year cycle of all four seasons, with the result that 
any overshadowing to neighbouring gardens caused by the proposed rear 
extension would be minimal and within acceptable standards. 

 
The Committee was addressed by Mr Slawek Dejneka, a resident of one of the 
adjoining properties, objecting to the application.  Mr Dejneka was of the view that 
the proposed rear extension exceeded the 45 degree line and should therefore be 
rejected.  The first floor bathroom window overlooked his rear patio which was 
unacceptable, and would therefore result in a loss of privacy. 
 
Mr Dejneka disputed the results of the tests carried out in relation to loss of daylight, 
and provided a plan showing how, in his opinion, the 6.5m height of the extension 
would be overbearing in relation to his property.  He also claimed that he had not 
been consulted regarding the amended plans for the application. 
 
The Committee was then addressed by Himani Lal, a resident of the other adjoining 
property, also objecting to the application.  Himani had lived in her property for over 
30 years and was distressed that the applicant and their architect had not met with 
her to discuss the proposals, in order to consider the possibility of design/aesthetic 
improvements.  Many of the properties in Grove Road had rear extensions, but she 
felt that a more innovative and co-operative solution could have been found for the 
one proposed in the application. 
 
Himani commented that the minimal amendments made through submission of the 
amended plans did not negate her objections to the application.  The elevation 
drawings were back to front and were not drawn accurately.  The extension would 
be massively overbearing and would result in a loss of sunlight to her rear garden.  
She considered the proposal would also result in an unacceptable loss of privacy 
and requested that, in its current form, the application should be refused permission. 
 
The Development Manager confirmed that the consultation letter regarding the 
amended plans had been sent out, and that delivery was reliant on the Royal Mail.  
He further confirmed that, following advice from the Council’s Arboriculture & 
Conservation Manager, an informative had been added urging care to be taken with 
the roots of the Yew Tree on the site. 
 
The Development Manager concluded that the proposed development would not 
have a detrimental impact on the character and appearance of the host application 
property or the visual amenities of the wider street scene.  In addition, the extension 
would not constitute an unneighbourly or overdominant form of development 
resulting in an unacceptable level of visual intrusion. Furthermore, the proposed 
development would not generate an additional level of overshadowing along with 
impacting upon the level of sunlight and daylight of neighbouring properties to a level 
at which would be sufficient to warrant refusal.  Moreover, the proposal did not 
require additional off-street parking.  The proposed development would therefore 

Page 9



8 

accord with the relevant polices of the adopted Local Plan (2019), the Council’s 
Design Guide SPD (2009), the Council’s Parking Standards SPD (2020), the NPPF 
(2021) and PPG. 
 
In response to Members’ questions, the Development Manager stated: 
 

 the results of the daylight/sunlight test undertaken by the applicant were taken 
on good faith by officers.  The Council had no software to verify the results, but 
officers were content that the process had been carried out in accordance with 
BRE guidelines; 

 there would be a level of harm to the amenity of the adjoining properties, but 
not of such significance as to warrant a refusal of permission; and 

 the objectors had been afforded the opportunity to provide alternative evidence 
in relation to the loss of daylight/sunlight.  Members had been provided with the 
information provided by the objectors in this regard. 

 
Following a vote, the Committee supported the recommendation to grant planning 
permission to application 21/01302/FPH. 
 
It was RESOLVED that application 21/01302/FPH be granted planning permission, 
subject to the following conditions: 
 
1 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in general accordance 

with the following approved plans:  
 2110-11(P)001; 2110-11(P)002; 2110-11(P)101; 2110-11(P)102A; 2110-

11(P)201B; 2110-11(P)202B; Design Proposal: Comparative Orientation 
Study. 

  
 REASON: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 
 
2   The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 

three years from the date of this permission. 

REASON: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004). 

3   The materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the 
development hereby permitted shall be as specified in the application 
submission unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

   REASON: To ensure the development has an acceptable appearance.  

INFORMATIVES 

1 Community Infrastructure Levy 

Stevenage Borough Council adopted a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
Charging Schedule at Full Council on 27 January 2020 and started 

Page 10



9 

implementing CIL on 01 April 2020.  

This application may be liable for CIL payments and you are advised to 
contact the CIL Team for clarification with regard to this. If your development 
is CIL liable, even if you are granted an exemption from the levy, please be 
advised that it is a requirement under Regulation 67 of The Community 
Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended) that CIL Form 6 
(Commencement Notice) must be completed, returned and acknowledged by 
Stevenage Borough Council before building works start. Failure to do so will 
mean you risk losing the right to payment by instalments and a surcharge will 
be imposed. NB, please note that a Commencement Notice is not required for 
residential extensions if relief has been granted.  

Stevenage's adopted CIL Charging Schedule and further details of CIL can be 
found on the Council's webpages at www.stevenage.gov.uk/CIL or by 
contacting the Council's CIL Team at CIL@Stevenage.gov.uk . 

2 Party Wall etc. Act 1996 

 Any work that affects a party wall, including foundations dug within 3.0m of a 
neighbouring building, may be controllable under the Act and may require 
approval from the adjoining owner(s).  Party Wall Act matters are always civil 
matters and it is neither Stevenage Borough Council's nor Hertfordshire 
Building Control Ltd's remit to control or enforce Party Wall act matters.  
Please refer to the Government's explanatory booklet The Party Wall etc. Act 
1996, a copy of which is available online at  

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-party-wall-etc-act-1996-
revised-explanatory-booklet 

3 Building Regulations 

To obtain advice regarding current Building Regulations please contact 
Hertfordshire Building Control Ltd. by emailing us at 
building.control@hertfordshirebc.co.uk or phoning us on 01438 879990. 

To make a building regulations application please apply through our website 
portal at https://www.hertfordshirebc.co.uk/contact-us/ payment can be made 
online or by phoning the above number after the application has been 
uploaded.  Please phone Hertfordshire Building Control for fees guidance on 
01438 879990. 

Hertfordshire Building Control can also be contacted by post at Hertfordshire 
Building control Ltd., 4th Floor, Campus West, Welwyn Garden City, 
Hertfordshire, AL8 6BX. 

Once a building regulations application has been deposited with relevant 
drawings and fee building work may commence.  You will be advised in their 
acknowledgement letter of the work stages we need to inspect but in most 

Page 11

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-party-wall-etc-act-1996-revised-explanatory-booklet
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-party-wall-etc-act-1996-revised-explanatory-booklet


10 

instances these are usually: 

         Excavation for foundations 
Damp proof course 

        Concrete oversite 
         Insulation 
         Drains (when laid or tested) 
         Floor and Roof construction 
        Work relating to fire safety 
         Work affecting access and facilities for disabled people 
         Completion 

Please phone Hertfordshire Building Control on 01438 879990 before 
10.00am to ensure a same day inspection (Mon - Fri).  

4 Impact on the Yew Tree 

 Care shall be given during the excavation and construction phase of this 
development hereby permitted to ensure that these works do not cause harm 
to any roots within the root protection area of the Yew Tree. 

 
5   22/00098/FPM - LAND TO THE EAST OF THE A602 AND SOUTH OF GRAVELEY 

ROAD, STEVENAGE  
 

 The Committee considered a report in respect of application 22/00098/FPM seeking 
planning permission for the erection of a 54-bed building for C2A planning use (in 
this case use as an NHS Adult Acute Mental Health Unit) with access, car parking, 
landscaping and associated works on land east of the A602 road and south of 
Graveley Road, Stevenage. 
 
The Principal Planning Officer gave a presentation on the application and the report.  
She focussed on the flood attenuation measures that had been submitted as part of 
the application, particularly in relation to the southern area of the site, including the 
lower car park. 
 
The Principal Planning Officer concluded that the erection of a 54-bed building for 
C2A planning use with access, car parking, landscaping and associated works was 
acceptable, subject to conditions.  The proposal, with high quality design and 
landscaping features, would comply with the relevant land use policies for the area.  
Furthermore, it would not impact on the amenities of neighbouring properties and 
would not be in conflict with any environmental or highways policies.  She therefore 
considered that the application was in compliance with the Council’s adopted Local 
Plan (2019), Parking Provision and Sustainable Travel SPD (2020), Stevenage 
Design Guide SPD (2009), The Impact of Development on Biodiversity SPD (2021), 
the NPPF (2021) and NPPG (2014). 
 
In response to Members questions and comments, the Principal Planning Officer 
and Assistant Director (Planning & Regulation): 
 

Page 12



11 

 acknowledged that the scheme description (ie. C2A Planning use) was non-
specific, in that it did not refer directly to its proposed use as an NHSC Adult 
Acute mental health unit.  Officers had used the submitted description for 
consultation purposes, but agreed to ensure that the description in future 
similar applications would be more explicit when carrying out consultation; 

 confirmed that some very detailed conditions regarding flooding had been 
recommended, as proposed by the Council’s appointed drainage consultant.  A 
detailed Drainage Strategy was required to be submitted prior to the 
commencement of any works on site; 

 stated that, in respect of safety of users, there would be strict security 
measures within the proposed building.  Externally, there would be fencing 
between the upper and lower parts of the site; 

 confirmed that the application site contained no Public Footpaths, although 
there were a number of them adjacent to the site; and 

 commented that there was no audible buzzing sound from the electricity pylons 
that traversed the site. 

 
The Committee supported the recommended grant of planning permission to 
application 22/00098/FPM. 
 
It was RESOLVED that, subject to the applicant entering into a Unilateral 
Undertaking to secure/provide financial contributions towards local employment and 
apprenticeships (the detail of which would be delegated to the Assistant Director: 
Planning & Regulation in liaison with the Council’s appointed solicitor, application 
22/00098/FPM be granted planning permission, subject to the following conditions: 
 
1 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

approved plans: 

 EN54-RYD-00-ZZ-DR-A-0100-S2-P4; EN54-RYD-00-ZZ-DR-A-0101; EN54-
RYD-00-ZZ-DR-A-1001; EN54-RYD-00-ZZ-DR-A-1120; EN54-RYD-00-ZZ-
DR-A-3601; EN54-RYD-00-ZZ-DR-A-3602; EN54-RYD-00-ZZ-DR-A-3603; 
EN54-RYD-00-ZZ-DR-A-3604; EN54-RYD-00-ZZ-DR-A-3605; EN54-RYD-MB-
01-DR-A-3002-S2-P10; EN54-RYD-MB-LG-DR-A-3000-S2-P10; EN54-RYD-
MB-RF-DR-A-3040; EN54-RYD-MB-UG-DR-A-3001-S2-P12; EN54-RYD-SW-
01-DR-L-2110-S2-P12; EN54-RYD-00-01-DR-L-2113; EN54-RYD-00-LG-DR-
L-2111; EN54-RYD-00-UG-DR-L-2112; EN54-CAP-XX-XX-DR-E-6301 P05 

 REASON: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 

2 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 
three years from the date of this permission. 

  
 REASON: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and 

Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004). 

 
3 The building works required to implement this permission shall be carried out 

only between the following times: 
 

Page 13



12 

0730 to 1800 Mondays to Fridays 
0830 to 1300 Saturdays 
And not at all on Sundays and Bank Holidays. 

 
The hours specified relate to activities which are audible at the site boundary. 
 
REASON: To satisfactorily protect the residential amenities of nearby 
occupiers and the operation of adjoining businesses. 

 
4 No development shall commence until a Construction Traffic Management 

Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. Thereafter the construction of the development shall only be carried 
out in accordance with the approved Plan. The Construction Traffic 
Management Plan shall include details of: 
a. Construction vehicle numbers, type, routing; 
b. Access arrangements to the site; 
c. Traffic management requirements 
d. Construction and storage compounds (including areas designated for car 
parking, loading / unloading and turning areas); 
e. Siting and details of wheel washing facilities; 
f. Cleaning of site entrances, site tracks and the adjacent public highway; 
g. Timing of construction activities (including delivery times and removal of 
waste) and to avoid school pick up/drop off times; 
h. Provision of sufficient on-site parking prior to commencement of 
construction activities; 
i. Post construction restoration/reinstatement of the working areas and 
temporary access to the public highway; 
j. where works cannot be contained wholly within the site a plan should be 
submitted showing the site layout on the highway including extent of 
hoarding, pedestrian routes and remaining road width for vehicle movements. 
 
REASON: In order to protect highway safety and the amenity of other users 
of the public highway and rights of way in accordance with Policies 5, 12, 17 
and 22 of Hertfordshire’s Local Transport Plan. 

 
5 Prior to first occupation of the development hereby permitted, details of the 

proposed pedestrian / emergency vehicle access onto the A602 Hitchin Road 
shall be submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority, 
in consultation with Hertfordshire County Council as Highway Authority.  The 
access shall only be used for pedestrian, emergency vehicle and 
maintenance use thereafter. 
 
REASON: To ensure the development does not prejudice the safety and 
operation of the highway. 

 
6 Prior to first occupation of the development hereby permitted, pedestrian 

dropped kerbs and tactile paving shall be provided over the Victoria Court 
access on approach to the site. 

  
REASON: In order to deliver sustainable transport objectives including 

Page 14



13 

improving pedestrian access to the site. 
 
7 Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted full details of 

the secure and covered cycle parking stores shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Details shall also include 
how the stores are to be managed and maintained. The cycle stores shall 
thereafter be completed and ready for use in accordance with the approved 
details and thereafter retained for the sole use of cycle parking.  
 
REASON: To ensure adequate secure and covered cycle parking provision is 
available at all times to promote sustainable modes of transport. 

 
8 The Travel Plan as submitted with this planning application shall be 

implemented, monitored and reviewed in accordance with the agreed travel 
plan targets to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority. 
REASON: In order to deliver sustainable transport objectives including a 
reduction in car journeys and increased use of public transport, walking and 
cycling. 
 

9 The parking, turning and servicing areas shown on drawing number EN54-
RYD-SW-01-DR-L-2110-S2-P12 shall be provided, marked out and hard 
surfaced ready for use prior to the first occupation of the development and 
shall be retained in that form and kept available for those purposes thereafter. 

  
 REASON: To ensure that adequate parking and servicing facilities are 

available within the site and that there is no detriment to the safety of adjoining 
highways. 

 
10 No above ground works shall take place until a scheme for the provision of 

adequate water supplies and fire hydrants, necessary for firefighting purposes 
at the site, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  The development shall not be occupied until the scheme 
has been implemented in accordance with the approved details.  

  
 REASON: To ensure adequate water infrastructure provision is made on site 

for the local fire service to discharge its statutory firefighting duties. 
 
11 Prior to the commencement of the development the developer shall carry out a 

noise assessment in accordance with relevant guidance and standards and a 
scheme for sound insulation and noise control measures shall be submitted for 
the Council’s written approval.  

 Once implemented, the scheme of measures shall be maintained in 
accordance with the approved details. 

  
 REASON: To protect the amenities of future residents and in accordance with 

Local Plan Policy FP7. 
 
12 No development shall take place (including site clearance) until a 

comprehensive study into the options for daylighting Ash Brook and the 
creation of an accompanying flood storage area has been submitted to and 

Page 15



14 

approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The study shall be 
prepared in accordance with relevant good practice guidance and based on 
(but not limited to) the following principles: 

 
a) An approach which seeks to maximise the range of benefits, betterment 

and opportunities associated with daylighting of Ash Brook and the 
creation of an associated flood storage area.  Daylighting opportunities 
should include benefits to biodiversity and water quality.   

b) Inclusion of a formal flood storage area in the location currently 
identified for floodplain compensation, including indicative design of 
embankments, flow control structures and spillways.   

c) A comprehensive baseline understanding of the existing Hitchin Culvert 
to allow informed decisions to be taken, identifying relevant constraints 
and opportunities, including watercourse survey cross sections, 
numerous photographs of the culvert and surrounds as it passes 
through the site, and key elevations of sections of the culvert which 
would remain.   

d) Indicative design drawings and layout plans for a range of feasibility 
design options (including indicative elevations, cross sections and 
outfall and headwall structures) for selection to take forward to detailed 
design (the next stage is to confirm the details of the agreed design 
only).   

e) Hydraulic modelling to support the assessment of feasibility design 
options identified.  Both the baseline and with-development modelling 
will need to be subject to independent external technical review to 
ensure suitable assurance of the options is undertaken.    

f) An approach developed in consultation with relevant stakeholders, 
including but not limited to Stevenage Borough Council, the Lead Local 
Flood Authority, the Environment Agency and, if necessary/appropriate, 
the statutory undertaker for sewerage (foul and surface water).  

 
REASON: To realise betterment with respect to biodiversity, water quality and 
flood risk associated with naturalised watercourses. 

 
13 Prior to occupation, a final detailed design for the selected option agreed 

under condition 12 for daylighting of Ash Brook and the creation of an 
accompanying flood storage area should be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Ash Brook daylighting and 
floodplain storage scheme should be constructed within 6 months of 
occupation of the development.   
  
REASON: To ensure sustainable and suitable design of naturalised 
watercourses and flood storage features.  

 
14 No development shall take place (including site clearance) until a final detailed 

design for the drainage scheme for the site has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall be 
based on the following principles: 

 
a) Discharging surface water run-off generated by the 1 in 100 year + 40% 

Page 16



15 

climate change critical storm by gravity and by infiltration, or if infiltration 
is proven not possible in specific parts of the site, by limiting the surface 
water run off to the QBAR greenfield run-off rate or less, in accordance 
with an agreement from the relevant body to whom discharges would 
occur.   

b) Providing attenuation on-site for all rainfall events up to and including 
the 1 in 100 year + 40% climate change event. 

c) Permeable paving in car parking areas;  
d) Demonstration that any ‘allowable’ flooding at the ground surface would 

be: contained within areas suitable for such a use (i.e. outside of 
buildings and away from key access points) for all events (including 
exceedance events); and also within the site boundaries to a maximum 
flood depth of up to 100mm during the 100 year plus 40% climate 
change storm events. 

 
 The scheme shall also provide the following: 
 

a) Evidence that flexibility in delivery of infiltration (depth and extent) is 
possible in case any variation in soakage rates is later identified; 

b) Evidence of further infiltration testing, carried out in accordance with 
BRE Digest 365, at the location and proposed depth of any infiltration 
measure(s); 

c) Green roofs (wherever possible); 
d) Appropriate treatment before discharge; 
e) Evidence of agreement (of principle and rates) from the relevant body 

or bodies to whom discharges would occur (where applicable); 
f) Updated surface water drainage calculations and modelling where 

appropriate for all rainfall events up to and including the 1 in 100 year 
plus climate change event; 

g) An updated detailed surface water drainage plan where appropriate, 
showing all proposed discharge points, SuDS features and pipe runs 
(with sizes); 

h) Detailed engineered drawings of the proposed SuDS features including 
their size, volume, depth and any inlet and outlet features, including any 
connecting pipe runs along, with all corresponding detailed 
calculations/modelling; 

i) Updated proposals to address flood risks associated with exceedance 
events, for events greater than the 1 in 100 year plus climate change 
event. 

 
 The approved drainage scheme shall be implemented in full prior to the 
beneficial occupation of the development to which this permission relates and 
shall be permanently retained as such thereafter unless otherwise agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
  
REASON: To adhere to the hierarchy of drainage options, as set out in 
paragraph 080 of the Planning Practice Guidance; to maximise the use of 
SuDS in the interests of mitigating the risk of flooding to the site itself and 
downstream; to prevent pollutants entering the public water supply and nearby 
watercourses; and to maximise the sustainability of the development. 

Page 17



16 

 
15 Prior to occupation, a management and maintenance plan for the approved 

SuDS features and drainage network must be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include: 

 
a) Provision of a complete set of as built drawings, including the final 

drainage layout for the site drainage network; 
b) Maintenance and operational activities;  
c) Arrangements for adoption; and, 
d) Any other measures necessary to secure the operation of the scheme 

throughout its lifetime. 
 

 The approved plan shall be fully implemented from the date of approval and 
thereafter for the lifetime of the development unless otherwise agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
  
REASON: To maximise the use of SuDS in the interests of mitigating the risk 
of flooding to the site itself and downstream; to prevent pollutants entering the 
public water supply and nearby watercourses; and to maximise the 
sustainability of the development. 

 
16 Development shall not commence until a landscape and ecological 

management plan (LEMP) has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, 
the local planning authority. The content of the LEMP shall ensure the delivery 
of the agreed number of habitat units identified in the NE biodiversity Metric as 
a minimum (6.79 habitat units) to achieve a biodiversity net gain. The LEMP 
must include the following: 

 
  a) Description and evaluation of features to be managed. 
 b) Aims and objectives of management. 

 c) Appropriate management options for achieving target condition for habitats 
as described in the approved metric. 
 d) Prescriptions for management actions, only definitive measures are 
acceptable. 
 e) Preparation of an annual work schedule (including a 30 year work plan 
capable of being rolled forward in perpetuity), clearly marked on plans. 
 f) Details of the body or organisation responsible for implementation of the 
plan. 
 g) Ongoing monitoring plan and remedial measures to ensure habitat condition 
targets in the approved metric are met. 
 h) Details of species selected to achieve target habitat conditions as identified 
in approved metric, definitively stated and marked on plans. 

 
 The LEMP shall also include details of the legal and funding mechanism(s) by 
which the long-term implementation of the plan will be secured by the 
developer with the management bod(ies) responsible for its delivery. The plan 
shall also set out (where the results from monitoring show that conservation 
aims and objectives of the LEMP are not being met) how contingencies and/or 
remedial action will be identified, agreed and implemented so that the 
development still delivers the fully functioning biodiversity objectives of the 

Page 18



17 

originally approved scheme.' 
  

 REASON: To achieve a measurable biodiversity net gain in accordance with 
NPPF. 

 
17 Prior to the commencement of the development, details of biodiversity 

enhancement measures in the ecological report, consisting of 10 integrated 
bat cavity boxes, 15 integrated swift boxes, shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The approved measures 
shall be incorporated into the scheme, be fully constructed prior to occupation 
of the approved development and retained as such thereafter. 
  
REASON: To conserve and enhance biodiversity in accordance with NPPF. 

 
18 If reptiles are found to be present on site following the results of the 

presence/absence survey, an appropriate mitigation strategy for reptiles shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in 
consultation with Herts and Middlesex Wildlife Trust. The mitigation measures 
shall thereafter be put in place in accordance with the approved detail.  

  
 REASON: To conserve and enhance biodiversity in accordance with NPPF. 
 
19 Prior to the commencement of development an Arboricultural Impact 

Assessment, Tree Protection Plan and Method Statement shall be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The identified tree 
protection measures shall be implemented in accordance with the approved 
details prior to the commencement of development and shall remain in place 
until the development has been completed.  

  
 REASON: To ensure that the retained tree(s) are not damaged or otherwise 

adversely affected during site operations. 
 
20 No tree shown retained on the approved plans, or subsequently approved 

Tree Protection Plan and Method Statement, shall be cut down, uprooted or 
destroyed, nor shall any retained tree be topped or lopped within five years of 
the completion of development without the written approval of the Local 
Planning Authority. 

  
 REASON: To ensure the protection of those trees which should be retained in 

the interests of visual amenity. 
 
21 If any retained tree referred to in condition 21 is removed, uprooted or 

destroyed or dies within 5 years of the completion of development, a 
replacement tree should be planted in the same place and that tree shall be of 
such a size and species, and shall be planted at such time, as may be 
specified in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

  
 REASON: To ensure the replacement of those trees which should be retained 

in the interests of visual amenity. 
 

Page 19



18 

22 The measures to address adaptation to climate change as set out within the 
BREEAM Pre-Assessment prepared by Method Consulting shall be 
implemented and permanently maintained in accordance with the approved 
details. 

  
 REASON: To ensure the development is adaptable to climate change through 

provision of energy and water efficiency measures. 
 
23 The external lighting shall be implemented in accordance with the 

recommendations within the External Lighting Report and associated External 
Lighting Layout Drawing EN54-CAP-XX-XX-DR-E-6301 Rev 02, prepared by 
Capita and permanently maintained in accordance with the approved details. 

  
 REASON: To ensure a satisfactory appearance for the development and to 

prevent light pollution. 
 
24 The development hereby permitted shall be completed in accordance with the 

external materials specified within the Design and Access Statement by Ryder 
as approved. 

  
 REASON: To ensure a satisfactory appearance for the development. 
 
25 All hard and soft landscaping shall be carried out in accordance with the 

approved details as set out in drawing number EN54-RYD-SW-01-DR-L-2110-
S2-P12 to a reasonable standard in accordance with the relevant British 
Standards or other recognised Codes of Good Practice. 

  
 REASON: To ensure a satisfactory appearance for the development. 
 
26 All planting, seeding or turfing comprised in the approved details of 

landscaping shall be carried out in the first planting and seeding seasons 
following the completion of the development. 

  
 REASON: To ensure a satisfactory appearance for the development. 
 
27 No development shall take place within the proposed development site until 

the applicant, or their agents, or their successors in title, has secured the 
implementation of a programme of archaeological work in accordance with a 
written scheme of investigation, which has been submitted to the planning 
authority and approved in writing. This condition will only be considered to be 
discharged when the planning authority has received and approved an 
archaeological report of all the required archaeological works, and if 
appropriate, a commitment to publication has been made. 

  
 REASON: To provide for the likely archaeological implications of this 

development proposal. 
 
INFORMATIVES 
 
1 Cadent Gas Ltd own and operate the gas infrastructure within the area of your 

Page 20



19 

development. There may be a legal interest (easements and other rights) in 
the land that restrict activity in proximity to Cadent assets in private land. The 
applicant must ensure that the proposed works do not infringe on legal rights 
of access and or restrictive covenants that exist. If buildings or structures are 
proposed directly above the apparatus the development may only take place 
following diversion of the apparatus. The applicant should apply online to have 
apparatus diverted in advance of any works, by visiting 
cadentgas.com/diversions. Prior to carrying out works, including the 
construction of access points, please register on 
www.linesearchbeforeudig.co.uk to submit details of the planned works for 
review, ensuring requirements are adhered to. 

2 Community Infrastructure Levy 
  
 Stevenage Borough Council adopted a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 

Charging Schedule at Full Council on 27 January 2020 and started 
implementing CIL on 01 April 2020. 

  
 This application may be liable for CIL payments and you are advised to 

contact the CIL Team for clarification with regard to this. If your development is 
CIL liable, even if you are granted an exemption from the levy, please be 
advised that it is a requirement under Regulation 67 of The Community 
Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended) that CIL Form 6 
(Commencement Notice) must be completed, returned and acknowledged by 
Stevenage Borough Council before building works start. Failure to do so will 
mean you risk losing the right to payment by instalments and a surcharge will 
be imposed. NB, please note that a Commencement Notice is not required for 
residential extensions if relief has been granted. 

  
 Stevenage's adopted CIL Charging Schedule and further details of CIL can be 

found on the Council's webpages at www.stevenage.gov.uk/CIL or by 
contacting the Council's CIL Team at CIL@Stevenage.gov.uk. 

 
3 Storage of materials: The applicant is advised that the storage of materials 

associated with the construction of this development should be provided within 
the site on land which is not public highway, and the use of such areas must 
not interfere with the public highway. If this is not possible, authorisation 
should be sought from the Highway Authority before construction works 
commence. Further information is available via the website 

 https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-
pavements/highways-roadsand-pavements.aspx or by telephoning 0300 
1234047. 

 
4  Obstruction of public highway land: It is an offence under section 137 of the 

Highways Act 1980 for any person, without lawful authority or excuse, in any 
way to wilfully obstruct the free passage along a highway or public right of 
way. If this development is likely to result in the public highway or public right 
of way network becoming routinely blocked (fully or partly) the applicant must 
contact the Highway Authority to obtain their permission and requirements 
before construction works commence. Further information is available via the 
websitehttps://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-

Page 21

http://www.linesearchbeforeudig.co.uk/
mailto:CIL@Stevenage.gov.uk
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/highways-roadsand-pavements.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/highways-roadsand-pavements.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/highways-roads-and-pavements.aspx%20telephoning%200300%201234047


20 

pavements/highways-roads-and-pavements.aspx telephoning 0300 1234047. 
 
5  Road Deposits: It is an offence under section 148 of the Highways Act 1980 to 

deposit mud or other debris on the public highway, and section 149 of the 
same Act gives the Highway Authority powers to remove such material at the 
expense of the party responsible. Therefore, best practical means shall be 
taken at all times to ensure that all vehicles leaving the site during construction 
of the development are in a condition such as not to emit dust or deposit mud, 
slurry or other debris on the highway. Further information is available via the 
website 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highwaysroadsandpavements/highw
ays-roads-and-pavements.aspx or by telephoning 0300 1234047. 

 
6 To obtain advice regarding current Building Regulations please contact 

Hertfordshire Building Control Ltd. by emailing us at 
buildingcontrol@hertfordshirebc.co.uk or phoning us on 01438 879990. 

  
 To make a building regulations application please apply through our website 

portal at https://www.hertfordshirebc.co.uk/contact-us/ payment can be made 
online or by phoning the above number after the application has been 
uploaded. Please phone Hertfordshire Building Control for fees guidance on 
01438 879990. 

  
 Hertfordshire Building Control can also be contacted by post at Hertfordshire 

Building control Ltd., 4th Floor, Campus West, Welwyn Garden City, 
Hertfordshire, AL8 6BX. 

 
 Once a building regulations application has been deposited with relevant 

drawings and fee building work may commence. You will be advised in their 
acknowledgement letter of the work stages we need to inspect but in most 
instances these are usually: 

  
 Excavation for foundations 
 Damp proof course 
 Concrete oversite 
 Insulation 
 Drains (when laid or tested) 
 Floor and Roof construction 
 Work relating to fire safety 
 Work affecting access and facilities for disabled people 
 Completion 
  
 Please phone Hertfordshire Building Control on 01438 879990 before 10.00am 

to ensure a same day inspection (Mon - Fri). 
 

6   INFORMATION REPORT - DELEGATED DECISIONS  
 

 The Committee considered a report in respect of Delegated Planning Decisions. 
 
It was RESOLVED that the report be noted. 

Page 22

https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/highways-roads-and-pavements.aspx%20telephoning%200300%201234047


21 

 
7   INFORMATION REPORT - APPEALS/CALLED IN APPLICATIONS  

 
 The Committee considered a report in respect of Appeals/Called-in applications. 

 
It was RESOLVED that the report be noted. 
 

8   URGENT PART I BUSINESS  
 

 Special Planning & Development Committee meeting – 26 July 2022 
 
The Chair reminded Members that a Special meeting of the Committee had been 
arranged to take place on 26 July 2022 in order to consider an application for the 
Barnwell East Development (new Michaela School). 
 
The Development Manager advised that the reason why the application needed to 
be determined urgently was that Department of Education funding for the project had 
strict timescales, and that any delay could jeopardise this funding and timeframes for 
delivery of the scheme. 
 

9   EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC  
 

 Not required. 
 

10   URGENT PART II BUSINESS  
 

 None. 
 

 
 
CHAIR 

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 24



 

  

Authority 
Monitoring 
Report 

 2020/21

 

Stevenage 
Borough 
Council 

Page 25

Agenda Item 3



1 
 

Contents 

INTRODUCTION .................................................................................................................................. 2 

STRUCTURE OF THE REPORT ............................................................................................................. 2 

SECTION 1: LOCAL CONTEXT AND CONTEXTUAL INDICATORS ..................................................... 3 

THE LOCAL AND REGIONAL CONTEXT ......................................................................................... 3 

CONTEXTUAL INDICATORS............................................................................................................ 3 

Demographic Profile .................................................................................................................... 4 

Economic Activity ......................................................................................................................... 8 

Socio-cultural Profile .................................................................................................................. 14 

Housing Profile ........................................................................................................................... 19 

Transport .................................................................................................................................... 20 

Environment Profile ................................................................................................................... 20 

Developer Contributions ............................................................................................................ 25 

SECTION 2: INDICATORS FROM THE REGULATIONS ..................................................................... 28 

Local Development Scheme .......................................................................................................... 28 

Self-Build and Custom Housebuilding Plots .................................................................................. 29 

Duty to Cooperate .......................................................................................................................... 30 

Community Infrastructure Levy ..................................................................................................... 31 

Planning Application Determination .............................................................................................. 32 

SECTION 3: GROWTH CHANGES IN THE MONITORING YEAR ....................................................... 33 

Housing growth and changes in the monitoring year .................................................................... 33 

Employment growth and changes in the monitoring year ............................................................ 46 

Retail growth and changes in the monitoring year ........................................................................ 48 

Appendix A: Net housing completion figures 2019/20 ....................................................................... 50 

Appendix B: Housing commitment figures 2019/20 .......................................................................... 52 

Appendix C: Employment Completion figures 2019/20 ..................................................................... 56 

 

  

Page 26



2 
 

INTRODUCTION 

The Authority Monitoring Report (AMR) replaces the old requirement for Local Planning Authorities 
to submit an Annual Monitoring Report to the Secretary of State. The duty to monitor and report 
still remains and is an important part of the plan-making process. 

This report covers the period from 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021, referred to as the 'monitoring 
year'. 

This AMR reports on the following: 

 Local Context and Contextual Indicators - indicators that set the scene/paint the picture of 
 the district that we’re planning for; 

 Progress of the Development Plan against the Local Development Scheme (LDS); Duty to 
 Cooperate; 

 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL); and 

 Growth/changes in the district in the monitoring year. 

 

STRUCTURE OF THE REPORT 

The report is divided into 3 sections: 

Section 1 includes Local Context and Contextual Indicators including the local and regional 
context, demographic information, economic activity, travel flow data, socio-cultural profile, 
housing profile and environment profile. 

Section 2 includes Indicators from the Regulations including progress against the current Local 
Development Scheme and ‘Duty to Cooperate’ actions and details. 

Section 3 includes the growth in housing numbers and the calculation of the five-year land supply 
in the borough, together with other indicators relating to retail, employment and environmental 
changes. 

Where there has not been any change in the Borough with regard to the monitoring indicators, 
information has been drawn upon from the previous year’s Authority Monitoring Report. For 
example, some of the contextual indicators and the local context have not changed significantly 
since the last report in 2019/2020, and so have been included from the previous report. However, 
where changes have been observed, new and updated information has been included in this AMR. 

  

Page 27



3 
 

SECTION 1: LOCAL CONTEXT AND CONTEXTUAL INDICATORS 

THE LOCAL AND REGIONAL CONTEXT 

1.1 Stevenage is a predominantly urban Borough comprising an area of 2,597 hectares (25.96 
square kilometres/10 square miles) in Hertfordshire. Approximately a tenth of the Borough 
currently lies within the London Metropolitan Green Belt. 

Figure 1 Main features of Stevenage                     

1.2 Figure 1 illustrates the main 
 features of the Borough in its wider 
 geographical context. 

1.3 The town is connected to Junctions 
 7 and 8 of the A1(M) which links 
 London, the midlands and the 
 north. The A602 connects 
 Stevenage to Hitchin and Ware 
 while the nearby A505 provides 
 connections between Luton Airport 
 and Cambridgeshire. The urban 
 road network of Stevenage 
 comprises three main north-south 
 routes and four main east-west 
 routes. There is an extensive 
 commercial bus network. Most 
 homes are within 400 metres of a 
 bus stop and it is a short walk from 
 the bus station to the train station. 

1.4 Wide roads and a cycle and 
 pedestrian network link all parts of 
 the town. Stevenage’s railway 
 station is on the East Coast Main 
 Line. There are long distance rail 
 links between London and the 

north. Commuter services connect the town to London Kings Cross, Cambridge and 
Peterborough as well as nearby towns including Hitchin, Letchworth and Welwyn Garden 
City. There are also trains to London Moorgate and Hertford via a branch line. 

 

CONTEXTUAL INDICATORS 

1.5 The  following  indicators  help  paint  a  portrait  of  the  Borough  with  respect  to  its socio-
economic profile. 

 Demographic Profile 
o Mid-year Population Figures 
o Broad Age-Group Population 

and Population Projections 
o Broad Ethnic Group 

Population 

 Economic Activity 
o Labour Supply 

o Employment by Occupation 
o Earnings by Residence 
o People Claiming Job Seeker's 

Allowance 
o Job Density 
o Business Counts in Stevenage  
o Qualifications in Stevenage 

 Socio-Cultural Profile 

Page 28



4 
 

0%

1%

2%

3%

4%

5%

6%

7%

8%

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/ 16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

Stevenage

Hertfordshire

UK

Monitoring Year 

P
e

rc
e

n
ta

g
e

 In
cr

e
a

se
 

o Deprivation 
o Crime 
o Health Profile  
o Health Inequalities  
o Child Health 
o Local Priorities 
o Travel Flow Data 

 Housing Profile 
o Number of Homes in 

Stevenage  

o Affordable Housing 
Completions  

o House Price Index Data 

 Transport 

 Environment Profile 
o Listed Buildings  
o Green Belt  
o Flood Risk  
o Green Links 

 Developer Contributions 

 

Demographic Profile 

Mid-Year Population Figures 

1.6 Stevenage has seen a significant increase in its population over the last few years. There has 
been an increase of 4.58% in the Borough's population since 2011. This is marginally less 
than the 6.77% increase in Hertfordshire and the 6% increase in England. 

Table 1 Population estimates over the Local Plan period 

Monitoring 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 % change 

Area Mid 2011 Mid 2012 Mid 2013 Mid 2014 Mid 2015 Mid 2016 Mid 2017 Mid 2018 Mid 2019 Mid 2020 2011/2020 

Stevenage 84,247 84,824 85,520 85,993 86,579 87,285 87,739 87,754 87,845 88,104 +4.58% 

Hertfordshire 1,119,824 1,129,291 1,140,618 1,154,195 1,165,332 1,176,386 1,180,934 1,184,365 1,189,519 1,195,672 +6.77% 

England 53,107,169 53,493,729 53,865,817 54,316,618 54,786,327 55,268,067 55,619,430 55,977,178 56,286,961 56,550,138 +6% 

Source: Office for National Statistics, 2022  

Figure 2 Population percentage increase since 2011/2012 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 29



5 
 

Broad Age-Group Population and Population Projections 

1.7 The following table and figure show the mid-year population change in 2020/21 by broad 
age groups. It can be seen that there has been a consistent rise in all population age groups 
other than the 15 - 29 age group. 

Table 2 Actual and % change of population age ranges in Stevenage, 2011/12 - 2020/21 

Age range 2011/12 2020/21 % change since 2011 

0 – 14 16,024 17,409 + 8.64% 

15 – 29 17,169 15,107 - 12% 

30 – 44 17,765 19,325 + 8.78% 

45 – 59 17,178 17,679 + 2.92% 

60 – 74 10,177 12,048 + 18.38% 

75 + 5,934 6,536 + 10.14% 

Total 84,247 88,104 + 4.58% 

Source: Office for National Statistics, 2022 

 

Figure 3 Actual population of Stevenage 

 

1.8 Population figures predict that there will be a significant increase in the number of people 
aged 60 years and above while there would be a steady rise in all other age groups. These 
figures are based on the data from the Subnational Population Projections 2012 and are 
indicative of an ageing population in the UK. 

 

 

 

 

0

5000

10000

15000

20000

25000

0 - 14 15 - 29 30 - 44 45 - 59 60 - 74 75 +

P
o

p
u

la
ti

o
n

 N
o

. 

Age range 

Mid 2011

Mid 2020

Page 30



6 
 

Table 3 Projected age profiles for Stevenage to 2041 

Age Range 2016 2021 2026 2031 2036 2041 % change 

0-14 16,900 17800 17500 17300 17100 17,200 + 1.78% 

15-29 16,300 15400 15600 16300 17000 17,000 + 4.30% 

30-44 18,100 19600 20200 19600 18800 19,100 + 5.52% 

45-59 18,400 18000 17200 17500 18600 19,000 + 3.26% 

60-74 11,100 12700 14300 15500 15400 14,900 + 34.23% 

75+ 6,300 6900 7800 8800 10300 12,000 + 90.48% 

All people 87300 90100 92700 94800 97000 99,300 + 13.75% 

Source: Office for National Statistics, 2022 

 

Figure 4 Projected age profiles for Stevenage to 2041 

 

 

 

 

 

 

0

5,000

10,000

15,000

20,000

25,000

2016 2021 2026 2031 2036 2041

P
o

p
u

la
ti

o
n

 

Years 

0 - 14

15 - 29

30 - 44

45 - 59

60 - 74

75 +

Page 31



7 
 

1.9 The population pyramid below shows the division of the population of Stevenage in 2020 by 
age and gender. The ratio of males to females is reasonably equal in Stevenage and this is 
reflected in the population of the UK also. 

 

Figure 5 Population by Gender for Stevenage and United Kingdom 2020 

Source: Office for National Statistics, 2021 

 

Broad Ethnic Group Population 

1.10 The table below shows the broad ethnic breakdown in Stevenage. The mid-year estimates 
are not available for this group as the population data by ethnicity is only collected and 
presented in each Census. From the 2011 Census, in Stevenage 73,531 people (87.5%) were 
White and Non-White (12.4%). 

1.11 In Hertfordshire, the proportion of white people within the total population was 87.5% and 
the proportion of Asian/Asian British was 6.5%. In England, 85.3% of the population were 
White. In Stevenage, the greatest proportion of non-white people is 
Black/African/Caribbean/Black British (3.4% of the total population); this compares with 
3.5% of the total population for England for this broad ethnic group. 

Table 4 Broad ethnic group populations in Stevenage and Hertfordshire 

Area White 

Gypsy / 
Traveller 

/ Irish 
Traveller 

Mixed / 
Multiple 
Ethnic 
Groups 

Asian / 
Asian 

British: 
Indian 

Asian / 
Asian 

British: 
Pakistani 

Asian / 
Asian 

British: 
Bangladeshi 

Asian / 
Asian 

British: 
Chinese 

Asian / 
Asian 

British: 
Other 

Black / 
African / 

Caribbean 
/ Black 
British 

Other 
Ethnic 
Group 

All 
categories 

Stevenage 73,531 67 2,265 1,626 489 536 635 1,562 2,836 410 83,957 

Hertfordshire 976,346 1,149 27,497 28,848 12,302 5,608 8,462 17,361 31,401 7,088 1,116,062 

England 45,226,247 54,895 1,192,879 1,395,702 1,112,282 436,514 379,503 819,402 1,846,614 548,418 53,012,456 

Source: Office for National Statistics, Census 2011 

Page 32



8 
 

Economic Activity 

1.12 This section presents information about economic activity in Stevenage. As well as 
employment and unemployment numbers, 
the section also includes information on 
employment by occupation, qualifications,   
and earnings by residence, out-of-work 
benefits, jobs and business counts in the 
district. 

1.13 Stevenage has two designated employment 
areas in the Borough; Gunnels Wood and Pin 
Green. Between them they encompass 
approximately 231 hectares of employment 
land. 

1.14 The resident population of Stevenage in 2020 
was 88,104 and  the total population aged 16 - 
64 was 56,100.  

 

Labour supply 

1.15 The labour supply in the Borough over the 
past ten years is shown in the next graph. The 
labour supply is the amount of economically 
active people in the district, calculated as a 
percentage of the total number of people 
aged 16-64.  

1.16 It is important to ensure that Stevenage maintains a good labour supply in order to support 
economic growth in the town. 

1.17 The percentage of economically active people in Stevenage has been fluctuating since the 
start of the Plan period. However, in the 2020/21 period it dropped below the labour supply 
of Hertfordshire and became relatively equal with the labour supply of the UK. 

Figure 7 Percentage of labour supply since 2011 

 
Source: NOMIS official labour market statistics,2022.  

62

64

66

68

70

72

74

76

78

80

82

84

Stevenage

Hertfordshire

UK

Figure 6 Designated employment areas 

Page 33



9 
 

Employment by occupation 

1.18 NOMIS reported each Stevenage occupation separately in the 2019/2020 data, this year the 
NOMIS data in the Annual Population Survey 2020/2021 combined the data for: Soc 2010 
Major Groups 4 to 5, Soc 2010 Major Group 6 to 7, and Soc 2010 Major Group 8 to 9. This 
was due to sample sizes being too small for reliable estimates. Between April 2020 and 
March 2021, the highest proportion of all persons in employment in Stevenage was that in 
professional occupations (21.9%), followed by those in Associate Professional and Technical 
Occupations (15.4%). 

Table 5 Employment by Occupation in Stevenage and Great Britain 2020/2021 

Occupation Group Occupation Stevenage (%) Great Britain (%) 

Soc 2010 Major Group 1-3 

Managers, Directors And Senior Officials 9.4 10.7 

Professional Occupations 21.9 23.4 

Associate Professional & Technical 15.4 15.5 

Soc 2010 Major Group 4-5 

Administrative & Secretarial 

16.9 

10.2 

Skilled Trades Occupations 8.9 

Soc 2010 Major Group 6-7 

Caring, Leisure And Other Service 
Occupations 

13.4 

9.1 

Sales And Customer Service Occs 7.0 

Soc 2010 Major Group 8-9 

Process Plant & Machine Operatives 

23.0 

5.6 

Elementary Occupations 9.4 

Source: Office for National Statistics, Census 2011 
 

Figure 8 Employment by occupation in Stevenage 2020/2021 

 

Source: NOMIS official labour market statistics, 2022,  
 

Managers and senior 
officials 

10% 

Professional occupations 
22% 

Associate prof & tech 
occupations 

15% 

Administrative and 
secretarial occupations, 

and Skilled Trade 
Occupations 

17% 

Caring leisure and other 
service occupations, and 

Sales and Customer 
Service Occupations 

13% 

Process, plant and 
machine operatives, 

and Elementary 
Occupations 

23% 

Page 34



10 
 

Earnings by residence 

1.19 The average weekly earnings for those who live in Stevenage have steadily been increasing 
since 2016/2017 and until this year, were higher than the average weekly wage in the rest of 
the country. The 2020/2021 Stevenage weekly earnings have fallen below that of the 
country and the county. 

Figure 9 Earnings by residence – gross weekly pay for all full-time workers 

 

Source: NOMIS official labour market statistics,2022 

 

1.20 The average weekly earnings for those who work in Stevenage are higher than the average 
of those who live in Stevenage. Whilst Stevenage workers are paid more than the 
Hertfordshire average, Stevenage residents are paid less. 

Figure 10 Earnings by workplace – gross weekly pay for all full-time workers 

 
Source: NOMIS official labour market statistics,2022 
 

 £300

 £350

 £400

 £450

 £500

 £550

 £600

 £650

 £700

 £750

M
ed

ia
n

 w
ee

kl
y 

w
ag

es
 (

re
si

d
en

ts
) 

Monitoring year 

Stevenage

Hertfordshire

Great Britain

 £300

 £350

 £400

 £450

 £500

 £550

 £600

 £650

 £700

M
ed

ia
n

 w
ee

kl
y 

w
ag

es
 (

w
o

rk
p

la
ce

) 

Monitoring year 

Stevenage

Hertfordshire

Great Britain

Page 35



11 
 

People claiming Job Seekers Allowance 

1.21 The proportion of the resident population in Stevenage aged 16-64 claiming Job Seeker’s 
Allowance (JSA) since March 2011 until March 2018 was decreasing steadily, however this 
has increased since 2019 to just above 1,200 in 2020/2021. 

Figure 11 All persons claiming Job Seekers Allowance in Stevenage 2011 - 2021 

 
Source: NOMIS official labour market statistics,2022, 

 

1.22 Looking more closely at the last monitoring year, claimant counts have fluctuated over the 
last 12 months with the claimant counts on a downward trend across the year. 

Figure 12 All persons claiming Job Seekers Allowance in Stevenage – Monthly 

 
Source: NOMIS official labour market statistics, 2022, 
 
 

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
C

la
im

an
ts

 

Monitoring year 

0

100

200

300

Apr-20 May-20 Jun-20 Jul-20 Aug-20 Sep-20 Oct-20 Nov-20 Dec-20 Jan-21 Feb-21 Mar-21

Page 36



12 
 

Job density 

1.23 Job density figures represent the ratio of total jobs to population aged 16-64. Total jobs 
includes employees, self-employed, government supported trainees and HM Forces. The 
job density in Stevenage has steadily increased since 2013 and this trend follows that of the 
region and country. In the latest monitoring year, job density fell across Stevenage, 
Hertfordshire and the UK, likely as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. 

Fig 13 Job density 

 
Source: NOMIS official labour market statistics, 2022 
 

Business counts in Stevenage 

1.24 There has been a steady rise in the number of businesses in the Borough since the 
beginning of the Plan period, both in terms of enterprises1 and local units2. The Business 
Register data shows there is a higher number of micro enterprises (the smallest unit of 
business) (over 90% of the total number of enterprises) and local units (over 80% of the 
total number of local units) than small, medium and large ones. 

Table 6 Enterprises and Local Units in Stevenage  

Enterprises 2011/2012 2012/2013 2013/2014 2014/2015 2015/2016 2016/2017 2017/2018 2018/2019 2019/2020 2020/2021 

Micro (0 - 9) 2,040 2,045 2,085 2,240 2,475 2,665 2,875 2,755 2,820 2,900 

Small (10 - 49) 195 185 205 220 230 225 220 245 255 250 

Medium (50 - 249) 40 45 40 40 40 35 35 40 40 45 

Large (250+) 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 10 

Enterprises 2,290 2,290 2,345 2,515 2,760 2,940 3,145 3,055 3,130 3,215 

Grand Total 5,245 5,240 5,340 5,685 6,160 6,495 6,925 6,760 6,930 7,080 

 

                                                             
1 An enterprise can be thought of as the overall business, made up of all the individual sites or workplaces. It is defined as the smallest 
combination of legal units (Generally based on VAT and/or PAYE records) that has a certain degree of autonomy within an enterprise 
group 
2 A local unit is an individual site (for example a factory or shop) associated with an enterprise. It can also be referred to as workplace 

0.75

0.8

0.85

0.9

0.95

1

1.05

Stevenage

United Kingdom

Hertfordshire

Page 37



13 
 

Local Units 2011/2012 2012/2013 2013/2014 2014/2015 2015/2016 2016/2017 2017/2018 2018/2019 2019/2020 2020/2021 

Micro (0 - 9) 2,395 2,395 2,415 2,575 2,820 2,985 3,215 3,105 3,180 3,250 

Small (10 - 49) 410 415 435 455 445 425 425 460 485 480 

Medium (50 - 249) 130 120 125 120 115 125 120 120 120 120 

Large (250+) 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 

Local Units 2,955 2,950 2,995 3,170 3,400 3,555 3,780 3,705 3,800 3,865 

 

 

2011/2012 2012/2013 2013/2014 2014/2015 2015/2016 2016/2017 2017/2018 2018/2019 2019/2020 2020/2021 

Grand Total               5,245 5,240 5,340 5,685 6,160 6,495 6,925 6,760 6,930 7,080 

Source: NOMIS official labour market statistics,2019,  

 

Fig 14 Business counts by size, 2011 - 2020 

 

Source: NOMIS official labour market statistics,2022,  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

3,500

2011/2012 2012/2013 2013/2014 2014/2015 2015/2016 2016/2017 2017/2018 2018/2019 2019/2020 2020/2021

Micro Enterprises (0 - 9) Small  Enterprises (10 - 49) Medium  Enterprises (50 - 249)

Large  Enterprises (250+) Micro  Local Units (0 - 9) Small  Local Units (10 - 49)

Medium  Local Units (50 - 249) Large Local Units (250+)

Page 38



14 
 

Qualification levels in Stevenage 

1.25 The total number of people with differing levels of qualifications in Stevenage is 
 comparable to that of the region and the UK for all qualification levels. In general, 
 Stevenage has a higher qualification level compared to Great Britain. 

Fig 15 Qualification levels in Stevenage and Great Britain 

 
Source: NOMIS official labour market statistics,2022,  

 

Socio-cultural Profile 

Deprivation 

1.26 The Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government published the 2015 Index of 
 Multiple Deprivation, which measures relative levels of deprivation in 32,844 small areas or 
 neighbourhoods – called Lower-later Super Output Areas (LSOAs) – in England. According 
 to the figures, Stevenage is ranked as the 14th least deprived (The English Indices of 
 Deprivation 2015), although there are some areas within it that are less affluent. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

0.0%

10.0%

20.0%

30.0%

40.0%

50.0%

60.0%

70.0%

80.0%

90.0%

100.0%

NVQ 4+ NVQ3+ NVQ2+ NVQ1+

Stevenage

Great Britain

Page 39



15 
 

Crime 

1.27 The ‘Police recorded crime by local area 2020’ is the latest information available by local 
 authority area. In terms of the crime rate in the district, the police recorded crime rate for 
 the key offences are shown in the graph below. The data shows a comparison of the 
 crime rate in Stevenage and Hertfordshire. 

Table 7 Police recorded crime in Stevenage 

 Stevenage Hertfordshire 

 

Total 
Offences  

2019/20 

Total Offences 
2020/21 

% 
difference 

Offences per 1,000 population 
2020/21 

Offences per 1,000 population 
2020/21 

Violence against persons 3,052 2,991 -2% 35 22 

Sexual offences 245 223 -9% 3 2 

Robbery 83 68 -18% 1 1 

Theft offences 2,933 2,652 -9.5% 24 22 

Criminal damage and arson 842 771 -8.4% 9 6 

Drug offences 346 330 -4.6% 4 2 

Possession of weapons offences 87 67 -23% 1 0 

Public order offences 755 741 -1.8% 8 5 

Miscellaneous crimes against 
society 

162 160 -1.2% 2 1 

Source: Office for National Statistics, 2022. 

Fig 16 Police recorded crime in Stevenage and Hertfordshire 

 
Source: Office for National Statistics ,2022,  

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

C
ri

m
e 

ra
te

 p
er

 1
,0

00
 p

o
p

u
la

ti
o

n
/h

o
u

se
h

o
ld

s 

Crime category 

Stevenage

Hertfordshire

Page 40



16 
 

1.28 The following graph highlights that the crime rate had gradually been increasing between 
2014 – 2019, however, the last two monitoring years have seen a decline in crime rates in 
both Stevenage and Hertfordshire. 

Fig 17 Crime Rate per 1,000 population in Stevenage and Great Britain 

 
Source: Office for National Statistics, 2022.  

 

Health Profile 

1.29 The health of people in Stevenage is varied compared to the England average. 

1.30 Deprivation is lower than average; however about 16% (2,855) children live in low income 
 families3.Life expectancy for men is lower than the England average. 

 

Health Inequalities 

1.31 Those living in the most deprived areas of Stevenage have an average life expectancy that 
 measures 3.7 years lower for men and 4.1 years lower for women than those living in the 
 least deprived areas4. 

Child Health 

1.32 2020 data shows that in Year 6, 19.6% (203) children are classified as obese which is higher 
 than the England average. Obesity rates have steadily increased since the beginning of the 
 Plan period. 

                                                             
3 Health Profile – Stevenage 2020, Public Health England;https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/static-reports/health-

profiles/2019/e07000243.html?area-name=stevenage   

 
4 Local Authority Health Profiles, Office for Health and Improvement Disparities 2020, 
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/health-profiles/data#page/7/gid/1938132696/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/201/are/E07000243/iid/90366/age/1/sex/2/cat/-
1/ctp/-1/yrr/3/cid/4/tbm/1/page-options/ine-ao-0_ine-vo-0_ine-ct-71_ine-pt-0_ine-yo-3:2018:-1:-1 

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

110

P
o

lic
e

 c
ri

m
e 

ra
te

 p
er

 1
,0

00
p

o
p

u
la

ti
o

n
/h

o
u

se
h

o
ld

s 

Monitoring year 

Stevenage

Hertfordshire

Page 41



17 
 

Local Priorities 

1.33 Priorities in Stevenage are to reduce the levels of obesity and excess weight in children, 
reducing smoking, and to help the growing older population maintain their health. For more 
information visit: https://www.hertshealthevidence.org/documents/thematic/healthy-
stevenage-dashboard-1920.pdf  

Travel Flow Data 

1.34 Based on the 2011 Census data, Stevenage has a higher number of out-commuters than in-
 commuters, i.e. more people leave to work outside the district than come into the district to 
 work in Stevenage, over 50% of the residents commute out to a different local authority 
 to work, whilst over 54% of the workplace population in the Borough commute in from 
 different local authorities. 

Fig 18 Workers living in Stevenage (2011 Census) 

 

Fig 19 Working in Stevenage (2011 Census) 

 

17,549 
49% 

18,495 
51% 

Live and work in
Stevenage

Out-commuters

17,549 
46% 20,629 

54% 

Live and work in
Stevenage

In-commuters

Page 42

https://www.hertshealthevidence.org/documents/thematic/healthy-stevenage-dashboard-1920.pdf
https://www.hertshealthevidence.org/documents/thematic/healthy-stevenage-dashboard-1920.pdf


18 
 

1.35 Figure 20 below shows the commuter flow data for the number of people coming in to
 Stevenage to work and those going out from Stevenage to work in other local authorities. A
 large number of residents commute to London. 

Fig 20 Commuter flow into and out of Stevenage  

 
Source: NOMIS official labour market statistics,2019,  

Page 43



19 
 

Housing Profile 

1.36 The table below shows the housing tenure of the existing housing stock in the town. As can 
 be seen, the majority of dwellings are in the private sector. 

Table 8 Housing tenure in Stevenage. 

 
Local Authority 

(including owned by 
other LA’s 

Private Registered 
Provider/Housing 

Association 
Other Public Sector Private Sector Total 

2011 8,286 1,948 48 25,290 35,570 

2012 8,180 1,990 50 25,540 25,760 

2013 8,160 1,990 50 25,650 35,840 

2014 8,130 2,020 50 25,820 36,020 

2015 8,050 2,030 50 26,030 36,160 

2016 7,960 2,110 50 26,200 36,320 

2017 7,900 2,130 50 26,930 37,010 

2018 7,900 2,150 50 26,980 37,080 

2019 8,152 1,985 48 25,649 35,844 

2020 7,896 2,205 48 27,538 37,687 

Source: Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities, 2022,  

Fig 21 Housing tenure in Stevenage  

 
Source: Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities, 2022,  

 

 

 

 

0

5,000

10,000

15,000

20,000

25,000

30,000

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Local Authority (including 
owned by other LA’s 

Private Registered
Provider/Housing
Association

Other Public Sector

Private Sector

Page 44



20 
 

House Price Index 

1.37 Table 9 shows that the average price of all house types has increased from the last 
 monitoring year. It is likely that house prices in the Borough will continue to fluctuate given 
 the unpredictable economic climate. However, average house prices in the Borough still 
 remain significantly above the national average creating issues of affordability. 

Table 9 Average house prices in Stevenage 

Average Prices (£) Detached House Semi-detached Terraced House Flat / Maisonette All House Types 

 

Apr 2020 – March 2021 
£492,037 £369,365 £285,657 £176,000 £322,448 

 

Apr 2011 – March 2012 
£311,300 £232,900 £172,200 £131,200 £211,900 

 

% Change since 2011 
+ 58.1% + 58.6% +65.8% + 34.1% + 52.2% 

Source: Herts Insight, 2022. 

 

Transport 

1.38 National and local policies and guidance seek to reduce the growth of car usage and a 
 greater use of more sustainable modes of transport. Equally as important as encouraging 
 the use of sustainable transport is reducing the need to travel in the first place by locating 
 new development near to existing centres. 

Table 10 Travel times on public transport to existing centre 

Type of service 

Gross housing units completed with public transport travelling times of 

% within 30 minutes travel time 

More than 30 minutes to… Less than 30 minutes to… 

Lister Hospital 16 138 89% 

GP surgeries 0 154 100% 

Primary schools 0 154 100% 

Secondary schools 0 154 100% 

Employment 0 154 100% 

Retail centres 0 154 100% 

Source: Hertfordshire County Council TRACC Data, 2022. 

1.39 This monitoring year, 154 homes were completed; 89% of homes were within 30 minutes of 
the Lister Hospital. All homes were within 30 minutes of all other local facilities by public 
transport or on foot. 

Environment Profile 

1.40 Stevenage Borough is under continuing pressure for development as a result of evolving 
 and changing community needs for homes, jobs, leisure and community facilities. The 
 development strategy in the Local Plan is to concentrate and direct development largely 
 within the urban area. 

Page 45



21 
 

1.41 The Local Plan has a key role to play in making proper sustainable provision for the 
 necessary needs of the present and future generations, whilst at the same time protecting 
 the environment and amenity. Meeting the housing needs for the Borough will result in 
 development of higher densities than previously, and some release of Green Belt land. It is, 
 therefore, important that the quality of what is built for whatever use, is of the highest 
 standard possible, and that the natural and built environment is conserved and enhance, for 
 the benefit of present and future generations. 

Wildlife Sites 

1.42 Local wildlife sites in Hertfordshire are ratified annually. The latest local sites ratification 
 took place in December 2020; it resulted in: 

Table 11 Number of Wildlife Sites in Stevenage 

 Number of LWS Area (Ha) of LWS Number of RIGS5 Area (Ha) of RIGS 
Total area of local sites 

(Ha) 

Stevenage 37 100.11 1 0.23 100.34 

Source: Herts and Middlesex Wildlife Trust – Local Sites Ratification Report, 2022.  

1.43 Stevenage has a total area of some 100Ha of local sites (LWS and RIGS) which does not 
even equate to 1% of the total area of local sites in the County. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                             
5 Regionally Important Geological Site 

Page 46



22 
 

Fig 22 Wildlife Sites in Stevenage  

 
Source: Herts and Middlesex Wildlife Trust – Local Sites Ratification Report, 2022.  

 

Heritage Assets 

1.44 Stevenage is characterised by the quality, nature and extent of the historic buildings, within 
 its boundary. Heritage assets in Stevenage include: 

 7 Conservation Areas 

 125 Listed Buildings 

 3 Scheduled Ancient Monuments. 

1.45 The Council is committed to monitoring the condition of heritage assets through the 
national ‘at risk’ register published annually by Historic England. The Heritage At Risk 
Register is operated by Historic England, and, as the name suggests identifies historic 
buildings, structure and areas at risk of neglect, decay and unlawful works. During this 
monitoring year, there were three heritage assets on the Heritage At Risk Register. 

 

 

 

Page 47



23 
 

Table 12 Heritage at Risk in Stevenage 

Entry name Heritage category Condition Trend Vulnerability 

Broadwater Conservation Area Poor Deteriorating Medium 

Rectory Lane and St 
Nicholas 

Conservation Area Fair Deteriorating High 

Town Square Conservation Area Poor Deteriorating Medium 

Source: Historic England, 2022.  

Fig 23 Conservation Areas, Listed Buildings and Scheduled Ancient Monuments in Stevenage 

 
Source: Historic England, 2022. 

Green Belt 

1.46 The extent of the designated Green Belt in Stevenage as at 31st March 2020 was estimated 
at  180 hectares, around 0.01% of Green Belt in England (1,614,000 hectares)6. 

1.47 In Stevenage, during the monitoring year, there were no amendments made to the 
 amount of Green Belt land in the Borough. The latest statistics published on 31st March 
 2020 show that there is 180 hectares of Green Belt in the Borough. 

 

 

 

                                                             
6 https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/local-authority-green-belt-statistics-for-england-2019-to-2020 

Page 48



24 
 

Fig 24 Green Belt in Stevenage 

 
Source: Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government, 2022  

Flood Risk 

1.48 Flood risk, water quality, human consumption, wastewater and the environment are all 
 linked through the natural process of water circulation through the air, on the surface of the 
 earth, and in the ground, known as the water cycle. Development and the built environment 
 have significant impacts on the operation of the water cycle, and the availability and quality 
 of water for use. It is therefore important to monitor the effects of development on the 
 water cycle. 

1.49 Few of the flood risk policies can be monitored meaningfully at present, largely because the 
 water cycle is not limited to the Borough boundary and this makes it difficult to measure at 
 the local level, however, the Council will continue to work to find solutions to this where 
 possible. 

 

 

 

Page 49



25 
 

Fig 25 Flood Risk Areas in Stevenage 

 
Source: Stevenage Borough Council 2022  

Developer Contributions 

1.50 One of the most important functions of planning policy is at a strategic level, supporting 

 both the funding and development of new infrastructure and service to benefit the 

 community and mitigate the impact of development. Planning obligations are mechanisms 

 for deriving planning gain from developments which can then be used to benefit the 

 community. 

1.51 Planning obligations are set out in legal agreements signed between the developer and the 

 Council. The planning obligations can be both financial and non-financial but typically 

 require a developer to fulfil a number of requirements to mitigate the impact of their 

 development during construction and on completion. 

1.52 Stevenage has set out its infrastructure needs in its Infrastructure Development Plan (IDP) 

and in the Local Plan. The tables below set out the amounts of S106 and CIL contributions 

received during this monitoring year. 

Page 50



26 
 

Table 13 Applications with Developer Contributions 

Application number Site address Covenant type Amount 

19/00485/FPM 
Land At Webb Rise, Stevenage, Herts, 
SG1 5QU 

Childcare Service & Nursery Education 55,418.31 

Primary School - Expansion (Sum) 140,275.86 

Secondary School - Expansion (Sum) 130,734.34 

Libraries (Sum) 21,843.57 

Youth Provision (Sum) 5,027.43 

Children's Play Space (Sum) 3,340.76 

Outdoor Sports Facilities (Sum) 3,710.07 

Biodiversity 45,867.00 

18/00398/FPM 
The Bragbury Centre, Kenilworth 
Close, Stevenage, Herts, SG2 8TB 

NHS - GP Surgery (Sum) 23,185.40 

Sustainable Transport - Bus Stops 
(Sum) 

37,302.21 

Travel Plan Monitoring (Sum) 8,608.20 

19/00167/FPM 
Airbus Defence And Space, Gunnels 
Wood Road, Stevenage, Herts, SG1 
2DB 

Travel Plan Monitoring (Sum) 31.09 

Sustainable Transport - Bus Stops 
(Sum) 

124.35 

18/00740/FPM 
12 North Road, Stevenage, Herts, SG1 
4AL 

Open Space - Maintenance 825.21 

Libraries (Sum) 3,157.56 

Children's Play Space (Sum) 914.08 

Secondary School - Expansion (Sum) 6,904.96 

Primary School - Expansion (Sum) 12,810.83 

Sustainable Transport - Bus Stops 
(Sum) 

22,955.20 

Youth Provision (Sum) 231.88 

19/00136/FPM 
145 Scarborough Avenue, Stevenage, 
Herts, SG1 2HQ 

Children's Play Space (Sum) 1,262.30 

Open Space - Maintenance 1,139.58 

Primary School - Expansion (Sum) 26,802.86 

Secondary School - Expansion (Sum) 8,467.89 

Sustainable Transport - Bus Stops 
(Sum) 

22,955.20 

18/00268/FPM 
85 - 103 Queensway, Town Centre, 
Stevenage, Herts, SG1 1EB 

Children's Play Space (Sum) 4,184.91 

Open Space - Maintenance 4,358.90 

Sustainable Transport - Bus Station 
(Sum) 

36,221.41 

Car Park Study (Sum) 5,119.63 

Pay and Display (Sum) 3,071.78 

Traffic Regulation Order 8,191.41 

17/00376/FPM 
DuPont (UK) Ltd, Wedgwood Way, 
Stevenage, Herts, SG1 4QN 

Primary School - Expansion (Sum) 50,879.35 

Sustainable Transport - Bus Stops 
(Sum) 

17,116.68 

Outdoor Sports Facilities (Sum) 6,862.51 

Youth Provision (Sum) 753.13 

Page 51



27 
 

17/00586/FPM 
March Hare , 10 Burwell Road, 
Stevenage, Herts, SG2 9RF 

Primary School - Expansion (Sum) 7,828.95 

Youth Provision (Sum) 47.62 

Children's Play Space (Sum) 690.19 

Outdoor Sports Facilities (Sum) 764.48 

Total 729,987.09 

Source: Stevenage Borough Council, 2022. 

 

Table 14 Applications with Community Infrastructure Levy income. 

Application number Site address Amount 

20/00142/FP 
Courtlands, Chantry Lane, Todds Green, Stevenage, 

Herts, SG1 2JE 
3,905 

20/00133/FP 
Former Shephall Green Infant School , Shephall 

Green, Stevenage, Herts, SG1 9XR 
2,280 

Total 6,185 

Source: Stevenage Borough Council, 2022. 

1.53 The Community Infrastructure Levy came into effect on April 1st 2020; this is the first year 

for it to be reported in the AMR.  

Page 52



28 
 

SECTION 2: INDICATORS FROM THE REGULATIONS 

2.1 This section contains the series of indicators that are required to be monitored and reported 
 by Local Authorities in line with the latest regulations. These indicators include: 

 Local Development Scheme (LDS); 

 Self-Build and Custom House building Register; 

 Duty to Co-operate;  

 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL); and  

 Planning application determinations. 

Local Development Scheme 

2.2 One of the aims of the AMR is to monitor the progress made by the Council in producing the 
 documents set out in the Local Development Scheme (LDS). The current version of the LDS 
 took effect in June 2016 where it identifies the proposed timetable for the production of the 
 Local Plan. 

2.3 The LDS in place as of 31 October 2020 set out the timeline for the remaining stages in the 
 Local Plan preparation. The following table displays the timeline against the regulatory 
 milestones contained within the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) Regulations 
 2012.  

Table 15 Local Development Scheme Milestones 

Document 
Milestone set in LDS 

programme for 2018/19 
Milestone achieved during 

2020/21 
Reason Regulation 

Stevenage Borough Local 
Plan 

Adoption March – July 2017 Yes 
Delay due to SoS Holding 

Direction withdrawn March 
2019 

26 

Area Action Plan – Railway 
Station 

First Consultation: January ‘21    

 Adoption: January ‘22 No 
Delays due to the Coronavirus 

pandemic 
 

Stevenage CIL Charging 
Schedule 

Preliminary Consultation: 
September ‘18 

   

 Implementation: April ‘20 Yes   

Parking Provision and 
Sustainable Transport SPD 

Start of Work: October ‘19    

 Adoption: October ‘20 Yes   

Biodiversity SPD Start of Work: April ‘20    

 Adoption: March ’21 No 
Delays due to the Coronavirus 

pandemic 
 

Developer Contributions 
SPD 

Start of Work: April ‘20    

 Adoption: March ‘21 No 
Delays due to the Coronavirus 

pandemic 
 

Design SPD Start of Work: November ‘20    

 Adoption: December ‘21 No 
Delays due to the Coronavirus 

pandemic 
 

Source: Stevenage Borough Council ,2022,  

Page 53



29 
 

Self-Build and Custom Housebuilding Plots 

2.4 We are required to keep a register of individuals and groups who are seeking to acquire 
 serviced plots of land in the Borough on which to build their own homes. The Planning 
 Practice Guidance encourages authorities to publish headline information related to their 
 Self-Build and Custom Housebuilding Registers in their AMRs. Information regarding the 
 Stevenage Self-Build Register is updated on our website 
 https://www.stevenage.gov.uk/planning-and-building-control/planning-policy/self-build-
 register  

2.5 In order for an individual to join the register they must meet the eligibility criteria. Those 
 who meet the criteria then go on to either Part 1, or Part 2 of the Self-Build Register. Part 1 
 is for individuals who meet the criteria and have a connection to the local area. Part 2 is for 
 those individuals who do not have a connection to Stevenage but do meet the basic 
 eligibility criteria. 

2.6 The criteria to enter on to the Stevenage Self-Build Register was set up in 2016. As of March 
 31st 2021 there were 14 individuals on Part 1 of the Self-Build Register. There are currently 
 no associations on the Self-Build Register. 

Table 16 Self Build Register in Stevenage 

Base Period 1 Base Period 2 Base Period 3 Base Period 4 Base Period 5 Base Period 6 

Register start – 
30/10/2016 

31/10/2016 – 30/10/2017 31/10/2017 – 30/10/2018 31/10/2018 – 30/10/2019 31/10/2019 – 30/10/2020 31/10/20-30/10/21 

 Applicant 1     

 Applicant 2     

 Applicant 3     

  Applicant 4    

  Applicant 5    

  Applicant 6    

  Applicant 7    

  Applicant 8    

  Applicant 9    

   Applicant 10   

    Applicant 11  

    Applicant 12  

     Applicant 13 

     Applicant 14 

Source: Stevenage Borough Council, 2022.  

 

 

Page 54

https://www.stevenage.gov.uk/planning-and-building-control/planning-policy/self-build-%09register
https://www.stevenage.gov.uk/planning-and-building-control/planning-policy/self-build-%09register


30 
 

Duty to Cooperate 

2.7 The Localism Act, 2011, sets out a 'Duty to Co-operate', which places a legal duty on Local 
 Planning Authorities, County Councils in England and public bodies to engage 
 constructively, actively and on an ongoing basis to maximise the effectiveness of Local Plan 
 preparation in the context of strategic cross boundary matters. 

2.8 Over the last monitoring year, the Council has frequently engaged with neighbouring 
 authorities, and the County Council, both individually and as part of planning groups and 
 forums on a county-wide and sub-regional basis. Our working partners include: 

 Members of the Hertfordshire Planning Group and Hertfordshire Infrastructure and 
Planning Partnership; 

 Hertfordshire County Council (Highways, Planning, Education, Estates and Growth & 
Infrastructure teams); 

 North Hertfordshire District Council; 

 East Hertfordshire District Council;  

 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council; and  

 Central Bedfordshire District Council 

2.9 We have also been communicating and working with a number of public bodies, including: 

 Environment Agency; 

 Highways England;  

 Historic England; 

 Homes and Communities Agency;  

 Local Enterprise Partnership;  

 Natural England; 

 National Health Service; and 

 Office for the Rail Regulator/National Rail 

2.10 We have been involved in a number of Duty to Co-operate communications/joint working 
 within the last monitoring year. Some of the main topics/issues discussed include: 

 The potential to produce joint evidence studies; 

 Housing and employment targets and sites, and ways to ensure appropriate provision is 
made; Capacity issues on the A1(M), and other strategic infrastructure issues; 

 A variety of county-wide issues at regular officer meetings including; Hertfordshire 
Infrastructure Planning Partnership (HIPP), Hertfordshire Planning Group (HPG), 
Community Infrastructure Levy Reference Group, and the Hertfordshire Economic 
Development Officers Group. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 55



31 
 

Community Infrastructure Levy 

2.11 We adopted a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule with associated 
policies at Full Council on 29 January 2020. This charging schedule came into effect on 1st 
April 2020. 

Table 17 CIL Charging Schedule in Stevenage 

Development Type Cil Rate (per square metre) 

 
Zone 1: Stevenage Central, Stevenage West urban 

extension and North of Stevenage extension 
Zone 2: Everywhere else 

Residential  

Market Housing £40psm £100psm 

Sheltered Housing £100psm 

Extracare Housing £40psm 

Retail development £60psm 

All other development £60psm 

Source: Stevenage Borough Council, 2022.  

Fig 26 CIL Charging Zones in Stevenage  

 
Source: Stevenage Borough Council, 2022. 

Page 56



32 
 

Planning Application Determination 

2.12 National guidance (The Town and Country Planning (Development Management 
 Procedure) (England) Order 2010 (as amended)) sets out timescales within which planning 
 applications must be determined, as follows: 

 13 weeks for major applications 

 8 weeks for minor applications 

 8 weeks for other applications 

 

Table 18 Planning Applications processed in Stevenage 2020/21 

Planning Application 
Category 

Number of applications 
determined 

Completion target % determined in 2019/20 On target? 

Major 9 60 % in 13 weeks 100% Yes 

Minor 93 65% in 8 weeks 88% Yes 

Other 301 80% in 8 weeks 92% Yes 

Source: Stevenage Borough Council, 2022,  

 

2.13 A total of 403 planning applications were determined in 2020/21. National performance 
 targets were exceeded in all application categories. 

Fig 27 Planning Applications processed in Stevenage 2019/20 

 
Source: Stevenage Borough Council, 2022,  

2.14 In 2020/21, there were 27 planning application refusals. 

  

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

120%

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

Total no of applications
determined

Number of refusals for
planning applications

% of planning applications
determined within
specified time period

Page 57

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2010/2184/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2010/2184/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2010/2184/contents/made


33 
 

SECTION 3: GROWTH CHANGES IN THE MONITORING YEAR 

3.1 This section deals with the changes in the Borough in terms of development during the 
 monitoring year. The section places special emphasis on the housing growth in this 
 monitoring year along with the determination of the five-year housing land supply in the 
 Borough. As mentioned in Chapter 1: Introduction, the Local Plan was adopted shortly after 
 the monitoring year. Other areas of the section provide information on growth with regards 
 to:  

 Business development; 

 Retail and shopping frontages; 

 The environment; 

 Renewable energy developments. 

Housing growth and changes in the monitoring year 

3.2 Meeting the housing needs of the Borough is a key requirement. If there is under-delivery of 
 land for new housing development, then house prices may rise and new households forming 
 within the Borough may choose to move away. To provide sufficient housing land, that is 
 accessible to and meets the needs of the Borough's communities during the plan period is 
 one of the key objectives of the Council's housing policies. The policies in the Stevenage 
 Borough Local Plan seek to contribute towards this by planning for a sufficient quantity, 
 quality and type of housing in the right locations, taking account of need and demand in the 
 Borough, including affordable housing. 

3.3 This AMR reports on the following areas of housing development: 

 Housing completions; 

 Five-year housing land supply; 

 Affordable housing completions; 

 Gypsy and Traveller accommodation; 

 Housing completions by size and type, including aspirational housing; 

 Housing completions on previously developed land. 

 

Housing targets and the Local Plan 

3.4 Stevenage Borough Council prepared a Strategic Housing Market Assessment to assess our 
 full housing needs.   The Stevenage and North Hertfordshire Strategic Housing Market 
 Assessment Update, August 2016 was produced to establish the Objectively Assessed Need 
 (OAN) for the combined Housing Market Area. 

3.5 The evidence contained in the August 2016 update was considered during the Examination 
 of the Stevenage Borough Local Plan and the Inspector concluded that it set out a 
 reasonable basis for OAN. As such, the OAN for housing in Stevenage has been established 
 as 7,600 dwellings (380 per year) over the 20 year Plan period 2011 - 2031. 

3.6 380 dwellings per annum is considered to be a robust assessment of housing need in the 
 Borough and provides an up-to-date evidence based target which can be used to monitor 
 housing delivery and calculate future land supply. 

 

Page 58

http://www.stevenage.gov.uk/content/15953/26379/161749/165485/ED117-Stevenage-North-Herts-Vol2-August-2016.pdf
http://www.stevenage.gov.uk/content/15953/26379/161749/165485/ED117-Stevenage-North-Herts-Vol2-August-2016.pdf


34 
 

Housing Completions 

3.7 In this monitoring year a total of 154 dwellings (gross) were completed. However, there was 
 a loss of 13 dwellings to facilitate the development of these additional units. This means 
that  overall we gained 141 new dwellings (net). 

3.8 A total number of 2,326 dwellings have been built since the start of the Plan period. 

Table 19 Number of Residential Completions since the start of the Plan Period 

Monitoring 
year 

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 Total 

Number of 
completions 
(gross) 

196 90 179 154 155 704 76 295 328 154 2177 

Source: CDP SMART Stevenage Residential Completions in Period, 2022.  

Fig 28 Number and Percentage of homes Built in Stevenage and Hertfordshire since the start of the Plan 
period  

 
Source: CDP SMART Stevenage Residential Completions in Period, 2022.  

3.9 The location of the 141 dwellings (net) are shown on the following map 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

0.0%

2.0%

4.0%

6.0%

8.0%

10.0%

12.0%

14.0%

16.0%

0

1000

2000

3000

4000

5000

6000

%
 o

f 
H

er
tf

o
rd

sh
ir

e 
h

o
m

es
 b

u
ilt

 in
 S

te
ve

n
ag

e
 

N
o

. o
f 

h
o

m
es

 b
u

ilt
 (

gr
o

ss
) 

Monitoring year 

Stevenage

Hertfordshire

% Stevenage

Page 59



35 
 

Fig 29 New Housing in Stevenage 2019/20  

 
Source: CDP SMART Stevenage Residential Completions in Period, 2022.  

 

Page 60



36 
 

3.10 It is anticipated that now the Local Plan is adopted, housing completions will increase 
 substantially in the five year housing supply period. A breakdown of the net completion 
 figures for 2020/21 is set out in Appendix A. 

3.11 Since 2011, 2,253 new dwellings (net) have been developed. A further 5,206 are required by 
 2031 in order to meet the Stevenage Borough Local Plan target of 7,459 new homes. 

Table 20 Housing Completions in Stevenage  

Monitoring year 
Homes completed in year 

(net) 
Cumulative completions (net) Annualised housing target 

Year-on-year total surplus/deficit 
against annualise Local Plan 

2011/12 190 190 380 -190 

2012/2013 85 275 760 -485 

2013/14 172 447 1,140 -693 

2014/15 146 593 1,520 -927 

2015/16 153 746 1,900 -1,154 

2016/17 690 1,436 2,280 -844 

2017/18 70 1,506 2,660 -1,154 

2018/19 285 1,791 3,040 -1,249 

2019/20 321 2,112 3,420 -1,308 

2020/21 141 2,253 3,800 -1,539 

Source: CDP SMART Stevenage Residential Completions in Period, 2022. 

 

Fig 30 Housing Completions in Stevenage and Hertfordshire since 2011  

 
Source: CDP SMART Stevenage Residential Completions in Period, 2022.  

-100%

-50%

0%

50%

100%

150%

200%

250%

300%

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

P
er

ce
n

ta
ge

 c
h

an
ge

 f
ro

m
 2

01
1/

12
 o

f 
n

e
t 

h
o

u
si

n
g 

b
u

ilt
 

Monitoring year 

Stevenage

Hertfordshire

Page 61



37 
 

Five year housing land supply 

Target: Maintain at least a five-year supply of land for housing 

Target met? Yes, we have a housing supply of 5.001 years 

3.12 As mentioned in Chapter 1: Introduction, this AMR reports the Housing Supply as it was on 
 31 March 2021. 

3.13 The NPPF requires local authorities to have a rolling supply of specific deliverable sites 
 sufficient to provide five years' worth of housing against housing requirements. The five 
 year housing land supply is based on certain figures and assumptions. These are: 

 The annual housing target in the Borough; 

 The identified supply of housing sites and an assessment of which of these sites are likely to 
be delivered within the five years; 

 The shortfall in housing completions since the start of the Plan period and how this will be 
addressed;  

 The addition of a buffer of additional sites brought forward from later in the Plan period to 
ensure choice and competition in the market for land. 

3.14 The annual housing target used in the five year housing land supply calculation is 380 
 dwellings per annum. 

3.15 As of 31 March 2021, there were outstanding planning permissions or prior approvals for 
 1,021 new homes (net). 

Table 21 Total number of potential homes in Stevenage 2020/21. 

Source of supply Number of dwellings anticipated 

Dwellings under construction (including prior approvals under construction) 310 

Dwellings with full detailed planning permission 397 

Total Number of Dwellings for Sites with Prior Notification 21 

Dwellings with outline permission or have resolution to permit subject to a S106 
agreement being signed 

526 

Total Number of Dwellings for other ‘Deliverable’ Sites 1660 

Total Number of Dwellings for Windfall Sites 80 

Total 2,994 

Source: SBC Five Year Housing Land Supply Position Statement, January 2021. 

3.16 A full list of outstanding permissions is set out in Appendix B. 

3.17 The shortfall in housing completions since the start of the Plan period needs to be 
 considered in the five-year housing land supply calculation. The current total shortfall in 
 housing completions since the start of the Plan period is 1,307. 

3.18  The NPPF requires local authorities to provide an additional buffer of at least 5% to ensure 
 choice and competition in the market for land and seek to provide a genuine margin of 
 adequate supply. This buffer is not an additional amount on top of the total provision; 
 rather it is moved forward from later in the Plan period. In local authorities where there is 
 deemed to have been a persistent record of under-delivery of housing, the NPPF states  that 
 the buffer should be increased to 20%. In Stevenage, given that there has been a persistent 
 under-delivery of housing, a 20% buffer has been applied. 

Page 62



38 
 

3.19 Taking into account the established need (380 dwellings per year); the following table 
 shows the calculation of the Council's five year housing land supply. 

 

Table 22 Stevenage Five Year Housing Supply 

 Number of Dwellings Anticipated 

Five year housing requirement = 380 dwellings per year (for 5 years = 1,900) + 
Liverpool deficit (1307/11*5=595) + 20% buffer (1900+595*1.05) 

2,994 

Annual completion rate (for these 5 years)  (2,994 /5) 598.8 

Number of dwellings on sites under construction or with planning permission (or 
subject to S106) that will be delivered in the 5 year period 

1,254 

Number of dwellings on other ‘deliverable’7 sites identified in the SLAA that will be 
delivered in the 5 year period 

1,660 

Windfall allowance of 20 per year for the 5 year period (not including the first year) 80 

Total 2,994 

Years supply = Total/Annual completion rate 5.001 

Source: SBC Five Year Housing Land Supply Position Statement, January 2021   

3.20 Due to the Housing Delivery Test Score, the 5% buffer from last year must be increased to 
20%. Increasing from a 5 year requirement of 2,619 to 2,994. 

3.21 The table above shows that, as of 31 March 2021, we had a supply of housing that could 
 cover 5.001 years and we could demonstrate a five year supply of land for housing. 

  

                                                             
7
 to be 'deliverable' a site must be suitable in planning terms, have no planning policy restrictions that prevent 

development, be available for development and have a realistic prospect of being delivered in the next five 
years. All of these criteria must be met at the point of assessment 

Page 63



39 
 

Fig 31 Stevenage Housing Trajectory 

 
Source: Stevenage Borough Council, 2022.  

190 
85 172 146 153 

690 

71 
285 

178 

657 

946 882 874 844 
695 

555 500 485 
390 305 275 

447 
593 

746 

1436 1507 

1792 
1970 

2627 

3573 

4455 

5329 

6173 

6868 

7423 

7923 

8408 

8798 9103 

0

1000

2000

3000

4000

5000

6000

7000

8000

9000

10000

N
o

. o
f 

h
o

m
es

 c
o

m
p

le
te

d
 (n

et
) 

Monitoring year ending… 

Net completions (projected beyond 2020) at 31st
March

Cumulative completions (projected beyond 2020) at
31st March

Page 64



40 
 

3.22 During the last monitoring year, there were 6 sites where the planning permission lapsed, 
 resulting in the loss of 72 potential new homes. 

Table 23 Lapsed Planning Permissions in Stevenage 2020/21 

Permission reference Address Description Lapsed date Residential units (net) 

17/00160/FP 
Land adj, 35 Rookwood 
Drive, Stevenage, SG2 8PH 

Erection of 1 no. two bedroom 
dwelling 

08/6/2020 1 

17/00254/FP 
Land adj, 39 Fishers Green, 
Road, Stevenage, SG1 2PD 

Demolition of existing garage 
to facilitate erection of 1no. 
three bed detached dwelling 

15/6/2020 1 

17/00056/FP 
38 Sparrow Drive, 
Stevenage, SG2 9FD 

Change of use from four bed 
residential dwelling (Use Class 
C3) to a five bed care home 
(Use Class C2). 

16/6/2020 3 

16/00844/OP 
Land Adjacent To, 24 
Shackledell, Stevenage, 
SG2 9AE 

Outline planning permission 
for the erection 1 no. three 
bedroom dwelling and 5 no. 
car parking spaces 

13/07/2020 1 

16/00482/FPM 
Land adj, Six Hills House, 
London Road, Stevenage, 
SG1 1AE 

Erection of an 8 storey 
residential building comprising 
of No. 17 one bedroom 
residential units, No. 35 two 
bedroom units, No. 12 three 
bedroom units, and associated 
access 

06/12/2020 64 

17/00814/FP 
322, York Road, 
Stevenage, SG1 4HW 

Erection of two-storey rear 
extension, demolition of 
existing garage and 
conversion of existing four bed 
dwelling into 2no. two bed 
flats 

28/02/2021 2 

Total 72 

Source: CDP SMART Stevenage Lapsed Permissions, 2022. 

Fig 32 Lapsed Permissions and Potential homes lost in Stevenage 2020/21 

 
Source: CDP SMART Stevenage Lapsed Permissions, 2022,  

 

 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

Number of lapsed
permissions

Number of potential
homes lost

Page 65



41 
 

Affordable housing completions 

Target: At least 25% of all new homes to be affordable 

Target met? No, 20% of all new homes were affordable 

3.23 A total of 30 affordable homes were completed during this monitoring year. This represents 
 20.1% of all completed dwellings in the Borough.  

 

Table 24 Affordable homes in Stevenage 2020/21 

Permission reference Address Provider Units 

18/00268/FPM  
85-103 Queensway, Town Centre, 
Stevenage, SG1 1EB 

Private 24 

19/00195/FP 
3 & 4 Ditc hmore Lane, Stevenage, 
SG1 3LJ 

Housing Association 6 

Total 30 

Source: CDP SMART Affordable Completions, 2022. 

Fig 33 Affordable homes built in Stevenage during the Plan period 

 
Source: CDP SMART Affordable Completions, 2022,  

 

Gypsy and Traveller accommodation 

Target: At least 11 new Gypsy and Traveller pitches to be provided by 2031 

Target met? No new pitches have been provided this year, but there is the rest of the Plan 
period to deliver the provision required 

3.24 There were no additional net gains in Gypsy and Traveller pitches in the last monitoring 
 year. Pitches have remained constant since the beginning of the Plan period. 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

%
 O

F 
A

LL
 H

O
M

ES
 B

U
IL

T 
TH

A
T 

W
ER

E 
A

FF
O

R
D

A
B

LE
 

N
O

. O
F 

A
FF

O
R

D
A

B
LE

 H
O

M
ES

 B
U

IL
T

 

MONITORING YEAR 

No. of affordable homes built % affordable Target: at least 25% of housing completions to be affordable

Page 66



42 
 

 

Housing completions by size and type 

Target: For a mix of dwellings to be provided in line with SHMA recommendations 

Target met? Ongoing 

3.25 Stevenage's housing stock is unbalanced. When the New Town was initially developed, it 
 was designed to attract working families. As a result, a high proportion of three bed houses 
 were built. Over half of the three bed homes were terraced properties - more than double to 
 regional and national average8. 

3.26 This monitoring year, 10% of gross completions were for houses whilst 90% of gross 
 completions were for flats/apartments. 

3.27 The table below shows gross housing completions by size and type; 1 and 2 bedroom 
 flats/apartments are the most prevalent size and type of housing completions this 
 monitoring year. 

Table 25 Housing Completions by size and type in Stevenage 2020/21 

Type 1 bed 2 bed 3 bed 4 bed + Total by type 

House or bungalow 3 3 1 3 10 

Flat, apartment or 
maisonette 

78 22 0 0 100 

Dwelling Equivalent 0 0 0 3 3 

Studio 39 0 0 0 39 

Total 120 25 27 6 152 

Source: Stevenage Borough Council, 2022 

3.28 The number of flats completed since 2011/12 far exceeds the number of houses built over 
 the same period. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                             
8 Aspirational housing research 2010, SBC 

Page 67



43 
 

 

Fig 34 Number of Types of homes built in Stevenage during Plan period 

 
Source: Stevenage Borough Council, 2022  

 

3.29 As well as the need for smaller homes, Stevenage also needs larger higher quality homes, 
 known as aspirational homes. We have developed a set of criteria (for homes and flats) with 
 which dwellings must comply if they are to be considered 'aspirational'9. However, these are 
 difficult to monitor in practice. Therefore, we will continue to use council tax bands G and H 
 to monitor levels of aspirational housing. 

3.30 The overall proportion of aspirational homes in Stevenage was at 1.17% this monitoring 
 year. 

3.31 The Local Plan seeks to increase this proportion over the Plan period to 2031. Policy SP7 in 
 the Local Plan requires at least 3% of homes to be aspirational. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                             
9 Aspirational housing research 2010, SBC 

59 
97 92 87 77 

62 
23 

81 

10 
30 

82 
62 68 

626 

15 

272 
247 

100 

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

N
o

. o
f 

co
m

p
le

ti
o

n
s 

Monitoring Year 

Total Houses

Total Flats

Page 68



44 
 

Fig 35 Percentage of homes in Council Tax Bands in Stevenage 2020/21 

 
Source: Council Tax: stock of properties, Office of National Statistics, 2021 

Housing completions on previously developed land (PDL) 

Target: 45% of housing completions to be built on previously developed land 

Target met? Yes, 92% of housing completions were built on previously developed land 

3.32 Of the 154 (gross) dwelling completions in Stevenage in the last monitoring year, 142 were 
 completed on PDL. This equates to 92% of all housing completions. 

 

Table 26 Housing Completions on PDL 

 Number of completions Percentage 

Number of completions on previously developed 
land 

142 92% 

Number of completions on ‘Unknown’ land 12 8% 

Gross dwelling completions 154 100% 

Source: CDP SMART Stevenage Residential Completions in Period, 2022. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

0.00%

10.00%

20.00%

30.00%

40.00%

50.00%

60.00%

Band A Band B Band C Band D Band E Band F Band G Band H

%
 o

f 
h

o
m

es
 in

 e
ac

h
 c

o
u

n
ci

l t
ax

 b
an

d
 

Council Tax Band 

Page 69



45 
 

Fig 36 Housing Completions on PDL during the Plan period 

 
Source: CDP SMART Stevenage Residential Completions in Period, 2022, 

3.33 It is likely that the number of housing completions on previously developed sites are likely 
 to fall over the remainder of the Local Plan period; this is due to the majority of the 
 brownfield allocated sites in the Local Plan having been developed and more sites coming 
 forward for development on greenfield sites around the edge of the town at North, West 
 and South East Stevenage. 

Table 27 Location of PDL Housing Completions 

Reference Location Number of units (Gross) 

08/00028/FP 86 Grace Way, SG1 5AD. 3 

16/00395/FPM 
Symonds Green Neighbourhood Centre, Units 1-
2 Filey Close, SG1 2JW. 

22 

16/00608/FP 24 Julians Road, SG1 3EU. 1 

16/00838/FP 14 Plash Drive, SG1 1LW. 2 

18/00268/FPM 85 - 103 Queensway, SG1 1EB. 94 

19/00194/FP Chris Foster House, 5 Ditchmore Lane, SG1 3LJ. 4 

19/00195/FP 3 & 4 Ditchmore Lane, SG1 3LJ. 6 

19/00316/FP 50 Warwick Road, SG2 0QS. 0 

19/00325/FP Land adj, 14 Park View, SG2 8PU. 1 

19/00514/FP 136 Archer Road, SG1 5HH. 2 

19/00604/FP 69 Archer Road, SG1 5HB. 1 

20/00191/CLEU 164 Durham Road, SG1 4HZ. 1 

20/00278/FP 15 Jessop Road, SG1 5LG. 1 

20/00353/FP 17 Gonville Crescent, SG2 9LT. 1 

20/00395/FP 188 Bedwell Crescent, SG1 1NE. 1 

20/00471/FP 79 Rockingham Way, SG1 1SJ. 2 

Total dwellings (Gross) 142 

Source: CDP SMART Stevenage Residential Completions in Period, 2022,  

0.0%

10.0%

20.0%

30.0%

40.0%

50.0%

60.0%

70.0%

80.0%

90.0%

100.0%

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

Gross dwelling completions on
PDL

Percentage of dwelling
completions on PDL

Target: 45% of housing
completions to be built on
previously developed land

Page 70



46 
 

Employment growth and changes in the monitoring year 

3.34 Meeting the employment needs of the Borough is another key requirement. If there is 
 under-delivery of land for new employment development, then employers in the Borough 
 may choose to move away. The policies in the Stevenage Borough Local Plan seek to 
 contribute towards this by planning for a sufficient quantity, quality and type of 
 employment land in the right locations, taking account of need and demand in the 
 Borough. 

3.35 This AMR reports on the following areas of employment development: 

 Amount of floor space developed for employment by type;  

 Employment land supply allocated in the planning process;  

 Employment floor space completions. 

3.36 The NPPF highlights the principle of achieving a sustainable economy and acknowledges 
 the economic role of the planning system in achieving sustainable development. Our Local 
 Plan has an important role to play in achieving this aim by ensuring the policies meet the 
 needs of the economy whilst at the same time securing effective protection of the 
 environment and achieving a sustainable pattern of development. Monitoring employment 
 land supply ensures that the needs of the businesses in the town will be met. The Local Plan 
 policies aim to achieve a sustainable economy in the district by encouraging a strong and 
 diverse local economy with a wide range of employment opportunities, whilst ensuring 
 effective protection and enhancement of the environment and the prudent use of 
 resources. 

 

Amount of floor space developed for employment type 

Target: To increase the amount of floor space developed for employment 

Target met? Yes, this year we gained 3,054 sqm of employment floor space 

3.37 This monitoring year, 3,054 sqm (gross) of new employment floor space was completed in 
 the Borough. When losses are taken into account, there was an overall net gain of 
 employment floor space of 3,054 sqm. 

Table 28 New Employment Floor Space in Stevenage 

Type of employment  
(by use class) 

Gain (sqm) Loss (sqm) Net total (sqm) 

B1, B1a, B1b, B1c (split unknown) 2,354 0 2,354 

B2 – General industry 212 0 212 

B8 – Storage and distribution 488 0 488 

Total 3,054 0 3,054 

Source: CDP SMART Employment Net Completions by B Use Class and Settlement Totals, 2022. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 71



47 
 

Fig 37 Completed floor space of B Class Use  

 
Source: CDP SMART Employment Net Completions by B Use Class and Settlement Totals, 2022.  

Employment land supply allocated in the planning process 

3.38 It is important to monitor how much land is available for building office, industrial and 
 storage/distribution premises throughout the Borough. This helps ensure that sufficient 
 opportunities are available for employment development in the town. 

3.39 To do this, we look at: 

 Allocated sites that do not yet have planning permission; 

 Sites under construction for B-Class Uses; 

 Extant planning permissions (planning permissions where development has not yet 
started). 

Table 29 Employment Land Supply in Stevenage 2020/2021 

Type of site Total (ha) 

Local Plan employment allocations 14.35 

Sites under construction for B-Class Uses 3.25 

Extant planning permissions for B-Class Uses -1.37 

Total 16.23 

Source: Stevenage Borough Council – Non Residential Completions (2020-2021)  

-40000

-35000

-30000

-25000

-20000

-15000

-10000

-5000

0

5000

10000
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

 m
2 

(n
et

) 
o

f 
em

p
lo

ym
en

t 
'B

' c
la

ss
 f

lo
o

rs
p

ac
e

  

Monitoring Year 

Page 72



48 
 

Fig 38 Employment Land Supply in Stevenage during Plan period

 
Source: Stevenage Borough Council – Non Residential Completions (2020-2021)  

3.40 Overall, the employment land supply was 16.2ha. 

3.41 We also assess both employment areas (Gunnels Wood and Pin Green) in relation to Local 
 Plan allocations and current permissions to see whether any other vacant sites exist or 
 whether there are any wholly vacant units which may provide potential sites for new 
 employment development. However, due to the Covid-19 pandemic, these assessments 
 were unable to be undertaken and so this information will be reported in the next 
 monitoring year. 

 

Employment floor space completions 

3.42 Due to the Covid-19 pandemic, these assessments were unable to be undertaken and so 
this information will be reported in the next monitoring year. 

 

Retail growth and changes in the monitoring year 

3.43 The indicators in this section monitor the provision of local services with the Town Centre 
 and Old Town. This includes retail, office and leisure developments. The Town Centre and 
 Old Town provide a range of shopping facilities and other services, which are generally well 
 located for use by the whole community and accessible by a range of modes of transport. 

3.44 The Council is concerned not only in maintaining but also in enhancing the vitality and 
viability of the Town Centre and Old Town. In particular we are keen to protect the key 
shopping and trading role of the Town Centre and Old Town whilst at the same time 
encouraging the integration of other functions, such as community uses, services, leisure 
and entertainment. Mixed use developments will be encouraged in the Town Centre and 
Old Town as will complementary evening and night-time economy uses, where appropriate. 

3.45 This AMR reports on the following areas of retail development: 

 Percentage of primary and secondary frontage in A1 (Shop) Use Class; 

 Vacant shops in the Town Centre and Old Town; and  

 Retail, office and leisure floor space completions. 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

Em
p

lo
ym

en
t 

la
n

d
 s

u
p

p
ly

 (
h

a)
 

Monitoring year 

Page 73



49 
 

Percentage of primary and secondary frontage in A1(shop) Use Class 

Target:  Maintain or increase the proportion of A1 use primary frontage in the Town Centre and 
Old Town. 

Target met? Unknown 

3.46 This indicator monitors the primary and secondary frontages in the Town Centre and Old 
 Town. This is to ensure that the frontages remain primarily in retail use and that the vitality 
 and viability of the primary shopping area is maintained. However, due to the Covid-19 
 pandemic, these assessments were unable to be undertaken and so this information will be 
 reported in the next monitoring year. 

 

Vacant shops in the Town Centre and Old Town 

Target: Reduce the number of vacant retail units on the primary shopping frontage 

Target met? Unknown 

3.47 The number of vacant units in the retail frontages tends to vary from year to year. It is often 
 seen as a key indicator of how a primary shopping area is performing economically. 
 However, due to the Covid-19 pandemic, these assessments were unable to be  undertaken 
 and so this information will be reported in the next monitoring year. 

 

Retail, office and leisure floor space completions 

Target: Increase the net retail, office and leisure floor space in the Town 

Target met? Unknown 

3.48 Monitoring the overall provision of retail, office and leisure (ROL) floor space10 will help to 
 ensure that we have the right mix of these types of businesses and that we are continuing to 
 attract these uses in the right areas. However, due to the Covid-19 pandemic, these 
 assessments were unable to be undertaken and so this information will be reported in the 
 next monitoring year. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                             
10 Due to the changes in planning legislation, we are now able to monitor indicators that best suit our own 
circumstances. Accordingly, we have decided to use the NPPF definition of 'main town centre uses' and have 
added all uses which fall under 'Class A, B1a, C1, D1 and D2 Uses'. General B1 has been excluded where (a) or 
(b) has not been specified. Our D1 use category excludes changes to school floor space, colleges and children's 
centres. Our SG category only includes those uses identified in the NPPF as main town centre uses. 
 

Page 74



50 
 

Appendix A: Net housing completion figures 2020/21 

PP Ref Address Description Gross completions Net completions 

08/00028/FP 86 Grace Way, Stevenage 
Conversion of 1 dwelling into 2 
dwellings & erection of 
dwelling 

3 2 

15/00370/FP 
R/O 2, Whitney Drive, 
Stevenage, SG1 4BG 

Erection of 1no 3 bedroom 
dwelling. 

1 1 

16/00395/FPM 

Symonds Green 
Neighbourhood Centre, 
Units 1-2 Filey Close, 
Stevenage, SG1 2JW 

Demolition of 4 no. residential 
units and refurbishment and 
external alterations of 
neighbourhood centre, change 
of use of existing A1 (shop), 
B1/B8 (Former Council Estate 
Office, Business and Storage), 
D1 (Community Centre) and 
ancillary Community Cafe to 
create 3 no. units comprising 
2no. Class A1 (shop) and 1no. 
Class B1 (business) at ground 
floor level, construction of one 
additional floor to create 12 
no. one bedroom apartments 
and 10 no. two bedroom flats. 

22 18 

16/00608/FP 
24 Julians Road, 
Stevenage, SG1 3EU 

Demolition of the existing 
dwelling to facilitate the 
erection of 3 no. four bedroom 
detached dwellings. 

1 1 

16/00838/FP 
14 Plash Drive, Stevenage, 
SG1 1LW 

Part single storey and part two 
storey rear extension to 
facilitate the conversion of 1 
no. dwelling to 2 no. two 
bedroom flats 

2 1 

18/00268/FPM 
85 - 103 Queensway, Town 
Centre, Stevenage, SG1 
1EB 

Partial demolition of existing 
buildings to facilitate erection 
of new residential building 
comprising 39no. studio, 54no. 
one bed and 1no. two bed flats 
with under-croft car parking; 
retention of existing office use 
(Use Class B1) on upper floors; 
change of use of existing retail 
units (Use Class A1) to a mixed 
use development of Use 
Classes A1 (Shops), A2 
(Professional & Financial 
Services), A3 (Restaurants & 
Cafes), A4 (Drinking 
Establishments) and D2 (Gym) 
with associated enhancements 
to shop frontages; 
replacement canopies; public 
realm improvements and 
associated car parking and 
highway works. 

94 94 

19/00194/FP 
Chris Foster House, 5 
Ditchmore Lane, 
Stevenage, SG1 3LJ 

Variation of condition 1 (Site 
Plan) attached to planning 
permission 18/00107/FP to 
amend access, parking and 
amenity area. 

4 4 

19/00195/FP 
3 & 4 Ditchmore Lane, 
Stevenage, SG1 3LJ 

Variation to condition 1 (site 
plan) attached to planning 
permission reference number 
15/00080/FP to amend access 
and parking layout 

6 6 

19/00196/FP 
Land adj, 25 Harefield, 
Stevenage Herts, SG2 9NG 

Erection of 2 bed dwelling with 
new access and associated car 
parking. 

1 1 

19/00197/FP 
Land At 29 Shephall Way, 
Stevenage, SG2 9QN 

Erection of a three storey 
building comprising 6 no. two 
bed and 3no. one bed flats 
with associated parking and 
landscaping 

9 9 

19/00201/RM 
7 Chouler Gardens, 
Stevenage, SG1 4TB 

Reserved matters application 
for access, appearance, 
landscaping & scale pursuant 
to O/L 18/00704/OP 

1 1 

Page 75



51 
 

19/00316/FP 
50 Warwick Road, 
Stevenage, SG2 0QS 

Erection of two storey side 
extension, single storey rear 
extensions and loft conversion 
incorporating 2no. rear dormer 
windows to facilitate the 
conversion of existing 3 bed 
dwelling into 2no. 3 bed 
dwellings. Creation of 
associated parking to the rear 
and front. 

0 -1 

19/00325/FP 
Land adj, 14 Park View, 
Stevenage, SG2 8PU 

Demolition of garage, 
conservatory and utility room 
and erection of 1no 1 bedroom 
detached dwelling and garage. 

1 1 

19/00514/FP 
136 Archer Road, 
Stevenage, SG1 5HH 

Conversion of 1no. 4 bedroom 
house into 2no. 1 bedroom 
houses. 

2 1 

19/00604/FP 
69 Archer Road Stevenage 
Herts SG1 5HB 

Conversion of existing garage 
and demolition of existing 
front extension to facilitate a 
Change of Use from a 4-bed 
dwelling to a 5-bed House of 
Multiple Occupancy (HMO). 

1 0 

20/00191/CLEU 
164 Durham Road, 
Stevenage, SG1 4HZ 

Certificate of Existing Lawful 
Use for the continued use of 
the premises as a HMO (use 
Class C4) 

1 0 

20/00278/FP 
15 Jessop Road, Stevenage, 
SG1 5LG 

Change of use from 5 bedroom 
dwellinghouse (Class C3) to 
HMO (House of Multiple 
Occupancy) Class C4. 

1 0 

20/00353/FP 
17 Gonville Crescent, 
Stevenage, SG2 9LT 

Continued use of property as a 
5 bedroom HMO (House of 
Multiple Occupancy) Use Class 
C4. 

1 0 

20/00395/FP 
188 Bedwell Crescent, 
Stevenage, SG1 1NE 

Variation of Condition Number 
1 (Approved Plans) attached to 
application number 
19/00722/FP to enlarge the 
detached 1no. 4 bedroom 
dwellinghouse. 

1 1 

20/00471/FP 
79 Rockingham Way, 
Stevenage, SG1 1SJ 

Conversion of 1no. 3 bed 
terraced house into 2no. 1 bed 
flats and erection of rear 
external staircase. 

2 1 

Total 154 141 

 

 

  

Page 76



52 
 

Appendix B: Housing commitment figures 2020/21 

Homes under construction (work started) 

PP Ref Address Totals to build 
Loss outstanding as of 
31/3/2020 

Net to build 

13/00599/FP 
Land Between, 7A And 11 
North Road, Stevenage, 
SG1 4BD 

1 1 1 

16/00608/FP 
24 Julians Road, 
Stevenage, SG1 3EU 

3 2 1 

17/00154/FP 
119 Hertford Road, 
Stevenage, SG2 8SH 

1 1 1 

17/00289/FP 
41 Linkways, Stevenage, 
SG1 1PR 

2 2 1 

17/00533/FP 
20 Rockingham Way, 
Stevenage, SG1 1SQ 

1 1 1 

17/00846/FP 
12 Park Place, Town 
Centre, Stevenage, SG1 
1DP 

9 9 9 

17/00882/FP 
Stevenage Football Club 
Training Facility, Aston 
Lane, Aston 

1 1 1 

18/00390/FP 
85 - 103 Queensway Town 
Centre, Stevenage, SG1 
1EB 

8 8 8 

18/00393/CPA 
Town Centre, 85 -103 
Queensway, Stevenage, 
SG1 1EB 

2 2 2 

18/00401/FP 

Land Bordered By 
Ashdown Road, Malvern 
Close And, Hertford Road, 
Stevenage, SG2 8BG 

7 7 7 

18/00406/FP 
83 Penn Road, Stevenage, 
SG1 1HT 

4 4 3 

18/00473/FP 
Silkin Court, Campkin 
Mead, Stevenage, SG2 9PU 

4 4 4 

18/00740/FPM 
12, North Road, Stevenage 
Herts, SG1 4AL 

21 21 21 

19/00136/FPM 
145 Scarborough Avenue, 
Stevenage, SG1 2HQ 

29 29 29 

19/00297/FP 
11, Valley Way, Stevenage, 
SG2 9AB 

1 1 1 

19/00316/FP 
50 Warwick Road, 
Stevenage, SG2 0QS 

2 2 1 

19/00485/FPM 
Land At Webb Rise, 
Stevenage, SG1 5QU 

85 58 27 

20/00053/FPM 
Former Chells Play Area, 
Eliot Road, Stevenage, SG2 
0LJ 

13 13 13 

20/00133/FP 
Former Shephall Green 
Infant School, Shephall 
Green, Stevenage, SG1 9XR 

2 2 2 

Page 77



53 
 

20/00142/FP 
Courtlands, Chantry Lane, 
Todds Green, Stevenage, 
SG1 2JE 

1 1 1 

20/00290/FP 
Former DuPont, 
Wedgwood Way, 
Stevenage 

9 9 9 

20/00440/FP 
83 Brook Drive, Stevenage, 
SG2 8TP 

1 1 1 

20/00529/FP 
Chells Manor, Chells Lane, 
Stevenage, SG2 7AA 

1 1 1 

Total 208 180 172 

Detailed permission (work not started) inc Reserved Matters 

PP Ref Address Totals to build 
Loss outstanding as of 
31/3/2020 

Net to build 

16/00482/FPM 
Land adj, Six Hills House, 
London Road, Stevenage, 
SG1 1AE 

64 0 0 

17/00056/FP 
38 Sparrow Drive, 
Stevenage, SG2 9FD 

3 0 0 

17/00160/FP 
Land adj, 35 Rookwood 
Drive, Stevenage, SG2 8PH 

1 0 0 

17/00254/FP 
Land adj, 39 Fishers Green 
Road, Stevenage, SG1 2PD 

1 0 0 

17/00465/FP 
53 Coventry Close, 
Stevenage, SG1 4PD 

2 1 1 

17/00621/FP 
33 Peartree Way, 
Stevenage Herts, SG2 9DZ 

1 0 0 

17/00696/FP 
22 Greydells Road, 
Stevenage, SG1 3NJ 

3 2 1 

17/00698/FP 
40, Barclay Crescent, 
Stevenage, SG1 3NB 

2 0 0 

17/00724/FP 
88 Salisbury Road, 
Stevenage, SG1 4PE 

2 1 1 

17/00746/FP 
First And Second Floor, 37 
Queensway Town Centre, 
Stevenage, SG1 1DN 

2 2 0 

17/00814/FP 
322, York Road, Stevenage, 
SG1 4HW 

2 0 0 

18/00164/FP 
8 Windsor Close, 
Stevenage, SG2 8UD 

2 2 0 

18/00195/FP 
95 Shephall View, 
Stevenage, SG1 1RP 

2 1 1 

18/00230/FP 
53 Harvey Road, 
Stevenage, SG2 0BD 

2 1 1 

18/00234/FP 
Boots UK Ltd    REAR OF  
54, High Street, Stevenage 
Herts, SG1 3EF 

6 6 0 

18/00399/FPM 
Walpole Court, Blenheim 
Way, Stevenage, SG2 8TZ 

60 22 38 

18/00430/FP 
18-20 High Street, 
Stevenage, SG1 3EJ 

1 1 0 

18/00630/FP 
Former Shephall Green 
Infants School, Shephall 
Green, Stevenage, SG1 9XS 

2 0 2 

19/00096/FP 
Land adj, 24 Ellis Avenue, 
Stevenage, SG1 3SA 

1 1 0 

19/00113/FP 
Land To Rear Of, 1 Aspen 
Close, Stevenage, SG2 8SJ 

1 1 0 

19/00223/FP 
Garage Compound To The 
South Of, 148 - 150 Hydean 
Way, Stevenage, SG2 9YA 

3 3 0 

19/00240/FP 
59 Long Leaves, 
Stevenage, SG2 9BB 

2 1 1 

Page 78



54 
 

19/00287/FP 
22 Basils Road, Stevenage, 
SG1 3PX 

2 2 0 

19/00420/FP 
1 Cavell Walk, Stevenage, 
SG2 0QD 

1 1 0 

19/00461/FP 
Units A & B, Mindenhall 
Court, Stevenage, SG1 3BG 

9 9 0 

19/00463/FP 
Land Adjacent To, 21 
Whomerley Road, 
Stevenage, SG1 1SP 

1 1 0 

19/00475/FP 
Land To The Rear Of 4 
Middle Row, Middle Row, 
Stevenage Herts, SG1 3AN 

1 1 0 

19/00508/FP 
55 Whomerley Road 
Stevenage Herts SG1 1SR 

2 2 0 

19/00582/FP 
43 Fishers Green Road, 
Stevenage, SG1 2PD 

1 1 0 

19/00628/FP 
48 Made Feld, Stevenage, 
SG1 1PQ 

2 2 0 

19/00706/FP 
2A Letchmore Road, 
Stevenage, SG1 3HU 

5 5 0 

19/00721/FP 
19 Made Feld, Stevenage, 
SG1 1PQ 

3 2 1 

19/00722/FP 
188, Bedwell Crescent, 
Stevenage Herts, SG1 1NE 

1 0 1 

19/00742/FP 
Land To The Rear Of 45, 
Eliot Road, Stevenage, SG2 
0LL 

1 1 0 

20/00064/FP 
9, Four Acres, Stevenage 
Herts, SG1 3PL 

1 0 1 

20/00226/FP 
112 High Street, 
Stevenage, SG1 3DW 

1 0 1 

20/00227/FP 

Land To The Rear Of, 36 
Fellowes Way And 57 
Woodland Way, 
Stevenage, SG2 8BW 

1 1 0 

20/00256/FP 
188 Bedwell Crescent, 
StevenageHerts, SG1 1NE 

1 0 1 

20/00293/FP 
45 Lonsdale Road, 
Stevenage, SG1 5DB 

2 1 1 

20/00346/FP 
Abbington Hotel, 23 
Hitchin Road And 28 Essex 
Road, Stevenage, SG1 3BJ 

2 2 0 

20/00418/FP 
Sala Thong, 112 High 
Street, Stevenage, SG1 
3DW 

1 1 0 

20/00553/FP 
20 Broom Walk, 
Stevenage, SG1 1UR 

2 1 1 

20/00555/FP 
45 Vardon Road, 
Stevenage, SG1 5PT 

2 1 1 

20/00593/FP 
49 Fellowes Way, 
Stevenage, SG2 8BS 

1 1 0 

20/00599/FP 
14, Brick Kiln Road, 
Stevenage, SG1 2NH 

1 0 1 

20/00627/NMA 
Six Hills House, London 
Road, Stevenage 

64 64 0 

21/00020/FP 
18, Julians Road, 
Stevenage, SG1 3ET 

1 1 0 

21/00041/FP 25, North Road, Stevenage 0 -1 1 

Total 274 146 128 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 79



55 
 

Sites with Outline permission 

PP Ref Address Totals to build 
Loss outstanding as of 
31/3/2020 

Net to build 

07/00810/OP Town Centre, Stevenage 120 0 120 

14/00559/OPM 
Matalan Retail Park, 
Danestrete, Stevenage, 
SG1 1XB 

526 0 526 

16/00446/OP 
1, Chequers Bridge Road, 
Stevenage, SG1 2LY 

1 0 1 

16/00844/OP 
Land Adjacent To, 24 
Shackledell, Stevenage, 
SG2 9AE 

1 0 1 

20/00558/OP 
Chells Way Service Station, 
Chells Way, Stevenage, 
SG2 0LZ 

9 0 9 

Total 657 0 657 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 80



56 
 

Appendix C: Employment Completion figures 2020/21 

Employment floorspace completions 

PP Ref Address Description Gains Loses Total 

17/00343/FP 
Caswell House, 
Cavendish Road, 
Stevenage 

The installation of gas 
engines with ancillary 
development 

106 0 106 

17/00788/FP 

Glaxo SmithKline 
Research And 
Development Ltd, 
Gunnels Wood 
Road, Stevenage, 
SG1 2FX 

Variation of Condition 
1 (Approved Plans) 
attached to planning 
permission reference 
number 16/00835/FP 

106 0 106 

17/00826/FPM 
Plot 2000, Gunnels 
Wood Road, 
Stevenage, SG1 2BE 

Erection of four storey 
office building (Use 
Class B1a), petrol filling 
station with ancillary 
convenience store and 
coffee drive-thru outlet 
with associated access, 
parking and circulation 
arrangements, 
landscaping and 
associated works. 

639 0 639 

18/00020/FP 
7 - 9 The Hyde, 
Stevenage, SG2 
9SD 

Change of use from A1 
to A3 and A4 

87 -177 -90 

18/00124/FP 
3 Crompton Road, 
Stevenage, SG1 2EE 

Demolition of existing 
office and erection of 
single storey office 
building and 
recladding of existing 
warehouse 

244 0 244 

18/00382/FP 
ASDA Stores Ltd, 
Monkswood Way, 
Stevenage, SG1 1LA 

Erection of retail pod 17 0 17 

18/00398/FPM 

The Bragbury 
Centre, Kenilworth 
Close, Stevenage, 
SG2 8TB 

Demolition of the 
existing Bragbury End 
community centre, 
Asquith Court and 
various residential 
dwellings and the 
construction of a 
mixed use 
development with 169 
no. dwellings 
(Including independent 
living) and 4no. retail 
units across various 
blocks. 

0 -608 -608 

18/00664/CPAR 
38 Queensway 
Town Centre, 
Stevenage, SG1 1EE 

Prior approval for the 
change of use from 
shop (Use Class A1) to 
restaurant/cafe (Use 
Class A3) 

72 0 72 

19/00253/FPM 
MBDA UK, Six Hills 
Way, Stevenage, 
SG1 2DA 

Erection of a two-
storey modular office 
building with 
associated boundary 
treatments and 
landscaping. 

1071 0 1071 

19/00548/FP 
ASDA Stores Ltd, 
Monkswood Way, 
Stevenage, SG1 1LA 

Erection of 1no. single 
storey modular retail 
unit (Use Class A1) in 
car park 

54 0 54 

19/00604/FP 
69 Archer Road 
Stevenage Herts 
SG1 5HB 

Conversion of existing 
garage and demolition 
of existing front 
extension to facilitate a 
Change of Use from a 
4-bed dwelling to a 5-
bed House of Multiple 
Occupancy (HMO). 

0 0 0 

Page 81



57 
 

20/00008/FP 

Unit B2, Roebuck 
Retail Park London 
Road, Stevenage, 
SG1 1XZ 

Change of Use from 
class A1 (Retail) to 
class D2 (Gym) 

734 -524 210 

20/00153/FP 
12-14 Willows Link, 
Stevenage, SG2 8AR 

Change of use from A3 
(cafe) to Sui Generis 
(dog grooming salon) 

70 -65 5 

20/00191/CLEU 
164 Durham Road, 
Stevenage, SG1 4HZ 

Certificate of Existing 
Lawful Use for the 
continued use of the 
premises as a HMO 
(use Class C4) 

0 0 0 

20/00278/FP 
15 Jessop Road, 
Stevenage, SG1 5LG 

Change of use from 5 
bedroom 
dwellinghouse (Class 
C3) to HMO (House of 
Multiple Occupancy) 
Class C4. 

0 0 0 

20/00288/CC 
Greenside School, 
Shephall Green, 
Stevenage, SG2 9XS 

Construction of single 
storey extension 

53 0 53 

20/00353/FP 
17 Gonville 
Crescent, 
Stevenage, SG2 9LT 

Continued use of 
property as a 5 
bedroom HMO (House 
of Multiple Occupancy) 
Use Class C4. 

0 0 0 

20/00529/FP 
Chells Manor, Chells 
Lane, Stevenage, 
SG2 7AA 

Conversion of part of 
building from office to 
single dwelling house 
with minor associated 
alterations 

0 0 0 

Total 3,253 -1,374 1,879 

Sites under construction 

PP Ref Address Description Gains Loses Total 

09/00449/FPM 
Muslim Community 
Centre, Vardon Road, 
Stevenage, SG1 5JE 

Extensions to muslim 
community centre 

899 0 899 

13/00020/FP 
Astrium, Gunnels 
Wood Road, 
Stevenage, SG1 2DB 

Demolition of existing 
offices (Use Class B1 (a)) 
to facilitate extension of 
existing research and 
development, laboratory 
and manufacturing 
facility (Use Class B1(b)) 

712 475 237 

16/00395/FPM 

Symonds Green 
Neighbourhood 
Centre, Units 1-2 Filey 
Close, Stevenage, 
SG1 2JW 

Demolition of 4 no. 
residential units and 
refurbishment and 
external alterations of 
neighbourhood centre, 
change of use of existing 
A1 (shop), B1/B8 (Former 
Council Estate Office, 
Business and Storage), 
D1 (Community Centre) 
and ancillary Community 
Cafe to create 3 no. units 
comprising 2no. Class A1 
(shop) and 1no. Class B1 
(business) at ground 
floor level, construction 
of one additional floor to 
create 12 no. one 
bedroom apartments 
and 10 no. two bedroom 
flats. 

 

283 283 0 

Page 82



58 
 

17/00799/FP 
Chequers House, 162 
High Street, 
Stevenage, SG1 3LL 

Erection of 2 no. two 
storey side extension, 
raising of the existing 
roof and 1 no. dormer 
window on front 
elevation and 1 no. 
dormer window on the 
rear elevation, 1 no. roof 
light and associated car 
parking. 

119 0 119 

17/00846/FP 
12 Park Place, Town 
Centre, Stevenage, 
SG1 1DP 

Replacement of one 
ground floor retail unit, 
refurbishment of retail 
frontages and erection 
of 9no. residential 
dwellings. 

34 39 -5 

17/00882/FP 
Stevenage Football 
Club Training Facility, 
Aston Lane, Aston 

Construction of two 
storey storage building 
including staff office, 
welfare and residential 
accommodation and 
ancillary works. 

130 0 130 

18/00020/FP 
7 - 9 The Hyde, 
Stevenage, SG2 9SD 

Change of use from A1 
to A3 and A4 

175 177 -2 

19/00563/FP 
33 Queensway Town 
Centre Stevenage 
Herts SG1 1DN 

Sub-division of existing 
Use Class A1 (shop) unit 
into four units with use 
of proposed units 3 and 4 
as either Use Class A1 
(food retail shop) or Use 
Class A3 (restaurant or 
cafe).External alterations 
to create new shop 
frontage and installation 
of a mezzanine floor 
above unit 2. 

465 279 186 

19/00673/FPM 
Plot 2000, Gunnels 
Wood Road, 
Stevenage, SG1 2BE 

Erect business and 
household storage 
facility (Use Class B8), 
associated car parking, 
delivery areas and 
associated ancillary 
works 

8208 0 8208 

19/00736/FP 

Airbus Defence And 
Space, Gunnels Wood 
Road, Stevenage SG1 
2DB 

Construction of a single 
storey pressure test 
facility 

468 100 368 

20/00235/FP 
Unit 3, Motorway Ind 
Est, Babbage Road, 
Stevenage 

Change of use from B8 
(storage or distribution) 
and B1 (office) to Sui 
Generis. 

1189 1189 0 

20/00360/CC 

Greenside Special 
School, Shephall 
Green, Stevenage, 
SG2 9XS 

Construction of new 
classroom building 

133 0 133 

20/00548/FPM 
Unit B3, Cockerell 
Close, Stevenage, 
SG1 2NB 

Installation of a 
mezzanine floor and 
enclosed external 
compound 

975 0 975 

Total 13790 -2542 11,248 

 

Page 83



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 84



 Part I – Release to Press 
 

 
 

 
 

Meeting: Planning and Development 
Committee 

Agenda Item:  

Date: 9 August 2022  

Author: James Chettleburgh 01438 242266 

Lead Officer: Zayd Al-Jawad 01438 242257  

Contact Officer: James Chettleburgh 01438 242266  

Application No: 19/00062/OPM 

Location: Land at Maxwell Road, Stevenage.  

 

Proposal: Outline application (with all matters reserved except access) for the 
demolition of existing buildings and replacement with buildings to 
accommodate new office and residential floorspace (Class E and Class C3), 
with associated landscaping, car parking and ancillary works. 
 

Drawing Nos.: 2521-PL101; 2521-PL02; 8180606/6101C; 2521-PL202A; 2521-PL203A; 
2521-PL204A; 2521-PL205A. 

Applicant: TTL Chiltern Property Limited 

Date Valid: 04 February 2019 

Recommendation: GRANT OUTLINE PLANNING PERMISSION. 

 

 
 
 
 

Plan for information purposes only 

Page 85

Agenda Item 4



- 2 - 

1.   SITE DESCRIPTION 

1.1 The application site is located off Maxwell Road which is a spur road off Gunnels Wood Road 
(A602) and lies within a designated Employment Area. The site comprises a two-storey, 
utilitarian style, modulated office building with a flat roof known as Serviceline. This building 
is constructed from a stock red brick with vertically aligned metal windows. To the west of the 
Serviceline Building is the Furniture Industry Research Association (FIRA) building which is 
considered to be a non-designated heritage asset.  This building has a distinctive roof design 
with an irregular cranked floor plan which comprises the central hall, workshops and 
laboratory areas which radiate out from the core. The building has a clearly defined entrance 
feature which comprises a projecting porch with brick side walls with a low level glass roof 
over a vestibule (lobby). This vestibule has been enclosed by double-leaf softwood doors 
with narrow glazed panels. 

 
1.2 Located at the eastern part of the development site is Walton Lodge Veterinary Surgery. The 

veterinary surgery is a part single-storey, part two-storey building with a flat roof and is 
constructed from red brick. The fenestration detailing of this building comprises symmetrical 
and evenly spaced metal windows with associated panels.  

 
1.3 To the north of the application site lies Cockerell Close. This road consists of a number of 

trade and commercial premises along with a warehouse and builders merchants. To the 
south of the application site is Broomin Green Farm which is a Grade II Listed Building in 
residential use. To the east of the application site beyond the tree belt is Mozart Court, off 
Fairview Road which is a residential care home. To the west of the site beyond Gunnels 
Wood Road dual carriageway is the modern Fujitsu office complex. The surrounding area, 
which forms part of the Gunnels Wood Road Employment Area, comprises a mixture of 
offices, warehouses, light industrial units and other commercial premises.  

 

2.   RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 

2.1 Planning application 2/0166/50 sought permission for an industrial area development – Part 
1. This application was granted permission in July 1950. 

 
2.2 Planning application 2/0221/70 sought permission for an extension to provide research and 

ancillary space and additional parking area. This application was granted permission in 
December 1970. 

 
2.3 Planning application 2/0167/74 sought permission for a single-storey extension to form 

laboratories and offices. This application was granted permission in August 1974.  
 
2.4 Planning application 2/0283/77 sought permission for a car park and new access. This 

application was granted permission in December 1977. 
 
2.5 Planning application 2/0019/78 sought permission for a single-storey training centre. This 

application was granted permission in February 1978.  
 
2.6 Planning application 2/0020/78 sought permission for a multi-purpose building for research. 

This application was granted in February 1978.  
 
2.7 Planning application 2/0122/78 sought permission for the erection of a multi-purpose two-

storey building for research (Phase 1). This application was granted in May 1978. 
 
2.8 Planning application 2/0263/78 sought permission for a two-storey building for research 

purposes. This application was granted in July 1979. 
 
2.9 Planning application 2/0238/81 sought permission for a change of use from warehouse to 

light industry. This application was granted in October 1981. 

Page 86



- 3 - 

 
2.10 Outline application 2/0432/85 sought permission for Phase 2, two-storey multi-purpose 

building and associated car parking facilities. This application was granted in February 1986. 
 
2.11 Planning application 2/0068/96 sought permission for a flue and lattice support structure. This 

application was approved in May 1996. 
 
2.12 Planning application 01/00488/FP sought permission for a change of use of premises from 

factory to veterinary hospital. This application was granted in November 2001.  
 
2.13 Planning application 17/00303/OPM sought outline permission for the demolition of the 

existing buildings and replacement with 64 no. two bed flats and 64 no. one bedroom flats, 
two storey extension to retained “Serviceline Building” to facilitate conversion to 8 no. two 
bed flats and 24 no. one bed flats, erection of 3 no. 4 bed houses and associated access 
arrangements. This application was withdrawn in September 2018. 

 
2.14 Prior approval application 17/00318/CPA sought a change of use of office building (Use Class 

B1(a)) to Residential Dwellings (Use Class C3), comprising 12 no. one bedroom flats and 4 
no. two bedroom flats. Prior Approval was required and Refused in July 2017.  

 

3.   THE APPLICATION AS ORIGINALLY SUBMITTED 
 
3.1 The application as originally submitted to the Council for determination was in outline form 

with all matters reserved, except for access, sought permission for the demolition of the 
existing Serviceline building, the FIRA building and the veterinary and for the erection of up 
to 88 new dwellings and up to 12,733 sq.m of office floorspace (Use Class B1(a)), creation 
of new internal roads, private car parking, landscaping, open space and ancillary works. The 
proposed development of 88 dwellings was for a density of approximately 69 dwellings per 
hectare. The development included 248 parking spaces (58 spaces for the residential 
development and 190 spaces for the office development). The proposed development 
excluded the Grade II listed Broom Green Farmhouse as this property sits outside of the 
application site and therefore, is to be retained. 

 
3.2 This application was granted planning permission by the Council as Local Planning Authority 

on the 31st March 2020. However, a Judicial Review (JR) was lodged against this permission 
by Lady Norma Somers of Broomin Green Farm, Stevenage (The Claimant). The Claimant 
contended that in granting Planning Permission, the Council erred in law in: 

 
(a)  Deferring consideration of the acceptability of the proposed development by reason 

of its sunlight and daylight effects on the Claimant’s and other properties to the 
reserved matters stage, when those effects should have been considered in the 
decision sanctioning the principle of the development; 

 
(b) Misinterpreting and thereby misapplying Policies EC4 and HO5 of the Stevenage 

Borough Local Plan (2019).  
 

3.3 Following the advice of Counsel, the Council had agreed it had erred in law on the Claimants 
Ground 1, sunlight and daylight effects of the development. However, the Council did not 
agree it erred in law on Ground 2, misinterpretation of planning policy. The decision was, 
therefore, subject to a Consent Order which was then confirmed by Hon. Mr Justice Holgate 
which ordered that the application for permission for Judicial Review be granted and the 
Council’s decision of 31 March 2020 is quashed with respect to Ground 1 only. The order 
was issued by the Court on the 19 May 2020.  

 
3.4 Given the quashing of its earlier grant of planning permission, the Council is now required to 

re-determine the planning application afresh. As part of the de novo reconsideration, the 
Council needs to take into consideration the grounds of the quashing order.  Consequently, 

Page 87



- 4 - 

this application has been referred back to the Planning and Development Committee for its 
decision.  

 

4.       PUBLIC REPRESENTATIONS ON THE ORIGINAL APPLICATION  

4.1 The original planning application had been publicised by way of a site notice and 
neighbouring properties have been notified about the application via a letter. The application 
was also published in the local press. In addition, neighbouring properties have also been 
notified via letters on the amended parameter plans. Objections have been received from 
Philbeck House, Maxwell Road and Broomin Green Farm, Maxwell Road which are both 
residential properties. A summary of the objections received is as follows:- 

 

 Loss of privacy to the private garden area; 

 The proximity of the residential blocks will cause direct overlooking of habitable rooms; 

 The development would result in a loss of sunlight to neighbouring properties; 

 The development would generate security issues for neighbouring properties; 

 The development would generate high levels of traffic on Maxwell Road and on Gunnels 
Wood Road which already has a high level of traffic due to developments such as Costco; 

 Public who visit Costco are already parking in local residential streets and dangerously 
crossing the dual carriageway; 

 Maxwell Road was never meant to be a busy residential road; 

 The traffic along Gunnels Wood Road already affects many routes to other parts of 
Stevenage; 

 The development has insufficient off-street parking; 

 The development would prejudice ease of access to Broomin Green Farm; 

 The development could generate anti-social behaviour in the area; 

 The office development would affect the peace and tranquillity of Broomin Green Farm; 

 There is question as to whether there is an actual need for the offices due to the level of 
vacant offices in the town; 

 The proposal is overdevelopment of the site; 

 The development would result in a loss of established businesses; 

 The development would generate unacceptable noise levels on the occupiers of Broomin 
Green Farm; 

 A number of buildings in the town have already been converted to flats, there surely is a 
need for houses for families; 

 Stevenage should be for families and not be made into a commuting town; 

 The development is out of character with the area in terms of building heights; 

 There is a lack of an access road onto Gunnels Wood Road; 

 The development would have a detrimental impact upon local wildlife; 

 The travel plan submitted is unrealistic and its very likely the development would be car 
dependent; 

 The developer is merely trying to make a profit and not catering for families in Stevenage; 

 Providing homes for families would more likely contribute to Stevenage and its wealth 
instead of providing for commuters.  

 
4.2 Please note that the aforementioned is not a verbatim record of the comments which have 

been received. A full copy of the comments can be viewed on the Council’s website.  
 
 
 

5. CONSULTATIONS ON THE ORIGINAL APPLICATION  
 
5.1 Hertfordshire County Council as Highways Authority  
 

Page 88



- 5 - 

5.1.1 The Transport Assessment submitted as part of this planning application and covering 
highway and traffic issues has been carefully considered to establish the likely impact of the 
proposal on the highway network. It is considered that the total peak traffic generation of 
traffic would reduce in comparison with the existing uses on site. In addition, whilst the 
development is located off a local access road, this road is a spur off Gunnels Wood Road 
which is a main distributor road. However, it is not considered that the traffic generation of 
the proposed development would have a significant impact on the local highway network. 

 
5.1.2 In regards to the proposed vehicle access points off Maxwell Road, the access roads have 

been designed in accordance with Manual for Streets. Consequently, it is determined that 
the proposal would not have an unreasonable impact on the safety and operation of the 
adjoining highway subject to the provision of a financial contribution, conditions and 
informatives to be attached to any planning permission. 

5.2 Hertfordshire County Council Growth and Infrastructure Unit 

5.2.1 Following an assessment of the proposed development for 88 units, it is recommended 
financial contributions should be secured in accordance with HCC Toolkit towards youth 
services, library services as well as primary and secondary education. In addition to this, it is 
recommended that fire hydrant provision should be provided as part of the development. As 
such, fire hydrant provision should be secured as part of any S106 Legal Agreement.   

5.3 Hertfordshire County Council as Lead Local Flood Authority 

5.3.1 The County Council as the Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) consider the proposed 
drainage scheme to be acceptable. The drainage strategy is based on an attenuation and 
restricted discharge system via a Hydrobrake at 2.5l/s which is very close to the greenfield 
run-off rate for the site. However, as the application is in outline, the applicant will need to 
confirm full details regarding the attenuation features to be provided and SuDS management 
features on site. Therefore, it is recommended a number of conditions are imposed if planning 
permission were to be granted to secure the finalised drainage scheme for the development.  

5.4 Hertfordshire County Council Archaeology 

5.4.1 The proposed development lies adjacent to an Area of Archaeological Significance, as 
identified in the Local Plan. This concerns the 17th century farmhouse and considerably 
shrunken historic hamlet of Broomin Green in Stevenage.  

5.4.2 The farmhouse is much modernised, but retains two timber-framed 17th century sections, and 
is Grade II listed. The hamlet, however, is recorded in documents from as early as 1248, 
where it is noted as the home of John de la Brome. It appears that there has been a small 
settlement in this corner of the ancient parish of Stevenage since the medieval period. The 
Desk Based Assessment (DBA) concludes that the development site is located, at least 
partially, on the site of the former hamlet. 

5.4.3 Finds from the prehistoric period are also known to be found in this part of Stevenage, from 
hand axes dating to the Palaeolithic period to coins from the late Iron Age. In addition, there 
is also potential for prehistoric remains to be present in the area as well. 

5.4.4 Some, not all, of the structures appear to have basements. However, it is unclear as to the 
degree that these buildings and possible basements, have led to the potential removal of 
archaeological layers. Notwithstanding, many of the new structures will be in the footprint of 
the old. However, as stated by the DBA, development would also be taking place in the areas 
that were former car parks and greens areas. As such, archaeology may also be preserved 
beneath the existing structures that do not have basements. 

Page 89



- 6 - 

5.4.5 It is therefore considered that the position of development is such that it should be regarded 
as likely to have an impact on heritage assets of archaeological interest. Therefore, if the 
Council is minded to grant consent, a number of conditions should be imposed to any 
permission issued. The suggested conditions are considered both reasonable and necessary 
to provide proper consideration for the likely archaeological implications of the development. 
In addition, the recommendations closely follow the requirements of paragraph 199 (now 
para. 205) of the NPPF as well as the relevant guidance in National Planning Practice 
Guidance.   

5.5 Hertfordshire County Council Minerals and Waste 

5.5.1  The Council needs to be aware of the Policies in regards to waste management of the site, 

including the re-use of unavoidable waste where possible and the use of recycled materials 

where appropriate to the developments construction. Furthermore, Waste Policy 12: 

Sustainable Design, Construction and Demolition require all relevant construction projects to 

be supported by a Site Waste Management Plan (SWMP). This aims to reduce the amount of 

waste produced on site and should contain information including types of waste removed from 

the site and where the waste is taken to. 

5.6 Council’s Conservation Advisor. 

5.6.1 The site comprises a number of buildings in office/commercial use, a veterinary surgery and 
areas of parking all accessed from Maxwell Road. The south-west corner of the site is set 
down from the road which rises up to the roundabout over cycle-ways / footpaths below and 
is on the corner of Gunnels Wood Road and Fairlands Way. The buildings are generally tall 
single storey or two-storey in height.  

 
5.6.2 Whilst the area is generally characterised by industrial / office buildings, adjacent to the site, 

and surrounded by it on 3 sides is the Grade II listed Broomin Green Farmhouse (a 
designated heritage asset). Prior to the New Town development of Stevenage, this building 
was part of Broomin Green Farm and lay isolated a little way to the east of the town. The 
farmhouse dates to the 17th century (partly rebuilt) and is of timber frame construction with 
plastered infill and a steep gabled clay tile roof which is a noticeable element within the street 
scene from Fairlands Way. At present the roof of the Furniture Industry Research Association 
(FIRA) building, the nearest building to the farmhouse is lower than the ridge of the 
farmhouse. Despite the industrial nature of its current setting the buildings on the application 
site are lower than, or of a similar height to the farmhouse and it sits reasonably comfortably 
in this context.  

 
5.6.3 The application site contains the FIRA Laboratory; located in the south-west corner of the 

site facing the roundabout. The building was designed by Howell, Killick, Partridge and Amis, 
the celebrated architects’ practice who designed a number of architecturally important 
buildings throughout this period (several of which are now statutory listed). The FIRA 
Laboratory was put forward for statutory listing however Historic England recommended it 
was not added to the statutory list as, unfortunately, the alterations that have occurred to the 
building since its construction have diminished its significance. None the less, the FIRA and 
its concrete sign to the site frontage are clearly still of architectural merit and the FIRA 
Laboratory should be considered a ‘non-designated heritage asset’.  

 
5.6.4 The development entails demolition of all the buildings on the site (FIRA Laboratory building, 

Serviceline building and Veterinary Surgery). The new development on the site would take 
the form of:  

 

 A large office block on the corner of Fairlands Way and extending along the 
Gunnelswood Road frontage of the site, this has a 2-storey plinth and 6-storeys above.   

 

Page 90



- 7 - 

 Four blocks of residential units are proposed, ranging from between 2 – 7 storeys. 
 

5.6.5 In relation to the office block, the way it curves to address Gunnelswood Road is the most 
successful part of its design. Following on from initial concerns raised, the southern part of 
the office block has been reduced in height and the east flank of the southern part of the 
office block features further stepping at 4th and 6th floor, breaking up this flank elevation to 
some degree which is an improvement on the initial proposed plans. The core of the northern 
office block has been remodelled and the upper floor stepped in to reduce its bulk. 

 
5.6.6 Despite these changes the scale bulk and massing of the office block is still considered to 

detract from the setting of Broomin Green Farmhouse, causing some harm to its significance. 
The residential development on the site is in smaller blocks however cumulatively the level 
of development does not seem all that sympathetic to the setting of the listed building.  

 
5.6.7 The visual impact of the new development is illustrated on the site elevations (page 19 and 

20) of the Design and Access Statement and on viewpoints 2a and 3 within the Landscape 
Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA). There is also a concern that the high level of development 
on the site this may, in time, put pressure to remove or heavily reduce the planting to the 
edges of the site, increasing the prominence and visual impact of the new development 
locally.  

 
5.6.8 In relation to the demolition of the FIRA Laboratory building (considered to be a non-

designated heritage asset), NPPF para. 197 (now Para. 200) states: 
 
  ‘The effect of an application on the significance of a non-designated heritage asset should 

be taken into account. In weighing applications that affect directly or indirectly non-designated 
heritage assets, a balanced judgement will be required having regard to the scale of harm or 
loss and the significance of the heritage asset.’ 

 
5.6.9 Under the proposed redevelopment of the site, the scale of harm or loss will be absolute, if 

the demolition of the FIRA Laboratory is allowed it should be subject to a Level 3 Historic 
Building Recording which should be archived appropriately.  

 
5.6.10 With reference to the impact upon the setting (and significance) of the Grade II listed Broomin 

Green Farmhouse:  

Setting is defined in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) as "The surroundings 
in which a heritage asset is experienced. Its extent is not fixed and may change as the asset 
and its surroundings evolve. Elements of a setting may make a positive or negative 
contribution to the significance of the asset, may affect the ability to appreciate that 
significance or may be neutral."  

5.6.11 The setting itself of a listed building is not designated. Every heritage asset, whether 
designated or not has a setting. Its importance, and therefore the degree of protection it is 
offered in planning decisions, depends entirely on the contribution it makes to the significance 
of the heritage asset or its appreciation. 

5.6.12 Paragraph 193 of the NPPF (now para.199) states that: ‘When considering the impact of a 
proposed development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight 
should be given to the asset’s conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater 
the weight should be). This is irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to 
substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial harm to its significance.  

 
5.6.13 Paragraph 194 (now para.200) continues: Any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a 

designated heritage asset (from its alteration or destruction or development within its setting) 
should require clear and convincing justification.’ 

 

Page 91

https://historicengland.org.uk/advice/hpg/hpr-definitions/s/536522/
https://historicengland.org.uk/advice/hpg/hpr-definitions/n/1322139/
https://historicengland.org.uk/advice/hpg/hpr-definitions/h/536274/
https://historicengland.org.uk/advice/hpg/hpr-definitions/s/536524/
https://historicengland.org.uk/advice/hpg/hpr-definitions/d/534842/


- 8 - 

5.6.14 Paragraph 200 (now para.206) recommends local authorities look for opportunities for new 
development within the setting of heritage assets ‘to enhance or better reveal their 
significance.’ The development will not entail any direct physical alteration to the listed 
building or its immediate plot. It is recognised that the setting of the Grade II listed Broomin 
Green Farmhouse has changed significantly since the mid-20th century with the development 
of the Gunnelswood Road industrial area and the surrounding road network. 

 
5.6.15 It is acknowledged the changes made to the design, scale and massing of the office 

development during the application process have slightly reduced the level of harmful impact 
upon the setting of the farmhouse. However the redevelopment of the site as proposed (in 
particular the scale, bulk, mass and overbearing nature of the proposed office development 
and the cumulative impact of development on the site), is considered to have an adverse 
impact upon the setting of the farmhouse (compared to its existing setting), thereby causing 
‘less than substantial harm’ to its significance.  

 
5.6.16 The NPPF (para. 196) (now para. 202) advises that: ‘Where a development proposal will 

lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this 
harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal..’ 

 
5.6.17 In reaching a decision on this application Stevenage Borough Council should balance the 

‘less than substantial harm’ against any ‘public benefits’ the proposal may result in. If the 
application is approved, conditions including a Level 3 Historic Building Recording / full 
landscaping details and details / samples of external construction materials should be 
applied.  

 
5.7 Council’s Environmental Health Section 

5.7.1 From a commercial perspective, it is recommended if planning permission was to be granted, 
the following conditions should be imposed:- 

 Watching brief for initial site preparation in regards to land contamination; 

 Restriction on the hours of construction (including no playing of audible music/radio); 

 Management of construction operations in terms of noise, dust, smoke, lighting; 

 Control of any plant and equipment which could generate a nuisance. 

5.7.2 In terms of noise, the Environmental Health Section has advised that they are unable to make 
further comments until a full BS4142:2014 (as amended) assessment of the commercial 
noise sources has been completed. It has to be appreciated that the Council has to be 
satisfied about the level of impact from the adjacent noise sources on future occupiers and 
that appropriate mitigation measures have been put in place to protect residents and ensure 
they are able to enjoy a reasonable internal and external acoustic environment without the 
likelihood of noise complaints arising in the future. Presently, based on the limited 
assessment of commercial noise you have undertaken so far, we cannot be satisfied of this. 
It is important not only for the future residents and the existing businesses, but also for the 
local authority who may be faced with investing resources into investigating and taking action 
if complaints were to arise. For this reason, the application will be required to provide a 
comprehensive assessment of the commercial noise. 

5.8 Council’s Arboricultural Manager 

5.8.1 In order to reduce the impact of the development, it is recommended the following works to 
trees outside the site boundary will have to be carried out, at the cost of developer, before 
the commencement of the construction works. The works which have been suggested to the 
relevant trees are as follows:- 

1. Removal of 2 no. Poplar Trees in the North East corner of Block 1; 

Page 92



- 9 - 

2. 30% reduction of first row of trees on the Eastern boundary by Blocks 1 and 2; 
3. 30% reduction of the two Lime trees by the South Eastern corner of the site; 
4. 30% overall reductions on the two groups of Maple trees on the northern boundary near 

Block 4 and Office Block; 
5. Removal (including stump grinding) of the two Maple trees on the North side by the sub-

station.  

5.9 Council’s Parks and Amenities Section 

5.9.1 The development falls outside the catchment area for any existing play area within the town. 
The nearest play facilities are at Meadway Playing Field and/or King George V Playing Field. 
Due to the industrialised nature of the site, it would not be suitable to construct a play area 
within the development.  

5.9.2 Therefore, financial contributions will be sought towards Children’s Play and Outdoor Sport. 
The monies would be utilised to improve either Meadway Playing Field and/or King George 
V Playing Field. The section also seeks further clarification in regards to public open space. 
In terms of landscaping, there are very limited details which have been provided. Therefore, 
to be able to comment, full details, plans and specifications for landscaping should be 
provided. 

5.9.3 The Council’s Parks and Amenities Section would not look to adopt the maintenance of the 
on-site open space due to its self-contained and isolated nature.  

5.10.1 Council’s Traffic and Enforcement Manager 

5.10.1 There is no mention in the Transport Assessment of cycle parking. This should meet the 
Council’s Standards. In terms of car parking, there would be a lower number of car parking 
spaces on the grounds on the sites accessibility in line with the Council’s Standards. 
Therefore, it is recommended the developer provides additional cycle parking spaces in place 
of the un-provided car parking at a ratio of 1:1 to help realise the site’s potential for 
sustainable travel.  

5.10.2 At paragraph 2.17 of the Transport Assessment, it states that further pedestrian/cycle 
connections could be provided, subject to agreement with the Council. This is supported as 
it would help realise the site’s potential for sustainable travel. 

5.10.3 In regards to Maxwell Road, it is subject (as detailed in the Transport Assessment) to a single 
yellow line to prevent commuter parking. It is also subject to an overnight and weekend ban 
on parking by commercial vehicles of more than 5 tonnes/seating of more than 12 
passengers. Therefore, provision should be made for a S106 contribution to fund the 
extension of these controls into the new street upon its adoption in order to protect residents 
from the issues that led these controls to be introduced in the first instance. 

5.10.4 The introduction of further controls would also serve to support the site’s sustainable travel 
by deterring residents from keeping excess vehicles that they would then have to store on 
the carriageway.  

5.11 Police Crime Prevention Design Officer 

5.11.1 Following a review of the redesigned office block, the Police Crime Prevention Design Service 
is disappointed that the applicant has not consulted the Design Service. In addition, they have 
not addressed some of the points which have been raised with regards to Secured by Design. 
This requirement should cover the whole of the development and not just the residential 
aspect. As such, they encourage the applicant to achieve the Police preferred minimum 
security standard. 

Page 93



- 10 - 

5.12 Historic England 

5.12.1 On the basis of the information made available to date, Historic England do not wish to offer 
any comments. It is suggested the Council seeks the views of their specialist conservation 
and archaeological advisers, as relevant.  

5.13 Environment Agency 

5.13.1 The proposed development is considered to be acceptable subject to conditions being 
imposed. The presence of the electricity sub-station and the current use of the site as a 
furniture industry research facility (with the associated materials and chemical laboratories), 
present a risk of contamination that could be mobilised during construction to pollute 
controlled waters. Controlled waters are particularly sensitive in this location given that the 
proposed development is located:- 

 Within Source Protection Zone 1; 

 Within 120 metres of an abstraction borehole used for the supply of water for human 
consumption; 

 Upon a Secondary A Aquifer within the Glacio-fluvial deposits overlying the Principal 
Chalk Aquifer (Holywell Nodular Chalk Formation and the New Pit Chalk Formation).  

5.13.2 The area is designated as Source Protection Zone 1 as significant groundwater source used 
for potable water supplies usable for human consumption and may be at particular risk from 
polluting activities on or below the land surface arising from the proposed development. The 
conditions recommended to be imposed if permission were to be granted are as follows:- 

 Submission of a remediation strategy; 

 Submission of a verification report in regards to remediation; 

 Long term monitoring in respect to contamination; 

 Remediation Strategy to be submitted if previously unidentified contamination is 
found; 

 Control of SUDs infiltration of surface water into the ground; 

 Piling; and 

 Decommissioning of investigative boreholes. 

5.14 Thames Water 

5.14.1 In regards to Foul Water sewage network infrastructure capacity, there is no objection to the 
proposed development. With regards to surface water drainage, it is advised that if the 
developer follows the sequential approach to the disposal of surface water, there is no 
objection. Where the developer proposes to discharge to a public sewer, prior approval will 
be required from Thames Water.  

 

5.15 NHS East and North Hertfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group 

5.15.1 No S106 monies will be sought for this development. 

5.16 20th Century Society 

5.16.1 No comment. 

5.17 Herts and Middlesex Wildlife Trust  

Page 94



- 11 - 

5.17.1 No comment.  

5.18 UK Power Networks 

5.18.1 No comment.  

6. THE AMENDED APPLICATION 

6.1 Following the making of the Quashing Order by the High Court, the outline application has 
been amended.  The amended application seeks outline permission (with all matters reserved 
except access) for the demolition of existing buildings and replacement with buildings to 
accommodate new commercial and residential floorspace (Class E and Class C3), with 
associated landscaping, car parking and ancillary works. The application entails the 
demolition of the FIRA building, veterinary surgery and Serviceline office building. The 
residential area would be served by approximately 53 parking spaces.  

6.2 The scheme would comprise up to 80 dwelling units with a mixture one and two bedrooms, 
including 25% of the units being for affordable housing. These units would be spread across 
4 separate blocks which would range between two and seven stories in height. With respect 
to the proposed commercial building, this would be a standalone building with up to 11,059 
sq.m in commercial floor area. This is a reduction of 1,654 sq.m on the original application 
proposal. The building would have a maximum height of seven stories and would be served 
by approximately 177 parking spaces.   

6.3 The development would seek to utilise the existing access points off Maxwell Road. The 
proposal also incorporates new pedestrian and cycle access points onto the cycle track which 
runs along Fairlands Way. There would also be new pedestrian crossing points on Maxwell 
Road in order to connect the site to the cycle and pedestrian routes located on Maxwell Road.  

6.4 The scheme which is currently before the Council does not seek any amendments to the 
access arrangements as previously determined by the Council. This amended application is 
accompanied by the following new/additional documents:- 

 Amended indicative plans for the proposed development; 

 Addendum Planning Statement; 

 Updated Noise Impact Assessment; 

 A revised Design and Access Statement; and 

 Sunlight and Daylight Assessment.  

7. PUBLIC REPRESENTATIONS ON THE AMENDED APPLICATION 

7.1.1 The amended planning application had been publicised by way of a site notice and 
neighbouring properties have been notified about the application via a letter. The application 
was also published in the local press. Details of the representations received are set out in 
detail below.  

 Philbeck House (letter dated 27th December 2020) - Objection 

7.1.2 The scheme is overdevelopment of the area and Maxwell Road is not designed for the 
volume of vehicles that the development will bring. In addition, there is insufficient parking to 
serve the proposed development. Furthermore, due to the level of traffic the scheme would 
generate, it would be difficult for vehicles to exit onto Gunnels Wood Road. 

7.1.3 With respect to the proposed offices, is there a demand for offices when a number of offices 
in Stevenage have been converted to flats. Further to this, people are working from home 

Page 95



- 12 - 

and companies see this as a cost benefit as an effective way of working. Some examples of 
disused offices in the town are:- 

 Old Tax Office – Converted to Flats; 

 West Terrace, London Road – Converted to Flats; 

 Vista Towers – Converted to Flats; 

 Swingate – Converted to Flats; 

 Wedgwood Way – Converted to flats. 

7.1.4 Moreover, why construct more office floorspace when the Eagle Building (Icon) has been 
empty for a number of years and recently had planning permission for it to be changed to 
flats. With respect to the flats, why build these multi-storey developments when the majority 
of Stevenage requires homes. Where are the family builds for Stevenage, families need 
homes not flats.  

7.1.5 If the offices were not built and the flats were replaced with homes, this would relieve the 
potential traffic issue which would be created by the development. The developers only really 
care about money and deliver what is not needed for Stevenage residents or is right for the 
area. Parking and highway safety issues have not been considered at all. In addition, due to 
the number of residents the development would create, how are the safety aspects of 
pedestrians and cyclists taken into account where there will be so many vehicles, especially 
due to the number of routes which surround the site. As such, no thought has been given to 
this. The developer is building bike sheds but not making it a safe traffic restricted area.  

 EB7 Limited – Sunlight and Daylight Consultant instructed by owners of Broomin Green 
Farm, Maxwell Road (letter dated 06 January 2021) – Objection 

7.1.6 The owners have substantive concerns about the perceived impact on sunlight and daylight 
amenity. They seek to ensure that proper consideration is given to the continued use of the 
17th Century Grade II Listed Farmhouse. The owners have requested the review of the 
adequacy of the scope of the assessment (Sunlight and Daylight) carried out by GIA (on 
behalf of the applicant) and the conclusions set out in this study.  

7.1.7 The review undertaken does not include a review of the Technical 3D model used for the GIA 
assessment. At the time of this letter, GIA has not measured the property but access was 
arranged and GIA attended to take photographs of the property only. It is noted GIA did try 
to rearrange access, however, due to the Covid-19 pandemic, access was not possible. 
Access is important as room layouts, the room use and sill heights will have an effect on the 
accuracy of the results presented.  

7.1.8 In carrying out the assessment, GIA used “Vertex Photogrammetry” for modelling, rather than 
a more accurate 3D laser scan. When using Photogrammetry, GIA recommended allowing 
for a 300mm tolerance in the modelling. It is also noted that the relevant windows which have 
been tested have been placed in the 3D model using brick counting only. However, given the 
building is predominantly rendered the windows cannot be portrayed accurately.  

7.1.9 It is not clear how the owner of Broomin Green Farm and the Council are to rely upon the 
results when it is clear that the data used to calculate the daylight/sunlight levels is based on 
a vast number of assumptions.  

7.1.10 In terms of modelling, there are inconsistencies in terms of window positioning and heights, 
which highlights the importance of carrying out a laser scan of the site and neighbouring 
properties prior to running any calculations to accurately pin point the windows being tested. 
In addition, the window arrangements are still not correct and do not represent the “actual” 
scenario. It is important to note that the main room of concern is used as a kitchen / office 

Page 96



- 13 - 

area during the day and is an integral room within the dwelling that is used daily for office 
administration tasks where then owners conduct their business operation from. 

7.1.11 In addition, given the concerns raised regarding the accuracy of the data set used for this 
assessment, the impact on the Vertical Sky Component (VSC) is in some doubt in terms of 
its validity. This is particularly given the centre point of the window can “shift” 300mm i.e. the 
suggested Photogrammetry tolerance and reliance on the estimated window position based 
on “brick counting” a rendered elevation.  

7.1.12 Furthermore, the results for the NSL shown for window F00 R6 are wrong as they incorporate 
windows that do not existing on the ground floor northern elevation. As such, when treated 
in isolation (W13), as it meant to be, the NSL will show a significant impact to this room which 
would be deemed unacceptable in BRE terms.  

7.1.13 Turning to results, the GIA report mentions a reduction to W13 beyond the BRE target level 
and attempts to justify this by asserting a northern aspect. This is not true as the window 
faces west and currently enjoys a 17% APSH in the existing scenario. Given the defined use 
of the room, retaining the sunlight level is paramount to the beneficial use of the room in 
question. The proposed sunlight will be reduced down to 12% making the reduction value 
29.41%. This is nearly an extra half of the allowed 20% reduction and should therefore, not 
be permissible in sunlighting terms.  

7.1.14 It is also noted that no overshadowing assessment has been provided as part of the 
applicant’s assessment. It is suggested one is provided for the small amenity area to the 
west. In summary, there are concerns regarding the method used in determining the impact 
the development would have on Broomin Green Farmhouse. There are also inconsistencies 
in the placement of windows, namely the inclusion of windows within the northern elevation 
on the ground floor of the North West section of the farm house. The results, in particular to 
W13, if tested correctly, should not be acceptable in daylight and daylight terms and the 
inaccurate data may also have a significant impact on other windows considered for 
assessment.  

7.1.15 Therefore, EB7 it is of the opinion that the accuracy of the assessment cannot be relied upon 
and a laser scan should be undertaken of the site and neighbouring properties prior to 
carrying out any further testing. It is also noted that this is an outline application in order to 
determine the form of height for the neighbouring land with a detailed application to follow. It 
is therefore, considered that the applicant has not been sympathetic towards Broomin Green 
Farm in respect to daylight and sunlight amenity and the number of assumptions made within 
the assessment cast doubt over the accuracy over the results presented in the GIA report.  

 

 Harrison Grant Solicitors – Instructed by owners of Broomin Green Farm, Maxwell Road 
(Letter dated 5 February 2021) – Objection 

7.1.16 Harrison Grant Solicitors have been instructed by the owners of Broomin Green Farmhouse 
which is a 17th Century farmhouse listed as Grade II. The owners of Broomin Green Farm 
object to the failure by the Council to require a detailed planning application. This is 
development of tall buildings affecting the setting of a listed building. Historic England has 
issued Advice that ‘Submitting a detailed planning application will require the applicant to 
provide sufficient information to enable to the planning authority to assess the impact and 
planning merits when taking a decision.  

7.1.17 Outline applications are only likely to be justified in exceptional cases where the impact on 
the character and distinctiveness of local areas and on heritage assets can be assessed 
without knowing the detailed form and finishes of the building. This is likely to be rare. 

Page 97



- 14 - 

Therefore, it is irrational to have design as a reserved matter in circumstances where a) there 
is a listed building at the heart of the site and the application is responding to the setting of 
the listed building and/or b) policy requires a ‘landmark’ building on the site.  

7.1.18 Looking at the proposal in detail in terms of heritage, the owners object to the development 
as it will overwhelm and dwarf the listed building, there are no other buildings along Gunnels 
Wood Road that are anywhere near this height. The development fails to preserve the setting 
of the listed building and causes a high degree of harm to the significance of the heritage 
asset and is therefore, contrary to Policy SP13, SP2 (o.) and SP2, and SP8. 

7.1.19 The application site surrounds the Grade II listed farmhouse and gardens on three side, the 
south west/west, north and east. The Design and Access Statement at 4.0, para 2, states 
that the scale and massing of the development is informed by requirements to: 

 ‘Respect the heritage asset of the Grade II listed Broomin Green Farmhouse to ensure that 
the new development is not overbearing or detrimental to its setting’. 

7.1.20 The proposed is considered overbearing and detrimental to the setting of the farmhouse, as 
found by the Council’s own Historic Building Consultant. The Council’s Historic Building 
Consultant stipulates that the current buildings on the application site are ‘lower than, or of 
similar height to the farmhouse and it sits reasonably comfortable in this context’. (The letter 
of objection also makes further reference to the concerns raised by the Council’s Historic 
Building Consultant – See Section 8.4).  

7.1.21 The letter of objection also sets out that the development does not comply with Historic 
England’s definition of a high quality scheme at 4.5 of its Advice Note 4 as it does not have 
a positive relations with heritage assets and their setting, nor is it a successful application or 
deliver architectural quality to paragraph 4.8. The Council’s Consultant on Heritage 
conclusion sets out that the Council should balance the ‘less than substantial harm’ against 
any public benefits of the proposal is not the whole picture. The letter emphasises that the 
Council has to have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting 
give great weight to the harm by virtue of Section 66(1) of the Listed Building Act 1990. Case 
law has established that the duties to have special regard or special attention in sections 66 
and 72 mean that considerable importance and weight should be attached to preserving the 
listed building or preserving and enhancing the conservation area.  

7.1.22 Paragraph 22 of the letter sets out details of  East Northamptonshire District Council v 
Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government [2014] EWCA Civ 137 [2015] and 
advises that it is an error to treat ‘Less than Substantial Harm’ to the setting of the listed 
buildings… as a less than substantial objection to the grant of planning permission.  

7.1.23 The letter of objection also goes into detail regarding the NPPF’s policy in relation to 
designated and undesignated heritage assets.  It stresses that paragraph 202 of the NPPF, 
in this instance must not be taken out of context in relation to “less than substantial harm” 
(Case Law Referenced in paragraph 24).  

7.1.24 Objection is also raised to the loss of the non-designated heritage asset, the FIRA laboratory. 
This, as emphasised in the objection, needs to be taken into account and the loss to be 
weighed heavily against in the balance.  

7.1.25 Turning to the aspects of harm to the setting of the Listed Building, the letter sets out that 
Historic England recommends that a Council will need to examine alternative designs or 
schemes that might be more suitable in that they deliver public benefits while avoiding harm 
to the built environment. It is also recommended a site visit for decision makers where 
proposals are likely to impact on heritage assets to get a direct understanding of the effects.  

Page 98



- 15 - 

7.1.26 Based on the above, the objection letter urges the Planning Committee to undertake this site 
visit. In addition, Historic England further recommends 3D models and Accurate Visual 
Representations, but these have not been provided as part of the application. The letter also 
emphasises that Historic England would recommend that due to the profound long term 
impacts that tall buildings can have on the significance of heritage assets, and the integrity 
of the historic townscape, it is especially important that the extent and nature of any claimed 
public benefits are fully and carefully scrutinised.  

7.1.27 Therefore, the owners of Broomin Green Farm strongly object to the failure by the Council to 
require a detailed planning application and this should be rectified forthwith.  

7.1.28 In relation to design, objection is also raised to the poor quality design as demonstrated by 
the overbearing scale and massing of the buildings, that harm the setting of the heritage 
asset contrary to policies SP8 and GD1. As set out under policy SP8, paragraph 5.93: Good 
design is a key aspect of sustainable development. The NPPF is clear that development of a 
poor design which does not improve the character and quality of any area and the way it 
functions should be refused.  

7.1.29 The proposal also fails to make a positive contribution to its location and surrounds contrary 
to Policy GD1. Therefore, the Council should refuse the planning application. The proposal 
also fails to meet the criteria of paragraph 40 of the National Design Guide.  

7.1.30 Objection is also raised to the failure to incorporate landmark architecture in the scheme 
contrary to Policy EC5. This is because it does not respond to its surroundings in terms of 
footprint and massing as emphasised by the Council’s Historic Building Consultant.  It also 
fails utterly in creating a landmark development at one of the main gateways into the town 
centre.  

7.1.31 The requirement for landmark architecture on this site does not permit an application to be 
submitted in outline, as design is said in national policy to be a combination of the layout (or 
masterplan), the form and scale of buildings, their appearance, landscape, materials and their 
detailing. In addition, the letter states “Appearance is the aspect of a building or space within 
the development which determines the visual impression the building or space makes, 
including the external built form of the development, its architecture, materials, decoration, 
lighting, colour and texture. In the case of a space, its landscape also influences its 
appearance”. 

7.1.32 The letter of objection therefore sets out that the Council must refuse outline planning if it is 
to comply with its own and national policies on design. 

7.1.33 Looking at residential amenity, it is considered the proposal would harm amenity contrary to 
policy GD1. In terms of sunlight and daylights, as detailed in the report by EB7, it is concluded 
that the accuracy of the assessment by GIA Chartered Surveyors for the applicant cannot be 
relied upon and laser scan should be undertaken of the site and neighbouring properties prior 
to further testing. In addition, the application is unsympathetic to the farmhouse in relation to 
daylight and sunlight. This is also contrary to the Stevenage Design Guide SPD.  

7.1.34 The balconies and roof gardens will compromise the privacy of the existing farmhouse 
contrary to Policy GD1 and the Design Guide. This is because they will overlook the 
farmhouse compromising the privacy of the occupiers. The same applies to the office 
development. In terms of noise, the use of balconies, roof gardens, cars on the access road, 
parking of cars in the multi-storey car park, delivery bay and access road next to the 
farmhouse west elevation, will result in unacceptable levels of noise to the occupiers of the 
farmhouse as well as future residents of the flats, contrary to Policies FP7 and GD1 as well 
as the Council’s Design Guide.  

Page 99



- 16 - 

7.1.35 The applicant has also failed to assess properly the existing generator of noise immediately 
to the north of the application site, Flamingo Produce on Cockerell Close. This is a 24/7 
operation with noise constantly generated. The future occupiers of the proposed 
development will be exposed to this all day, night and at weekends. The Noise Assessment 
also incorrectly identified the key noise generator as the surrounding roads, with some lower 
noise levels coming from industrial uses. The road noise drops off at quieter periods but the 
noise from the industrial uses is 24/7 so will be intrusive and a nuisance to future occupiers.  

7.1.36 The Council’s own Environmental Health Department raised this issue to the Planning Officer 
where they recommended a full BS4142 assessment of commercial noise is undertaken. The 
Council’s previous officer report recommended this is dealt with by condition. This is clearly 
contrary to the Council’s own policies in not putting competing land uses next to each other. 
The existing commercial noise will impact the residents of the proposed flats.  

7.1.37 The development would also generate unacceptable levels of light pollution due to light spill 
from the offices and flats, having a damaging impact on the living environment. There is also 
a concern that there has been no air quality assessment given the large amount of traffic in 
the area, the commercial uses to the north of the application site and potential for further 
impacts on air quality as a result of the traffic into and out of the application site. A failure to 
assess this in terms of impact on the owners of Broomin Green Farm and future occupiers of 
the development is contrary to policies FP5 and FP7 as well as the NPPF.  

7.1.38  The letter of objection therefore sets out that the application should also be refused as it will 
have an adverse impact on the amenity of the occupiers at Broomin Green Farm. 
Furthermore, it is set out in the letter that as the scheme is in outline, the applicant has not 
been able to demonstrate that the development will not have unacceptable impacts on 
general amenity, the tranquillity of the wider area, including noise and light pollution, contrary 
to Policy FP7. Further, the harm to amenity cannot be left to the reserved matters stage as 
the harm is determined by the physical presence of a building and its spatial relationship with 
the affected property.  

7.1.39 In addition, the letter stipulates that by introducing residential use into an employment area, 
the Council is setting up conflict between the uses contrary to policy SP11 and has failed to 
assess air quality for existing and future residents contrary to FP5 and the NPPF.  

7.1.40 The proposal is also contrary to the Council’s Employment policies because the residential 
part of the scheme takes up the majority of the application site. There is also a reduction in 
the potential for employment floorspace on the proposed residential area (as well as a 
reduction from the current levels in this part). In addition, the provision of employment 
floorspace elsewhere does not alter the position on policy compliance, as Policy EC4 does 
not allow mixed use sites or employment to be confined to part of a site. The office 
development does not mitigate the harmful effects of the residential scheme, as the Council 
acknowledges that it still faces a significant shortfall in employment land.  

7.1.41 The scheme’s compliance with the Policy HO5 criteria does not excuse the breach of EC4 
by placing residential uses on the Gunnels Wood Employment Area. The breach of EC4 is a 
reason in itself to refuse planning permission.  

7.1.42 Turning to access, it is not considered the development is accessible by safe and sustainable 
means, and will have an adverse impact upon highway safety and  not provide safe and 
effective access to homes and jobs, contrary to policy IT4. This is because access to the 
office building and residential development will be via a small cul-de-sac with one exit onto 
Gunnels Wood Road. The overall level of parking, additional vehicles coming to the site such 
as lorries, delivery vans etc., will have an impact due to Gunnels Wood Road being an 
extremely busy road, so access to and from Maxwell Road will be very problematic and 
unsafe.  

Page 100



- 17 - 

7.1.43 There is a substantive concern that the access to Broomin Green Farm will be compromised 
by this development. There is also a real concern about access by emergency vehicles. 
There is also objection to the proposed footpath exiting from the cycle track path right at the 
entrance to the farmhouse, as this would seriously weaken security. 

7.1.44 In addition, due the impact of Covid-19 as of 4th January 2021, there are 30 empty offices in 
Stevenage t let. One of them, the Icon building, is empty (19,000 sq.m) and has been 
available to let for a number of years. Therefore, it is queried why office accommodation is 
proposed on the site, particularly in the strong move away from office accommodation that is 
forecast even following the pandemic, with people working from home and firms downsizing 
their company requirements.  

7.1.45 In addition, it appears that the demand for flats has also flat-lined and there is a strong 
demand for properties with gardens. It is argued that the community of Stevenage agrees 
there are too many flats, according to local tabloids. As such, why has there been no attempt 
to deliver low level housing on this site. It is also observed that employment is being lost from 
the site (the existing company of FIRA on this site) since the industrial is building is to be 
demolished and the company having to relocate. This will possibly be away from Stevenage 
losing employment in the town. The loss of current jobs on the site does not appear to have 
been taken into account.  

7.1.46 Therefore, it is felt that the applicant is not responding to the new realities of the pandemic 
world we currently find ourselves in. In conclusion, the Council must determine the application 
against the existing policies in the local plan unless material considerations indicate other in 
accordance with 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. They must 
balance the benefits against the harm, giving great weight to the heritage harm. The 
application is not in accordance with the local plan and there no material considerations that 
indicate otherwise. To summarise the harm, the proposal:- 

 Fails to preserve the setting of the listed building and causes a high degree of harm to 
the significance of the heritage asset, great weight must be given to this harm, this result 
in a strong presumption against the grant of planning permission; 

 Leads to a loss of the non-designated heritage asset, the FIRA laboratory, which should 
be weighed heavily in the balance; 

 Fails to incorporate landmark architecture into the scheme; 

 Is a poor quality design, which can be a reason in itself for refusal; 

 Fails to respect and make a positive contribution to its location and surrounds; 

 Does not improve the character and quality of an area and the way it functions; 

 Responds negatively to heritage; 

 Results in an adverse impact on amenity in terms of daylight and sunlight from the bulk 
of the buildings; 

 The balconies and roof gardens will compromise privacy; 

 The unacceptable noise and light pollution from the development; 

 Serious impediment in terms of access to the farmhouse; 

 Results in an adverse impact on the amenity of future occupiers as a result of commercial 
noise immediately to the north of the commercial site; 

 Results in competing land uses that are bound to result in conflict and complaint; 

 Results in a reduction of potential for employment floorspace; 

 Results in an adverse impact upon highway safety; 

 Results in unhealthy residential development where the external noise can only be 
reduced by having sealed windows as opposed to openable windows where residents 
are able to enjoy a reasonable internal and external acoustic environment without the 
likelihood of noise complaints arising in the future.  

Page 101



- 18 - 

7.1.47 The letter concludes that any benefits of the scheme cannot rationally outweigh the harm and 
will need in any event to be fully and carefully scrutinised by decision makers. In addition, it 
is not classed as sustainable development and as such, the application should be refused.  

 Schofield Surveyors (on behalf of the owners of Broomin Green Farm) (Letter dated - 31 
August 2021) - Objection 

7.1.48 The surveyor at eb7 limited has moved to Schofield Surveyors Ltd and continues to represent 
the owners of Broomin Green Farmhouse. Following a review of the letter by Anstey Horne 
(see section.8.12 below) who have been advising the Council on the issues of sunlight and 
daylight amenity Schofield Surveyors responded. The following is a summary based on the 
information provided in the letter.  

7.1.49 It is noted that the applicant’s assessment has now been updated to account for a laser scan 
survey. This is because despite requesting several times, GIA did not directly respond to the 
criticism that they had added windows within the ground floor kitchen/office that simply did 
not exist. This now seems to have been addressed in the updated assessment.  

7.1.50 It should be noted that the letter from Anstey Horne states exactly why concerns were 
originally raised about the accuracy of their assessment as the results show a large No-Sky 
line reduction of 55.1% which, as the Council will appreciate, is wholly unacceptable in 
daylighting terms.  

7.1.51 It should be noted that within the Local Plan under section 10: Policy GD1(e) it states that 
new development “Does not lead to an adverse impact on the amenity of future occupiers, 
neighbouring uses of surrounding area”. Furthermore, Stevenage Design Guide 2009 SPD 
5.2 states “New developments should be designed to ensure that satisfactory levels of 
sunlight and daylight are provided for the occupants of both existing and proposed dwellings”. 
In addition, the National Design Guide States: 

 “Para 71…Proposals for tall buildings (and other buildings with significantly larger scale or 
bulk than their surroundings) require special consideration. This includes….daylight, sunlight 
and overshadowing. These need to be resolved satisfactorily in relation to the context of local 
character”. 

7.1.52 Given the above, we are strongly of the opinion that the impact to the kitchen at Broomin 
Green Farm conflicts with the policy guidelines for daylight and sunlight. Therefore, it is 
assumed the scheme will be recommended for refusal.  

Additional letter dated 22 November 2021 

7.1.53 It is noted that there is a revised daylight and sunlight report prepared by GIA dated 18th Oct 
2021. There is also a further report labelled “daylight and sunlight human visual assessment” 
undertaken on 8th September 2021, which considers the Average Daylight Factor 
assessment of the ground floor kitchen/living space only. 

 
7.1.54 The consultant advising on behalf of Broomin’ Green Farm was not able to verify whether 

there are any technical inaccuracies without reviewing the 3D modelling used to generate the 
results presented in the reports. Therefore, this letter only addresses the content of the 
reports. However, it is assumed that the Council have asked your consultant, Anstey Horne, 
to conduct a thorough peer review of the 3D modelling used and the results output.  

 
7.7.55 In terms of the Daylight and Sunlight report dated 18/10/2021, it is set out in the letter that in 

section 2.8 of the report, it states that GIA advised that the height of the scheme “could be 
modified in order to further reduce the daylight and sunlight effects upon Broomin Green 
Farm”. It is understood from the report that the suggested modifications have been reflected 

Page 102



- 19 - 

in the recent report and presented “herein”. Yet, despite that advice, there does not seem to 
be any intension to address the likely impact to my client’s kitchen/living space on the ground 
floor, which is predominantly used most days. In fact, the No-Sky Line results still show a 
reduction of 55.1%, which is the same as reported in the Anstey Horne letter of 26th July 
2021. 

 
7.7.56 Further, in section 7.2 of the report, GIA mention that the commercial elements of the scheme 

have been “substantially reduced in height to respect concerns that have been raised by 
residents of Broomin Green Farm”. Yet, as advised by the Consultants acting on behalf of 
Broomin’ Green Farm, see no evidence of this scheme amendment following on from our 
communication regarding the impact to my client’s kitchen/living space. 

 
7.7.57 The letter then refers to extract taken from both GIA reports where the scheme tested in 

December 2020 seems to be identical to that what was tested in October 2021, which the 
Consultant advises clearly has not addressed the concerns raised in my previous 
correspondence (Copy of the extracts are set out in the letter which can be viewed on the 
Council’s website).  

 
7.7.58 In the Council’s previous letter to the Council, they reminded the Council of the National 

Design Guide where it states:  
 

“Para 71…Proposals for tall buildings (and other buildings with significantly larger scale or 
bulk that their surroundings) require special consideration. This includes daylight, sunlight 
and overshadowing. These need to be resolved satisfactorily in relation to the context of 
local character.”  
 
It is the Consultants opinion that the design modifications suggested by GIA have not 
resolved satisfactorily the daylight and sunlight impact to my client’s kitchen/living space. In 
addition, and as mentioned in my previous letter, section 3.5 of the GIA report refers to the 
Local Plan GD1(e) where it states that new development, “does not lead to an adverse impact 
on the amenity of future occupiers, neighbouring uses of surrounding area”.  
 

7.7.59 In addition, and as mentioned in my previous letter, section 3.5 of the GIA report refers to the 
Local Plan GD1(e) where it states that new development, “does not lead to an adverse impact 
on the amenity of future occupiers, neighbouring uses of surrounding area”.  GIA also 
references in section 3.4 Paragraph 6 of the NPPG which provides the onus on you, as the 
Local Authority, to assess whether the impact to neighbouring occupiers would be 
“unreasonable”. 

 
7.7.60 For reasons already explained in my previous communication, we believe that the impact 

created to the neighbouring occupiers would be considered unreasonable on the basis that 
all three daylight tests would not be met in the ground floor kitchen/living space.  
 

7.7.61 The pictures, provided by me, and contained in section 5.12 of the GIA report, show that this 
room is not simply used as a kitchen, rather it also serves as a space where my clients 
operate and manage their business and spend most of their day. Therefore, any further 
reduction is likely to enhance the fact that the room may not continue to function as is, which 
is an unreasonable burden placed upon my clients.  
 

7.7.62 The ADF assessment shows the proposed levels to be 0.2% ADF. The Consultant therefore, 
find this extremely surprising particularly as the NSL results show that the area of sky that 
can be seen at the working plane is up to 97% lit in the existing condition. This will then be 
reduced to 43% lit (55.1% reduction) in the proposed condition. Without access to the 3D 
modelling, it is very difficult for the Consultant to verify these ADF results accurately, so, 
again, perhaps the Council could clarify if they have had these results verified by Anstey 
Horne.  
 

Page 103



- 20 - 

7.7.63 Given the loss contained within the ground floor kitchen/living space, the Consultants find it 
very surprising that the scheme has not been modified to avoid any material daylight/sunlight 
injury to this room.   

 
 Additional letter dated 7 July 2022 
 
7.7.64 The content within the previous letters remain relevant. Concerns have continually been 

raised about the reduction in light to their clients property (Broomin Green Farm) i.e. the 
ground floor kitchen as a result of the scheme. These concerns have been raised on several 
occasions and despite this, it seems that efforts are not being made to address this issue to 
alleviate their clients concerns.  

 
7.7.65 It is disappointing to learn that the scheme, as tested in the latest report by GIA, still shows 

a major impact to the ground floor kitchen area. This is particularly concerning as the scheme 
appears to show quite significant changes to the main design, all except the main block 
cornering Gunnels Wood Road and Maxwell Road. It is in fact this block that is causing the 
issue in relation to light, it cannot be understood why such drastic changes are being made, 
but, the main issue is not being addressed at the same time.  

 
7.7.66 The results still show a 54.4% loss in the no skyline, which was 55.1% in the previous 

assessment. These changes do not make any difference and the impact should still be 
classified as a major impact. This is enhanced by the fact that the room in question is not 
only as a kitchen, but also as an office, which is clearly demonstrated in the photos in the 
GIA report.  

 
7.7.67 To date, officers have not provided their client any comfort that they will address this matter, 

which is increasingly concerning particularly as such drastic changes have been made to the 
scheme.  

  Broomin Green Farm (letter received 13th September 2021) - Objection 

7.1.68 The Council is thanked for conducting their own Daylight and Sunlight survey. The findings 
of the survey show a very large reduction of the level of sunlight and daylight received at the 
property. This is considered to be totally unacceptable to the owners of the property as well 
as that of the Grade II listed building.  

7.1.69 The house is considered to already be dark and any further loss of daylight and sunlight 
would cause damage to the property. 

7.1.70 The Council is asked to treat this building with respect and of course, its historic presence, 
so urge the Council to refuse the planning application.  

 Broomin Green Farm (email dated 19th February 2022) – Objection 

7.1.71 Officers have given privy information to TTL Chiltern or their agents why there is a delay in 
the proposed development for a further 6 months without informing Lady Norma Somers 
which is wrong. It is clear that the FIRA building is up for rent for a further 6 months, and want 
to know why officers have not informed the owners and what the problems are and why the 
delay.  

7.1.72 The proposed development is outrageous, Maxwell Road is 200 yards long a cul-de-sac. 
They consider forces will say yes it is fine, but, it is a very small road and it will not be able to 
cope with the intended traffic it will cause so in reality it will not work.  

7.1.73 The proposed glass building of 7 storeys is beyond comprehension it is clear, when there is 
an historic redevelopment it must be in keeping with existing building, this is not the case, 

Page 104



- 21 - 

also the trend these days are more workers and business people are from home so why I 
ask.  

7.1.74 The service road for the office building is metres away from the room we live in, this will result 
in increased noise for the owners without the problems of Flamingo’s 24 hour operation. The 
owners have been seeking help from Flamingos noise since 2014 and have written material 
to Flamingo who are tenants and the landlords, without even the courtesy of a reply, so 
goodness knows how multiple flats will react to it. All the owners wanted was a wall instead 
of a fence to offset some of the noise. It was the owners intention to start again with daily 
sheets for Environmental Health, with a number of complaints raised in the past.  

7.1.75 The proposed flats with gardens on the roof will take away privacy and it is preposterous. 
Further, why is the Council thinking about such a large glass building behind the Farmhouse 
when Stevenage already has a large glass building called the Icon which has been empty for 
a number of years and which could quite easily be internally converted to small business 
units.  

 Broomin Green Farm (email dated 28th February 2022) – Objections 

7.1.76 The owner apologised to officers regarding FIRA (see paragraph 7.1.71, officers were not 
aware the building was up for let at the time). However, the owner wanted to understand the 
delays in getting a decision issued for the project and that officers should be aware of their 
concerns relating to Flamingo. 

7.1.77 The vets have vacated, so there is no employment on Maxwell Road. The previous scheme 
was approved which is not in keeping with a 600 year old / Victorian Grade 2 listed building 
and officers show know this. It has also been pointed out by the owners lawyers at the very 
beginning.  

 Broomin Green Farm (email dated 6th March 2022) – Objection 

7.1.78 A question was raised about TTL Chiltern putting their property up for rent for 6 months when 
a planning application is almost finished. The objection refers to Icon being vacant and that 
officers advised that it was up to the owners whether or not they wanted the building occupied. 
It was put to officers that the owners did want the building occupied as there is a to let sign 
for a number of years, no commercial business would lose the amount of income they have 
lost. The reason is no one wanted it which supports the owners argument of a 7 storey 
building being proposed without reason. 

7.7.79 Officers had not mentioned that along with the noise from Flamingo, the proposed service 
road for the office building is a few metres from the living/office/kitchen space and this is 
going to attract a significant amount of noise from the daily operation of the offices. In addition, 
the application shows over 200 cars and Maxwell Road will not be able to cope.  

 Broomin Green Farm (email dated 12th July 2022) – Objection 

7.1.80  The proposed office block behind the farmhouse is still taking away sunlight and daylight in 
the kitchen / office / living room. It is mentioned in the Carter Jonas Report that Broomin 
Green Farm may need extra light, this is outrageous and object strongly to this suggestion, 
particularly with current cost of energy. 

7.1.81 The location of the office block and associated service road are in a few metres of the rooms 
set out above. This will result in considerable noise being genertaed from the service road, 
including parking, detrimentally affecting the owners of Broomin Green Farm.  

Page 105



- 22 - 

7.1.82 Maxwell Road is 200 yards long and the proposed amount of vehicles beats all 
comprehension, have the Highways Authority looked at Gunnels Wood Road since Costco 
has been built. The owners consider the amount of traffic is not safe for such a small road. 
The application is also an overdevelopment of the site and not in keeping of the current use 
and will have an adverse effect and local facilities and the highway network.  

7.1.83 Consideration needs to be given to the 24 hour operation of Flamingo, which is also busy at 
night to ensure early morning deliveries. It is noted that the noise report was done in March 
2022 which is a winter month, therefore, the A/C would probably not be used so obviously 
less noise in March than the warmer months.  

7.1.84 In summary, the development is not suitable for such a small road and small area.  

 54 Stanley Road - Objection 

7.1.85 This is a historic and iconic building in Stevenage. Such buildings are being allowed to be 
demolished with alarming rate, making the ones that are left all the more important. The 
former FIRA building is very distinctive and is a key landmark of Stevenage. It is an icon of 
the town. It must be preserved and not simply demolished.   

7.1.86 Please note that the aforementioned are not a verbatim copy of the comments received on 
this application. In addition, some of the points raised by the objectors about their personal 
circumstances (including concerns about officer correspondence) have not been set out 
detail in the Committee Report. However, a fully copy of all representations received can be 
viewed on the Council’s website. 

8. CONSULTATION ON THE AMENDED APPLICATION 

8.1 Hertfordshire County Council Growth and Infrastructure Unit  

 Comments dated 23rd November 2021 

8.1.1 Since the response was provided to the original application Hertfordshire County Council has 
updated its pupil yield model (the Hertfordshire Demographic Model). Therefore, the below 
is an update to the previous response sent for the application. As a result of the revised pupil 
yield modelling, the primary education forms of entry (FE) likely to arise for this application 
has been revised to 0.06FE.  

8.1.2 Based on the information provided to date on the housing mix, type and tenure (as indicatively 
provided as part of this outline application), a proportional financial contribution towards a 
new 2FE primary school in Stevenage Town Centre is sought from this development 
(indexation to be applied as 1Q 2020, BCIS, All in TPI). The County Council has confirmed 
that there is insufficient primary education capacity in the area. Given this, the County Council 
is seeking a proportional primary education contribution from this development.  

8.1.3 Hertfordshire County Council’s strategy for mitigating the impact of development in and 
around Stevenage’s town centre is to seek proportional financial contributions from new 
developments in Stevenage’s town centre and the surrounding area towards the new Primary 
School. This is to be located on the site in Stevenage Town Centre depicted within the SG1 
planning application on the current Southgate Car Park and surrounding garage blocks. The 
new school will provide the necessary capacity to mitigate the new demand for primary school 
places arising from this development and the surrounding area. The school will be a 2FE 
primary school with nursery provision.  

8.1.4 Based on the Department for Education (DfE) scorecard costs the total cost for a new build 
2FE primary school, together with nursery provision, is £9,228,600 (indexation to be applied 

Page 106



- 23 - 

as 1Q2020 BCIS, All in TPI). Inputting the indicative development mix provided into the 
Hertfordshire Demographic Model results in a primary education contribution of £256,711 
being sought from this development (indexation to be applied as of 1Q2020, BCIS All in TPI). 

8.1.5 Given that the education mitigation project is off-site it is also reasonable to expect the 
development to contribute to land costs, which for this site are £1,597.00 

8.1.6 Consequently, the total level of primary education contributions which are sought from the 
development are £256,711 + £1,597 = £258,308 (indexation to be applied as 1Q2020 BCIS, 
All in TPI). Hertfordshire County Council has also confirmed that the remaining previous 
obligations sought for this development, namely mitigation towards the youth service library 
service and secondary education provision, would now need to be sought through CIL.  

 The triggers for payment of the primary education contribution are as follows: 

 50% prior to commencement of development 

 50% prior to occupation of the 45th dwelling.  

8.1.7 Monitoring Fees – HCC will charge monitoring fees. These will be based on the number of 
triggers within each legal agreement with each distinct trigger point attracting a charge of 
£340 (adjusted for inflation against July 2021 RPI). For further information on monitoring fees 
please see section 5.5 of the Guide to Developer Infrastructure Contributions.  

 
 Updated comments received 25 July 2022 (based on amended plans) 
 
8.1.8 HCC has generated the below table for the development land at Maxwell Road. This table is 

to be used within the legal agreement for the purposes of calculating future primary education 
S.106 financial contributions once the development mix has been confirmed.  

 
  
 
 

Primary (New School) 

Market & Others 

HOUSES FLATS 

1 2 3 4+ 1 2 3 4+ 

£1,902.15 £3,759.30 £6,066.89 £7,406.32 £1,655.78 £3,723.57 £3,510.69 £4,055.75 

        

Primary (New School) 

Social Rent 

HOUSES FLATS 

1 2 3 4+ 1 2 3 4+ 

£699.58 £8,577.46 £11,839.71 £14,441.45 £1,573.37 £10,065.58 £9,493.15 £10,536.69 

 
8.1.9 Using the indicative development mix proposed (based on the information provided 

(Intermediate rent units being placed into the market column as the table above requires)): 

 

Page 107

https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/environment-and-planning/planning/developer-infrastructure-contributions-guide/guide-to-developer-infrastructure-contributions.pdf


- 24 - 

  
 
8.1.10 An indicative revised primary education financial contribution of £268,806 (index linked to 

BCIS 1Q2020) is generated. Hertfordshire County Council has also confirmed they also 
require a monitoring as set out under paragraph 8.1.7. 

8.2 Hertfordshire County Council Highways 

8.2.1 Notice is given under article 22 of the Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 that Hertfordshire County Council as 
Highway Authority does not wish to restrict the grant of permission. This is subject to the 
following conditions (Full details of these can be viewed on the Council’s website against 
HCC Highways consultee comments): 

 Detailed plans to be submitted on cycleways, footways, roadways, car parking along with 
detailed cross-section of the site; 

 Details to be submitted on visibility splays for strategic accesses; 

 Details of cycle parking / showers and lockers to be submitted; 

 Details of pedestrian crossing gradients; 

 Details of internal visibility; 

 Submission of detailed plans relating to parking and turning; 

 Details of hard surfacing areas; 

 Closure of the existing vehicular access on Maxwell Road; 

 Bus Stop improvements; 

 Traffic Regulation Order for parking and waiting restrictions; 

 Provision of Keep clear markings; 

 Improvements to walking and cycling; 

 Bus stop improvements; 

 Informal, on street parking area in Maxwell Road (Improvements or removal); 

 Construction Traffic Management Plan; and 

 Travel Plan. 

8.2.2 In addition, Hertfordshire County Council as Highways Authority seeks a £6,000 contribution 
towards travel plan monitoring. Further to this, the highways authority sets out that 
discussions should be held with car club operators with respect to the possibility of providing 
a car club vehicle on the site. It is widely accepted that the provision of a car club vehicle can 
reduce the level of car ownership of a site and can reduce overall car usage, whilst still 
providing a vehicle for occasions when such use is necessary. It is therefore considered that 
one of visitor parking bays on the site could reasonably be converted to a car club bay by 
way of by way of appropriate markings / signage. The aforementioned requirements will need 
to be secured as part of any S.106 agreement. 

8.2.3 The Highways Authority also recommend a number of informatives should be imposed to any 
planning permission issued.  

 Comments 
 

8.2.4 The applicant seeks planning permission for the following development: 

Page 108



- 25 - 

 
Outline application (with all matters reserved except access) for the demolition of existing 
buildings and replacement with buildings to accommodate new office and residential 
floorspace (Class B1 and Class C3), with associated landscaping, car parking and ancillary 
works. Land At Maxwell Road Stevenage Herts 

 
8.2.5 The Highway Authority note the previous responses to planning applications for this site and 

reference should be made to these comments. The Addendum Planning Statement, dated 
June 2022 lists the proposed amendments in paragraph 1.6 of the document. 

 
“As a result of the changes to the illustrative layout the quantum of residential development 
has reduced from 88 dwellings to 80 dwellings, 25% of which will be provided as affordable 
housing1. The illustrative mix comprises 29 one bedroom flats and 51 two bedroom flats. 
However, the final mix will be determined at reserved matters stage.” 
 

8.2.6 The Highway Authority note also the submission with this application an updated Design and 
Access Statement and drawing number PL202 Rev A, Illustrative Site Layout. Relevant 
sections of a previous response are reproduced below as it is considered that these 
comments remain pertinent and explain in more detail the reasons for the recommended 
planning conditions. Some changes have been made where appropriate. 

 
Site Description 

 
8.2.7 The site’s current use is as 3,456sqm office and 472sqm veterinary clinic. The site is located 

along Maxwell Road that is designated as a local access road that is subject to a speed limit 
restricted to 30 mph that is offset from the A1072 Gunnels Wood Road that is designate as 
a Main Distributor Road that is subject to a speed limit restricted to 40 mph. 

 
Analysis - Pedestrians 

 
8.2.8 Two pedestrian crossings in the form of dropped kerbs with tactile paving are proposed over 

Maxwell Road to the development site, which is welcome. Para 5.6 of the TA states that a 
public footpath is located adjacent to the eastern boundary, providing pedestrian access to 
Fairlands Way to the south, yet there is no direct access provided from within the site, 
particularly for those in Block 2 and 3 to use it. The path doesn’t have tactile paving/dropped 
kerb where it joins with Maxwell Road. It is also bounded by property fencing on both sides; 
the proposed development by providing hedgerow along its length makes it even more of an 
unpleasant environment for pedestrians. Widening the path to 3m will however upgrade it to 
a shared pedestrian/cycle facility and provide a vital cycle/pedestrian link between the 
Maxwell Road cycle way and the cycleway along Fairlands Road. This should be considered 
by the applicant as part of the scheme since it falls within the access matters. 

 
8.2.9 There are no dropped kerbs/tactiles provided towards the Cavendish Road southbound bus 

stop. A new footway along the site’s northern boundary between two pedestrian crossing 
facilities in Maxwell Road should also be provided together with resurfacing works to the 
existing footway. Although the Transport Assessment (TA) under para 5.13 claims that the 
Stevenage Railway Station is located within a walking distance, no further details are 
provided on how accessible the route is, walking time, surface, lighting, dropped kerbs/tactile 
provision, etc. No details are also provided on how residents will access local schools, 
surgeries, shops, etc. Whilst the Highway Authority has undertaken its own site visit and is 
familiar with the area, this information should have been provided. Comments within this 
response also detail the improvements that should be made towards improving accessibility 
to/from the proposed development site. 

 
8.2.10 Perpendicular parking spaces along the access road, on the western side of the residential 

access have been removed and replaced by two parallel bays, this is welcome. 
Pedestrian/cycle links between the site and the existing cycle track to the south should be 

Page 109



- 26 - 

also be better designed. It is considered that all access points to/from the existing cycle route 
to the south of the site are designed (or upgraded), to a minimum of 3m. Also, there is no 
safe/defined route for staff and visitors between the bus stop in Fairlands Way and the 
entrance to the building; the route from the main entrance requires walking behind 
perpendicular parking, service area, etc. 

 
8.2.11 Similarly, pedestrian access between the closest bus stop in Fairlands Way to each individual 

Block requires walking in the carriageway behind perpendicular parking (Block 4), across the 
car park area (Block 1 and 2), a longer way around the cycle store, etc. Some of the footways, 
especially those leading to the cycle stores are still narrow and should be widened to 2m to 
allow for easier access (to be secured by a reserved matters application). 

 
8.2.12 The proposal does little to actively support new residents (especially those with disabilities / 

sight issues) to travel sustainably, which fails Policy 1 of the LTP4. As the application aims 
to agree/secure the details of access with all other matters to be reserved by condition, the 
Highway Authority requests that pedestrian and cycle access arrangements are improved as 
part of this submission. 

 
Vehicle Access and site layout 

 
8.2.13 The proposals show reduction in the number of vehicle access points from four to two in 

Maxwell Road, which from a road safety perspective represents an improvement. The 
informal, on street vehicle parking area to the north of the turning head in Maxwell Road may 
no longer be required and should ideally be removed or improved by converting it into 
cycleway/footway in support of Policy 1 of the LTP4. The works should take into account the 
dropped kerb vehicle access from it. The required dimensions of the new turning head should 
be confirmed by tracking of the largest vehicle likely to use it. 

 
8.2.14 The 88 flats (now 80 flats) and the Broomin Green Farm (not part of the proposals) are now 

shown be served via a 5.5m wide access road, which would support two-way traffic, taking 
into account the passing of parked cars by waste collection vehicles and indiscriminate 
parking on the access road. The offices are shown to be served by a 6m wide road. An 8.0 
metres kerbs radius is now shown. The tracking of a refuse vehicle (less than 12.2m) confirms 
that any vehicles parked on the opposite side of the road would create obstruction and result 
in a refuse vehicle tracking too closely to any vehicles parked at the roadside. For that reason 
double yellow lines should be introduced on either side of the access and on the opposite 
side of the two access points. 

 
8.2.15 In view of the geometry of the horizontal alignment of the road layout and estimated 

approaching speed of traffic visibility splays of 2.4 metres by 43 metres are considered 
acceptable. Any landscaping located near the junctions should be kept clear of the visibility 
splay. This should be secured by a planning condition. Vehicle to vehicle inter-visibility within 
the development access roads should be shown to conform to the stopping sight distance 
(SSD) criteria of Manual for Streets (to be secured by a planning condition). 

 
8.2.16 The applicant is advised that all new highway associated with this development will remain 

un-adopted unless a justification can be put forward to show a wider public benefit. The 
developer should therefore put in place a permanent arrangement for long term maintenance. 
In this respect it is becoming increasingly common that developers operate a management 
company to administer and maintain common areas not taken over by public bodies. This 
approach has been adopted in other parts of the county and is usually secured by planning 
condition and/or obligation. 

 
Road Safety Audit 

 
8.2.17 A Stage 1 Road Safety Audit (RSA) has been submitted and is acceptable. No issues are 

raised. 

Page 110



- 27 - 

 
Road Safety 

 
8.2.18 The applicant has obtained and reviewed Personal Injury Collision data for the latest five-

year period within the TA. This covers the period between 2012 and 2017. The collision 
statistics do not reveal any reoccurring problems or patterns at the nearby local road network. 

 
Emergency Vehicle Access 

 
8.2.19 It is noted that there are turning head areas within the site that may accommodate a fire 

tender. HCC as Highway Authority would recommend that the applicant consult with Herts 
Fire and Rescue to ensure that the proposals are acceptable or a sprinkler system is installed. 

 
Car Parking Provision 

 
8.2.20 The proposed development would provide approx. 251 car parking spaces (inclusive of 3 

disabled spaces for flats and 10 for the office, electric car parking spaces are not confirmed). 
Residential car parking has been reduced from 59 to 53 spaces for this revised application 
(as noted within the Addendum Planning Statement). 

 
8.2.21 The number of parking should comply with the Stevenage’s Parking Provision Supplementary 

Planning Document 2012 (This is a typo, it has been clarified that reference is made to 
the 2020 version of the parking standards) and the Roads in Hertfordshire: Highway 
Design Guide 3rd Edition, Section 4 – Design Standards and Advice, Chapter 9 – Vehicle 
Parking Facilities, para 9.3 Dimensions for car-parking spaces and manoeuvring areas. 

 
8.2.22 The details of vehicle parking provision are shown in Appendix F of the TAA plan ref 

Illustrative Proposed Site Layout PL103 rev1 (now shown on updated plan PL202 Rev A). 
The parking bays dimensions appear to meet the adopted standard for on plot parking. 
However, this should be supported by vehicle tracking of a large car. There is a high 
probability that the remote parking proposed in the south-eastern corner of the site will result 
in residents parking their vehicles on the access roads, closer to their flats, causing an 
obstruction and preventing emergency vehicles reaching their destination and service 
vehicles such as Waste Collecting Vehicles from gaining access.  

 
8.2.23 It is inevitable that residents that do not have individual parking spaces will not park in the 

prescribed areas and will park outside their homes, resulting in pedestrian access areas 
being also obstructed. Whilst some residents parking may occur onto Maxwell Road when 
parking controls in the evening no longer apply, residents should be made aware of minimal 
parking provisions and the parking spaces should be managed appropriately. Therefore, a 
Car Parking Management Plan (CPMP) is recommended to ensure that the parking at the 
site is managed such that residents are made aware of the parking situation on site and that 
the limited parking provisions are monitored and managed proactively. 

 
8.2.24 Additionally, the LPA may consider entering into a legal agreement with the developer to 

create a controlled parking zone whereby residents of the proposed development would not 
be able to apply for resident’s parking permit. However, it is ultimately the decision of the LPA 
to determine the suitability of the car parking provision. 

 
8.2.25 HCC would recommend that also consideration be given to inclusion of electric vehicle 

charging point (passive and / or active) provision (to be secured by a planning condition). 
HCC would also recommend that the LPA consider the provision of spaces that are suitable 
for car club usage (preferably equipped to allow electric charging), and if considered fitting, 
a contribution via a Section 106 agreement to bring a car club on board to the site and/or 
offering an initial subsidy or credits to residents/workplace users etc. 

 
Car Parking Layout 

Page 111



- 28 - 

 
8.2.26 The details of the location and geometries of car parking facilities should be secured by 

reserved matters. The car park will need to be designed in accordance with guidance set out 
in the Roads in Hertfordshire. Swept path assessments will be required for the car parking 
layout to ensure that the layout is safe and appropriate for a large car. 

 
Cycle Parking 

 
8.2.27 The provision of well-located, safe and secure cycle parking for residents, staff and visitors 

is a key factor in encouraging people to cycle as an alternative to using the private car. In 
accordance with the adopted Stevenage’s standards a minimum of: 

 
• 24 visitors spaces (1 short-stay space per 500m²gfa) should be provided for staff and 1 long 
stay space per 10 staff (staff numbers should be confirmed); 
 
• More than 88 long stay cycle parking spaces for residents (now 80 spaces) (in accordance 
with the Stevenage’s Parking SPD a higher level of provision will be encouraged, particularly 
within the accessibility zones, where lower levels of car ownership are considered to be 
likely). Long stay cycle parking should be in the form of lit, lockable and weather resistant 
cycle lockers or stores and be sited away from bin stores. In addition, some cycle parking in 
the form of ‘Sheffield’ style parking loops conveniently located with natural surveillance 
should also be provided for visitors. 
 

8.2.28 In accordance with the same standards provision of showers and changing facilities is also 
important if staff cycling is to be encouraged. The details of cycle parking and shower and 
changing facilities for B1 use (Now Class E) should be secured by a planning condition (and 
numbers updated as appropriate). 

 
Motorcycle parking 

 
8.2.29 Policy 1 of the LTP4 and Para 14.3 of the Roads in Hertfordshire Guidance requires that 

provision for the adequate and secure parking of powered two wheelers as described in 
Traffic Advisory Leaflet 02/02 ‘Motorcycle Parking’ and the Institute of Highway Engineers 
(IHIE) ‘Guidelines for Motorcycling’. Parking for powered two wheelers should be protected 
from the elements and provide a means for securing the vehicle such as rails, hoops or posts. 
While individual bays are not generally marked out a footprint of 2.0m x 0.8m should be 
allowed for each vehicle. This should be secured by a planning condition. 

 
Trip Generation, Distribution and wider highway impact 

 
8.2.30 The Transport Assessment includes a TRICS assessment of the development. The 

assessment is acceptable. A junction capacity assessment for the junction of Maxwell Road 
with the A1072 Gunnels Wood Road and the roundabout of Gunnels Wood Road/ Fairlands 
Way A1155 has not been submitted however, the proposed “keep clear markings on the 
A1072 Gunnels Wood Road near the junction with Maxwell Road should alleviate any 
problem of potential queuing occurring on the approach to the roundabout and traffic merging 
from Maxwell Road. This can be undertaken as part of s278 works. 

 
Bus 

 
8.2.31 The nearest bus stops are located on Fairlands Way, Eastbound/ Westbound and Cavendish 

Road. It is important that walking/cycling access to local bus services is improved and as part 
of any consent. This would form part of any mitigation measures that are to be agreed and 
would assist in developing the sites Travel Plan, helping to ensure that the development 
meets accessibility criteria. The existing southbound bus stop on Cavendish Road needs 
upgrading. It has no easy access kerbing, shelter or bench. The upgrading works would need 

Page 112



- 29 - 

to be undertaken under s278 agreement. A Grampian style condition would ensure the works 
are delivered prior to occupation of the new development. 

 
Rail 

 
8.2.32 Stevenage Railway Station is located in Stevenage Town Centre, nearly 1km to the east of 

the proposed development. This rail station is on the First Capital Connect line with direct 
links to London Kings Cross, Cambridge every 10-20 minutes and Kings Lynn with a change 
at Hitchin that provides a link to Peterborough. 

 
Travel Plan 

 
8.2.33 The comments on the submitted Travel Plan have been forwarded to the case officer 

separately requesting additional information from the applicant. In addition, a Framework 
Travel Plan for the commercial part of the development should have been submitted. 
Although the offices are going to be occupied by different businesses and each business will 
be responsible for providing individual travel plans, nonetheless the Framework commercial 
TP should be have been submitted. When the other businesses take over the offices their 
TPs must be in line with the Framework TP. This has not been submitted. 

 
8.2.34 Given the uncertainty regarding occupation of the commercial element of the development 

(number of occupiers etc), the precise form a the Travel Plan or Plans and how they are 
delivered will need to be subject to further discussion and agreement with Hertfordshire 
County Council. Hertfordshire County Council published new guidance in March 2020 
(previous was in 2014) relating to residential and business travel plans. This solidifies the 
council's requirements in terms of travel plan content and 'Travel Plan Evaluation and Support 
Contribution' of £6,000 should be secured via a legal agreement. 

 
8.2.35 The Highway Authority would require that should the development gain planning permission, 

Full Travel Plans should be submitted for both the commercial and residential elements of 
the development. 

 
Highway Improvements 

 
8.2.36 HCC’s Planning Obligation Guidance (2008) (Superseded by Hertfordshire County 

Council Guide to Developer Contributions 2021) implements a two-strand approach to 
planning obligations in order to address the immediate impacts of the new development (first 
strand), and the cumulative impacts of all development on non-car networks (second strand). 
Since Stevenage is now CIL Authority no contribution under strand 2 can be sought directly 
but strand 1 is still applicable. First strand (works to be undertaken under s278 with trigger 
points secured under Grampian style conditions): 

 
1) removal of the existing redundant vehicular access in Maxwell Road; 
2) alterations to two vehicular access points in Maxwell Road; 
3) provision of two pedestrian crossing facilities in Maxwell Road; 
4) resurfacing of the existing footway along the site’s northern boundary; 
5) provision of a new footway between the two new pedestrian crossing facilities; 
6) provision of two shared pedestrian/cycle links form the site to the cycle track in the south. 
7) Widening of the pedestrian path to shared pedestrian/cycle facility along the eastern site’s 
boundary; 
8) Cavendish Road bus stop improvements: provision of Kassel kerbing, bus shelter, bench. 
9) Connect the existing two off road cycle facilities across Maxwell Road; 
10) Improve pedestrian access to Cavendish Road bus stop by resurfacing and provision of 
dropped kerbs and tactiles; and 
11) ‘Keep Clear’ markings on the Maxwell Road / Gunnels Wood Road junction. 

 

Page 113



- 30 - 

8.2.37 The above identified works are necessary to support the policies contained in the NPPF and 
the LTP4. 

 
Construction Traffic 

 
8.2.38 Concerns by HCC over the impact of the construction traffic travelling to the site have resulted 

in a planning condition being recommended to prepare a Construction Traffic Management 
Plan. Also, to maintain highway safety along the adjacent highway for site access for 
construction purposes serving the new development must be complete to base course level 
for the first 15 metres prior to any building construction to the new development commencing 
on site. 

 
Section 278 Agreement 

 
8.2.39 The Highway Authority note that the applicant will be required to enter into a Section 278 

agreement. This will include changes to the Maxwell Road access points into the site, bus 
stop improvement and any other pedestrian/cyclist access to/from the public highway. 

 
Section 106 

 
8.2.40 The Highway Authority will require the applicant to enter into a Section 106 agreement in 

order to monitor/evaluate the Travel Plan(s). 
 

Updated Documentation (July 2022) 
 
8.2.41 The Highway Authority note the minor changes to the development quantum. The Highway 

Authority is content in terms of the overall trip generation of the development site and principle 
of the access strategy, subject to planning conditions. 

 
Summary 

 
8.2.42 The Highway Authority is content that safe and suitable access may be achieved to the 

proposed development site. However, the Highway Authority does wish to draw attention to 
the recommended planning conditions as set out within this response. The conditions seek 
to ensure that the development is compliant with policies as set out within LTP4 and therefore 
acceptable in planning terms. The Highway Authority has also set out a number of important 
considerations regarding the future operation of Maxwell Road. This response also notes a 
number of matters concerning the internal layout which will need to be dealt with at reserved 
matters stage. In summary, the Highway Authority does not wish to restrict the grant of 
planning permission, subject to the aforementioned planning Conditions and Advisory Notes. 

8.3 Council’s Conservation and Heritage Advisor 

8.3.1 The site comprises a number of buildings in office / commercial use, a veterinary surgery and 
areas of parking all accessed from Maxwell Road. The south-west corner of the site is set 
down from the road which rises up to the roundabout over cycle-ways / footpaths below and 
is on the corner of Gunnels Wood Road and Fairlands Way. The buildings are generally tall 
single storey, or two-storey in height. 

  
8.3.2 Whilst the area is generally characterised by industrial / office buildings, adjacent to the site, 

and surrounded by it on 3 sides is the Grade II listed Broomin Green Farmhouse (a 
designated heritage asset). Prior to the New Town development of Stevenage, this former 
farmhouse was part of Broomin Green Farm and lay isolated a little way to the west of the 
town. The farmhouse dates to the 17th century (partly rebuilt) and is of timber frame 
construction with plastered infill and a steep gabled clay tile roof which is a noticeable element 
within the street scene from Fairlands Way. At present the distinctive roof of the FIRA 
building, the nearest building to the farmhouse is lower than the ridge of the farmhouse. 

Page 114



- 31 - 

Despite the industrial nature of its current setting the buildings on the application site are 
lower than, or of a similar height to the farmhouse and it sits reasonably comfortably in this 
context - they do not have an overbearing relationship to the farmhouse. 

  
8.3.3 The application site contains the Furniture Industry Research Association (FIRA) Laboratory; 

located in the south-west corner of the site facing the roundabout. The building was designed 
by Howell, Killick, Partridge and Amis, the celebrated architects’ practice who designed a 
number of architecturally important buildings throughout this period (several of which are now 
statutory listed). The FIRA Laboratory was put forward for statutory listing however Historic 
England recommended it was not added to the statutory list as, unfortunately, the alterations 
that have occurred to the building since its construction have diminished its significance. 
None the less, the FIRA Laboratory and its concrete sign to the site frontage are clearly still 
of architectural merit and local significance and the FIRA Laboratory should be considered a 
‘non-designated heritage asset’. 

  
8.3.4 The development entails demolition of all the buildings on the site (FIRA Laboratory building, 

Serviceline building and Veterinary Surgery). The new development on the site, whilst it is 
noted the plans are indicative, would take the form of: 

  
8.3.5 A large office block on the corner of Fairlands Way and extending along the Gunnels Wood 

Road frontage of the site, this has a 2-storey plinth with undercroft parking and up to 5-storeys 
above. The scale of the office block has been reduced from the initial submission, but it 
remains a building of substantial footprint and massing. Under the most recent amendments 
to the scheme this part remains as previously proposed.  

  
8.3.6 In relation to the office block, the way it curves to address Gunnels Wood Road and the set 

in of the upper floors above the 2-storey car park is welcomed, however, there are significant 
concerns regarding the overall bulk and mass of the office development as a whole and the 
visual impact of the long east flank of the office block, particularly the blank east flank of the 
section immediately to the west of Broomin Green Farmhouse which will dominate the listed 
building and provide an insensitive backdrop to it. 

  
8.3.7 The indicative scheme also comprises four blocks of residential units are proposed, ranging 

from between 2 – 7 storeys. The site layout has been revised to overcome noise constraints 
but BEAMS maintains that cumulatively the level of development does not seem sympathetic 
to the wider setting of the listed building. 

  
8.3.8 There is also a concern that the high level of development on the site this may, in time, put 

pressure to remove or heavily reduce the planting to the edges of the site, increasing the 
prominence and visual impact of the new development locally. In relation to the demolition of 
the FIRA Laboratory building, as previously advised whilst Historic England declined to add 
the FIRA Laboratory building to the statutory list it remains an architecturally interesting and 
important building and should be considered a non-designated heritage asset.  

  
8.3.9 NPPF paragraph 203 states: ‘The effect of an application on the significance of a non-

designated heritage asset should be taken into account. In weighing applications that affect 
directly or indirectly non-designated heritage assets, a balanced judgement will be required 
having regard to the scale of harm or loss and the significance of the heritage asset.’ 

  
8.3.10 Under the proposed redevelopment of the site and demolition of the FIRA Laboratory building 

the scale of harm will be absolute and its significance will be lost. If the demolition of the FIRA 
Laboratory is granted it should be subject to a Level 3 Historic Building Recording which 
should be archived appropriately. 

  
8.3.11 With reference to the impact upon the setting (and significance) of the grade II listed Broomin 

Green Farmhouse (a designated heritage asset): 
  

Page 115



- 32 - 

8.3.12 NPPF defines significance as: The value of a heritage asset to this and future generations 
because of its heritage interest. The interest may be archaeological, architectural, artistic or 
historic. Significance derives not only from a heritage asset’s physical presence, but also 
from its setting.  

8.3.13 The significance of Broomin Green Farmhouse is primarily derived from its architectural 
significance (as a 17th century timber framed property), it clearly reads as a historic building 
and has an attractive appearance / aesthetic merit, which has arisen from the way the 
property has been built / altered and its craftsmanship / use of traditional building materials 
and techniques. It is of some historic significance as the former farmhouse of a farm set in a 
once rural location to the south-west of Stevenage Old Town and was one of several 'greens' 
which surrounded Stevenage (such as Norton Green, Symonds Green and Shephall Green). 
The immediate setting of Broomin Green Farmhouse is now confined to its garden as the 
farm buildings associated with the farmhouse were demolished in the mid 20th century. The 
surrounding rural area and fields were rapidly redeveloped as part of the development of 
Stevenage New Town with new roads and factories being built leaving the historic Broomin 
Green Farmhouse sitting isolated from its historic context and surrounded by more modern 
development and infrastructure.  

8.3.14 As such, the significance of the heritage asset has been compromised in the past by 
unsympathetic development affecting its setting. To accord with NPPF policies, consideration 
still needs to be given to whether additional change will further detract from, or can enhance, 
the significance of the asset.  

8.3.15 Section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires 
that when considering whether to grant planning permission for development which affects 
the setting of a listed building, special regard should be had to the desirability of preserving 
its setting.  

  
8.3.16 Paragraph 199 of the NPPF states that: ‘When considering the impact of a proposed 

development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given 
to the asset’s conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater the weight should 
be). This is irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss 
or less than substantial harm to its significance. 

  
8.3.17 Paragraph 200 continues: Any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated heritage 

asset (from its alteration or destruction or development within its setting) should require clear 
and convincing justification.’ 

  
8.3.18 Paragraph 197 recommends local authorities look for opportunities for new development 

within the setting of heritage assets ‘to enhance or better reveal their significance.’ 
  
8.3.19 Heritage assets range from sites and buildings of local historic value to those of the highest 

significance, such as World Heritage Sites which are internationally recognised to be of 
Outstanding Universal Value. These assets are an irreplaceable resource, and should be 
conserved in a manner appropriate to their significance, so that they can be enjoyed for their 
contribution to the quality of life of existing and future generations. 

  
8.3.20 Significance can be harmed or lost through alteration or destruction of a heritage asset, or by 

development within its setting. The Framework defines setting as the surroundings in which 
the asset is experienced. Elements of setting may make a positive or negative contribution 
to the significance of an asset, may affect the ability to appreciate that significance, or may 
be neutral. Setting (the surroundings in which an asset is experienced) may therefore be 
more extensive than its curtilage. The extent and importance of setting is often expressed by 
reference to visual considerations. Although views of or from an asset will play an important 
part, the way in which we experience an asset in its setting is also influenced by other 

Page 116



- 33 - 

environmental factors such as noise, dust, light spill and vibration from other land uses in the 
vicinity, and by our understanding of the historic relationship between places. 

 
8.3.21 In summary the development will not entail any direct physical alteration to the listed building 

or its immediate plot; its architectural and historic significance will remain unharmed.  
  
8.3.22 It is recognised that the setting of the grade II listed Broomin Green Farmhouse has changed 

significantly since the mid-20th century with the development of the Gunnels Wood Road 
industrial area and the surrounding road network.  Whilst the amendments to the scale / bulk 
/ massing of the new office development on the site has slightly reduced the level of harm 
initially identified, the redevelopment of the site as proposed is still considered to have an 
adverse impact upon the setting of the farmhouse (compared to its existing setting), causing 
‘less than substantial harm’ to its aesthetic significance, the level of 'less than substantial 
harm' being at the lower end (due to the setting of the farmhouse having changed since the 
mid-20th century). 

  
8.3.23 It is important to reiterate here that the proposals need to be considered in relation to NPPF 

para. 199: 
 

When considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a designated 
heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation (and the more 
important the asset, the greater the weight should be). This is irrespective of whether any 
potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial harm to its 
significance and para. 200 which states that Any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a 
designated heritage asset (from its alteration or destruction, or from development within its 
setting), should require clear and convincing justification. 

  
8.3.24 The NPPF (para. 202) advises that: ‘Where a development proposal will lead to less than 

substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be 
weighed against the public benefits of the proposal..’ 

  
8.3.25 In reaching a decision on this application Stevenage Borough Council should balance the 

‘less than substantial harm’ identified against any ‘public benefits’ the proposal may result in. 
  
8.3.26 The Council will also need to consider the demolition of the FIRA Laboratory building in 

relation to NPPF para. 203, resulting in the loss of an architecturally and historically important 
building within Stevenage.  

8.4 Herts and Middlesex Wildlife Trust 

8.4.1 The Herts and Middlesex Wildlife Trust have reviewed this application and due to the low 
ecological value and area of the habitats present, the urbanised and ecologically inaccessible 
location, the artificial non-native nature of the vegetation, and the conclusions of the 
ecological assessment supplied, I do not consider that there will be any significant, 
meaningful or measurable loss of biodiversity as a result of the development. The habitat 
value in terms of the biodiversity metric is so low that I do not consider it to be meaningfully 
measurable and so I do not consider that it is necessary in this instance.  

 
8.4.2 The ecological report makes mention of enhancements. Due to the location and nature of the 

site I do not consider that these are all appropriate. However I do think that integrated swift 
boxes are appropriate. Stevenage is a particular focus for this species and they are present 
and potential colonists of this development. A condition for 10 integrated swift boxes should 
be applied to the decision if granted. These must be integrated into the brickwork of the 
buildings. If this is secured by the decision I am satisfied that the proposal will deliver a 
biodiversity net gain. A suitable condition is: 

 

Page 117



- 34 - 

 ‘No development shall commence until details of 10 integrated swift boxes (model and 
location), marked on plans, have been submitted and approved by the LPA. These devices 
shall be fully installed prior to occupation and retained as such thereafter.’ 

8.5 NHS East and North Herts CCG  

8.5.1 Revised calculation: 
 
42 x 1 bed @ 2 occupants = 84 
46 x 2 bed @ 2.4 occupants = 110.4 

 
Total 88 dwellings & 194.4 occupants 

 
8.5.2 42 dwellings x 2 occupants and 46 dwellings x 2.4 occupants = 194.4 new patients –  

194.4/2000 = 0.0972 GP’s - *GP based on ratio of 2,000 patients per 1 GP and 199m2 as set 
out in the NHS England “Premises Principles of Best Practice Part 1 Procurement & 
Development”  0.0972 GP’s x 199 = 19.3428 m2 additional space required  19.3428 m2 x 
£5,410* = £104,644.548* (*Build cost; includes fit out and fees)  £104,644.548/88 = 
£1,189.142 (rounded to £1,189 per dwelling) Total requested for GP/GMS funding: 88 
dwellings x £1,189.00 = £104,632.00 

 
8.5.3 Monies to be focused on the King George Group of Practices of which there is a main and a 

branch and/or the Stanmore Road Group of Practices of which there is a main site & 3 
branches. All monies to be focused on expansion and/or reconfiguration to increase patient 
access the need for which arises from this development. 

 
8.5.4 Original Total requested for GP/GMS funding: 88 dwellings x £1,292.00 = £113,696.00 

 
Revised down to this please: 

 
29 x 1 bed @ 2 occupants = 58 
51 x 2 bed @ 2.4 occupants = 122.4 

 
Total 80 dwellings & 180.4 occupants 

 
8.5.5 180.4/2000 = 0.0902 GP’s - *GP based on ratio of 2,000 patients per 1 GP and 199m2 as set 

out in the NHS England “Premises Principles of Best Practice Part 1 Procurement & 
Development”  0.0902 GP’s x 199 m2 = 17.9498 m2 additional space required  17.9498 m2 x 
£5,410* = £97,108.418* (*Build cost; includes fit out and fees)  £97,108.4184/80 = 
£1,213.855225 (rounded to £1,214 per dwelling) Total requested for GP/GMS funding: 80 
dwellings x £1,214.00 = £97,120.00 

 
8.5.6 As originally stated monies to be focused on the King George Group of Practices of which 

there is a main and a branch and/or the Stanmore Road Group of Practices of which there is 
a main site and 3 branches. All monies to be focused on expansion and/or reconfiguration to 
increase patient access the need for which arises from this development. 

 
8.6 Historic England 
 
8.6.1 On the basis of this information, we do not wish to offer any comments. We suggest that you 

seek the views of your specialist conservation and archaeological advisers, as relevant. It is 
not necessary for us to be consulted on this application again, unless there are material 
changes to the proposals. However, if you would like detailed advice from us, please contact 
us to explain your request. 

 
8.7 Police Crime Prevention Design Officer 
 

Page 118



- 35 - 

8.7.1 No comment. 
 
8.8 Hertfordshire County Council Fire and Rescue 
 
8.8.1 Hertfordshire County Council Fire and Rescue went in with the previous water officer when 

the application originally went out. This remains the case and fire hydrants are/will be required 
here.   

 
8.9 Twentieth Century Society 
 
8.9.1 Twentieth Century Society previously responded to plans proposing the demolition of the 

FIRA Centre by Howard, Killick, Partridge, and Amis, in July 2017 (ref: 17/00303/OPM) and 
most recently in March 2021. Given that these proposals still include the demolition of said 
building, the Society maintain their strong objection to this application. The loss of the FIRA 
Centre, considered a non-designated heritage asset, will substantially diminish the heritage 
of Stevenage as an important post-war New Town.  

 
Background  
 

8.9.2 The Furniture Industry Research Association (FIRA) building was designed by the leading 
architectural practice Howard, Killick, Partridge and Amis (HKPA) in 1964-1965. It was 
designed as a result of the decision to bring the Furniture Industry Research Association and 
the Furniture Development Council under one roof in order that they could work collectively 
in providing technical research and information to the industry. The initial brief for the 
architects was to provide a building that ‘should convey a good impression of efficiency and 
fitness for its purpose and that it should be neither extravagant nor cheap.’ The building is 
mainly of brick, which was deliberately used to keep costs down, but is finished with a striking 
roof-form of wood composite joists and steel trusses of triangular cross section. This was an 
innovative experimental roof structure, and was the subject of a feature in the Architect and 
Building News (15th September 1965). In another appraisal in the national press, the 
Architects’ Journal commended the ‘gaiety of the building’ which made ‘exemplary use of a 
small number of building materials’ and noted that its ‘quality of freshness’ made the FIRA 
‘stand out from the acres of architectural poverty that surround it’, concluding that the centre 
was ‘unique in the country, and indeed, in the world.’  

8.9.3 A number of buildings by HKPA, spanning the fields of housing and university architecture, 
have been listed, including Alton West estate in Roehampton (Grade II and II*), the URS 
Building at Reading University (Grade II), and many more listed buildings in Oxford, 
Cambridge and Birmingham Universities. A monograph on the practice by Geraint Franklin 
has just been published. The FIRA building featured as the Twentieth Century Society’s 
Building of the Month in October 2015, where Franklin notes the exceptional value of 
building’s ‘use of manifest structure to unify and animate the interior spaces’ which would 
become an important feature in HKPA’s subsequent work.  

8.9.4 Given the evident architectural significance of the FIRA Centre, and its recognised status as 
a heritage asset, it is disappointing that these proposals still make no attempt to maintain and 
reuse the building. Although the FIRA Centre is itself unlisted it sits in dialogue with the Grade 
II listed Broomin Green Farmhouse and together the buildings present a valuable narrative 
of Stevenage’s history – its pre-twentieth-century agricultural past and its new life as post-
war manufacturing and innovation hub. The single storey plan of the FIRA Centre, with its 
externally expressed structural feature, also forms a sympathetic context to Broomin Green 
Farmhouse, with its black timber gables. The Heritage Assessment notes that current 
proposals will involve the ‘complete loss of fabric which would cause substantial harm to the 
significance of the FIRA building’. We would like to add that the proposal additionally entails 
the wholesale loss of the historic context inherent in the value of Broomin Green Farmhouse’s 
relationship to the FIRA Centre, one that cannot be recorded and archived. Moreover, 

Page 119



- 36 - 

Pevsner’s Buildings of England volume for Hertfordshire comments on the FIRA Centre’s 
architects and its projecting triangular roof trusses but these comments are conspicuously 
absent from the assessment. Irrespective of more recent alterations that preclude it from 
listed status, the significance of this building remains high as part of the oeuvre of a highly 
regarded expert firm of architects and should therefore be carefully assessed and protected 
in any application considering its future.  

 
Policy  

8.9.5 Clause 189 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF, 2021) states that “Heritage 
assets range from sites and buildings of local historic value to those of the highest 
significance […] These assets are an irreplaceable resource, and should be conserved in a 
manner appropriate to their significance, so that they can be enjoyed for their contribution to 
the quality of life of existing and future generations”. 

8.9.6 Clause 197 states that “In determining applications, local planning authorities should take 
account of: a) the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets 
and putting them to viable uses consistent with their conservation; b) the positive contribution 
that conservation of heritage assets can make to sustainable communities including their 
economic vitality; and c) the desirability of new development making a positive contribution 
to local character and distinctiveness.” 

8.9.7 The council should also be mindful of clause 203 in the NPPF which particularly commends 
the careful consideration of the impact on non-designated heritage assets:  

203. The effect of an application on the significance of a non-designated heritage asset 
should be taken into account in determining the application. In weighing applications that 
affect directly or indirectly non designated heritage assets, a balanced judgement will be 
required having regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the significance of the heritage 
asset.  

8.9.8 The council should resist demolition of this important non-designated heritage asset. Clear 
and convincing justification should be required for demolition of unlisted structures of historic 
or architectural merit, which is not provided in this application. This site is also located in the 
Gunnels Wood Employment Area which therefore makes an application for residential 
development contrary to development plan policy as this use is not listed as acceptable use 
in Stevenage’s Local Plan 2019 Policy E4.  

8.9.9 In conclusion, The Twentieth Century Society once again re-iterates its objection to this 
application and urges the council to resist the loss of this non-designated heritage asset by 
refusing this damaging and unjustifiable scheme. The Society would welcome further 
consultation on the potential uses and opportunities for the FIRA Centre that will prevent the 
total loss of fabric.  

8.10 Council’s Environmental Health Section 
 
 Contamination and Air Quality 
 
8.10.1 With regards to contamination, the Environmental Health recommends the conditions 

detailed in their comments dated 5 February 2019 would need to be applied on any 
permission issued. In terms of air quality, the Environmental Health Officer advises that the 
development would not have a measurable impact on air quality in the Borough.  

 
 Noise 
 
8.10.2  If planning permission is granted, the Environmental Health Department have s 

Page 120



- 37 - 

recommended that the following conditions are attached (Full details of the conditions can be 
viewed online against the respective consultee comments): 

 

 Condition controlling use of the external commercial areas (written code for the 
management of noise from any yard area, site roads and spaces that are external to the 
office and commercial building permitted); 

 Construction Noise Level Condition; 

 Pre-commencement of construction of residential buildings (scheme of noise mitigation 
and mechanical and natural ventilation control to protect the internal environment of each 
dwelling within the building); 

 Pre-commencement of construction of individual buildings (a scheme of noise mitigation, 
including vibration, to address emissions of noise whether airborne or structure borne, 

emanating from any fixed plant or machinery serving the said building). 
 
8.11 Hertfordshire County Council as Lead Local Flood Authority 
 
8.11.1 The applicant has submitted the following information in support of their application: 
 

 Flood Risk Assessment, Revision A: January 2019, reference R-FRA-U8603PM-02-A 
prepared by JPP Consulting Ltd; 

 Flood Risk Assessment Technical Note, dated 8th May 2019, reference 
U8603PM/KER/001, prepared by JPP Consulting Ltd. 

 
8.11.2 It is understood the application is the same as the previous submission which the Lead Local 

Flood Authority (LLFA) responded to on 24 May 2019, which has subsequently been subject 
to a Judicial Review. Because of this, the applicant has re-submitted the application with no 
changes to the information provided.  

 
8.11.3 Based on the following previous submitted information, the LLFA had no objections to the 

proposed outline application subject to conditions. As the application was submitted 2 years 
ago, the LLFA have checked the submitted FRA and Drainage strategy and additional FRA 
technical note against current policies, EA Long Term Flood Risk Maps and updated climate 
change allowances.  

 
8.11.4 The LLFA confirms that there have been no changes to policy, EA Long Term Flood Risk 

Maps and Climate change allowances. The FRA and subsequent technical note 
demonstrated that a total of 700m³ of attenuation volume will be required and that this can 
be achieved on site within permeable paving on all external car parking areas and 2 
geocellular tanks. This is based on a discharge rate of 2.5l/s, previously agreed by the LLFA. 

 
8.11.5 However, the LLFA previous response, whilst recommending conditions, did state that the 

LLFA required details of the permeable paving, consideration of above ground SuDS as part 
of the development layout (to be agreed through reserved matters) and water quality 
treatment. The applicant also stated that infiltration may be possible based on the superficial 
geology beneath the site and would be subject to infiltration tests in compliance with BRE 
Digest 365. These will need to be carried out at the reserved matters stage as part of the 
consideration of the layout and above ground SuDS measures in accordance with the SuDS 
hierarchy. 

 
8.11.6 The LLFA also note that the site is within an area susceptible to surface water flood risk. 

Parts of the site are within the high to medium areas of risk and other parts of the site within 
the low area of flood risk. The applicant previously stated that this will be maintained and 
managed within the layout. As the layout is to be agreed as part of the reserved matters 
application and is therefore, subject to change from the Masterplan, further assessment will 
be required as part of the reserved matters application to ensure the following is established 
prior to the approval: 

 

Page 121



- 38 - 

 Assessment of existing surface water flood risk based on the EA Areas Susceptible to 
Surface Water Flood Risk Maps, including extents, flow paths and depths, to ensure the 
proposed layout does not increase flood risk elsewhere, by avoiding development in areas 
of existing flood risk. Where this cannot be avoided, it should be demonstrated that any 
displaced flood water can be mitigated and is not displaced elsewhere. If buildings are to 
be placed in areas of existing flood risk, the applicant will need to provide flood resilience 
measures such as raised finished floor levels in line with EA advice ensuring there is no 
risk of ingress into the proposed buildings. 
 

 Infiltration testing in accordance with BRE Digest 365 which should be carried out at the 
location of any new infiltration measure. Where infiltration is not possible, evidence that 
approval has been sought from the relevant water authority should be provided for any 
connection into a public surface water sewer. 

 

 Implement the use of above ground SuDS measures with a clear justification if this is not 
possible. A lack of space will not be accepted as justification due to the layout not yet 
established.  

 

 Provide appropriate water quality treatment stages, through the use of appropriate SuDS 
measures in line with the CIRIA SuDS Manual Simple Index Assessment. This should 
include measures such as permeable paving with a granular subbase, swales, filtration 
trenches etc, to manage the surface water at source; 

 

 Provide a detailed drainage layout showing the proposed final development layout, 
location of all SuDS measures and associated infrastructure which should be 
accompanied by supporting surface water calculations for all rainfall events up to and 
including the 1 in 100 year + climate change event (+40%). 

 
8.11.7 Once this information is submitted and is satisfactory as part of the reserved matters 

application, and the reserved matters application is approved, the applicant will need to 
provide final details of the proposed drainage strategy including final engineering drawings, 
surface water calculations and a SuDS Management, Adoption and Maintenance Plan as 
part of recommended pre-commencement and post construction conditions.  

 
8.11.8 The LLFA therefore recommend a number of conditions be imposed if the Council is minded 

to approve the Outline Planning Application. These conditions would cover the following:- 
 

 A scheme that manages surface water run-off and surface water-risk; 

 Secure the principles of the drainage scheme; 

 Final detailed drainage proposals; and 

 Post constriction management and maintenance.  
 

8.11.9 The LLFA request that should planning permission be granted, they wish to be consulted on 
the reserved matters application in line with the suggested conditions. Once these reserved 
matters are approved, the applicant will need to provide the final detailed drainage strategy 
as part of the recommended surface water conditions.  

 
8.11.10 The LLFA also recommended that the Council obtains a maintenance plan that explains and 

follows the manufacturer’s recommendations for maintenance or follows the guidelines 
explained in the SuDS Manual by Ciria. A maintenance plan should also include an inspection 
timetable with long term action plans to be carried out to ensure effective operation and to 
prevent failure.   

 
8.12 Council’s Sunlight and Daylight Consultant (Anstey Horne) 
 
8.12.1 Anstey Horne have been instructed by Stevenage Borough Council to review the application 

in respect of the potential impact of the development on the daylight and sunlight availability 

Page 122



- 39 - 

to the neighbouring property at Broomin Green Farm, Maxwell Road.  
 
8.12.2 A copy of the daylight and sunlight report submitted with the application and undertaken by 

Gordon Ingram Associated has been reviewed. The surrounding properties which were 
modelled as part of this assessment were modelled on the basis of a photogrammetric model 
and the windows were added to the model based on site photographs, observations and brick 
counting. GIA state in the report that they sought to arrange access to Broomin’ Green Farm 
but at the time of drafting, access had not been granted and therefore, the internal layouts 
were based on assumptions. The report found the impacts of daylight and sunlight to Broomin 
Green Farm to be either within or close to the guidelines set out by the BRE. 

 
8.12.3 A review was also undertaken of the correspondence between GIA and EB7 surveyors on 

behalf of the owner of Broomin Green Farm which primarily focused on the accuracy of GIA’s 
assessment given that no external or internal survey had been undertaken. Subsequently, 
the consultant on behalf of the Council visited the site with a laser scanner and collected point 
cloud data of the property at Broomin’ Green Farm both externally and internally. This 
information was provided  to GIA surveyors so that their 3D model could be updated to 
accurately reflect what exists on site.  

 
8.12.4 The updated technical assessment which was undertaken by GIA was reviewed by the 

Council’s consultant who confirm that this reflects the detailed information collected on site. 
Whilst a number of windows and rooms within the neighbouring property are shown to be 
configured differently to those modelled in GIA’s initial technical assessment, for the majority 
of the windows and rooms assessed this does not have a material impact the daylight and 
sunlight position. All of the rooms, with the exception of the kitchen at ground level, are shown 
to achieve the BRE’s guideline values for both daylight and sunlight.  

 
8.12.5 In respect of the Kitchen, GIA’s updated analysis accurately reflects that this room is served 

by a single west facing window. The analysis shows that the reductions to this room are 
beyond the guideline values for both daylight and sunlight. In terms of Vertical Sky 
Component (VSC), the window serving the kitchen experiences a reduction of 21.8% as a 
result of the proposed development which is only marginally below the BRE’s guideline of 
20% reduction. When considering the daylight distribution, the room is shown to experience 
a reduction of 55.1% which is beyond the 20% of acceptable reduction recommended by the 
BRE guideline. Finally, in terms of sunlight, the annual sunlight availability is shown to be 
reduced by 36.8% which is again beyond the 20% recommended by the BRE. 

 
8.12.6 In summary, following a review of the initial reports and correspondence in relation to the 

daylight and sunlight availability to Broomin’ Green Farm as a result of the proposed 
development at Maxwell Road. A site visit was undertaken to collect point cloud data of the 
property and passed this to GIA so that their technical assessment could be updated. The 
Council’s consultants advise that they are satisfied that GIA’s updated analysis accurately 
represents the daylight and sunlight impacts to Broomin’ Green Farm as a result of the 
proposed development at Maxwell Road.  

 
 Additional comments received 6th December 2021 
 
8.12.7 Anstey Horne have been instructed by the Council to review the most recent document 

submitted with the application with respect of the potential impact of the development on 
daylight and sunlight availability to the neighbouring property Broomin Green Farm, Maxwell 
Road.  

 
8.12.8 Anstey Horne previously reviewed the daylight and sunlight assessment undertaken by GIA 

and the correspondence between GIA and the owners of Broomin Green Farm’s appointed 
surveyors EB7. As EB7 queried the accuracy of GIA’s initial assessment which was based 
on a photogrammetric model, Anstey Horne attended site to collect point cloud data and 
passed this to GIA so that their 3D model could be updated. Anstey Horne then reviewed 

Page 123



- 40 - 

GIA’s updated technical assessment and confirmed that it was an accurate representation of 
what existed on site. These findings were summarised in our letter dated 26 July 2021.  

 
8.12.9 It is understood that the developer has now submitted an amended daylight and sunlight 

report which summarises the findings of their up to date assessment. This report is dated 18 
October 2021. The report finds that, with the exception of a single window/room within the 
property at Broomin’ Green Farm, all of the windows and rooms assessed within the 
neighbouring properties will achieve the guideline values. The transgressions of the 
guidelines are identified to the kitchen at ground floor level within Broomin’ Green Farm. 

 
8.12.10 GIA’s updated report demonstrates that the reductions to the kitchen are beyond the 

guideline values for both daylight and sunlight. In terms of VSC, the window serving the 
kitchen experiences a reduction of 21.8% as a result of the proposed development which is 
only marginally below the BRE’s guideline of 20% reduction. When considering the daylight 
distribution, the room is shown to experience a reduction of 55.1% which is beyond the 20% 
of acceptable reduction recommended by the BRE guidelines. Finally, in terms of sunlight, 
the annual sunlight availability is shown to be reduced by 36.8% which is again beyond the 
20% recommended by the BRE.  

 
8.12.11 GIA have also undertaken a more sophisticated radiance assessment for the kitchen within 

Broomin’ Green Farm which takes into account reflected light both within the room itself and 
from external surfaces. This report is dated 8 September 2021. Whilst we have not reviewed 
GIA’s model for this assessment, the internal layouts have been based on information 
obtained from the site visit and the parameters for the assessment listed in their report are 
considered reasonable for an assessment of this nature. However, it is not clear whether GIA 
have calculated ADF in accordance with the BRE guidelines or as an average of the daylight 
factor calculation method as set out by the BS EN 17037. We would therefore suggest the 
Council seeks clarification from GIA on this point for Anstey Horne to comment.  

 
8.12.12 The daylight factor images presented in GIA’s report demonstrate that, in the existing 

condition very little light penetrates beyond the area of room closest to the window. A similar 
conclusion can be drawn from the images produced for the proposed condition, but there is 
a slight decrease in the penetration of light into the room. From this assessment, GIA 
conclude that “whilst there will be a small change in the daylit appearance of the kitchen, the 
useability of the kitchen and it’s reliance on supplementary artificial lighting is unlikely to be 
materially affected”. 

  
8.12.13 In summary, we have reviewed GIA’s updated reports in relation to the daylight and sunlight 

availability to Broomin’ Green Farm as a result of the proposed development at Maxwell 
Road. We are satisfied that GIA’s updated daylight and sunlight analysis in accordance with 
the BRE guidelines accurately represents the daylight and sunlight impacts to Broomin’ 
Green Farm as a result of the proposed development at Maxwell Road. This report finds that 
reductions beyond the guideline values will be to a single room at ground floor level. In terms 
of the radiance assessment carried out by GIA, the assessment shows that whilst there will 
be a small change in lit appearance, the room is poorly lit in both the existing and proposed 
condition. 

 
8.12.14 As advised previously, taking the tests recommended in the BRE guidelines, there are 

transgressions which need to be taken into account by the Council in their decision making. 
However, it is understood that the assessments in the BRE guide are intended to be 
interpreted flexibly and there are now more sophisticated ways of looking at the lit condition 
of a room. The radiance assessment calls into question whether the difference in light levels 
would be perceptible to the occupant and should therefore be considered carefully alongside 
the conventional assessments undertaken in accordance with the BRE guidelines. 

 
 Additional comments received – 12th July 2022 
 

Page 124



- 41 - 

8.12.15 Anstey Horne write in relation to the planning application at Maxwell Road, Stevenage, 
Hertfordshire submitted under application number 19/00062/OPM. Anstey Horne have been 
instructed by Stevenage Borough Council to review the various documents submitted with 
the application in respect of the potential impact of the development on the daylight and 
sunlight availability to the neighbouring property at Broomin’ Green Farm, Maxwell Road. 
This letter pulls together our previous advice and thoughts on the most recent documents 
which have been submitted, and therefore supersedes Anstey Horne’s previous advice.  

 
GIA report dated 16 December 2020 

 
8.12.16 Anstey Horne initially reviewed the daylight and sunlight assessment undertaken by Gordon 

Ingram Associates (GIA) dated 16 December 2020 and the correspondence between GIA 
and the owner of Broomin’ Green Farm’s appointed surveyor EB7. As EB7 queried the 
accuracy of GIA’s initial assessment, which was based on a photogrammetric model, Anstey 
Horne attended site to collect point cloud data and passed this to GIA so that their 3D model 
could be updated. Anstey Horne then reviewed GIA’s updated technical assessment and 
confirmed that it was an accurate representation of what existed on site. These findings were 
summarised in our letter dated 26 July 2021.  

 
GIA report dated 18 October 2021 

 
8.12.17 The developer then submitted an amended daylight and sunlight report which summarised 

the findings of their updated assessment. This report was dated 18 October 2021. The report 
found that, with the exception of a single window/room within the property at Broomin’ Green 
Farm, all of the windows and rooms assessed within the neighbouring properties would 
achieve the guideline values. The transgressions of the guidelines were identified to the 
kitchen at ground floor level within Broomin’ Green Farm. 

 
8.12.18 GIA’s updated report demonstrated that the reductions to the kitchen were beyond the 

guideline values for both daylight and sunlight. In terms of VSC, the window serving the 
kitchen was shown to experience a reduction of 21.8% as a result of the proposed 
development which is only marginally beyond the BRE’s guideline of 20% reduction. When 
considering the daylight distribution, the room was shown to experience a reduction of 55.1% 
which is beyond the 20% of acceptable reduction recommended by the BRE guidelines. 
Finally, in terms of sunlight, the annual sunlight availability was shown to be reduced by 
36.8% which is again beyond the 20% recommended by the BRE.  

 
GIA radiance report dated 8 September 2021 

 
8.12.19 GIA also undertook a more sophisticated radiance assessment for the kitchen within Broomin’ 

Green Farm which takes into account reflected light both within the room itself and from 
external surfaces. This report was dated 8 September 2021. Anstey Horne obtained the 3D 
model used by GIA for the radiance assessment in order to review their findings. Our review 
indicates that the parameters applied by GIA in the assessment are reasonable given the 
context of the site, and that the assessment undertaken by GIA provides an accurate 
representation of the light levels within Broomin’ Green Farm. 

 
8.12.20 GIA’s radiance assessment indicated that the ADF in the existing condition was 0.3% whilst 

the ADF in the proposed condition was 0.2%. Whilst radiance provides a more sophisticated 
assessment of ADF than the simple calculation provided by the BRE guidelines, in the 
absence of any radiance specific guidelines, GIA have considered the results for the kitchen 
against the BRE’s ADF guideline of 2% for a kitchen which is considered to be a sensible 
approach. The ADF values provided by the BRE are described as the minimum values for 
good daylight availability, and therefore the levels achieved by the kitchen even in the existing 
scenario are well below this recommended minimum. Thus, supplementary lighting will be 
required. 

 

Page 125



- 42 - 

8.12.21 We note that GIA’s assessment included the internal blind within the model. We therefore ran 
an additional assessment without the blind in place which confirms that whilst the light 
available in the existing condition is slightly greater, the reduction in light is akin to that 
reported by GIA above. 

 
8.12.22 The daylight factor images presented in GIA’s report demonstrate that, in the existing 

condition very little light penetrates beyond the area of room closest to the window. A similar 
conclusion can be drawn from the images produced for the proposed condition, but there is 
a slight decrease in the penetration of light into the room. From this assessment, GIA 
conclude that “whilst there will be a small change in the daylit appearance of the kitchen, the 
useability of the kitchen and its reliance on supplementary artificial lighting is unlikely to be 
materially affected”. 

 
GIA report dated 13 June 2022 

  
8.12.23 The developer has now submitted an amended daylight and sunlight report which reflects 

changes to the proposed scheme. GIA state in their report that the changes involve a 
modification of the height of the commercial element of the Proposed Development to reduce 
the daylight and sunlight effects upon Broomin’ Green Farm.  

 
8.12.24 The report confirms that the position with Broomin’ Green Farm is akin to that reported in 

GIAs 18 October 2021 report, with the only transgressions of the guidelines being identified 
to the kitchen at ground floor level within Broomin’ Green Farm. However, we note that the 
reductions identified are slightly different to those previously reported, with some reductions 
in light showing decreases and others increases.  

 
8.12.25 In terms of VSC, the window serving the kitchen was shown to experience a reduction of 

22.2% as a result of the proposed development, which is slightly greater than the 21.8% 
reduction identified as a result of the previous scheme. However, this reduction is still only 
marginally beyond the BRE’s guideline of 20% reduction.  

 
8.12.26 When considering the daylight distribution, the room is shown to experience a reduction of 

54.5% which is a slight improvement on the 55.1% reduction identified for the previously 
assessed scheme. The reduction to this room is still beyond the 20% of acceptable reduction 
recommended by the BRE guidelines. Finally, in terms of sunlight, the annual sunlight 
availability was shown to be reduced by 36.8% which is in line with what was reported for the 
previous scheme. Again, this reduction is beyond the 20% recommended by the BRE.  

 
8.12.27 Overall, the reductions in light identified to Broomin’ Green Farm remains akin to those 

summarised in GIA’s 18 October 2021 report.  
 

Summary 
 

8.12.28 In summary, we have reviewed GIA’s updated reports in relation to the daylight and sunlight 
availability to Broomin’ Green Farm as a result of the proposed development at Maxwell 
Road. We are satisfied that GIA’s updated daylight and sunlight analysis in accordance with 
the BRE guidelines accurately represents the daylight and sunlight impacts to Broomin’ 
Green Farm as a result of the proposed development at Maxwell Road. This report finds that 
reductions beyond the guideline values will be to a single room at ground floor level. In terms 
of the radiance assessment carried out by GIA, the assessment shows that whilst there will 
be a small change in lit appearance, the room is poorly lit in both the existing and proposed 
condition.  

 
8.12.29 As we have commented before, taking the tests recommended in the BRE guidelines, there 

are transgressions which need to be taken into account by the Council in their decision 
making. However, it is understood that the assessments in the BRE guide are intended to be 
interpreted flexibly and there are now more sophisticated ways of looking at the lit condition 

Page 126



- 43 - 

of a room. The radiance assessment calls into question whether the difference in light levels 
would be perceptible to the occupant and should therefore be considered carefully alongside 
the conventional assessments undertaken in accordance with the BRE guidelines. 

 

9.  RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES  

9.1        Background to the Development Plan 

9.1.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 provides that the decision 
on the planning application should be in accordance with the development plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise. For Stevenage the statutory development plan 
comprises: 

 
• The Stevenage Borough Council Local Plan 2011-2031 
• Hertfordshire Waste Development Framework 2012 and Hertfordshire Waste Site 

Allocations Development Plan Document (adopted 2012 and 2014); and 
• Hertfordshire Minerals Local Plan 2002 – 2016 (adopted 2007). 

 
9.2 Central Government Advice 

 
9.2.1 A revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was published in July 2021. This 

largely reordered the policy substance of the earlier 2012 version of the NPPF albeit with 
some revisions to policy. The Council are content that the policies in the Local Plan are in 
conformity with the revised NPPF and that the Local Plan should be considered up to date 
for the purpose of determining planning applications. The NPPF provides that proposals 
which accord with an up to date development plan should be approved without delay 
(para.11) and that where a planning application conflicts with an up to date development 
plan, permission should not usually be granted (para.12). This indicates the weight which 
should be given to an up to date development plan, reflecting the requirements of section 
38(6) of the 2004 Act.   

 
9.2.2 Since November 2018, housing delivery has been measured against the Housing Delivery 

Test (HDT) as set out by the Government planning policy and guidance. The results of the 
HDT dictate whether a local planning authority should be subject to consequences to help 
increase their housing delivery. Where an authority’s HDT score is less than 85% of its 
housing requirement, the Council must incorporate a 20% buffer into its housing supply 
calculations in line with paragraph 73 of the NPPF. Where an authority’s score is below 75%, 
the Council will be subject to the HDT’s most severe penalty and must apply the presumption 
in favour of sustainable development. The latest HDT results, published by the Ministry of 
Housing Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) (now the Department for Levelling 
Up, Housing and Communities) in January 2022, identifies that Stevenage delivered 79% 
of its housing requirement which is above the 75% requirement. However, this is still less 
than 85%. Consequently, Stevenage Borough Council must include the 20% buffer in its 5 
year housing land supply calculations, which it already does.  

 
9.2.3     The Council also has to prepare an Action Plan to show how it is responding to the challenge 

of ensuring more homes are delivered in the Borough. It will have to be prepared in 
accordance with Planning Practice Guidance and analyse the reasons for under-delivery of 
new homes against the Government’s requirements. It also has to set out clear actions on 
how to improve housing delivery. Consequently, Stevenage Borough Council has recently 
published its Action Plan (July 2022) to demonstrate how it seeks to maintain the supply of 
housing: 

 
 https://www.stevenage.gov.uk/documents/planning-policy/monitoring/housing-delivery-test-

action-plan-2022.pdf 
 

Page 127

https://www.stevenage.gov.uk/documents/planning-policy/monitoring/housing-delivery-test-action-plan-2022.pdf
https://www.stevenage.gov.uk/documents/planning-policy/monitoring/housing-delivery-test-action-plan-2022.pdf


- 44 - 

9.2.4 Turning to 5 year housing land supply, the Council recently published an Addendum Report 
in May 2022. The report set out that the Borough Council could demonstrate a housing supply 
of 5.91 years (including 20% buffer) for the period 1 April 2022 to 31 March 2027. However, 
since the Land West of Lytton Way appeal was allowed by the Planning Inspectorate for a 
development of 576 residential units (Appeal Reference: APP/K1935/W/20/3255692), the 
Council’s Policy Department has confirmed the Council can now demonstrate a housing 
supply of 6.68 years (including 20% buffer).  

 

9.2.5     The Council will also be commencing preliminary work into a potential review of its Local 
Plan, last adopted in May 2019.  This is to ensure the polices within the Local Plan are up to 
date in accordance with the NPPF as well as ensuing the Council is delivering a sufficient 
supply of housing and employment.  

 
9.3 Planning Practice Guidance 

 
The PPG contains guidance supplementing the NPPF and with which Members are fully 
familiar.  The PPG is a material consideration to be taken into account together with the 
National Design Guide (2019) which has the same status as the PPG. 

 
9.4 Adopted Local Plan (2019)  
 
9.4.1 The policies set out below are relevant in the determination of this application: 
 

 Policy SP1: Presumption in favour of sustainable development; 
 Policy SP2: Sustainable development in Stevenage; 
 Policy SP3: A strong, competitive economy; 
 Policy SP5: Infrastructure; 
 Policy SP6: Sustainable transport; 
 Policy SP7: High quality homes; 
 Policy SP8: Good design; 
 Policy SP9: Healthy communities; 
 Policy SP11: Climate change, flooding and pollution; 
 Policy SP12: Green infrastructure and the natural environment; 
 Policy SP13: The historic environment; 
 Policy EC2a: Gunnels Wood Road Employment Area; 
 Policy EC4: Remainder of Gunnels Wood; 
 Policy EC5: Active frontages and gateways; 
 Policy IT3: Infrastructure; 
 Policy IT4: Transport assessments and travel plans; 
 Policy IT5: Parking and access; 
 Policy IT6: Sustainable transport; 
 Policy IT7: New and improved links for pedestrians and cyclists; 
 Policy HO5: Windfall sites; 
 Policy HO7: Affordable housing targets; 
 Policy HO8: Affordable housing tenure, mix and design; 
 Policy HO9: House types and sizes; 
 Policy HO11: Accessible and adaptable housing; 
 Policy GD1: High quality design; 
 Policy HC8: Sports facilities in new developments; 
 Policy FP1: Climate change; 
 Policy FP2: Flood risk in Flood Zone 1; 
 Policy FP5: Contaminated land; 
 Policy FP7: Pollution;   
 Policy FP8: Pollution sensitive uses; 
 Policy NH5: Trees and woodland; 
 Policy NH6: General protection for open space; 
 Policy NH7: Open space standards; 

Page 128



- 45 - 

 Policy NH09: Areas of Archaeological Significance.  

9.5 Supplementary Planning Documents  

 Parking Provision Supplementary Planning Document October 2020 
 Stevenage Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document January 2009. 
 The Impact on Biodiversity SPD 2021 
 Developer Contributions SPD 2021 
 
9.6 Community Infrastructure Levy 
 
 Stevenage Borough Council adopted a Community Infrastructure Levy Charging Schedule in 

2020. This allows the Council to collect a levy to fund infrastructure projects based on the 
type, location and floorspace of a development. 

   

10. APPRAISAL  
 
10.1.1  The main issues for consideration in the determination of this application are its acceptability 

in land use policy terms, affordable housing and planning obligations, visual impact of the 

development, impact of the development on the setting of the listed building and the demolition 

of the non-designated heritage asset, impact on archaeology, impact upon neighbouring 

amenities, impact upon future amenities of residents, parking provision, highway implications, 

development and flood risk, impact on the environment, trees and landscaping and ecology.  

 

10.1.2  Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that all planning 
applications must be determined in accordance with the Development Plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.  

 

10.2  Land Use Policy Considerations  

  Impact on the designated employment area 

10.2.1  The application site is located within the Gunnels Wood Road Employment Area as identified 
in the Stevenage Borough Local Plan 2011-2031 (adopted 2019). The National Planning 
Policy Framework 2021 (NPPF) sets out that planning decisions should help to create the 
conditions in which businesses can invest, expand and adapt (Paragraph 81). The NPPF 
goes onto stipulate that significant weight should be placed on the need to support economic 
growth and productivity, taking into account both local business needs and wider 
opportunities for development.  Due to the site falling within a designated employment area, 
Policies EC2a and EC4 of the adopted Local Plan (2019) apply in this instance. Policy EC2a 
simply designates the Gunnels Wood Employment Area whereas Policy EC4 sets out 
acceptable uses in the employment areas. These approved uses include Use Classes B1(c) 
light industry, B2 general industry and B8 storage and distribution.  

 
10.2.2 Dealing firstly with the proposed offices, as set out in the Council’s adopted Local Plan (2019) 

under Policy SP3: A Strong, competitive economy, the Council will seek to encourage high 
intensity B-class employment uses in the most accessible locations. It will continue to 
remodel Gunnels Wood Road to meet modern requirements and provide a high quality and 
attractive business destination as well as collaborate with Central Bedfordshire Council and 
North Hertfordshire District Council to ensure an appropriate level of employment provision 
within the wider A1(M) / A1 corridor over the plan period.  

 
10.2.3 The Council’s Employment Technical Paper dated December 2015 which formed part of the 

evidence base for the Local Plan, forecasted that there will be a requirement to provide 30 
hectares of employment land over the plan period between 2011-2031. However, through 

Page 129



- 46 - 

the undertaking of the SLAA (Strategic Land Availability Assessment) a total of 19.4 hectares 
of land has been identified on the supply side. Therefore, the opportunities identified will 
deliver 56% of the required quantum employment (paragraphs 3.40 to 3.42). The 
aforementioned Employment Technical Paper was updated in December 2016. A synthesis 
of the supply-side and demand-side data suggests that there is insufficient land available to 
meet the trend-based requirement for at least 30ha. The opportunities identified will deliver 
approximately 62% of the required quantum of employment land, resulting in a shortfall of 
approximately 11.5ha (paragraphs 3.10 and 4.4). As such, any reduction in employment land 
would effectively exacerbate this shortfall and thus make it difficult for the Council to be able 
to accommodate sustainable future growth over the Local Plan period.  

 
10.2.4 Policy EC4 of the adopted Local Plan (which seeks the provision of B1(b) research and 

development, B1(c) light industry, B2 General Industry and B8 storage and distribution). 
However,  Policy EC4, also states that planning permission for B1(a) offices will only be 
granted as an exception to criterion a where:- 

 
 i. it is ancillary to a B1(b), B2 or B8 use; 
 ii. essential to the continued operation of an established B1(a) use; or 
 iii. a sequential test clearly demonstrates that no suitable sites are available in more 

accessible locations.  
 
10.2.5 The proposed development seeks the delivery of a flexible B1 use (B1(a), B1(b) and B1(c)) 

(Now Use Classes E(g)i, E(G)ii and E(g)iii) development. Based on this flexible use, if the 
building was used for offices (Formerly B1(a) / currently E(g)(i)), the proposal would not 
accord with Policy EC4 of the adopted Local Plan (2019). Furthermore, the development 
would not be ancillary to a B1(b), B2 or B8 use, nor is it essential to the continued operation 
of an established B1(a) (Class E(g)i) use. As such, for the policy to be complied with the 
applicant is required to undertake a sequential test to clearly demonstrate that there are no 
suitable sites available in more accessible locations. Taking this into consideration, the 
applicant has undertaken a Sequential Assessment to determine whether or not there is a 
more suitable site which is in a more accessible location.  

 
10.2.6 The sequential assessment undertaken by the applicant focuses on the employment 

allocations in the adopted Local Plan due to the nature of the proposal. In this regard, Policy 
EC1 of the plan allocates sites of up to 143,500 sq.m of employment space. There are three 
allocations under this policy which incorporate a component of B1(a) (Class E(g)i) office 
floorspace. These sites are as follows:- 

 

 South of Bessemer Drive, Gunnels Wood Road (Policy reference EC1/2); 

 Stevenage Central (Policy reference EC1/5); and 

 West of Stevenage (Policy reference EC1/6). 
 

10.2.7 With regard to the Stevenage Central allocation (Policy reference EC1/5), this allocation 
comprises of six Major Opportunity Areas (MOAs). However, only four of the MOAs make 
provision for Class B1 office development. The MOAs which make provision of B1 office 
developments are as follows:- 

 

 Centre West (Policy TC3); 

 Station Gateway (Policy TC4); 

 Central Core (TC5); and 

 Northgate (TC6). 
 

10.2.8 The sequential assessment identifies that the aforementioned MOAs are in private 
ownership, there are no planning permissions in place for these sites to accommodate office 
development and no Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) screening opinions have been 
undertaken on any of the allocations either. In addition, these allocations also seek the 
delivery of mixed use development such as housing, retail, non-residential institutions and in 

Page 130



- 47 - 

some of the sites a hotel. Furthermore, the overall size and scale of these development 
parcels would not be suitable for a single or multiple occupier commercial development due 
to its overall size and scale and therefore, it would undermine the aspirations of these town 
centre allocations. Further to this, whilst the proposed regeneration scheme known as SG1 
(Planning Reference:- 19/00743/FPM), which currently has a resolution to grant planning 
permission and covers part of the Central Core MOA, comprises of non-residential 
floorspace, the predominant non-residential floorspace would be within the Public Services 
Hub and part of the ground floor areas of the relevant phases on the development. The 
scheme itself does not comprise of a large scale bespoke commercial development as is 
proposed with this development.  

 
10.2.9 With regard to the sites referred to in paragraph 10.2.6 these sites are again in private 

ownership. Looking at the Bessemer Drive site, this has planning permission (06/00290/FP) 
for a development comprising of B1, B2 and B8 along with a car showroom (which has been 
implemented). The permission for this site does not offer the opportunity to deliver the 
quantum of B1 (Now Use Class E(g)) floorspace proposed. With regards to West of 
Stevenage (Planning Reference:- 21/00356/FPM), this is out of centre and the allocation 
refers to small business uses with this part of the development not delivered until Phase 2. 
In addition, this allocation is part of the wider residential development for West of Stevenage 
which has not yet been delivered. Furthermore, the application for West Stevenage has not 
yet been determined by the Council. As such, the development would be standalone and not 
deemed to be in a sustainable location. 

 
10.2.10 Turning to Arlington Business Park, the last remaining vacant plot of the site, which did have 

planning permission for a contemporary office development, is now occupied by the 
Lok’n’Store development (Planning permission 19/00673/FPM) which is nearing completion. 
Therefore, this site is no longer available for the delivery of a commercial building. In relation 
to the Sanders Building, Gunnels Wood Road, it is noted this is site is currently up for sale. 
The site as set out in Policy EC2a of the Local Plan (2019) defines the site as falling within 
the Gunnels Wood Employment Area. Policy EC2b stipulates that within the Edge-of-Centre 
Zone as shown on the policies map, planning permission will be granted where: 

 

Development (including changes of use) is for classes B1(a) offices or B1(b) research 
and development; 

The scheme makes efficient use of the site in terms of floorspace and job provision, and 

Proposals interact positively within the ‘Stevenage Central Area’. 
 
Planning permission will only be granted as an exception to those criteria where the proposed 
development in ancillary to B1(a) or B1(b) uses or essential to continued operation of an 
established B-class use.  

 
10.2.11 Taking the above into consideration, it is acknowledged that the delivery of the proposed 

commercial building which forms part of this application before the Council, could potentially 
be delivered on this site in accordance with the adopted Local Plan. However, the principal 
use of the site is established as B1(c) (Light industrial) (now Use Class E(g)iii) and B2 
(General Industry), so this site could potentially come forward as an alternative use to that 
which is proposed under this application i.e. light industrial or general industrial. Furthermore, 
the applicant does not have any commercial interest in this site and would require them to 
purchase it in order to deliver the scheme in which case, there is no guarantee they would 
be successful. Moreover, it is a highly constrained site which is smaller in area than the site 
in Maxwell Road which would make it more difficult to deliver a landmark building at this 
scale, as detailed in the application submission.  

 
10.2.12 Given the above, the applicant has been able to demonstrate that there are no suitable 

sequentially preferable sites allocated in the adopted Local Plan for the proposed 
development. Therefore, the proposed office development from a sequential test perspective 
is acceptable.  Notwithstanding the aforementioned assessment, whilst the use of the building 

Page 131



- 48 - 

as offices would not be in accordance with the adopted Local Plan, the Use Classes Order 
1987 (As amended) allows for the building to be used more flexibly i.e. for research and 
development and light industry. This is because these uses would fall within the same Use 
Class i.e. Class E, and therefore, would not require a Change of Use permission from the 
Council as Local Planning Authority. Therefore, it is recommended that a condition is imposed 
to allow for a flexible use in the building that in the event it is not used for offices, it can be 
used for policy compliant uses i.e. research and development and light industry.  

 
10.2.13 In addition to the above, and material in the determination of this application is the fact that 

the Council is seeking the provision of 140,000 sq.m of Class B employment land as set out 
under Policy SP3 of the adopted local plan, however, currently there is a 16 hectare shortfall 
in employment. The proposed development would, therefore, help meet unmet need within a 
sustainable location whilst not impacting on the town centre employment allocations or those 
allocated in Gunnels Wood Road.  

 
10.2.14 Looking at the proposed development and application site in more detail, the application site 

currently comprises of three main operators, the Furniture Industry Research Association 
(FIRA) (2,589 sq.m of B1 floorspace), the veterinary clinic (471 sq.m of D1 floorspace) and 
Service Line (866 sq.m of B1 floorspace). Given the veterinary clinic is not a traditional 
employment use and would generally be classed as an unacceptable use in the employment 
area as defined under Policy EC4, the site currently only has 3,455 sq.m of traditional B1 
(business) employment space. The proposed office development seeks to provide 
indicatively 11,059sq.m of office floorspace. This would be an increase of 7,604 sq.m of 
employment floorspace or 68.7% over and above the existing level of floorspace which is 
currently provided on the application site.  

 
10.2.15 It is noted that the Government amended the Use Classes Order which came into force in 

September 2020 via the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) (Amendment) (England) 
Order 2015. This order brought in a new Class known as Class E (Commercial, Business 
and Service). Under this new class, traditional retail, financial services as well as restaurants 
and cafes along with offices, research and development and light industrial are now defined 
as being Class E. Given this, if planning permission were to be granted, a condition would be 
imposed to restrict the use of the building to employment based uses only under Class E 
(previously Class B1 uses). This is to ensure the building is not converted to unacceptable 
use such as residential through the Prior Approval process or a retail development in the 
future.  

 
10.2.16 With regards to assessing the potential amount of employment a particular development 

would generate, the Homes and Community Agency (HCA) Employment Density Guide, 3rd 
Edition (2015) provides a benchmark for employment densities. This guidance demonstrates 
that the proposed commercial development would be likely to generate a higher level of 
employment compared to, for example B2 uses (General Industrial) and B8 uses (Warehouse 
and Distribution). This is because the proposal could generate approximately 851 jobs (1 job 
per 8 sq.m to 1 job per 13 sq.m) compared to General Industrial (1 job per 36 sq.m) and 
warehouse development (between 1 job per 200sq.m to 1 job per 1,400 sq.m) which are 
generally on a single floorplate. In addition, if the building was used for research and 
development, which is a policy compliant use, the Employment Density Guide sets out that 1 
job is created for every 40-60 sq.m of floorspace. This would equate to approximately 185 
jobs to 277 jobs.  

 
10.2.17 More recently, the Council approved the Biopharmaceutical development (Planning Use 

Class E) at Marshgate Car Park (Planning Reference 21/00627/FPM) in Stevenage Town 
Centre which has 6,920 sq.m of floorspace and is a part 4 storey, part 5 storey building. This 
development would generate approximately 300 new jobs. This is a useful comparison as it 
can be demonstrated that Research and Development schemes (if the building operated as 
such), do generate a significant level of employment space, especially given this 
development is now under construction.  

Page 132



- 49 - 

 
10.2.18 Turning to the existing level of employment which is provided on-site, this is set out in detail 

below: 
 

 FIRA currently employs approximately 40 staff based on the information set out in  
Planning application 20/00483/FPM; 

 Serviceline based on its floor area, could generate approximately 66 jobs; 

 Walton Lodge Veterinary Hospital has approximately 9 staff based on the information set 
out in planning application 01/00488/FP. 

 
10.2.19 Based on the aforementioned information, the level of employment generated by existing 

development on-site is approximately 115 jobs. Consequently, it can be argued that there is 
sufficient evidence to demonstrate that the proposed commercial development could 
potentially generate a significant uplift on the existing level of employment which could be 
provided on-site. However, it is important to note that the Serviceline building was vacated 
by the previous tenant who now operates their business outside of the Borough. In addition, 
whilst the FIRA building would be demolished, FIRA themselves have relocated to premises 
on Cockerell Close, so they would remain within Stevenage so would not be lost as a result. 
In relation to the veterinary clinic, it is important to note that they are not a traditional 
employment based used. However, it is not known at this time where they have relocated the 
clinic.  

 
10.2.20 In addition to the above, as set out in paragraph 10.2.3 of this report, it has been established 

that Stevenage can only accommodate about half of its predicted employment growth over 
the Local Plan period (this has included the release of Green Belt land in order to meet the 
necessary demand). Therefore, the Council has had to rely on neighbouring authorities to 
support the necessary employment growth which would be generated over the local plan 
period. Consequently, the provision of 11,059 sq.m of office floor space (increase of 0.76 
hectares of employment space) would go in some way to addressing the significant shortfall 
of employment land available as identified in the evidence base which supports the Local 
Plan.  

 
10.2.21 To further support the proposed office development, it is noted that the application site is 

located on a prominent corner/gateway site and Policy EC5 of the adopted Local Plan (2019) 
is relevant. For reference Policy EC5: states that where a development in the Gunnels Wood 
Employment Area fronts onto Broadhall Way, Bessemer Drive, Gunnels Wood Road, 
Fairlands Way and Six Hills Way, permission will be granted where: 

 
a.  Proposals face directly onto the identified road(s) and provide active frontages and 

natural surveillance; 
 

b.  Buildings are not set back significantly from the identified road(s); 
 
c. Car parking and service areas are located away from the street frontage of the identified 

road(s); and 
 
d. On corner plots, where these roads intersect, schemes incorporate landmark 

architecture and gateway features wherever this would be compatible with the proposed 
use(s). 

 
10.2.22 Taking this consideration, it is considered that it would be difficult to deliver non B1 uses such 

as warehouses and industrial uses to a high quality design. This is because due to their very 
nature, these developments usually require large, utilitarian style buildings which also 
generally comprise of extensive external plant and equipment. Consequently, it is considered 
that the proposed creation of an office development at this prominent location, given the 
context of the adjoining listed building, would be the most acceptable option for this 
application site in this instance. This is because there is the ability to design a high quality 

Page 133



- 50 - 

office development which would meet the requirements of Policy EC5. In addition, such a 
development would also contribute to meeting the necessary employment needs of the town 
over the Local Plan Period. 

 
10.2.23 Turning to the proposed residential part of the proposed development, this would result in the 

loss of employment land and is generally not an acceptable form of development in an 
employment area and is contrary to the aforementioned policies. It is noted that three out of 
the four proposed residential blocks would be located on a surface car park and land which 
is currently occupied by the veterinary surgery which falls under Use Class D1 (Use Class 
E) which is not classed as traditional employment development. However, it is important to 
note that there are no restrictions on the original planning permission for the Veterinary 
Surgery i.e. permission 01/00488/FP. As such, whilst it could potentially be used for example 
as offices, research or development or light industry, it could also be used as a shop, 
restaurant, sport or recreation or a crèche which are not policy compliant uses. This is due to 
the flexibility built into the revised Use Classes Order where these uses no longer require a 
change of use permission as they all fall within Use Class E.  Notwithstanding, it is 
acknowledged that this part of the site could also potentially deliver additional employment 
based development and the delivery of residential blocks of flats would limit the ability to do 
so. Furthermore, the veterinary building itself could generate approximately 12 jobs if it was 
utilised for a policy compliant employment use. 

 
10.2.24 Taking the above assessment into consideration, it can be deduced that if the commercial 

building was to be used as offices (Use Class E(g)i) as originally submitted, it would be in 
conflict with the policies contained in the adopted Local Plan (2019). However, if the building 
was to be used for research and development (Use Class E(g)ii) or light industrial (Use Class 
E(g)iii), then the development would be in compliance with the adopted Local Plan. As such, 
the applicant has agreed to a flexible use condition to be imposed if permission was to be 
granted which would allow the commercial building to be used for research and development 
and / or light industrial if it does not come forward for offices.    

 
10.2.25 In addition to the above, the commercial part of the development would significantly increase 

the level of employment floorspace and potential job creation from this site. However, the 
proposed construction of dwelling units on the site does not accord with Policy EC4 and 
therefore, it is considered that there is a policy conflict in this instance. In addition, the 
residential development would limit the opportunity to deliver further employment based uses 
on this part of the designated employment site. However, in terms of the harm caused by the 
loss of employment land and whether this is outweighed by the planning benefits of the 
development, these will be considered in greater detail in the following sections of this report.   

 

  Compliance with the Council’s Housing Policies 

10.2.26  The NPPF states at paragraph 7 that the purpose of the planning system is to contribute to 
the achievement of sustainable development. The NPPF also stipulates that decisions should 
play an active role in guiding development towards sustainable solutions, but in doing so 
should take local circumstances into account, to reflect the character, needs and 
opportunities of each area. In addition, the Framework also sets out that sustainable 
development needs to be pursued in a positive way and at the heart of the framework is a 
"presumption on favour of sustainable development". Paragraph 60 of the Frameworks 
required Local Planning Authorities to support the Government’s objective of significantly 
boosting the supply of homes, it is important that a sufficient amount and variety of lad can 
come forward where needed, that the needs of specific groups with specific housing 
requirements are addressed. 

 
10.2.27 Paragraph 62 of the NPPF (2021) requires that the planning system should deliver, inter alia, 

a mix of housing particularly in terms of tenure and price to support a wide variety of 
households in all areas. Paragraph 69 of the Framework sets out that small and medium sites 

Page 134



- 51 - 

can make an important contribution to meeting housing requirements in an area, and this 
includes supporting the development of windfall sites. 

 
10.2.28 Paragraph 119 of the NPPF stipulates that planning policies and decisions should promote 

the effective use of land in meeting the need for homes such as through the use of brownfield 
sites (previously developed land) and the development of underutilised land. Paragraph 120 
of the NPPF sets out that planning policies and planning decisions should: 

 
a) encourage multiple benefits from urban and rural land, including through mixed use 
schemes……; 
c) give substantial weight to the value of using suitable brownfield land within settlements for 
homes…; 
d) promote and support the development of under-utilised land and buildings, especially if 
this would help to meet identified needs for housing where land supply is constrained and 
available sites could be used more effectively (for example…..building on or above service 
yards, car parks….) 

 
10.2.29 Policy HO5 of the adopted Local Plan (2019) is for windfall housing sites and states that 

permission will be granted where: the site is on previously developed land or is a small, 
underused urban site; there is good access to local facilities; there will be no detrimental 
impact on the environment and the surrounding properties; proposals will not prejudice the 
Council’s ability to deliver residential development on allocated sites; and, the proposed 
development would not overburden existing infrastructure. 

  
10.2.30  Taking the above issues in turn, the application is on previously developed land. The site is 

currently occupied by the FIRA building, a veterinary clinic and an office complex, 
hardstandings, car parking and small ancillary buildings and thus accords with the definition 
of previously developed land set out in Annex 2 of the NPPF. The NPPF states that previously 
developed land is land which is or was occupied by a permanent structure, including the 
curtilage of the developed land and any associated fixed surface infrastructure. The NPPF 
also advises that a key objective is that local planning authorities should continue to make 
effective use of land by re-using land that has been previously developed. As such, the 
proposed development is in accordance with adopted Local Plan (2019) Policy HO5 criterion 
a. 

 
10.2.31 Criterion b. of Policy HO5 also requires that there is access to local facilities and that 

residential proposals include opportunities to access alternative forms of travel to private 
motorised transport. In this regard, the application site is located 371m from Woolenwick 
Primary School and 1.24km from Thomas Alleynes Academy which also lies adjacent to 
Barclays School. The site is also 644m from The Old Town and 373m from the Town Centre 
respectively.  

 
10.2.32 In terms of access to public transport, the site is located 476m from Stevenage Railway 

Station and 30m from the nearest bus stop on Fairlands Way. The site is also located directly 
adjacent to the extensive cycle network. Taking these points into consideration, the proposed 
development is considered to have good access to local facilities and public transport as well 
as both the pedestrian and cycle networks. The site has, therefore, been demonstrated to be 
in a sustainable location. In regards to criterion c. of Policy HO5 which requires development 
to not have a detrimental impact on the environment and the surrounding properties, these 
matters will be dealt with in later sections of this committee report.  

 
10.2.32 In regards to residential development on allocated sites as defined in the adopted Local Plan, 

the development site would not be located in close proximity to an allocated site. Therefore, 
the development would not affect the delivery of these allocated sites for residential 
development and, therefore, accords with criterion d. of Policy HO5. With regards to the 
impact of the development on existing infrastructure, this is considered in more detail in the 
Affordable Housing and Financial Obligations section of this report.  

Page 135



- 52 - 

 
10.2.33 Paragraph 74 of the NPPF stipulates that strategic policies should include a trajectory 

illustrating the expected rate of housing delivery over the plan period, and all plans should 
consider whether it is appropriate to set out the anticipated rate of development for specific 
sites. Local planning authorities should identify and update annually a supply of specific 
deliverable sites sufficient to provide a minimum of five years’ worth of housing against their 
housing requirement set out in adopted strategic policies, or against their local housing need 
where the strategic policies are more than five years old. The supply of specific deliverable 
sites should in addition include a buffer (moved forward from later in the plan period) of: 

 
 a) 5% to ensure choice and competition in the market for land; or  
 b) 10% where the local planning authority wishes to demonstrate a five year supply of 

deliverable sites through an annual position statement or recently adopted plan, to account 
for any fluctuations in the market during that year; or 

 c) 20% where there has been significant under delivery of housing over the previous three 
years, to improve the prospect of achieving the planned supply. 

 
10.2.34 Since November 2018, housing delivery has been measured against the Housing Delivery 

Test (HDT) as set out by the Government planning policy and guidance. The results of the 
HDT dictate whether a local planning authority should be subject to consequences to help 
increase their housing delivery. 

 
10.2.35 As referenced in paragraphs 9.2.2 to 9.2.4, the Council is currently able to demonstrate a 

five year supply of deliverable housing sites (with a 20% buffer) and the Housing Delivery 
Test indicates that the delivery of housing was 79% of the housing requirement over the 
previous three years. Therefore, the policies that are most important for determining the 
application are considered up-to-date and Paragraph 11(d) of the Framework is not engaged. 
As such, the development is not fundamental in the Council meeting its 5 year housing land 
supply.  

 
10.2.36 However, and as clarified by the Land West of Lytton Way appeal decision (paragraph 85 of 

the appeal decision letter), the Government’s aim as expressed in paragraph 60 of the 
framework (see para. 10.2.25 of the committee report) is to significantly boost the supply of 
housing. Local Plan policy SP7 refers to the need to deliver 7,600 new homes over the plan 
period. However, in the inspectors decision letter, she set out that many of these houses are 
expected to be delivered on large strategic sites, which are proving complex to deliver and 
slow in coming forward. The inspector in her decision also points out that there has been an 
historic under delivery. As such, the delivery of an additional 80 units would help the Council 
meet its identified housing requirements. 

 

10.2.37 In respect to Policy HO9 (House types and sizes) of the adopted Local Plan (2019), as the 

proposed development seeks to deliver smaller accommodation, it would be in accordance 

with this policy as it would help to balance the structural imbalances in the existing housing 

stock, i.e. due to the lack of smaller properties in the Borough as identified in the Local Plans 

supporting evidence base.  

10.2.38 Therefore, where such development seeks to increase the level of affordable housing within 

the Borough, this can be seen as having significant weight. A detailed assessment of the 

developments proposed affordable housing provision is detailed in Section 10.3 of this report.  

10.2.39  With the above in mind, combined with the fact that the site is considered to be in a highly 

sustainable location, it would constitute a sustainable form of development providing a mixture 

of 1 and 2 bedroom apartments. Consideration of the effects of the development on the setting 

of the listed building, character of the area and neighbouring amenities, and the ability of the 

site to provide good living conditions for future residents as well as impact on the environment, 

biodiversity and infrastructure will be considered in the following sections of this report.  

Page 136



- 53 - 

10.3  Affordable housing and planning obligations 

10.3.1  Policy HO7 of the adopted Local Plan (2019) stipulates that planning permission would be 

granted for residential development which would maximise affordable housing provision. 

Taking this into consideration, there is a requirement to provide 25% of new homes to be 

affordable on previously developed sites. In this regard, there would be a requirement to 

provide 22 affordable units.  

10.3.2 Turning to affordable housing tenure, mix and design, Policy HO7 states that planning 
permission will be granted where those dwellings: 

 
a. Are provided by the developer on site with at least 70% of the units being for rent and 

the remainder consisting of other tenures which is to be agreed with the Council’s 
Housing team; 

b. Meets the requirements of Policy HO9 (House types and sizes); 
c. Are physically indistinguishable from other types of homes and are distributed across 

the site to avoid over-concentration in particular; and 
d. Will remain at an affordable price for future eligible households.  

 
10.3.3 In addition to the above, paragraph 65 of the NPPF (2021) stipulates that for major 

developments involving the provision for housing, planning decisions should expect at least 
10% of the total number of homes to be made available for affordable home ownership (this 
includes affordable housing for rent, starter homes, discounted market sales housing and 
other routes including shared ownership, equity loans and other low cost homes (at a cost to 
at least 20% below market value)). However, the 10% requirement is part of the overall 
affordable housing contribution for the site. 

 
10.3.4 On the 24 May 2021, the Government announced its First Home policy through a Written 

Ministerial Statement (WMS) and accompanying changes to the Planning Practice Guidance 
(PPG). As a result, these changes came into effect on the 28 June 2021. First Homes are 
designed to support local first time buyers onto the property ladder, by offering homes at a 
discount to the market price. The discount will apply to the homes- in perpetuity, meaning 
that generations of new buyers and the local community will continue to benefit every time 
the property is sold. 

 
10.3.5 First Homes are a specific kind of discounted market sale units which: 

a. must be discounted by a minimum of 30% against the market value 

b. are sold to a person or persons meeting the First Homes eligibility criteria (see below); 

c. on their first sale, will have a restriction registered on the title at HM Land Registry to 

ensure this discount (as a percentage of current market value) and certain other 

restrictions are passed on at each subsequent title transfer; and, 

d. after the discount has been applied, the first sale must be at a price no higher than 

£250,000. 

10.3.6 First Homes are the government’s preferred discounted market tenure and should account 
for at least 25% of all affordable housing units delivered by developers through planning 
obligations. 

 

10.3.7  In regards to affordable housing delivery, the Council’s evidence base has demonstrated that 

since the start of the Local Plan period, delivery of affordable housing has been limited to 282 

units, an average of 31 units per annum. Consequently, this evidence does demonstrate that 

there has been a significant under provision of affordable housing delivery within the Borough. 

This is also reflected in the appeal decision letter for Land West of Lytton Way appeal whereby 

the inspector states (para. 87) and quote  

Page 137



- 54 - 

  “I have been referred to other schemes which have been granted planning permission or it 

has been resolved that planning permission should be granted. In these schemes, for one 

reason or another, affordable housing provision has been lower that the expected policy figure 

of 20%. Indeed 52 homes would equate to over 17% of the affordable housing that has been 

delivered thus far in the Local Plan period. In these circumstances of poor delivery of 

affordable homes and with sizeable unmet need for such housing, I give the provision of 

affordable housing significant weight”. 

10.3.8 The applicant has confirmed that the development would comprise of 25% affordable units. 
As such, the development would be policy compliant. Therefore, the benefit of the affordable 
housing is unarguable based on the undersupply of affordable housing identified over the 
Local Plan period. As a consequence, if planning permission were to be granted, the level of 
affordable housing the development would provide is deemed to be a significant benefit. With 
respect to the exact location of the affordable units, the affordable housing tenure mix, size 
of the units etc. this would be dealt with as part of any subsequent reserved matters 
application. However, the tenure mix must now include the provision of First Homes as 
required by Central Government, so this requirement in terms of affordable housing provision, 
will be secured as part of any subsequent S.106 legal agreement.  

 
10.3.9 In addition to affordable housing, financial contributions are also required in accordance with 

the Hertfordshire County Council tool kit and contributions to Stevenage Borough Council for 
commuted payments. Based on the indicative number of units proposed, the following 
contributions would be sought. 

 

Stevenage Borough 
Council  

Financial Contribution – 
August 2019 

Financial Contribution – 
Post CIL adoption. 
 

Open outdoor space  Improvements to outdoor sport 
facilities at King George V 
and/or Meadway Playing fields 
- £4,238.08 
 

No longer being secured –
Possible use of CIL monies.  

Children’s play space Improvements to outdoor sport 
facilities at King George V 
and/or Meadway Playing fields 
- £4,254.24 
 

No longer being secured – 
Possible use of CIL monies.  

Traffic Regulation Order If the residential road is to be 
adopted, a Traffic Regulation 
Order will need to be drawn up 
to restrict overnight and 
weekend ban on parking by 
commercial vehicles of more 
than 5 tonnes/seating of more 
than 12 passengers. 
 

It has been confirmed the 
roads are not to be adopted.  

Hertfordshire County Council  

Primary Education Towards the expansion of 
Broom Barns Primary School 
from 1FE to 2FE - £20,274.00 
 

Towards the delivery of the 
2FE Town Centre Primary 
School - £268,806.00 

Secondary Education Towards the expansion of 
Barclay School from 6.5FE to 
7FE - £9,162.00 
 

No longer being secured 
through S106 financial 
contributions – Possible use 
of CIL monies.  

Page 138



- 55 - 

Library To develop the Children’s Area 
at Stevenage Central Library 
(including a combination of the 
following:- provision of 
additional stock, new accessible 
and flexible shelving, new kinder 
boxes, additional new and 
attractive furniture for children 
and their families) - £6,718.00 
 

No longer being secured 
through S106 financial 
contributions – Possible use of 
CIL monies.   

Youth Services Towards the purchase of 
additional sports equipment for 
the Bowes Lyon People’s 
Centre or its re-provision - 
£360.00 
 

No longer being secured 
through S106 financial 
contributions – Possible use of 
CIL monies.   

Sustainable Transport £32,000 Improvements to the 
bus stop on Gunnels Wood 
Road (southbound). 
 

No longer being secured 
through S106 as to be dealt 
with via condition.   

Travel Plan Monitoring To monitor and review the 
Travel Plans relating to both 
business and residential  
 

£6,000 per travel plan 
motoring fee.  

NHS 

GMS GP Provision No monies sought Approximately £97,120.00 
(has been reduced from 
£113,696.00 based on the 
revised housing mix). 

Mental Health 
Contribution 

No monies sought No monies sought.  

Community healthcare No monies sought No monies sought.  
 

Overall Total (Approx.) £99,744.32 £395,926.00 

Note:- All financial obligations will be index linked.  
 

 
10.3.10 In addition to the above, there is also a requirement fire hydrants as part of any S.106 legal 

agreement. The applicant has agreed to pay the necessary development contributions which 
have been calculated on the indicative proposal of 80 units for the services provided by 
Stevenage Borough Council and Hertfordshire County Council. In addition, they agree that 
the recent request from the NHS GMS GP financial obligation is acceptable in order to 
mitigate the impact of the development on local GP services i.e. the King George Group of 
Practices and / or the Stanmore Road Group of Practices. The monies would be focussed on 
the expansion and/or reconfiguration of existing surgeries in order to increase patient 
capacity which arises from the development.  Moreover, they have agreed to the provision of 
fire hydrants to be secured as part of any legal agreement as well.  

10.3.11 Turning to the education contribution specifically, the triggers as advised by Hertfordshire 
County Council for paying the obligation would of 50% of the obligation to be paid prior to the 
commencement of development and 50% prior to occupation of the 40th dwelling (To reflect 
the change in unit numbers which has been reduced from 88 units to 80 units). The 
applicant has confirmed they are in agreement with the suggested triggers. 

Page 139



- 56 - 

10.3.12 Turning to the recently adopted Developer Contributions SPD (2021), this SPD introduces a 
new requirement that developers of major development when signing an agreement with the 
Council, will need to: 

  
 Attempt to fill 5% to 10% of construction jobs on-site associated with the development 

with Stevenage Residents; 
 Attempt to fill 1 apprenticeship position per 10 construction jobs on-site with a Stevenage 

Resident or Student (cap requirement of 10 apprenticeships); 
 Report whether or not these requirements are met; and 
 Provide a financial contribution in lieu of not achieving either or both targets.  

 
The applicant has agreed to the requirement to include a Construction Training Plan as part 
of the S.106 agreement.  
 

10.3.13 Dealing specifically with the proposed commercial development, as the application site is 
designated as employment land and the proposed development would seek to deliver a 
considerable uplift in employment generating floorspace which is deemed to be a significant 
public benefit, it is recommended that as part of any S106 legal agreement, a trigger 
clause/mechanism should be incorporated into the legal agreement. This clause will be 
worded in a way to ensure that the office development is brought forward.  

 
10.3.14 In terms of monitoring, the Council Developer Contributions SPD set out that the Council will 

seek a monitoring fee of 2.5% of the value of the contributions being monitored. The fee 
would be capped at £25,000.00. The monitoring fee itself would be secured as part of any 
S.106 legal agreement. In addition to this, Hertfordshire County Council’s recently adopted 
Guide to Developer Infrastructure Contributions (2021) sets out a requirement for monitoring 
fees. These will be based on the number of triggers within the legal agreement with each 
distinct trigger point attracting a charge of £340 (adjusted to inflation of July 2021 RPI). These 
monitoring fees have been agreed by the applicant.  

 
10.3.15 Turning to the areas of open space on the site, including areas of highway which are not to 

be formally adopted by the Council or Hertfordshire County Council, it is recommended that 
the Legal Agreement secures the provision of a Management Company. This is to ensure 
that the areas of un-adopted open space and highways which form part of the development 
are properly managed and maintained during the lifetime of the development. The applicant 
has agreed to this obligation to be secured as part of a legal agreement.  

 
10.3.16 Finally, Hertfordshire County Council as Highways Authority have requested a visitor bay 

could be used and marked up as a car club bay. As such, this requirement will be secured 
as part of the S.106 legal agreement. The applicant also agrees to the County Council’s 
request and this will be secured accordingly as part of any legal agreement.  

 
10.4 Visual impact of the development 
 
10.4.1 Paragraph 126 of the NPPF states that “The creation of high quality, beautiful and sustainable 

buildings and places is fundamental to what the planning and development process should 
achieve”. It goes on to state that “good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, 
creates better places in which to live and work and helps make development acceptable to 
communities”. 

 
10.4.2 Paragraph 130 of the NPPF sets out a number of requirements for new development, 

including that development: 
 

 will function well and add to the overall quality of an area; 

 is visually attractive as a result of good architecture; layout and appropriate and effective 
landscaping; 

 is sympathetic to local character and history; 

Page 140



- 57 - 

 establishes or maintains a strong sense of place; 

 optimises the potential of the site to accommodate and sustain an appropriate amount and 
mix of development; 

 creates places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote health and well-
being, with a high standard of amenity for existing and future users. 
 

10.4.3 Paragraph 131 of the NPPF places great importance on the role of trees in helping to shape 
quality, well designed places “Trees make an important contribution to the character and 
quality of urban environments, and can also help mitigate and adapt to climate change”. 

 
10.4.4 Paragraph 132 of the NPPF states that applicants “should work closely with those affected 

by their proposals to evolve designs that take into account of the views of the community. 
Applications that can demonstrate early, proactive and effective engagement with the 
community should be looked on more favourably than those that cannot”. 

 
10.4.5 Policy SP8 of the adopted Local Plan (2019) requires new development to achieve the 

highest standards of design and sustainability which can deliver substantial improvements to 
the image and quality of the town’s built fabric. Policy GD1 of the Local Plan generally 
requires all forms of development to meet a high standard of design which includes form of 
built development, elevational treatment and materials along with how the development 
would integrate with the urban fabric, its relationship between buildings, landscape design 
and relevant aspects of sustainable design. Policy EC5: Active Frontages and Gateways of 
the same document states that where a development in the Gunnels Wood Employment Area 
fronts onto Broadhall Way, Bessemer Drive, Gunnels Wood Road, Fairlands Way and Six 
Hills Way, fronts onto these road, will be granted where: 

 
a.  Proposals face directly onto the identified road(s) and provide active frontages and 

natural surveillance; 
 

b.  Buildings are not set back significantly from the identified road(s); 
 
c. Car parking and service areas are located away from the street frontage of the identified 

road(s); and 
 
d. On corner plots, where these roads intersect, schemes incorporate landmark 

architecture and gateway features wherever this would be compatible with the proposed 
use(s). 

 
10.4.6 Policy HO5: windfall sites require residential development on unallocated site to not have a 

detrimental impact on the environment and on surrounding properties. The Council’s Design 
Guide SPD 2009 generally reflects the aforementioned policies requiring development to 
respect surrounding buildings in terms of scale, massing, height and design. As such, it 
encourages good design as it can enhance the appearance of places. 

 
10.4.7 The National Design Guide (2019) which was published by National Government is a material 

consideration in the determination of planning applications. It sets out that Buildings are an 
important component of places and proposals for built development are a focus of the 
development management system. However, good design involves careful attention to other 
important components of places. These include:  

 

 the context for places and buildings; 

 hard and soft landscape; 

 technical infrastructure – transport, utilities, services such as drainage; and 

 social infrastructure – social, commercial, leisure uses and activities. 
 

Page 141



- 58 - 

10.4.8 A well-designed place is unlikely to be achieved by focusing only on the appearance, 
materials and detailing of buildings. It comes about through making the right choices at all 
levels, including:  

 

 the layout;  

 the form and scale of buildings; 

 their appearance; 

 landscape;  

 materials; and 

 their detailing.  
 

10.4.9 The Guide further iterates that all developments are made up of these components put 
together in a particular way.  As such, the choices made in the design process contribute 
towards achieving the ten characteristics and shape the character of a place. For reference, 
these ten characteristics are as follows:- 

 

 Context – enhances the surroundings; 

 Identity – attractive and distinctive; 

 Built form – a coherent pattern of built form; 

 Movement – accessible and easy to move around; 

 Nature – enhanced and optimised; 

 Public spaces – safe, social and inclusive; 

 Uses – mixed and integrated; 

 Homes and buildings – functional, healthy and sustainable; 

 Resources – efficient and resilient; 

 Lifespan – made to last.  

10.4.10 Paragraph 40 of the National Design Guide states that well-designed places are: 

 Based on a sound understanding of the features of the site and the surrounding context, 
using baseline studies as a starting point for design; 

 Integrated into their surroundings so they relate well to them; 
 Influenced by and influence their context positively; and 
 Responsive to local history, culture and heritage. 

 
10.4.11 This part of the application has been assessed against the key policy criteria on good design, 

as well as how the scheme meets the four key objectives in the National Design Guide on 
what is considered as a well-designed place.  

 
10.4.12 In order to understand the key features of the site and its surrounding context, the applicant 

submitted a Landscape Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) prepared by Lepus (Landscape, 
Ecology, Planning and Urban Sustainability) Consulting (dated February 2019). Whilst it is 
appreciated the LVIA is a few years old, the site and surrounding area has not significantly 
changed, so this document is considered to still be acceptable as a baseline assessment of 
the site as a starting point for the design approach to the development.  

 
10.4.13 The LVIA Assessment Methodology was prepared in accordance with the following guidance 

and advice: 
 

 Guidelines for Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (GLVIA) Third Edition (2013) 
published by the Landscape Institute and the Institute of Environmental Management 
and Assessment; 

 An approach to Landscape Character Assessment (2014) published by Natural England; 

 Photography and Photomontage in Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment Advice 
Note 01/11 published by the Landscape Institute; and 

Page 142



- 59 - 

 Visual Representation of Development Proposals Technical Guidance Note 02/17 
published by the Landscape Institute.  

 
10.4.14 With regards to the baseline studies, these included the following:- 
 

 Interpretation of existing landscape character at national, county and local level; 

 Recognition of any protected landscapes or designated features; 

 Identification of existing landscape value; 

 Identification of visual receptors; and 

 Identification of representative viewpoint locations.  
 

10.4.15 The assessment also considered the effects of the proposed development. This included 
consideration of the potential visual envelope for the proposed development; assessment of 
effects on landscape character; and an assessment on visual receptors. It also provided 
details of the mitigations measures which would need to be secured by the development. The 
proposed development the LVIA is based on is for the erection of five blocks, with the erection 
of a seven storey commercial building and four residential blocks. The scheme detailed in 
the assessment would retain existing landscape features, including trees which are of high 
quality.   

 
10.4.16 Dealing specifically with heritage assets, the baseline assessment found a number of 

heritage assets which feel within the area of search. However, the LVIA identified that due to 
the limited intervisibiltiy between the site and these assets and the nature and scale of the 
intervening built form, it was concluded that there are unlikely to be noticeable changes to 
the visual contexts of many of these assets. However, it does identify that Broomin Green 
Farmhouse lies in close proximity to the sites southern boundary so would be affected by the 
proposed development. So there is a recognition of local history in relation to the heritage 
asset.   

 
10.4.17 The Landscape Character Assessment concluded that the magnitude of change on the 

character of the site associated with the development low. This is due to the site being 
identified as have a low sensitivity to change. This is due to the location of the site in context 
with the existing residential and commercial development which make up the built form in the 
area. The scheme would replace an eclectic mix of built form, which have been constructed 
over the last few decades, with the proposal striking a greater visual continuity in comparison 
to the baseline conditions of the site. 

 
10.4.18 The impacts on the landscape were identified as being low, due to the nature of the site and 

the surrounding and the residual impacts on the landscape character in the first year of 
development would be low. Even after 15 years, the development is likely to have a low level 
of effect and will remain low.  

 
10.4.19 Following an assessment of the LVIA, the conclusions reached in terms of impact on the 

landscape are seen as reasonable, given the commercial nature of the site in context with 
the surrounding commercial development along Gunnels Wood Road with residential 
development to east off Fairview Road. In terms of the impact on the heritage asset, 
specifically Broomin Green Farm, the LVIA sets out that the proposal is not considered to 
have an adverse effect on the setting if Broomin Green Farmhouse when compared to the 
existing commercial buildings located on the site. It is argued that the overall setting of the 
listed has significantly changed over time, as it is no longer associated with a wider farmed 
landscape and has become surrounded by industrial development and highways. 
Furthermore, the areas of open space and garden associated with the farmhouse will in 
place.  

 
10.4.20 The impact of the proposed assessment in relation to the setting of the listed farmhouse has 

been considered in more detail in section 10.5 of this report. Notwithstanding, the LVIA 
demonstrates an understanding of the site context and the key features which define the site. 

Page 143



- 60 - 

The following sections of this report will focus on how the development integrates into its 
surroundings, influence of the site context and how it tries to responds to the heritage asset.   

 
10.4.21 Looking at the proposal in more detail, the application proposes the redevelopment of the 

Maxwell Road site for residential and office development which would be across two separate 
parcels (residential parcel and office parcel). The plans which have been submitted with the 
application are for illustrative purposes only, but they do demonstrate one way in which the 
development could be delivered on this site. Looking at the residential parcel, the indicative 
layout indicates a range of 1 and 2 bedroom apartments across four separate blocks. The 
axonometric plans show the residential development would be in the range of between two 
stories to seven stories with the highest buildings being located at the northern boundary of 
the site towards Cockerell Close.  

 
10.4.22 The residential blocks could potentially be well-articulated with projecting and recessed 

features along with a staggered built form which would help to add relief to the overall bulk 
and mass of the residential blocks. They could also be constructed from contrasting and 
varied materials in order to add variety and interest to their architectural design. In addition, 
as indicatively shown, the residential blocks could potentially include balconies which could 
help to further modulate the buildings along with vertically aligned and evenly spaced 
windows in order to help to give the residential blocks an element of verticality. The indicative 
site layout also sets potential minimum distances between buildings as well as developable 
areas of the site. However, as access is a detailed aspect of the scheme, there are defined 
access points into the site for vehicles, pedestrians and cyclists. 

 
10.4.23 Turning to the indicative proposed office development which is located on the western parcel 

of the Maxwell Road development site, it would comprise of up to 11,059sq.m of commercial 
floorspace across two blocks (north block and south block). The blocks would be between 
six and seven stories in height (including the undercroft decked car park). The office building 
plot is defined as a corner plot where Gunnels Wood Road and Fairland Way intersect. As 
such, the indicative commercial development has been designed to turn the corner where 
the southern block would have a curved curtain-wall glazed frontage.  

 
10.4.24 The northern block would front onto Gunnels Wood Road and Maxwell Road and could 

consist of up to a five storey connecting wing with the southern block. This block, whilst 
indicative, could potentially comprise of curtain wall glazing with a recessed upper floor level 
with associated green roofs. In addition, the northern block would comprise of a lower level 
projecting lobby area which has been carefully designed to create a high quality focal point. 
The lobby, whilst illustrative, is shown to have double height glazing area forming part of a 
two-storey projection in order to potentially create a focal point. Moreover, some of the floors 
of the building would, indicatively, comprise of green roofs which could help to improve the 
building aesthetically. 

 
10.4.25 Looking at the proposed development in context with the wider area, the site is relatively self-

contained, reflecting its current use and is set within a wider residential context in this western 
part of Stevenage. The site is within the Gunnels Wood Road Employment Area and is 
bordered by residential development on Fairview Road to the east of the site. As such, only 
the site’s northern boundary is adjacent to commercial and industrial development within the 
employment area, with the rest of the employment area located beyond Gunnels Wood Road 
to the west and Fairlands Way to the south. In addition, Broomin Green Farm is also a 
residential dwellinghouse. Taking this context into account, residential development would 
not of itself, be out of character in visual terms. 

 
10.4.26 In assessing the existing buildings, there are predominantly three main buildings on the site 

at present ranging in height. Building one (FIRA) is a part single-storey, part two-storey 
building. The second building (Serviceline) is two-storeys in height and the third building 
(veterinary surgery) is part single-storey, part two-storeys in height. To the east of the 
application site lies Mozart Court, off Fairview Road, which is between one stories and four 

Page 144



- 61 - 

stories (including ground floor) in height. Moving further east towards Stevenage town centre 
is Kilby Road which comprises a mixture of two, three, five storey residential buildings as well 
as the ten storey residential block of apartments. To the north of the site lies Cockerell Close. 
This comprises of large three-storey commercial and industrial units along with the large high 
bay Flamingo Warehouse. To the south, beyond Fairlands Way comprises large two-storeys 
to five storeys high commercial and industrial units which are off Argyle Way. To the west 
beyond Gunnels Wood road lies the four storey Fujitsu offices. Given the relatively self-
contained nature of the site and the range of height in buildings within proximity to the site, it 
is considered that apartment buildings of two to seven stories could be accommodated here 
without having a detrimental impact on the character and appearance of the area.  

 
10.4.27 In terms of the commercial building which would be between six and seven stories in height 

(including two-stories of decked undercroft parking), despite these buildings being slightly 
taller than nearby buildings, this part of the development site is set down from Gunnels Wood 
Road and Fairlands Way. This is due to the sloping topography of the application site which 
slopes away from Gunnels Wood Road down towards Stevenage Town Centre. As such, 
whilst indicative, the commercial building would not appear overbearing or harmful to the 
character and appearance of the wider street scene. In addition, the parameter plans and 
indicative elevation plans, demonstrate how an appropriate landmark building can be 
achieved at the junction of Gunnels Wood Road and Fairlands Way as well as replace the 
existing gateway building (FIRA).  

 
10.4.28 With respect to vegetation and trees, which is also set out in out in the LVIA with respect to 

mitigation measures in order to reduce the developments impact, the northern and western 
site boundary will require suitable landscape treatment in order to help integrate the new 
development into the landscape. The hedgerow located along the southern site boundary is 
also to be retained, as required by the LVIA, and to be extended, strengthened and 
maintained in order to reduce the impact of the proposal from close range viewpoints. Trees 
will also be planted on the southern boundary, as indicatively shown on the plans, in order to 
deliver enhanced soft landscaping features within the development site. In terms of existing 
trees within the site, the submitted plans demonstrate that these will be retained as part of 
the overall landscaping strategy with further details of the strategy being provided at reserved 
matters stage.  

 
10.4.29 In relation to how the development responds to the heritage asset at Broomin Green 

Farmhouse, whilst a detailed assessment is set out in Section 10.5, an analysis as to the 
overall design of the proposed development and how it seeks to respond to the setting of the 
listed farmhouse is set out below.  

 
10.4.30 Turning to the Guidance on Tall Buildings by Historic England (Advice Note 4) (March 2022) 

paragraph 2.6 sets out that planning applications need to be supported with enough 
information so that the impacts of the development upon the historic environment can be 
properly understood (NPPF paras 43 and 194). The relevant supporting information 
described the significance of the heritage asset, the impact on significance and intended 
sustainable development outcomes. 5.12 of this guide sets out that when submitting a 
planning application for a tall building, proportionate supporting information is required to 
describe the impacts on the historic environment. It goes on to state in paragraph 5.13 that 
having precise and accurate supporting information is critical for decision-making authorities 
and improves the efficiency of the process.  

 
10.4.31 The Council’s adopted Local Plan (2019) does not define what is deemed to be a “Tall 

Building” in Stevenage. In addition, the Council’s Design Guide SPD (2009) is silent in terms 
of defining what is defined as a “Tall Building”. The Guidance does state that “due to the 
planned nature of the town, Stevenage is dissimilar to traditional town in the way that, building 
heights do not increase substantially as development gets closer to the town centre…this has 
created a lack of landmark developments and high density buildings. Buildings of greater 
height should be encouraged at nodal points, and in easily accessible locations.”. 

Page 145



- 62 - 

 
10.4.32 Further, the National Planning Policy Framework (2021) does not define what a tall building 

is nor does the associated Planning Practice Guidance. The only guidance on tall buildings 
is set out by Historic England Note 4 which states in paragraph 3.4 “What might be considered 
a tall building will vary according to the nature of the local area. A five-storey building in a 
mainly two-storey neighbourhood could be considered tall, whereas in the centre of a large 
city, it may not. 

 
10.4.33 Taking the above into consideration, whilst one could argue that the proposed development 

comprises a “tall building” because the buildings on the site are predominantly one and two-
storeys taking the wider context of Gunnels Wood Road (which is the main employment area 
of the town) which the development would form part of, it comprises, but not limited to the 
following:- 
 

 High bay warehouses at Flamingo; 

 Three to four storey offices of Fujitsu; 

 Large scale industrial buildings at Airbus and office buildings; 

 Robertson House and Farnham House (which also comprises a large roof); and 

 MBDA Offices. 
 
10.4.34 Even if were to assume, that the proposed development was considered to fall into the 

category of “Tall Buildings”, it is considered that there is sufficient information which 
accompany this outline application to assess the merits of the application and the impact it 
could have in relation to its context, including that on the setting of the listed building. The 
previous Historic England Tall Building Guidance, which is referenced in an objection, when 
it came to outline applications, originally stated the following: 

 
Outline applications are only likely to be justified in exceptional cases where the impact on 
the character and distinctiveness of local areas and on heritage assets can be assessed 
without knowing the detailed form and finishes of the building. This is likely to be rare. If an 
outline application is sought in these circumstances it is important to ensure that the 
parameters for development are derived from a thorough urban design analysis that clearly 
demonstrates impact.  
 

10.4.35 However, the aforementioned i.e. in relation to outline applications, has been dropped in the 
recently updated Tall Building Guide issued by Historic England. The guide now iterates that 
proportionate supporting information is required to describe the impacts of this development. 
Therefore, whilst it is agreed the application is in outline form and the plans are indicative, an 
assessment as to the impact on the character and distinctiveness of the local area and 
heritage assets can be assessed. This is because the illustrative material as set out in the 
submitted axonometric plans, CGI’s and details contained within the Design and Access 
Statement allow for reasonable assumptions about the future use of materials, design, scale 
and massing coupled with the parameter plans. In addition, the Sunlight and Daylight 
Assessment includes 3D models of the development which includes datum points in order to 
assess the schemes impact on nearby residents. Consequently,  there is a sound basis in 
order to make a planning judgement as to the acceptability of the scheme on its surroundings, 
including the listed building and the requirements for a landmark building.  

 
10.4.36 In terms of materials, it is evident that the residential buildings would generally be constructed 

from brick work with perforated brickwork features. The residential buildings would also 
comprise of balconies with defined fenestration detailing. With regards to the commercial 
building, it is shown to be constructed from brick with curtain wall glazing, glazed balustrades 
to the roof gardens, use of brise soleil to manage heating and cooling, along with brick 
baguettes to screen the parking areas. 

 
10.4.37 In terms of siting, position and scale, the lower, more intermit scales of the residential aspect 

of the development would be positioned to the south due to the siting and position of Broomin 

Page 146



- 63 - 

Green Farm. In addition, the indicative office building shows staggered floors whereby the 
building would step down towards Broomin Green Farm from Gunnels Wood Road. This is 
in order to given the building an articulated built form which would also help to reduce its 
overall mass and bulk. Moreover, it ensures that the building does not appear overbearing to 
the setting of the listed farmhouse. In addition, the overall massing and scale of the 
development can be controlled by condition if the Council was minded to grant planning 
permission.  

 
10.4.38 With regards to creating a landmark building, the commercial building has been designed to 

address the junction of Gunnels Wood Road and Six Hills Way, the indicative plans show a 
contemporary modern building can be delivered on this part of the site with deliberate taller 
elements fronting Gunnels Wood Road and Fairview Road. This is in order to emphasise the 
building on this prominent corner combined with the use of curved façade so that it properly 
addresses this important junction.   

 
10.4.39 Further to the above, neither the Council’s Historic Building and Heritage Advisor nor  Historic 

England has advised the Council that there is insufficient information available to the Council 
in order properly to appraise the heritage impacts of the scheme.  In addition, they have not 
advised that the Council should assess the proposed development in accordance with 
Historic England’s Tall Building Guidance.  

 
10.4.40 Given the aforementioned assessment, whilst the plans are indicative, it is considered that 

sufficient information has been submitted with this application to demonstrate an acceptable 
design quality can be achieved. The development has been designed based on the 
understanding of the sites context as well as the key features which define the application 
site. Furthermore, the scheme has been designed to recognise the importance of the listed 
farmhouse as well be able to assimilate itself into its surroundings. It positively responds to 
the constrained nature of the site. Moreover, the development, based on the submitted 
application before the Council, taking into consideration the characteristics of the existing 
built form on this development site, the overall townspace would be enhanced by the proposal 
in accordance with national and local planning policy in respect to delivering good design.  

  
10.5 Impact of the development on the setting of the listed building and demolition of a 

non-designated heritage asset. 
 
10.5.1 The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 imposes several ‘statutory 

duties’ for decision-makers, all of which are applicable to the proposed development: 
 

 “Section 16(2): In considering whether to grant listed building consent for any works the 
local planning authority or the Secretary of State shall have special regard to the 
desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural 
or historic interest which it possesses”.  

 “Section 66(1): In considering whether to grant planning permission for development which 
affects a listed building or its setting, the local planning authority or, as the case may be, 
the Secretary of State shall have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building 
or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses”. 

 
10.5.2 Case law (South Lakeland, 1992) has determined that ‘preserve’ means ‘to do no harm’. 

However, if harm is identified, the NPPF provides a means of weighing either ‘substantial 
harm’ or ‘less than substantial harm’ to the significance of a designated heritage asset against 
the public benefits of the proposal. In doing so, case law has emphasised the need to give 
“considerable importance and weight” to preserving listed buildings or the character and 
appearance of conservation areas (Barnwell Manor, Case No: C1/2013/0843). However, the 
presumption ‘to preserve’ is not irrebuttable and “can be outweighed by material 
considerations powerful enough to do so” (Forge Field (Case Nos: CO/735/2013; 
CO/16932/2013) and a decision maker that has followed the process set out in the NPPF, in 

Page 147



- 64 - 

respect to weighing harm and benefits, can reasonably be expected to have complied with 
the ‘statutory duties’ of the 1990 Act (Mordue, Case No. C1/2015/1067).  

 
10.5.3 In determining applications, paragraphs 199 to 202 of the NPPF (2021) have to be 

considered in the determination of this planning application. As established through case law, 
if there is any harm to designated heritage assets, great weight must be given to it.  Dealing 
with Paragraph 199, it stipulates that when considering the impact of a proposed 
development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, such as Broomin Green 
Farm House, great weight should be given to the asset's conservation (and the more 
important the asset, the greater the weight should be). This is irrespective of whether any 
potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss, or less than substantial harm to its 
significance. Paragraph 200 sets out that any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a 
designated heritage asset (from its alteration or destruction, or from development within its 
setting), should require clear and convincing justification.  

 
10.5.4 Paragraph 201 sets out that where a proposed development will lead to substantial harm to 

(or total loss of significance of) a designated heritage asset, local planning authorities should 
refuse consent, unless it can be demonstrated that the substantial harm or total loss is 
necessary to achieve substantial public benefits that outweigh that harm or loss.  

 
10.5.5 Paragraph 202 of the NPPF (2021), sets out that where a development proposal will lead to 

less than substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should 
be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate, securing 
its optimum viable use.  In undertaking this balance, considerable importance and weight 
must be attached to the less than substantial harm 

 
10.5.6 Paragraph 203 of the NPPF states that the effect of an application on the significance of a 

non-designated heritage asset should be taken into account in determining the application. 
In weighing applications that directly or indirectly affect non-designated heritage assets, a 
balanced judgement will be required having regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the 
significance of the heritage asset. 

 
10.5.7 Paragraph 204 sets out that Local Planning Authorities should not permit the loss of the whole 

or part of a heritage asset without taking all reasonable steps to ensure the new development 
will proceed after the loss has occurred. With respect to paragraph 205, this sets out that 
Local Planning Authorities should require developers to record and advance understanding 
of the significance of any heritage assets to be lost (wholly or in part) in a manner 
proportionate to their importance and the impact, and to make this evidence (and any archive 
generated) publicly accessible. However, the ability to record evidence of our past should not 
be a factor in deciding whether such loss should be permitted.  

 

10.5.8 In considering public benefits, the Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) (2019) (Reference ID: 
18a-020-20190723) sets out that the National Planning Policy Framework requires any harm 
to designated heritage assets to be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal. 
Public benefits may follow from many developments and could be anything that delivers 
economic, social or environmental objectives as described in paragraph 8 of the NPPF. For 
reference, paragraph 8 of the NPPF states  that “Achieving sustainable development means 
that the planning system has three overarching objectives, which are interdependent and 
need to be pursued in mutually supportive ways (so that opportunities can be taken to secure 
net gains across each of the different objectives):  

 
a) an economic objective – to help build a strong, responsive and competitive economy, by 
ensuring that sufficient land of the right types is available in the right places and at the right 
time to support growth, innovation and improved productivity; and by identifying and 
coordinating the provision of infrastructure;  
 

Page 148



- 65 - 

b) a social objective – to support strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by ensuring that a 
sufficient number and range of homes can be provided to meet the needs of present and 
future generations; and by fostering well-designed, beautiful and safe places, with accessible 
services and open spaces that reflect current and future needs and support communities’ 
health, social and cultural well-being; and  
 
c) an environmental objective – to protect and enhance our natural, built and historic 
environment; including making effective use of land, improving biodiversity, using natural 
resources prudently, minimising waste and pollution, and mitigating and adapting to climate 
change, including moving to a low carbon economy”  
 

10.5.9 The planning practice guidance goes onto state that public benefits should flow from the 
development. They should be of a nature or scale to be of benefit to the public at large and 
not just private benefit. However, benefits do not always have to be accessible to the public 
in order to be genuine public benefits, for example, works to a listed building which secure its 
future as a designated heritage asset could be a public benefit. Consequently while a range 
of benefits that help deliver sustainable communities could be relevant, the PPG provides 
examples of heritage based public benefits, as follows: 

  

 Sustaining or enhancing the significance of a heritage asset and the contribution of its 
setting; 

 Reducing or removing risks to a heritage asset; 

 Securing the optimum viable use of a heritage asset in support of its long tem 
conservation.  

10.5.10 Turning to the adopted Local Plan, Policy SP13 relates to the historic environment. This 
states that the council will preserve and enhance the most important area and characteristics 
of Stevenage. The policy goes on to state that the Council will:- 

 
a. Have carried out Heritage Impact Assessments for development sites within, or adjacent 

to, conservation areas. Site specific mitigation measures have been incorporated to 
minimise the impacts of development. 

 
b. Will use national guidance and legislation to review, designate and determine planning 

applications affecting heritage assets. 
 
c. Will protect areas of archaeological importance and other relevant heritage assets by 

applying the detailed policies set in this plan. 
 

Listed building 
 

10.5.11 Whilst outside of the application site, the site borders the curtilage of the Grade II Listed 
Broomin Green Farm House. Therefore, this scheme would have an impact on the 
significance of this heritage asset. This impact will be considered in more detail in the 
following sections of this report. Looking at the special architectural and historic interest of 
the listed building, as set out in Historic England records, Broomin Green Farmhouse is a 
Grade II building. It is an L-shaped building which has largely been modernised, but 
comprises of retained two black and white 17th century framed sections. The external walls 
also have plaster filling with a brick base recently restored. The taller section of the property 
consists of a two-storey bay of one window from whose gable-end extends to a similar, but 
lower one-storey, one bay window feature. There is also an upper window on the gable-end 
of the single-storey feature. The roof of the property is tiled and all windows and frames 
appear to be of recent construction.  

 
10.5.12 In terms of views of the listed building, these are limited from outside the established curtilage 

of the farmhouse, but, it is appreciated there are some key elements of the building’s setting 
which contribute to its immediate setting. This includes the southern garden which is the last 

Page 149



- 66 - 

remaining element of green space which belonged to the rural landscape and the mature 
trees and planting forming the buildings immediate surroundings. These help to screen the 
farmhouse from the surrounding industrial and commercial development.  

 
 Contributions of the application site (Listed Building). 
 
10.5.13  In relation to the historical setting of the listed building and how this has evolved to the present 

day, the original setting of the Grade II listed farmhouse was a small holding which formed 
part of a series of dispersed hamlets and farmsteads as detailed on maps dating from 1787. 
On the 1834 OS maps contained within the applicant’s Heritage Assessment, this shows a 
group of outbuildings, including two barns. The farmhouse was then added to the statutory 
list in 1948 and at this time, was enclosed by heavy planting and was still set within open 
rural land interrupted by intermittent planting.  

 
10.5.14 However, by the 1960’s and early 70’s, the land to the west of the site was developed by 

FIRA and to the south, the outbuildings were demolished for the cycle track which is present 
today. The FIRA building was expanded with additional buildings and a car park along with a 
service road which enclosed the farmhouse. Also by this time, there was the construction of 
Gunnels Wood Road (A1072) to the west and Fairlands Way (A1155) to the south.  

 
10.5.15 To the east of the site, was a large warehouse and by 1978, the car park to the north was 

replaced by a two-storey multi-purpose research building (Serviceline). By the late 20th 
century, there was the construction of the veterinary surgery. In addition, to the north of the 
site (which is currently Cockerell Close) comprised of factories (as shown on OS Maps from 
1984). There were also the original Fujitsu offices to the west and to the south beyond 
Fairlands Way, were a number of industrial buildings.  

 
10.5.16 Turning to the current setting of the listed farmhouse and the contribution it makes to the 

setting of the listed building. The listed building is remains bordered by three premises which 
include the FIRA building to the west, Serviceline offices to the north and the veterinary 
surgery to the east. It is considered that whilst the FIRA building is possesses  historic 
interest, the Serviceline building and veterinary surgery building are of limited architectural 
merit and  can be seen as having a negative impact on the setting of the listed building. 
Beyond these buildings to the north, lies Cockerell Close, which comprises a mixture of large 
scale commercial units and the high bay warehouse known as Flamingo. To the west, beyond 
the tree belt which is Mozart Court (which is a 1970’s residential care home), which is 
considered to be of limited architectural merit and has a neutral impact. 

 
10.5.17 To the south of the site is the cycle track and trafficked highway and beyond are commercial, 

industrial and office developments located on Argyle Way. To the west, beyond the dual 
carriageway lies a modern office and, to the north of this, is the former John Lewis Depot 
which is now operating as a Costco warehouse.  

 
10.5.18 As such, the immediate setting of the listed building is urbanised and industrial in nature. 

Over the years, since the property was originally listed in 1948, the setting of the listed 
building has been gradually compromised by industrial, commercial and warehouse buildings 
which have been constructed which detract from the significance of the listed building. 
Furthermore, the cycle lane and Fairlands Way to the south, especially being at a higher level 
due to the topography of the area, have in some respects also eroded the significance of the 
setting of the listed building. 

 
 Impact Assessment 
 
10.5.19 The application is supported by a Heritage Impact Assessment (HIA) and Landscape Visual 

Impact Assessment (LVIA). The HIA was prepared in accordance with paragraph 189 of the 
NPPF and has assessed the significance of all built heritage potentially affected by the 
development. In the case of this application, Broomin Green Farmhouse which is a Grade II 

Page 150



- 67 - 

listed building. The LVIA provides a detailed analysis as to the potential impact the 
development could have on the wider townscape.  

 
10.5.20 Turning to the proposed development, it would involve the demolition of the existing 

veterinary surgery, FIRA building (non-designated heritage asset) and Serviceline building. 
The development would comprise of four blocks of residential units which are between two 
to eight storeys in height. These would be located on the site of the Serviceline building, the 
veterinary surgery and its associated car park. The larger residential blocks, again whilst 
indicative, would be located at the northern end of the site against the backdrop of the 
commercial and warehouse development in Cockerell Close. With regards to the office 
development, this would be between five to seven stories with undercroft parking. The offices 
would be read in context with existing development located opposite (Fujitsu) as well as the 
development within Cockerell Close.  

 
10.5.21 Whilst the plans submitted are illustrative, it has been determined based on Historic 

England’s guidance on tall building and as set out in paragraphs 10.4.31 to 10.4.35  that there 
is sufficient supporting information with this application in order to properly assess the impact 
of the proposed development on the historic setting of Broomin Green House. This is because 
the illustrative information on the building heights, scale, massing, layout, spacing and design 
are extensive and allow for reasonable assumptions about future use of materials and design 
devices. This coupled with the parameter plans, provide a sound basis for judging the 
acceptability of the scheme on its surroundings, including the listed building and the 
requirement to deliver a landmark building.  

 
10.5.22 Looking at the proposed illustrative scheme in detail, the axonometric plans show that the 

residential development would be in the range of between two stories to seven stories with 
the highest buildings being located at the northern boundary of the site towards Cockerell 
Close. The lower, more intermit scales, would be positioned to the south due to the siting and 
position of Broomin Green Farm and its two storey height.   

 
10.5.23 Turning to the commercial development, the plans illustrate that at the closest point to the 

farmhouse, the building can be limited to two storeys in height. The plans also show the 
transitioning in height of the building from two storeys, stepping up to 4 storeys, then stepping 
up to seven stories where the building would face Gunnels Wood Road. This is in order to 
pull the overall massing of the building away so as to not appear overdominant from 
immediate views from the farmhouse.  The plan shows that the proposed development across 
the Maxwell Road site would form a sense of enclosure around the listed farmhouse but, the 
buildings in part would be screened by the existing green buffer around the farmhouse itself. 

 
10.5.24 Looking at the impact from respective viewpoints, when viewing the development site from 

Gunnels Road looking north-west, there are glimpsed views of the application site when 
viewed over the roundabout. However, the existing railings on the north side of the road 
conceal some of the direct views as does the existing well established planting along the 
eastern boundary. Between gaps, glimpses of the FIRA building can be made as is the upper 
level of Service Line. In addition, views of the Screwfix warehouse located beyond is visible 
from this vantage point. The proposed redevelopment would be prominent in this view and 
greater built form would be visible to the west of the listed building. But this is already visually 
cluttered by the mixture of late 20th century industrial buildings and it is largely screened by 
the existing trees.  

 
10.5.25 In terms of the view looking South East on Gunnels Wood Road, the FIRA building is visible 

including the pyramidal glazed roof. The area surrounding is predominantly obscured by 
existing trees. On the Southwest of Gunnels Wood Road, there is the Wenta Business Park 
and from the northwest some glimpses of the FIRA building and the roof of Screwfix. From 
these views, the overall setting of the listed farmhouse is dominated by 20th Century buildings 
where the views are devoid of the former rural setting in which the farmhouse once stood. 

Page 151



- 68 - 

The proposed development would replace the FIRA building in this view but would be 
screened by the existing trees and seen within context of the wider industrial landscape.  

 
10.5.26 From Fairlands Way looking northwest, due to the overall topography of the application site, 

there is a low profile flat building line with heavy planting which lines the north side of the 
road. The site is not visible from the southeast of Fairlands Way. From this point, the grade 
II listed farmhouse can be seen through some gaps in the trees along with the flat roof of 
Fujitsu. The setting of the farmhouse, from this view, is slightly enhanced through the 
introduction of modern tree planting. The proposed development positioned to the east of the 
Warehouse would be screened by the mature perimeter trees and would have no impact on 
the listed building in this view. The buildings to the west of the farmhouse would be partly 
visible but they would replace the existing view of the Fujitsu development.  

 
10.5.27 Looking southwest on the corner of Maxwell Road, the extension to the FIRA building is 

visible through the tree gap, but is not discernible due to the presence of the two-storey 
Serviceline building. There are mature trees between the Serviceline building and the 
Veterinary building which restrict views to the rest of the FIRA building. To the southeast is 
the large surface car park positioned behind the veterinary surgery which is enclosed by wired 
fencing which allows for open views of the Safestore Storage building on the South Side of 
Fairlands Way located on Argyle Way. The redevelopment of this part of the site would 
comprise the construction of new buildings on the existing car park combined with the existing 
modern buildings on the site which have no architectural merit. As such, this would not have 
a detrimental impact upon the setting of the Listed Building as viewed from this location. This 
is because the proposal would be seen in context with the wider industrial landscape.  

 
10.5.28 With respect to views from the bus stop on Fairlands Way, positioned opposite the application 

site, the views are generally blocked by the existing trees which form a perimeter around the 
farmhouse. The Grade II listed farmhouse, does remain largely visible through the trees. In 
addition, there are glimpses of the FIRA building when looking west. The development, would 
however, be predominantly screened by the existing trees. The residential blocks located at 
the northern end of the site and the office blocks to the west would be seen in distance views, 
however, the farmhouse itself is generally screened from view due to the mature trees.  

 
10.5.29 In relation to views from the Fairland Way cycle path, views of the FIRA building from the 

east are screened by the mature trees and vegetation. There are views of the listed 
farmhouse when looking west against the tree line, which helps provide a sense of rurality. 
However, this view is affected by the presence of the existing veterinary surgery and car park 
combined with the wire mesh fencing. As you travel further west along the cycle track, the 
upper level of the FIRA building can be seen through the mature landscaping. In officer’s 
view, the development positioned to the north-west would enhance the setting of the 
farmhouse as the poor quality 20th century buildings and car park would be removed.  

 
10.5.30 The location of the development located to the west when viewed from the cycle track, would 

interrupt the rural setting of the farmhouse when you are looking north-west. However, it is 
important to consider that the wider setting of the farmhouse has been heavily compromised 
due to the extensive commercial and industrial development which has taken place in the 
area. Therefore, this public view point would be seen within the wider context of the 
employment based landscape.  

 
10.5.31 Following consultation with the Council’s Conservation and Heritage Advisor, and based on 

the information detailed in the LVIA and supporting heritage assessment, they do agree that 
that the farmhouse does have a setting which is industrial in nature. However, the Council’s 
Conservation and Heritage Advisor does advise that the buildings within the application site 
are lower than, or similar in height to that of the listed farmhouse. With respect to the 
proposed commercial block, concern has been raised that the overall bulk and mass of this 
part of the development, as well as the blank eastern elevation to the west of the farmhouse, 
would dominate the listed building and provide a poor backdrop. With respect to the 

Page 152



- 69 - 

residential blocks, the Council’s Heritage and Conservation Advisor considers that whilst 
these are in smaller blocks, the blocks cumulatively are not considered to be sympathetic to 
the setting of the listed building.  

 
10.5.32 Notwithstanding the aforementioned, the Council’s Conservation and Heritage Advisor does 

recognise in their conclusions that the development will not entail any direct physical 
alteration to the listed building or its immediate plot. In addition, they recognise that the 
heritage asset in terms of architectural and historic significance will remain unharmed. 
Furthermore, as is evidenced from the LVIA and HIA as detailed in the report, the setting of 
the grade II listed Broom Green Farmhouse has significantly changed since the mid-20th 
Century. This is due to the development on Gunnels Wood Road as well as the construction 
of the surrounding road network. However, the Council’s Historic Building Advisor do consider 
that whilst the amendments to the scale / bulk / massing of the new commercial development 
on the site has slightly reduced, they do consider the level of harm initially identified is still 
considered to have an adverse impact upon the setting of the farmhouse (compared to its 
existing setting). 

 
10.5.33 Given the aforementioned assessment and the impact the development would have, 

Council’s Conservation and Heritage Advisor consider the impact of ‘less than substantial 
harm’ to its aesthetic significance. However, whilst the scheme does result in ‘less than 
substantial harm’, the harm as advised by the Council’s Conservation and Heritage Advisor 
being at the lower end of the scale due to the setting of the farmhouse having changed so 
drastically since the mid-20th century. Officers are in agreement with the Council’s Heritage 
Advisor in that the proposed development scheme will cause harm to the setting of the Grade 
II listed farmhouse known as Broomin Green Farm due to their overall scale, bulk and 
massing with the buildings taller than those they wish to replace. Notwithstanding, and as 
comprehensively set out in this report, the setting of the listed farmhouse has drastically 
changed due to the introduction of commercial and industrial buildings along with the 
construction of Six Hills Way and Gunnels Wood Road. In addition, the scheme will not entail 
any direct physical alteration to the listed building or its immediate plot. Further to this, it is 
important to note that the development would also remove the existing Serviceline building, 
veterinary clinic and surface car park which given they are of limited architectural merit, are 
considered to have a negative impact on the setting of the Grade II listed building. As a 
consequence, the scheme is deemed to have a “less than substantial harm” to the setting of 
the listed building, but this level harm is at the lower end of less the scale. 

 
10.5.34 As a level of harm has been established, the Council’s Conservation and Heritage Advisor 

advises that the Council should balance the ‘less than substantial harm’ identified against 
any ‘public benefits’ the proposal may result. The assessment of the overall public benefits 
of this scheme and whether these benefits outweigh the harm caused by the scheme are set 
out in the following section of this report below.  

 
 
 
 
 Assessment of Heritage Balance and Public Benefit 
 
10.5.35 Paragraph 200 of the NPPF (2021) sets out that any harm to a designated heritage asset 

should require clear and convincing justification. In addition, where proposals that may cause 
less than substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, should be 
weighed up against the public benefits of the proposal, including where appropriate, securing 
the optimum viable use. In undertaking that weighting exercise ‘considerable importance and 
weight’ must be given to the preservation of the significance of the listed building, including 
its setting. In determining the application, it must be noted that ‘less than substantial harm’ is 
not a ‘less than substantial planning consideration’.  

 

Page 153



- 70 - 

10.5.36 Turning to public benefits, there is no definition of ‘public benefits’ on the National Planning 
Policy Framework or associated Planning Practice Guidance. All the guidance states (as set 
out in paragraph 10.5.7) that it “should flow from the proposed development. They should be 
of a nature or scale to be of benefit to the public at large”. There is also Case Law that deals 
with what is a material consideration, and this pretty much whether it serves a “proper 
planning purpose” (see latest commentary on this in Wright v Resilient Energy Severndale 
Ltd and Forest of Dean District Council). Further, public benefit could be anything that delivers 
economic, social or environmental objectives as described in paragraph 8 of the NPPF. The 
test therefore is whether the benefits clearly and convincingly outweigh the considerable 
importance and weight given to the heritage harm.  

 
10.5.37 Looking firstly to the concern raised by the Council’s Conservation and Heritage Advisor 

regarding the blank eastern elevation as detailed on the illustrated plans, it is appreciated 
that they consider this could have an adverse impact and appear overbearing on the listed 
building, this is especially given the quantum of development which is being established. This 
issue is acknowledged, which is why this part of the development is two-storeys in height 
comparative to the height of the farmhouse and then steps up in scale with a series of set-
backs. This tries to reduce the level of overbearance of the proposed development when 
viewed in context with the listed farmhouse. However, with regards to the eastern elevation 
itself, the treatment of the podium decked car park is a matter for Reserved Matters where 
this elevation can be addressed in a different way in order to overcome this concern.   

 
10.5.38 Turning to public benefits, firstly, before looking at these in detail, consideration needs to be 

given to paragraph 11 of the NPPF (2021), this policy states that for decision-taking this 
means: 

 
 c) approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development plan without 

delay; 
 
 d) where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are most 

important for determining the application are out of date, granting permission unless: 
 
 i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular 

importance provides a clear reason for refusing development; or 
 ii. any adverse impacts of do so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, 

when assessed against the policies in this Framework as a whole. 
 

10.5.39 Taking the above into consider and as identified in paragraphs 9.2.2 to 9.2.4, it can be 
demonstrated that the Council has a 5 year land supply and the HDT score is above 75%. 
However, as referenced earlier in the report, Paragraph 60 of the Frameworks required Local 
Planning Authorities to support the Government’s objective of significantly boosting the 
supply of homes. In addition, there has been an under supply of housing delivery in the past. 
Therefore, the provision of 80 additional residential units would have significant weight in this 
instance.  In addition, and in meeting the Social Objective under paragraph 8 of the NPPF, 
the scheme would deliver a sufficient number and range of 1 and 2 bedrooms homes which 
can be provided to meet the needs of present and future generations. 

 
10.5.40 The scheme would also provide 25% affordable housing units, which would equate to 20 units. 

Given there has been under delivery of affordable housing units within Stevenage, this is 
seen as a significant public benefit due to the shortage of affordable housing units within the 
Borough. 

 
10.5.41 In terms of an additional benefit, the development would generate a number of construction 

jobs as well as support positions in the supply chain. In terms of the construction jobs 
themselves, a number of these jobs will be drawn from the local market which would be 
secured as part of any S.106 agreement in line with the Council’s Developer Contributions 
SPD (2021). In addition, there would be further direct and indirect employment which would 

Page 154



- 71 - 

be generated by the construction of the commercial building which could potentially generate 
between 185 to 851 new jobs dependent on the final use of the building.  The commercial 
building would also generate a level of business rates which will also be a financial benefit to 
the Council.  

 
10.5.42 In regards to the proposed residential development, it is expected the proposed development 

would generate approximately 131 persons. However, it is important to note that a number 
of these properties are likely to be owned by existing residents or the town as well as those 
buying their first home or those who are downsizing. Given the levelled increased in 
population, the income and spend will increase local Gross Value Added (GVA) to the local 
economy. In addition, and based on analysis on the market (Arcadis Housing Design 
Consultancy Report – Building Homes and Making Places – The Economic Benefit of Better 
Housing, 2017), that approximately £316,000 is generated by every single new house for the 
national economy. This would equate to approximately £25,280,000.00. In addition, there 
would also be Council Tax rates which would also be a financial benefit to the Borough 
Council and County Council in terms of funding services.  

 
10.5.43 The scheme would also help to fund the delivery of primary school and associated nursery 

which is a key requirement of the adopted Local Plan (2019) in terms of the regeneration of 
Stevenage Town Centre. It would also contribute to health facilities as well as improve public 
transport facilities as well. The development would also improve walking and cycling 
infrastructure which will not only benefit the development but the wider employment area of 
Gunnels Wood Road. This would enhance connections between parts of the employment 
site and the established pedestrian and cycle network along Six Hills Way. The scheme would 
also help fund key pieces of infrastructure identified in the Council’s Infrastructure Delivery 
Plan (IDP) such infrastructure detailed in the LCWIP which forms part of the IDP through to 
County Council and NHS services and facilities.   

 
10.5.44 The aforementioned clearly demonstrate how the development would support the economic 

objectives of the NPPF as set out under Paragraph 8, and are also seen as key public benefits 
which derive from this development. It is also considered that the development would also 
have a wider townscape benefit. Currently, the existing buildings on the site, especially the 
Serviceline building and Veterinary Clinic combined with the extensive surface parking, have 
limited architectural merit and seen as harmful to the setting of the listed building. Whilst it is 
agreed that the proposed development will cause harm to the setting of the listed building, it 
is considered based on the submitted plans, there would be a significant uplift in design and 
architecture which will enhance the overall visual landscape of the area.  

 
10.5.45 The commercial building has been designed as a landmark building which addresses this 

key junction of Gunnels Wood Road and Six Hills Way. The residential buildings have also 
indicatively been designed to high standard which combined with additional soft landscaping, 
would further enhance the immediate townscape of the development site. The scheme would 
also seek to improve cycle and pedestrian connectivity which would help to improve 
sustainable access to the wider employment area and is also seen as a public benefit as it 
would help to encourage a modal shift away from the private car. It would also be a benefit 
from a sustainability perspective by encouraging more active forms of travel which has 
potential health benefits along with the reduction of vehicles on the road which would have 
air quality benefits as well.    

 
10.5.46 Dealing specifically with the heritage asset which is the Grade II listed Broomin Green Farm, 

as established in paragraph 10.5.32 of this report, it has been identified that the proposed 
development would result in less than substantial harm to the setting of the listed building. 
However, it is acknowledged that the proposed development will not entail any direct physical 
alteration to the listed building or its immediate plot. In addition to this, the setting of the listed 
farmhouse has drastically changed due to the introduction of commercial and industrial 
buildings along with the construction of Six Hills Way and Gunnels Wood Road. Therefore, it 

Page 155



- 72 - 

has been included that the overall level of harm is at the lower end of the scale in terms of 
“less than substantial harm”.  

 
10.5.47 In summary, it is acknowledged that the development would cause less than substantial 

harm, which is identified at being at the lower end of the scale, to the setting of the Grade II 
listed Broomin Green Farmhouse. The proposal, will however, deliver a number of benefits 
and significant benefits which is considered to outweigh the harm caused. The benefits 
include the delivery of much needed housing, including affordable housing along with the 
creation of new jobs from construction jobs through to jobs created from the commercial 
development. The development would also increase Gross Value Added (GVA) to the local 
economy along with the generation of additional business rates and Council tax.  The 
scheme would also help to fund the delivery of the Primary School, contribute towards health 
facilities as well as help to deliver projects identified in the LCWIP.  

 
10.5.48 Further to the above, the scheme would also result in the demolition of existing buildings 

which do not contribute to the setting of the listed building as well as the wider townscape. 
The proposed development would also significantly enhance the wider townscape which is 
also considered to be a key planning benefit arising from this development.    

 
 Demolition of the non-designated heritage asset. 
 
10.5.49 Dealing with the non-designated heritage asset i.e. the FIRA building, the building was 

designed by HKPA Architect Practice (Howell, Killick, Partridge & Amis) in c 1964. The FIRA 
building does have later extensions (as it was designed to expand in such a way), these are 
of lesser architectural interest. However, the building is considered to be of architectural merit 
and an interesting example of post-war design. 

 
10.5.50 The effect of an proposal on the significance of a non-designated heritage asset should be 

taken into account in determining the application. In weighing applications that directly, or 
indirectly affect non-designated heritage assets, a balanced judgement will be required 
having regard to the scale of any harm or the loss and the significance of the heritage asset. 
In addition, as per paragraph 205 of the NPPF, local planning authorities should require 
developers to record and advance understanding of the significance of any heritage assets 
to be lost.  

 
10.5.51 As the FIRA building is considered to be of architectural merit and being a non-designated 

heritage asset, the 20th Century Society lodged an application to Historic England to have the 
building listed. Following a review of this application, the Secretary of State for Digital, 
Culture, Media and Sport (DCMS) as advised by Historic England, decided not to add the 
FIRA headquarters building to the List of Buildings of Special Architectural or Historic Interest. 
The principle reasons given for not listing the building were as follows:- 

 
 

 
 Architectural interest: 
 

 The building’s thoughtful external form has been altered significantly by the addition of 
large-scale extensions which have considerably reduced the impact of the original design 
intention; 

 Key spaces in the interior, including the entrance hall and all three main wings, have been 
remodelled, diminishing the interest of the plan-form and interior spaces. 

 
Historic interest: 
 

 While Howell, Killick, Partridge and Amis are acknowledged as being a leading post-war 
architectural practice, this distinguished authorship does not outweigh the extent of 
alteration; 

Page 156



- 73 - 

 Although the building's role in the expansion of Stevenage New Town, along with being 
the only purpose-built furniture and testing facility to be erected in England, are important 
considerations, this does not counteract the later alterations. 

 
Group value: 
 

 Its group value with Broomin Green Farmhouse (C17; Grade II) and the John Lewis 
Warehouse (1963; Grade II) is acknowledged but is of insufficient weight to confer special 
interest. 

 
10.5.52 Whilst the 20th Century Society has raised a substantive objection to the demolition of the 

FIRA building (See Section 8.9 of this report), it has been demonstrated that the significance 
of the building have been compromised by the unsympathetic extensions and alterations 
which have been undertaken over the years. As such, this is a reason why the building was 
not listed. However, whilst the building is not statutorily listed, it is a non-designated heritage 
asset. The proposed development would result in the complete loss of the FIRA building 
which would therefore, result in substantial harm to the significance of the building in this 
instance. However, the significance of the building has been lessened due to the 
unsympathetic extensions and alterations which have occurred to the building.  

 
10.5.53 In addition to the above, the value of retention of the non-designate heritage asset is 

outweighed by the significant benefits of the development as set out earlier in the report, even 
taking into account the harm which would be caused to the designated farmhouse. However, 
in line with the NPPF (2021), the applicant is required to prepare a historic recording of the 
building in order to document the remaining significance of the building. As such, through this 
recording, this would off-set the harm of the loss of the building once it has been demolished 
as part of the development proposal. This is supported by the Council’s Conservation and 
Historic Advisor and can be secured by the imposition of a condition. 

 
 Summary 
 
10.5.54 In summary, it is agreed that the development would cause less than substantial harm, 

identified to be at to the lower end of the scale, to the setting of the Grade II listed building 
known as Broomin Green Farm. However, the proposal would deliver a number of planning 
and public benefits as detailed in paragraph 10.5.39 to 10.5.43, a number of which are 
identified as being significant and these overall benefits of the proposed development are 
considered to clearly and convincingly outweigh the harm identified, including the harm 
caused by the loss of the non-designated heritage asset.  

 
10.6 Impact on archaeological remains 
 
10.6.1 Policy NH9 of the adopted Local Plan identifies that the application site falls within the 

designated “Broomin Green Farm” (NH9/15) area of archaeological significance. This area 
concerns the 17th century farmhouse and the considerably shrunken hamlet of Broomin 
Green. The hamlet dates back to around 1248 and appears to be some form of settlement in 
the area since the medieval times. Consequently, where a development proposal has an 
effect on an area of archaeological significance or has the potential to affect important 
archaeological remains, then as set out in the policy, an archaeological field evaluation has 
to be submitted as part of any planning application. 

 
10.6.2 As a consequence of the above designation, the applicant has submitted an Archaeological 

Desk Based Assessment (prepared by Thames Valley Archaeological Services, dated 
November 2016, report reference MRS 16/183). Following consultation with Hertfordshire 
County Council’s Historic Environment Section, they consider that due to the presence of the 
hamlet, the listed farmhouse combined with the potential of hand axes from Palaeolithic 
period, to coins from the late Iron Age as well as limited potential for prehistoric remains, the 
development is likely to have an impact on heritage assets of archaeological interest. Given 

Page 157



- 74 - 

this, if planning permission were to be granted, they recommended the following conditions 
be imposed:- 

 

 Prior to the commencement of development, the applicant submits an Archaeological 
Written Scheme of Investigation which will include a methodology of site investigation and 
recording to be approved in writing by the Council; 

 That demolition and construction takes place in accordance with Archaeological Written 
Scheme of Investigation; and 

 For the development not be occupied until the site investigation and post investigation 
assessment has been completed in accordance with the programme set out in the Written 
Scheme of Investigation with the provision made for analysis and publication where 
appropriate. 

 
10.6.3 In summary, subject to the recommended conditions being imposed if permission were to be 

granted, it is considered that the proposed development would not have a detrimental impact 
on any potential heritage assets of archaeological interest.  

 
10.7  Impact upon Neighbouring Amenity 
 
10.7.1  In assessing the impact on neighbouring amenity, the Council’s Design Guide sets out 

standards which should be met to safeguard the privacy and outlook of adjoining properties 
from new development. In this regard, when assessing developments over 2 storeys in height, 
the recommended separation distances are as follows: 

  
 

10.7.2  The application site is relatively self-contained and is separated from the existing residential 
properties in Fairview Road by the mature tree belt on the eastern boundary from the site. 
Whilst the plans which have been submitted are illustrative, they do show one way as to how 
the development could be delivered on this site. The impacts of the proposal on all 
neighbouring uses, including the residential properties on Maxwell Road need to be 
considered.  

 
10.7.3  Firstly, the indicative layout shows that residential blocks 1 and 2 would be constructed in 

close proximity to the eastern boundary of the development site. In terms of residential block 
1, the flank wall of this building would be located approximately 18m from the rear wall of 
Mozart Court. However, the level of separation does increase to 34m. This is due to the block 
in Mozart Court sitting at an angle. With regard to block 2, part of the buildings rear elevation 
would be positioned approximately 28m from the flank elevation of one of the residential 
blocks in Mozart Court. As such, there is the potential for impact on the outlook and the privacy 
of residents who reside at Mozart Court. However, there is an existing mature tree belt which 
falls outside of the application site boundary which would be retained. This would act as a 
natural screen to help preserve the privacy of the residents at Mozart Court. It is important to 
note that the area of land in which this mature tree belt is located is owned and managed by 
Stevenage Borough Council. Therefore, it is highly unlikely these trees would be removed in 
the future as they form a function and purpose of not only screening Mozart Court to the 

Page 158



- 75 - 

existing employment, they also support biodiversity along with the Council’s net zero carbon 
objective.    

 
10.7.4  Turning to the separation distance between Broomin Green Farm and residential block 4 

located to the north, whilst the Council does not have guidance relating to front-to-front 
separation distances, there would be approximately 40m between this block and the 
aforementioned farmhouse. This is because this residential block would sit on the footprint of 
the Serviceline building. In addition, between this block and Broomin Green Farm would be a 
surface car park (which is as per the existing situation) along with a mature tree belt which is 
to be retained as part of this development. Looking at the separation distance between the 
side elevation of block 3 and the side of Broomin Green Farm, whilst again the Council does 
not have a specific standard, there would be a separation distance of approximately 31m.  

 
10.7.5  With regards to the proposed buildings themselves, the plans which form part of the 

application submission do show the potential location of the balconies and roof gardens. 
However, due to the extensive level of separation, combined with the careful positioning of 
the balconies on the residential blocks, it is not considered these would cause a significant 
loss of privacy over and above the current situation. In terms of the roof gardens, the plans 
show the provisions of screens which enclose these space and these can be design with 
privacy glass to ensure there is no direct loss of privacy to the owner occupiers of the 
farmhouse.  

  
10.7.6  Turning to the office development, there are no particular standards specified in the Council’s 

design guide for separation distances between offices and residential developments. 
Notwithstanding this, a judgement needs to be made to determine whether or not the 
proposed indicative office development would impact upon the occupiers of Broomin Green 
Farm. The indicative floor plans identify that the office development would be located a 
minimum of 23m from the flank elevation of the farmhouse. However, the applicant has not 
submitted scaled plans for the upper floor of the proposed office development. 
Notwithstanding this, the axonometric plans shows the office building would have a staggered 
floorplate to ensure the building does not appear overbearing and reduce any perceived 
impact on privacy. Furthermore, the axonometric drawings show the provision of privacy 
screens which can be used to enclose these outdoor spaces in order to protect the privacy of 
the occupiers of Broomin Green Farmhouse.  

 
10.7.7  Given the aforementioned, it can be deduced that whilst the plans are illustrative, the plans 

provided are details enough to make an assessment at to the potential impact the 
development could have on the amenities of neighbouring residential properties. In addition, 
based on the above assessment, there is a sufficient detail to conclude that an acceptable 
relationship can be established upon submission of any subsequent Reserved Matters 
Application. However, a more detailed assessment as to the impact the development would 
have on privacy and outlook would be dealt with at the reserved matters stage.  

 
10.7.8  Turning sunlight and daylight, as set out in paragraph 6.1 of this report, a quashing order was 

issued by the High Court following a successful judicial review. The decision was quashed 
was because daylight and sunlight was considered to be a relevant consideration at outline 
stage so the judge quashed the permission.    

 
10.7.9  Taking into consideration the above, the amended application is accompanied by a Daylight 

and Sunlight report undertaken in accordance with the BRE Site Layout Planning and 
Daylight: A guide to good practice (2011). Before looking at the applicants assessment in 
detail, it is important to consider the relevant planning policies and guidance which cover 
daylight and sunlight. With regards to the NPPF (2021), paragraph 125 c) states local 
planning authorities should refuse applications which they consider fail to make efficient use 
of land, taking into account the policies in this Framework. In this context, when considering 
applications for housing, authorities should take a flexible approach in applying policies or 

Page 159



- 76 - 

guidance relating to daylight and sunlight, where they would otherwise inhibit making efficient 
use of a site (as long as the resulting scheme would provide acceptable living standards). 

 
10.7.10 In terms of guidance, the Governments Planning Practice Guidance (Paragraph 006, 

Reference ID: 66-006-20190722) states “where a planning application is submitted, local 
planning authorities will need to consider whether the proposed development would have an 
unreasonable impact on the daylight and sunlight levels enjoyed by neighbouring occupiers, 
as well as assessing whether daylight and sunlight within the development itself will provide 
satisfactory living conditions for future occupants”. Policy GD1 of the adopted Local Plan 
(2019) under criterion ‘e’ sets out that planning permission will be granted where a proposed 
scheme does not have an adverse impact on the amenity of future occupiers as well as 
neighbouring uses or the surrounding area.  

 
10.7.11 In terms of the Council’s Design Guide SPD (2009), chapter 5, section 5.2 Sunlight, Daylight 

and Orientation sets out that the BRE guidelines will be used on avoiding unacceptable 
impacts with the guide itself setting out mandatory targets for levels of sunlight and daylight 
within existing and proposed development. Turning to the BRE guidelines (2011), this 
document is to be used in conjunction with the interior daylight recommendations found within 
the British Standards BS8206-2:2008 (Lighting for buildings, code of practice for daylighting) 
along with The Applications Manual of Window Design of the Chartered Institute of Building 
Services Engineers (CIBSEE). In terms of assessing the impact of a development on sunlight 
and daylight, there are three main assessments which are as follows: 

 

 The Vertical Sky Component (VSC); 

 The No Sky Line (NSL); and 

 The Average Daylight Factor (ADF).  
 
10.7.12  The aforementioned assessments have been considered in detail in the following section of 

this report. However, firstly, dealing with the application before the Council, whilst it is noted 
that the amended plans submitted are indicative given this is an outline planning application 
with all matters reserved except access; they do show one way in which the development 
could be delivered on this site. Should planning permission be granted, the principle of the 
overall scale and form of development would be subject to planning conditions limiting the 
height parameters, number of residential units and maximum commercial floor space as 
detailed in the application drawings.  Therefore, it is concluded there is sufficient detail set 
out within the planning application in order to model the proposed development in the 
applicant’s BRE assessment and properly assess how it could potentially impact on the 
sunlight and daylight of neighbouring properties.  

 
10.7.13  The BRE assessment utilised the illustrative scheme to aid in determining the level of impact 

such a development could have on nearby residential properties. The properties assessed in 
detail are as follows:- 

 

 Broomin Green Farm; 

 Properties to the rear of 206-210 Fairview Road; 

 Philbeck House; 

 17-24 Mozart Court; and 

 25-33 Mozart Court.  
 

10.7.14 Looking firstly at daylight, a VSC (Vertical Sky Component) assessment was undertaken and 
this is a test which measures the amount of skylight available at the centre of a window. It has 
a maximum value of 40% for a completely unobstructed wall. However, the diffuse daylighting 
of an existing building may be adversely affected, as defined by the BRE Guide, where:- 

 

 The VSC measured at the centre of the main window is less than 27%, and less than 0.8 
times its former value; or 

Page 160



- 77 - 

 The area of the working plane in a room which can receive direct sunlight is reduced to 
less than 0.8 times its former value (i.e. no more than a 20% change). 

 
10.7.15 The assessment also undertook an assessment of the No Sky Line (NSL) and Average 

Daylight Factor (ADF). The NSL method is described as the outline on the working area from 
which no sky can be seen. In summary, it assesses where the sky can and cannot be seen 
from inside a room at the working plane. The change in the position of the NSL between the 
existing and proposed scenarios is calculated in accordance with the Guidance. If the NSL 
experienced is more than a 20% change from the existing situation, then in accordance with 
the guidance, the change in daylight would be noticeable to the occupants.  

 
10.7.16 The ADF assessment is the ratio of total daylight flux incident on the working place, expressed 

as a percentage of the outdoor illuminance of a plane. The assessment generally looks at the 
level of skylight falling onto the vertical face of a window, but also the glazing size, the 
transmission value, average reflectance, room area and room use. As such, it is more detailed 
analysis of daylight. The values as a percentage for the rooms most relevant in this 
assessment are as follows:- 

 

 Bedrooms – 1% ADF; 

 Living Rooms – 1.5% ADF; 

 Kitchens – 2% ADF. 
 

10.7.17 An assessment has also been undertaken as to the level of sunlight a neighbouring residential 
property would receive as well. To assess the impact on sunlight, in accordance with the BRE 
guideline, Annual Probable Sunlight Hours (APSH) are utilised. This involves a measurement 
in terms of a percentage of the annual probable sunlight hours at the centre point of a window. 
It is defined as the long-term average of the total number of hours during a year in which direct 
sunlight reaches the unobstructed ground.   

 
10.7.18 Further to the daylight and sunlight assessment detailed in the applicants submission, it also 

deals with overshadowing specifically Sun Hours on Ground (SHoG). This is assessed 
utilising simulation software to determine the areas which receive direct sunlight and daylight 
and those which do not. The BRE Guidelines suggest that the Spring Equinox (21 March 
2021) is a suitable date for assessment as this is the midpoint of the sun’s position throughout 
the year. The Transient Overshadowing study is recommended where large buildings are 
proposed which may affect a number of gardens or open spaces. The BRE guidelines stipulate 
that for an amenity space to appear to be adequately sunlit thought the year at least half of a 
garden or amenity area should receive at least 2 hours of sunlight on 21 March 2021. If a 
developments impact on the existing amenity area in regards to the above, and the area which 
can receive two hours of sun on 21 March is less than 0.8 times its former value, then the loss 
of sunlight is likely to be noticeable.  

 
10.7.19 For the purpose of the assessment submitted with the revised application, the modelling 

undertaken in terms of shadows is mapped at hourly intervals (between sunrise and sunset) 
on the following dates: 

 

 21 March (Spring Equinox); 

 21 June (Summer Solstice); 

 21 December (Winter Solstice). 
 

  Impact on Broomin Green Farmhouse 
 

10.7.20 Dealing with the impact the development would have on the levels of sunlight and daylight 
which are received at Broomin Green Farm, GIA (the applicants Sunlight and Daylight 
Consultants) have set out in their report that they have made extensive efforts to gain access 
to the property to confirm internal layouts and, which rooms are habitable and are of relevance 
to the assessment. Whilst they have been afforded some limited access, access has been 

Page 161



- 78 - 

problematic due to issues surrounding the pandemic. As such, they have assessed all rooms 
for completeness and made best assumptions on room layouts and dimensions.  It is important 
to note that the Council’s appointed consultants Anstey Horne have been able to assist in 
terms of supplying the requisite information following their instruction and site visit.  

 
10.7.21 The results of the original VSC assessment shows that none of the windows at the farmhouse 

experience reductions any greater than 20% in accordance with the BRE Guide. However, 
this has since proven to be incorrect as following correspondence from Broomin Green Farms 
appointed consultants Eb7 and Anstey Horne, and it has been identified that the kitchen is 
only served by one window. It is also noted from the correspondence on behalf of the owners 
of Broomin Green Farm that the kitchen is also used as an office area during the day and is 
considered to be an integral room within the room that is used daily for administration tasks 
where the owners conduct their business from.  This matter is considered in greater detail in 
paragraph 10.7.28 of this report as it is identified that this is the only room which significantly 
falls below the BRE guidelines.  

 
10.7.22 The original assessment also set out that in respect to NSL, of the 16 rooms tested, 15 of the 

rooms are compliant with the BRE target. However, one of the rooms on the second floor 
experiences a loss of 25% which is greater than the 20% BRE target. The room however, is 
not considered to be a kitchen or living room where there is a higher expectation for natural 
daylight. Notwithstanding, for greater accuracy, the VSC of this respective window is 32.5% 
which is in excess of the 27% BRE target.  

 
10.7.23 The APSH assessment identifies that 1 window experiences an absolute change to the 

existing APSH of 5% (paragraph 5.11 of the original sunlight and daylight assessment). This 
is just above the 4% BRE target. Whilst the room is not known, the report goes into more detail 
as to the impact on this window. The assessment identifies that the majority of this window’s 
outlook and visibility of sunlight hours is inhibited by the extending porch element of the house, 
making this room sensitive to any massing on the development site. The window at the floor 
above, exceeds the total APSH target achieving 26% (25% BRE target), but experiences a 
change in its value from 6% to 4% for winter. This is below the 5% BRE target, but the change 
is very minor and the level of PSH is generally in accordance with the guidance. However, 
due to the position of the window, it is unlikely it serves a main living room which falls to be 
considered under the guidance.  

 
10.7.24 In regards to the Sun Hours on Ground assessment, the results have shown that the proposed 

development would fully comply with the BRE targets, with the areas tested continuing to 
receive at least 2 hours of direct sunlight across at least 69% or more of their area, with a 
change which is identified as being no greater than 8% from the existing scenario. 

 
10.7.25 As noted in paragraphs 7.1.6 to 7.1.15 of this report, substantive concerns had been raised 

by the consultants (eb7) who were acting on-behalf of the owners of Broomin Green 
Farmhouse with respect to the accuracy of the applicants originally submitted sunlight and 
daylight assessment, especially on the modelling which had been undertaken. Further to this, 
there was extensive correspondence between the applicants consultants and the consultants 
acting on behalf of the owners of Broomin Green Farm with respect to the developments 
potential impact on the level of sunlight and daylight received at the aforementioned property.  

 
10.7.26 Given the aforementioned, officers appointed Anstey Horne who are an independent company 

who specialise in rights to light as well as daylight and sunlight to undertake a review of the 
applicants sunlight and daylight assessment. They were appointed to undertake an 
assessment of the applicant’s consultant daylight and sunlight report. They also reviewed the 
correspondence which primarily focussed on the accuracy of the report given that no external 
or internal survey had been undertaken. Subsequently, Anstey Horne conducted a visit to the 
property using a laser scanner and collected point data of the property at Broomin Green Farm 
both externally and internally. This data was then passed over the applicants consultants in 
order to update their 3D model to accurately reflect what existed on-site.  

Page 162



- 79 - 

 
10.7.27 The consultants acting on behalf of the applicant provided the Council’s consultants with an 

updated technical assessment. The Council’s consultants have confirmed that this updated 
technical assessment reflects the data collected on site. As such, and as set out in paragraph 
8.12.4 of this report, the Council’s consultant advised that whilst a number of windows and 
rooms within neighbouring properties are shown to be configured differently to those originally 
modelled, for the majority of the windows and rooms assessed this does not materially impact 
the daylight and sunlight position. The Council’s consultant goes onto state “All of the rooms, 
with the exception of the kitchen at ground floor level, are shown to achieve the BRE’s 
guideline values for both daylight and sunlight”.  

 
10.7.28 Dealing with the kitchen specifically, Anstey Horne have advised that the applicants 

consultants updated analysis does accurately reflect that this room is served by a single west 
facing window. As such, the analysis shows that the reductions to this room are beyond the 
guideline values for both daylight and sunlight. In terms of Vertical Sky Component (VSC), the 
window serving the kitchen experiences a reduction of 21.8% as a result of the proposal which 
is marginally below the BRE’s guideline of 20% reduction. In relation to daylight distribution, 
the room is shown to experience a reduction of 55.1% which is beyond the 20% of acceptable 
reduction recommended by the BRE guidelines. The Council’s consultant in terms of sunlight 
advises that the annual sunlight availability is shown to be reduced by 36% which is beyond 
the 20% recommended by the BRE. 

 
10.7.29  The Council’s Consultant goes onto advise that based on the updated technical assessment 

prepared by the applicant, they set out that the updated analysis accurately represents the 
daylight and sunlight impacts to Broomin’ Green Farm as a result of the proposed 
development. 

 
10.7.30 The applicant has subsequently submitted an updated sunlight and daylight assessment 

(Prepared by GIA, dated 18 October 2021, report reference 17063) incorporating the accurate 
technical information as reviewed by the Council’s consultant. In addition, the applicant has 
also submitted a Daylight and Sunlight Human Visual Assessment (Prepared by GIA, dated 
08 September 2021, report reference 17063).  

 
10.7.31 The assessments provide a detailed analysis as to the impact the proposed development 

would have on the kitchen at Broomin Green Farm. As part of this assessment, the applicant 
has undertaken a number of assessments of the single window which serves the kitchen. The 
VSC impact assessment of the window serving the kitchen shows a VSC level of 23.9% in the 
existing scenario and is reduced to 18.7% VSC in the proposed scenario. This represents a 
5.2% absolute VSC loss, or a 21.8% relative reduction. It has to be taken into consideration 
that VSC measures the level of daylight reaching the centre-point of a window and whilst the 
calculations inform potential loss of daylight on the window, it does not provide information on 
the amount of daylight entering a room which depends on other factors such as window size, 
glazing specifications, room shape and internal finishes.  

 
10.7.32 A No-Sky Line (NSL) impact assessment of the room shows that the NSL value of 96.7% in 

the existing scenario which is reduced to 43.5% NSL in the proposed scenario, representing 
a 53.2% relative reduction. In terms of what NSL measures, it is the outline on the working 
plane of the area from which no sky can be seen. As such, a reduction of NSL therefore, 
provides an indication of the portion of the area on the working plane from the sky is visible in 
the existing scenario and is no longer visible in the proposed scenario. This is typical when 
viewed from the rear sections of the room which are at a distance from the window. As such, 
NSL depends on internal layout and fenestration and is regarded as an indicator of light 
distribution within a specific room.  

 
10.7.33 The report provided by the applicant also provides a detailed Radiance-based daylight 

assessment which is able to accurately demonstrate the results beyond VSC and NSL, and 
therefore, can simulate how the level of light and its distribution within a room as perceived by 

Page 163



- 80 - 

the human eye. It also considers external obstructions, external materials reflectance, window 
size and shape, window frames, glazing specs, internal layout and finishes.  

 
10.7.34 The overall results of the assessments undertaken show that in the existing scenario the 

kitchen achieves an ADF of 0.3% which is far below the 2% ADF recommended in the BRE’s 
guidelines for a kitchen. Current British Standards (BS 8206-2 Code of Practice for 
daylighting) recommend that an ADF of 5% for a well day lit space and 2% for a partly daylight 
space. Where a room falls below 2%, the room will generally look dull and it likely that the use 
of that space will require artificial lighting to be switched on. Following a modelling exercise of 
the proposed development, the ADF is slightly reduced to 0.2% ADF. In both the existing and 
proposed scenarios, it is therefore evident that the room will rely primarily on artificial light 
rather than natural daylight.  

 
10.7.35 Given the above, whilst the proposed development would cause changes in the daylight 

appearance of the kitchen, the usability of the kitchen and its reliance on supplementary 
artificial lighting is unlikely to be materially affected. It is important to note that this kitchen is 
single aspect and is greater than 5m in depth, and therefore, a greater movement in the no 
sky line (NSL) cannot be avoided in this instance. This is further reflected in the BRE 
Guidelines which stipulate that if an existing building contains rooms lit from one side only and 
greater than 5m in depth, then greater movements in the no-sky line may be unavoidable. 
This window would, given its siting and position, would be affected by any increase in massing 
on the development site due to the architectural design of Broomin Green Farm.  

 
10.7.36 Following further consultation with the Council’s appointed consultant Anstey Horne (See 

paragraphs 8.12.7 to 8.12.14), they conducted a further assessment on the Council’s behalf 
of the applicants amended Sunlight and Daylight Assessment. In addition, they also undertook 
an assessment of the Radiance-based daylight assessment which accompanies the amended 
Sunlight and Daylight Assessment.  

 
10.7.37 The updated report correctly identified that the reductions to the kitchen are beyond the 

guideline values for both daylight and sunlight. In terms of VSC, the window which serves the 
kitchen experiences a reduction of 21.8% as a result of the proposed development which 
marginally below the BRE guideline of 20% reduction. When considering daylight distribution 
within the room, the room is how to have a reduction of 55.1% which is beyond the 20% 
acceptable reduction recommended by the BRE guidelines. In terms of sunlight, the annual 
sunlight availability is shown to be reduced by 36.8%, which is also beyond the 20% 
recommended by the BRE.  

 
10.7.38 The applicants consultant has also undertaken a radiance assessment of the kitchen within 

Broomin Green Farm. This assessment takes into account reflected light both within the room 
itself and external surfaces. The radiance assessment indicated that the Average Daylight 
Factor (ADF) in the existing condition is 0.3% whilst the ADF in the proposed condition was 
0.2%. The Council’s consultants have assessed this radiance assessment against the BRE 
guideline of 2% for a kitchen which is a minimum value. The radiance model shows that even 
in the existing situation, the ADF for the kitchen is well below this recommended minimum.  

 
10.7.39 The daylight factor images detailed in the radiance assessment demonstrate that, in the 

existing condition, very little light penetrates beyond the area of room closest to the window. 
A similar conclusion, as advised by the Council’s consultant, can be drawn in relation to the 
proposed condition, but there is a slight decrease in the penetration of light into the room.  

 
10.7.40 The Council’s consultant advise that the updated daylight and sunlight analysis accords with 

the BRE guidelines and accurately represents the daylight and sunlight impacts to Broomin 
Green Farm as a result of the proposed development. The assessment submitted by the 
applicant does demonstrate that the reductions beyond the BRE guidelines will be to a single 
room at ground floor level. With regards to the radiance assessment, the Council’s consultants 

Page 164



- 81 - 

advise that whilst there will be a change in lit appearance, the room in question (i.e. the 
kitchen) is poorly lit in both the existing and proposed condition.  

 
10.7.41 Notwithstanding, an updated sunlight and daylight assessment and radiance survey has been 

submitted following the receipt of amended plans. The revised assessment identifies a VSC 
reduction of 22.2% which is slightly greater than the 21.8% previously identified. However, 
this reduction is only marginally beyond the BRE guidelines of 20%. In terms of daylight 
distribution, the room most affected by the development shows a reduction of 54.5% which is 
a marginal improvement on the 55.1% previously identified. However, the reduction to the 
most sensitive room at Broomin Green Farm is beyond the 20% of acceptable reduction 
identified in the BRE.  

 
10.7.42 In terms of sunlight, the annual sunlight availability was shown to be reduced by 36.8% which 

is in line with was previously reported for the scheme as originally assessed. Again, this 
reduction is beyond the 20% recommended by the BRE. Consequently, the reductions in light 
identified to Broomin Green Farm remains akin to those summarised in the previous GIA 
report. In terms of the updated radiance survey which was submitted, there is no change in 
the results as identified in paragraph 10.7.38.  

 
10.7.43  Given the aforementioned assessment, it is fully appreciate there are substantive objections 

from the owners of Broomin Green Farm, and that further objections have been raised against 
the updated Sunlight and Daylight Assessments. Further to this, and taking into consideration 
BRE guidelines, it is clearly evident that there are transgressions which have to be taken into 
consideration when making a decision on this application. However, this is important to 
consider when weighing up the planning balance, the Council’s consultant has advised that 
the assessments in the BRE guide are intended to be flexible and there are now more 
sophisticated ways of looking at the lit condition of the room. They go onto state that the 
radiance assessment calls into question whether the difference in light levels would be 
perceptible to the occupants. Therefore, this will need to be carefully considered alongside 
the conventional assessments in the BRE guidelines. 

  
10.7.44 Given what has been advised, it is important to note that the BRE Guide is just a guide, and 

it does state in the guide that its overall aim “is to help rather than constrain the designer”. The 
document also clearly states that it is not mandatory and that it should not be seen as an 
instrument of planning policy. In addition, the guide within the introductory section states that 
“in special circumstances the developer or planning authority may wish to use different target 
values. For example, in a historic city centre a higher degree of obstruction may be 
unavoidable”. Therefore, there will inevitably be as a consequence within the built up urban 
environment, that daylight and sunlight will be more limited in these areas. This is especially 
given the Governments drive to deliver as much development as possible on previously 
developed site.  

 
10.7.45 In addition, the NPPF (2021) makes it very clear that planning decisions should promote an 

effective use of land in meeting the need of homes and other uses (paragraph 119). It also 
sets out those planning decisions should “given substantial weight to value of using suitable 
brownfield land within settlements for homes and other identified needs”. Further, the NPPF 
also requires Local Authorities to promote and support the development of under-utilised land 
and buildings, especially if this would help to meet an identified need for housing where land 
supply is constrained and available sites could be more effectively used (Paragraph 120).  

 
10.7.46 Therefore, it has to be acknowledged that there are important planning matters which have to 

be considered when delivering development on brownfield sites and that these developments 
are likely to have an impact on the ideal levels of daylight and sunlight. As such, and turning 
back to the impact of this development, it is agreed that there will be a level of harm to the 
kitchen area of Broomin Green Farm. However, the degree of harm would be limited to only 
this room with the rest of the rooms within the property achieving the recommended sunlight 
and daylight standards. 

Page 165



- 82 - 

 
  Impact on Mozart Court, Fairview Road and Philbeck House 
 

10.7.47 Turning to the impact on 17-24 Mozart Court, the results of the VSC assessment have shown 
no windows would experience reductions greater than 20% and therefore, the results fully 
compliant with the BRE guidelines. In terms of the results of the NSL where 28 rooms were 
tested, 26 of these of the rooms remain fully compliant with the guidelines. With respect to the 
two remaining rooms, these experience a loss of 25% and 21% respectively, which is greater 
than the 20% BRE target. However, as the room layouts are not known, the results of the NSL 
cannot be relied upon and the VSC assessment demonstrates adequate skylight is achieved. 
In relation to APSH, the properties within this development all comply with the relevant 
guidelines.  

 
10.7.48 Turning to the properties to the rear of 206-210 Fairview Road, Philbeck House and 25-33 

Mozart Court, the assessment identifies that all of these properties achieve full compliance on 
VSC, NSL and APSH. Turning to overshadowing impact (Sun Hours on Ground), the 
assessment concludes that with the development in place, the areas tests received at least 2 
hours of direct sunlight across at least 69% of more of their respective amenity areas. In 
addition, there would be no change greater than 8% from the existing scenario.  

 
  Summary 
 
10.7.49 In summary, it can be deduced based on the findings of the assessment, there will be a conflict 

with policy GD1 of the adopted Local Plan as it applies a “No Adverse Test”. This is because 
the proposed development, specifically the commercial development, will have an impact on 
the kitchen area, which is also acknowledged this is also an area of the house used by the 
current owners on a daily basis where they conduct their business, as is evidenced. The 
impact identified, specifically in relation to sunlight and daylight, is due to the transgressions 
which have been clearly identified in the updated assessment conducted by the applicants 
own consultant and as confirmed by the Council’s consultant. This is especially given the 
kitchen (which is also utilised as a home office) is a single aspect room which is greater than 
5m in depth and that the room already relies on artificial lighting. This is especially given the 
room in question is also affected by the existing projecting wing, and as a consequence, this 
room is highly sensitive and any change in the NSL is going to have an impact on this room.  

 
10.7.50 However, and this is an important consideration, the radiance assessment which is a more 

sophisticate tool at determining the impact of a development on a particular room, does call 
into question as to whether the difference in light levels would be perceptible to occupant.  
Moreover, and as emphasised by the Council’s consultant and as detailed in the BRE guide 
itself, it is only guidance and a planning balance has to made as to whether the overall benefits 
of this development being delivered on a brownfield site would outweigh the harm caused to 
Broomin Green Farm. The planning balance assessment is set out in the overall conclusions 
detailed in Section 11 of this report.  

 
10.7.51 In terms of the impact on the properties at Mozart Court, Philbeck House and Fairview Road, 

the assessment demonstrates that there would be no BRE transgressions, so these properties 
should still receive acceptable levels of sunlight and daylight in accordance with the guidance.  

 
10.7.52 With respect to impact on outlook, privacy, sunlight and daylight, following an assessment of 

the proposed development, whilst the plans are indicative, sufficient information has been 
provided with this application to demonstrate that the proposed development would not cause 
a detrimental impact on the overall privacy and outlook of existing neighbouring residential 
properties. Therefore, whilst a more detailed assessment of the scheme would be carried out 
at reserved matters stage, the principle of the development in terms of from a privacy and 
outlook perspective, is considered to be acceptable in this instance.    

 

Page 166



- 83 - 

10.7.53 Turning to the concerns raised by local residents in relation to light and noise pollution, these 
issues are considered in more detail in section 10.12 of this report.  

 
10.8  Impact upon the future amenity of residents  
 
10.8.1  In considering a residential scheme of this nature it is also important to ensure that living 

conditions for any future occupiers are appropriate. In regards to private amenity space for 
the apartments, there is a requirement to provide 50 sq.m of amenity space for schemes of 
up to 5 units, plus an additional, 10sq.m for every additional unit above 5. However, the Design 
Guide SPD (2009) does go onto state that “upper floor flats rarely have access to garden 
space”. As such, the guide goes onto state “ it is most desirable, where there is no communal 
space that effort is made to provide balconies or roof gardens for the occupants of these units” 

 
10.8.2  Based on indicative scheme which is before the Council, there would be a requirement to 

provide 800 sq.m of private amenity. Following an assessment of the indicative plans, it is 
evident that there would not be sufficient space within the development site to provide a 
dedicated communal amenity space for each of the individual apartments. However, the 
illustrative site layout plan (PL202A) and the illustrative Axonometric Plans (PL204A and 
PL205A) do demonstrate that balconies/winter gardens can be provided for each respective 
apartment. In addition, the Axonometric Plans, whilst indicative, do also demonstrate that the 
roof spaces on some of the blocks can be utilised as roof gardens as well.  

 
10.8.3  Given the above, whilst the plans are indicative with further detailed design of the balconies 

and roof gardens being dealt with at reserved matters stage, the plans do demonstrate that a 
suitable level of amenity space can be provided for future occupiers of the residential blocks.   

 
10.8.4  In relation to the provision of outdoor sport and children’s play space, whilst it is appreciated 

the scheme is in outline form, there would be insufficient space within the application site to 
deliver suitable outdoor sport and children’s play facilities on-site. However, the development 
site would be accessible to the Meadway playing fields or King George V playing fields which 
can be utilised for outdoor sport and children’s play. 

 
10.8.5  With regard to the requirements for new residential properties to meet Nationally Described 

Space Standards (NDSS) as defined by Policy GD1 of the adopted Local Plan (2019), for 1 
bedroom, 2 person flats, there is a requirement to provide 50 sq.m of floorspace. For 2 
bedroom, 4 person flats, there is a requirement to provide 70 sq.m of floorspace. Whilst the 
plans submitted are indicative, they do provide sufficient details to demonstrate how these 
flats would accord with the relevant standards. Following a measurement of each flat located 
in each block on the indicative ground floor plan (drawing number PL202A) and the plans set 
out in the Updated Design and Access Statement, they would accord with the aforementioned 
requirements. Consequently, as the indicative ground floor plan is likely to be replicated 
across each of the relevant blocks, it can be adequately demonstrated that upon receipt of a 
future reserved matters application, the proposed flats would be able to meet NDSS 
requirements.  

 
10.8.6  In terms of privacy and outlook, whilst the exact location of windows and internal floor layouts 

are not known at this time, the indicative site layout plan (PL202A) and the illustrative 
Axonometric Plans (PL204A and PL205A) do provide sufficient detail in order to make an 
assessment. As such, an assessment of separation distances has been undertaken in 
accordance with the standards as detailed under paragraph 10.7.1 of this report. It is important 
to note that there are no standards for front-to-front, front-to-back or front-to-side.  

 
10.8.7  It is determined that there would be more than sufficient separation distance between the 

proposed buildings and the existing buildings to ensure that there are no issues with outlook 
from main habitable room windows. Furthermore, there would be more than sufficient 
separation between buildings (existing and proposed) to ensure that the privacy of future 
occupiers of the development would be acceptable as well. Moreover, the plans for the office 

Page 167



- 84 - 

building show, whilst indicative, that there is space on each respective floor to install privacy 
screens (as detailed on the axonometric drawings) to enclose the outdoor spaces so that the 
privacy of future flat owners would not be compromised by the construction of the commercial 
building.  

 
10.8.8  Further to the above, the buildings are adequately space, with the height maxima of the 

proposed building controlled via condition, that sufficient levels of sunlight and daylight can 
also be achieved within each residential block. Consequently, it is considered that an 
acceptable level of outlook and privacy can be achieved when any subsequent reserved 
matters application is submitted to the Council for its decisions. With regards to the impact of 
noise on future occupiers of the development, this is considered in more detail in section 10.12 
of this report.  

 
10.8.9  Turning to Policy HO11, this requires that for Major Developments, there will be a requirement 

to provide at least 50% of all new units to be accessible and adaptable dwellings. Whilst the 
internal arrangements of the flats are not known at this time, it can be demonstrated that these 
flats will be of a sufficient size where a number of them can be accessible and adaptable. As 
such, and if the Council is minded to grant planning permission, it will require 50% of all new 
dwellings to be accessible and adaptable in accordance with Policy HO11.    

   
10.9 Parking Provision 
 
10.9.1 Policy IT5 of the adopted Local Plan (2019) states that planning permission will be granted 

where proposals comply with the parking standards set out in the plan.  
 
 
 
 
 
 Residential development 

 
10.9.2 The Council’s Car Parking Standards SPD (2020) set out the maximum amount of off-street 

parking for residential development based on the number of bedrooms. The proposed 
development would comprise the following preliminary accommodation schedule:  

 

 29 no. one bedroom units (1 parking space); and 

 51 no. two bedroom units (1.5 parking spaces). 
 

10.9.3 Taking into consideration of the above, there would be a requirement to provide 106 parking 
spaces. However, the application site is located within residential accessibility zone 2 where 
the Council would seek between 50% to 75% of the maximum number of car parking spaces 
to serve the development. In this regard, the Council would seek between 53 to 79.5 parking 
spaces (rounded up to 80). The proposed development, whilst illustrative, proposes to 
provide 53 car parking spaces which would be in accordance with the Council’s adopted 
standards. The applicant has confirmed that the parking areas would not be allocated and, 
as such, there would not be a requirement to provide visitor parking. The finalised details of 
parking provision and the overall layout of the parking would be dealt with at reserved matters 
stage. 

 
10.9.4 Turning to disabled parking, in line with the Council’s adopted Standards, 5% of the total 

number of spaces should be designated for disabled persons. In this regard, there would be 
a requirement to provide 3 disabled parking bays. The applicant as detailed on the application 
submission, proposes to provide 3 disabled parking bays in line with the Council’s standards.  

 
10.9.5 In regards to cycle parking, the Council’s Parking Standards SPD stipulates for this 

development the following:- 
 

Page 168



- 85 - 

 1 long-term cycle space per 1-bedroom unit; 

 2 long-term cycle spaces per 2-bedroom units; and 

 1 short-term cycle space per 40 units. 
 

10.9.6 Taking the aforementioned requirements into consideration against the indicative housing 
mix, there would be are requirement to provide 131 long-term cycle spaces and 2 short-term 
spaces. Specific details of the cycle parking provision have not been set out in detail in this 
outline application. However, the indicative plans do show the potential location of bike stores 
which demonstrates they can be accommodated as part of any future development. 
Moreover, the detail of cycle parking provision, including the appropriate storage and location, 
would be dealt with via condition and as part of any subsequent reserved matters application.  

 
10.9.7 Turning to electric vehicle parking, the Car Parking SPD (2020) now introduces a minimum 

requirement for electric vehicle parking. The requirements for new developments would need 
to abide by the following:- 

 

 All new car parking should be designed to fulfil a Passive Electrical Vehicle Charging 
Point standard (providing the necessary underlying infrastructure); 

 The blend of access to charging points provided within new developments; 

 A minimum of 20% of new parking on a site to have access to an active EV charging 
point; 

 A flexible approach to the requirement of charging facilities as technology changes. 
 

10.9.8 The applicant has not supplied details of EV parking to serve the residential part of the 
development. However, as this is an outline application, details as to the provision, location 
of EV charging and associated infrastructure would form part of any future reserved matters 
application.  Moreover, Part S (Infrastructure for the charging of electric vehicles) of the 
Building Regulations came into force from 15th June 2022. This also requires the provision 
EV charging infrastructure for residential developments, so there would also be a requirement 
to provide EV charging facilities at Building Regulations stage as well.  

  
 Office Development 
 
10.9.9 The Council’s Parking Standards SPD stipulates that 1 parking space per 30m2 of gross floor 

area are required. Taking this standard into consideration, as the proposal seeks to create 
11,059sq.m of office floorspace. This equates to a parking requirement of 369 parking 
spaces. 

 
10.9.10 Notwithstanding the above, the application site is located in non-residential accessibility zone 

1. As such, the base car parking standard can be reduced to between 0% to 25% of the 
maximum number of parking spaces which are required to serve this development. Using 
this calculation, there would be a requirement to provide between 0 spaces to 93 spaces. 
The indicatively layout, which was amended prior to the adoption of the current Parking 
Standards SPD, seeks to provide approximately 177 spaces (including 10 disabled and 10 
motorcycle spaces). This would exceed the level of parking which is required for this 
development. However, given this is an outline application, as part of any future reserved 
matters application, a lower car parking provision can be secured in accordance with the 
adopted standards. Consequently, this reduced parking requirement would provide further 
flexibility to inform the detailed design.  

 
10.9.11 Turning to disabled parking, the minimum disabled parking standards would require individual 

bays for each disabled employee plus 5% of total capacity for visiting disabled motorists. 
There would also be a further requirement of enlarged standard spaces (flexible spaces) at 
5% of total capacity spaces for future provision. This would equate to a requirement of 10 
spaces. The applicant has set out in their application submission that the scheme would meet 
the relevant disabled parking standards, with further detail of disabled parking provision dealt 
with at the reserved matters stage.  

Page 169



- 86 - 

 
10.9.12 For powered two wheel vehicles the standards set out that around 5% of the total stock of 

publicly accessible vehicle spaces to be for motorcycles. This would equate to a requirement 
based on the current illustrative scheme of 5 spaces. However, details of the parking layout 
for powered two-wheeler would also form part of the consideration of any future reserved 
matters application.  

 
10.9.13 With respect to cycle parking for offices, there is a requirement to provided 1 long-term space 

per 500 sq.m plus 1 short term space per 1,000 sq.m of Gross Floor Area. As this application 
is in outline, a sufficient level of secure cycle parking provision would be dealt with via 
condition and any subsequent reserved matters application. However, it is important to note 
that the building as indicatively shown is of a sufficient size to accommodate the necessary 
cycle parking provision in any event.  

 
10.9.14 In relation to electric vehicles for the office development, the same standards apply as 

detailed in paragraph 10.9.7. As no details have been provided for the office development on 
EV parking, this aspect of the scheme would also be dealt with at the reserved matters stage. 
Moreover, as set out in paragraph 10.9.8, commercial developments also have to meet Part 
S requirements under Building Regulations as well.  

 
10.10 Highway implications  
 
10.10.1 The application site is currently accessed of Maxwell Road which is an unclassified local road 

taken off of Gunnels Wood Road (A602). The site currently has three vehicular access points 
off Maxwell Road. The first access point as you come into Maxwell Road currently serves the 
FIRA building. The second access point serves the offices within the Service Line building, 
the residential property known as Broomin Green Farm and the veterinary clinic. The final 
access, which comes off the turning head at the end of Maxwell Road, serves a surface car 
park which is located to the rear of the veterinary clinic.  

 
10.10.2 The proposed development, as set out in this outline application, seeks to stop up the 

vehicular access which currently serves the car park located to the rear of the veterinary 
clinic. The reason for this is as set out in the indicative site layout plan, part of residential 
block 1, residential block 2 and the car parking area serving this block would sit on the 
footprint of the existing car park. Turning to the central access which currently serves 
Serviceline, Broomin Green Farm and the veterinary clinic, this road would be upgraded to 
serve the residential part of the development scheme. The road, as detailed on the submitted 
plans would have a bell mouth measuring approximately 20.15m with the main internal road 
measuring approximately 5.67m. With this in mind, the access road has been designed to 
ensure there is a sufficient width to accommodate two-way traffic. It has also been designed 
to ensure the road can accommodate, for example, refuse collection vehicles and emergency 
service vehicles.  

 
10.10.3 Turning to the first access as you come into Maxwell Road, this road would be upgraded to 

serve the new office development. The road would have a similar sized bell mouth and 
internal width to the road which would serve the residential development. As such, the road 
is of a sufficient size to accommodate two-way traffic, refuse vehicles and heavy goods 
vehicles. In terms of manoeuvrability, the applicant has undertaken a swept path analysis of 
the road to ensure it can accommodate large vehicles (such as refuse collection vehicles). 
These swept path analyses have demonstrated that vehicles can safely manoeuvre within 
the site and exit in a forward gear. Consequently, the upgraded roads in terms of their 
geometry and design would be in accordance with the Department for Transport (DfT) Manual 
for Streets. In addition to this, the proposed vehicle access points would have adequate 
visibility splays in accordance with Manual for Streets as well as Hertfordshire County 
Council’s Road in Hertfordshire Design Guide (2011). As such, Hertfordshire County as 
Highways Authority consider the proposed vehicle accesses to be acceptable.  

 

Page 170



- 87 - 

10.10.4 However the aforementioned is subject to a condition on internal visibility splays to ensure 
there is adequate visibility for drivers entering or leaving each individual site.  In addition, the 
Highways Authority have suggested a condition relating to parking and turning to ensure the 
permanent availability of parking and manoeuvrability area in the interests of highway safety.  

 
10.10.5 With regard to the proposed cycle and pedestrian access, the proposed development seeks 

to provide two pedestrian crossings on Maxwell Road in order to connect the site with the 
nearby footpath network. In addition, the proposed seeks to provide pedestrian and cycle 
access at the southern end of the site from Fairlands Way. The access points have been 
considered to be acceptable in principle by Hertfordshire County Council (HCC) which has 
advised that that these new access links, being outside the site boundary, would be dealt 
with via condition. Furthermore, a condition is also to be imposed requiring resurfacing of 
existing footways along the sites northern boundary.  

 
10.10.6 In assessing traffic generation, the applicant’s transport consultant has produced a transport 

assessment which incorporates details of proposed traffic generation for weekdays. The 
assessment also comprises of a future year assessment model in order to inform the potential 
future impact of the development on the surrounding highway network. In regards to the traffic 
generation, the peak periods, the assessment focused on were 08:00-09:00 AM and17:00-
18:00 PM. In addition, the Transport Assessment also provides daily trip generation 
calculations as well (07:00AM to 19:00PM). The model utilised to predict the amount of traffic 
which would be generated was via TRICS (Trip Rate Information Computer System). This 
assessment looked at the level of traffic the existing development generates and then 
assesses the level of traffic which would be created by the proposed development.  

 
10.10.7 Looking at the existing office space which is 3,456sq.m in floor area, this generated in the 

AM peak 83 two-way trips (76 inbound and 7 outbound) and in the PM peak 69 two-way trips 
(7 inbound and 62 outbound). In terms of daily trip movement, the existing offices have 475 
two-way vehicle movements (239 inbound and 236 outbound). In regards to the veterinary 
surgery which is 472 sq.m in area, this generated in the AM peak 21 two-way trips (13 
inbound and 8 outbound) and 24 two-trips (10 inbound and 14 outbound) in the PM peak. In 
regards to daily trip movements, there are currently 298 two-way trips (148 inbound and 150 
outbound) 

 
10.10.8 There are therefore currently in the AM peak 104 two-way trips (89 inbound and 15 outbound) 

and 93 trips (17 inbound and 76 outbound) in the PM peak. In terms of total daily trips, there 
are currently 773 two-way vehicle trips (387 inbound and 386 outbound). It can therefore be 
calculated that there are 1.73 vehicle trips every minute in the AM peak and 1.55 trips every 
minute during the PM peak. With respect to daily trips, this equates to 0.5 inbound trips per 
minute and 0.53 outbound trips per minute. 

 
10.10.9 Dealing now with the proposed development and specifically the residential part of the 

development, the TRICS assessment identifies that in the AM peak, there would be 23 trips 
(6 inbound and 17 outbound) and in regards to the PM peak, there would be 30 trips (19 
inbound and 11 outbound). In regards to daily trip generation, there would 157 inbound trips 
and 143 outbound trips. Looking at the trip rates for the proposed office part of the 
development, with190 car parking spaces, it is estimated there would be 70 two-way trips in 
the AM Peak (57 inbound and 12 outbound) and in the PM peak, 60 two-way trips (9 inbound 
and 51 outbound). In terms of daily trips, there would be 280 inbound and 278 outbound (558 
daily trips). 

 
10.10.10 Therefore, there would be a total of 94 two-way trips in the AM Peak (63 inbound and 29 

outbound) and in the PM peak, there would be 90 two-way trips (28 inbound and 62 
outbound). In terms of daily trips, there would be 437 inbound and 427 outbound (858 trips 
in total). It can therefore be calculated that there would be 1.56 trips every minute in the AM 
peak and 1.5 trips every minute in the PM peak. With respect to daily trips, this equates to 
0.60 inbound trips per minute and 0.59 outbound trips per minute. 

Page 171



- 88 - 

 
10.10.11 Looking at the existing and proposed levels of traffic generation, in the AM Peak, it has been 

demonstrated that there would be a reduction of 26 inbound vehicle movements but an 
increase of 14 outbound vehicle movements. As such, there would be a net decrease of 10 
two-way vehicle movements. In relation to the PM peak, there would be an increase of 11 
inbound vehicle trips but a decrease of 14 vehicle outbound trips. This results in a reduction 
of 3 two-way vehicle movements. In regards to daily traffic generation, there would be an 
increase over the existing situation of 50 inbound movements and 35 outbound movements, 
in total; an additional 85 two-way movements. Therefore, it is evident that the proposed 
development would only result in a marginal increase in two-way vehicle movements. The 
reason for this is because the restriction on the number of parking spaces in the office 
development has a positive impact in terms of traffic generation. In addition, there is a 
reduction in the number of vehicles travelling to and from the site during peak travel periods.  

   
10.10.12 In regards to trip distribution, there is only one way traffic can enter and egress the site. This 

is travelling southbound along Gunnels Wood Road into Maxwell Road and when leaving the 
site vehicles would egress onto the southbound carriageway of Gunnels Wood Road. 
However, due to the limited increase in vehicle movements to and from the site, it is not 
considered the development would affect the flow of traffic along Gunnels Wood Road. 
However, and as set out in the Transport Assessment, Keep Clear Markings shall be located 
on the A1072 Gunnels Wood Road near the junction with Maxwell Road. This is in the 
interests of highway safety and to ensure the safe and free flow of traffic.  

 
10.10.13 With respect to accident data, the applicant has provided personal injury collision data for the 

last five years. The collision statistics submitted do not reveal any reoccurring problem, or 
patterns on the nearby local highway road network. The applicant has also conducted a Stage 
1 Road Safety Audit (RSA) (in accordance with Manual for Streets) on the proposed off-site 
highways works in connection with the redevelopment of the site. These highways include 
the new pedestrian crossing on Maxwell Road, the two new vehicle access points as well as 
new sections of footway to the eastern and western footpaths which are outside the site 
boundary.  

 
10.10.14 Taking the traffic modelling into consideration, Hertfordshire County Council as Highways 

Authority has considered that the development would result in a nominal increase in vehicle 
trips to the development as a whole, but this would not be such as to prejudice highway 
safety. In addition, they consider the Stage 1 Safety Audit to be acceptable in accordance 
with the County Council’s Highways Design Guidance. In addition, they consider the collision 
statistics do not reveal any reoccurring problems on the local highway network.  

 
10.10.15 In order to ensure that the opportunities to use sustainable transport are taken up and to help 

improve traffic conditions at the site and the immediate surrounding area, there would be an 
encouragement towards the use of local buses as well as the local cycle network in order to 
encourage a modal shift away from the private car. The County Council consider the bus 
services to be viable and able to support the development. Given this, a condition would be 
imposed requiring bus stop improvements including provision of raised Kassel kerbing, 
shelter and a bench at the existing southbound bus stop in Cavendish Road. In terms of 
highway safety during the construction phase of development, the Highways Authority have 
recommended conditions be imposed requiring details Construction Traffic Management 
Plans be submitted prior to the commencement of any development.  

 
10.10.16In regards to travel plans, whilst a draft Travel Plan has been submitted, it is recommended 

that detailed travel plans for both the commercial and residential developments are submitted 
to the Council for its written approval. As such, this would be secured via a condition. In terms 
of monitoring and evaluating the Travel Plans, HCC as Highways Authority have 
recommended a financial contribution is secured as part of any legal agreement. In relation 
to construction traffic, HCC Highways have recommended that if planning permission were 
to be granted, that a condition be imposed requiring the applicant to prepare a Construction 

Page 172



- 89 - 

Traffic Management Plan. This will ensure that construction traffic does not cause any issues 
with the safety and operation of the highway network. 

 
10.10.17 With respect to potential issue of vehicles parking along Maxwell Road which could have a 

detrimental impact on the safety and operation of the highway, Hertfordshire County Council 
has recommended a condition be imposed for the provision of a Traffic Regulation Order 
(TRO). The TRO will include parking and waiting restrictions in the form of double yellow lines 
that are required in improving accessibility. In terms of existing access points which are to be 
stopped up in order to facilitate the delivery of the development, this would also be dealt with 
via condition as recommended by the Highways Authority.   

10.10.18Turning to the comments set out by the Council’s Traffic and Enforcement Manager, he 
recommends that if the residential road is to be adopted a financial contribution should be 
sought for the drafting and preparation of a TRO. This is because Maxwell Road currently 
has a single yellow line to prevent commuter parking. The road is also subject to an overnight 
and weekend ban on parking by commercial vehicles of more than 5 tonnes/seating of more 
than 12 passengers. As the roads are not to be adopted, there will not be a requirement for 
the drafting of a TRO as this would be managed by a Management Company which would 
be secured as part of the S.106 agreement.  

10.10.19 In summary, subject to a S106 Agreement securing the relevant financial obligations and the 
imposition of conditions, the proposed development as advised by Hertfordshire County 
Council would not have a detrimental impact on the safety and operation of the highway 
network.  

 
10.11 Development and Flood Risk 
 
10.11.1 The application site is located within Flood Zone 1 within the Environment Agency’s flood risk 

map. Flood Zone 1 is defined as land having less than 1 in 100 annual probability of flooding, 
therefore, all developments are generally directed to Flood Zone 1. Notwithstanding this, the 
application which has been submitted to the Council is classified as a Major, therefore, in line 
with the Town and Country Planning (General Development Procedure) (England) Order 
2015, the applicant has provided a Sustainable Urban Drainage Strategy. 

  
10.11.2 The sustainable drainage system is based on attenuation and restricted discharge, via a 

Hydrobrake at 2.5l/s which is very close to the greenfield run-off rate for the site. The applicant 
has provided a technical note detailing justification and the provision of this. Following 
consultation with Hertfordshire County Council as Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA), they 
advise that as the scheme is in outline, the applicant will still be required to provide a detailed 
attenuation system as well as details of Suds management. Consequently, if permission were 
to be granted, the LLFA recommend the following conditions be imposed:- 

 

 A scheme that manages surface water run-off and surface water-risk; 

 Secure the principles of the drainage scheme; 

 Final detailed drainage proposals; and 

 Post constriction management and maintenance.  
 

10.11.3 The LLFA request that should planning permission be granted, they wish to be consulted on 
the reserved matters application in line with the suggested conditions. Once these reserved 
matters are approved, the applicant will need to provide the final detailed drainage strategy 
as part of the recommended surface water conditions.  

 
10.11.4 The LLFA also recommended that the Council obtains a maintenance plan that explains and 

follows the manufacturer’s recommendations for maintenance or follows the guidelines 
explained in the SuDS Manual by Ciria. A maintenance plan should also include an inspection 
timetable with long term action plans to be carried out to ensure effective operation and to 
prevent failure.  The requirement can also be secured by way of condition if the Council is 

Page 173



- 90 - 

minded to grant planning permission.  
 

10.12 Impact on the environment 
 
10.12.1 The application site, as identified in the applicant’s Phase 1 Geo-environmental Desk Study, 

sets out that prior to the site being developed out in the 1960s the site was part of open fields 
with a farm immediately to the south. The site currently comprises of three separate 
commercial/light industrial units. These include the FIRA test facility, offices operated by 
Serviceline Ltd and a veterinary practice. The site also comprises areas of hardstanding 
which serve as surface car parking areas and service roads.  

 
10.12.2 The report submitted by the applicant, based on their findings recommended the following:- 
 

 A Phase 2 contamination assessment is required at the site in order to confirm whether or 
not the identified potential contamination sources are valid; and 

 For any form of the development, it is recommended that an intrusive ground investigation 
is undertaken in order to confirm ground conditions and allow design of the new structures. 

 
10.12.3 Following consultation with the Council’s Environmental Health Section, it is considered that 

whilst there are contaminants on this site. The recommendations set out in the applicant’s 
Geo-environmental Desk Study are considered to be acceptable, however, it is 
recommended that a condition be imposed that in the event of potential contaminants being 
identified, the applicant undertakes the appropriate investigation and needs to submit a 
remediation strategy to the Council for its written approval.  

 
 Groundwater 
 
10.12.4 The application site is located within Source Protection Zone 1 for potable water supplied and 

is within 120 metres of an abstraction borehole used to supply water for human consumption. 
Following consultation with the Environment Agency, due to the potential risks the 
development poses on groundwater sources, they recommend a number of conditions be 
imposed if planning permission were to be granted dealing with contamination, method of 
construction and managing boreholes.  

 
 Air Quality 

 
10.12.5 Policy FP7 of the adopted Local Plan (2019) states that all development proposals should 

minimise, and where possible, reduce air, water, light and noise pollution. Looking at air 
quality and air pollution specifically, The Air Quality Annual Status Report (ASR) 2019 by 
Stevenage Borough Council identifies that the development site is not located within or in 
close proximity to an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA). In terms of Air Quality in the 
nearby area surrounding the development site, the nearest diffusion tubes and their readings 
in the aforementioned Report are as follows:- 

 

 Tube 11 (Newlyn Close) – 19.2 NO2 µg/m³; 

 Tube 22 (Townsend Mews) – 23.2 NO2 µg/m³ 
 The data above shows that the readings do not exceed the NO2 annual mean objective of 

40µg/m³. This generally shows that the Air Quality in the area is within national guidelines.  
 
10.12.6 The air quality assessment undertaken by the applicants consultant (Report prepared by SLR 

dated March 2021, report reference:- 410.09084.00002 rev 1) focuses on both the 
demolition/construction phase and operational phase of the development. Dealing with the 
construction phase, it is noted that there would be activities which will affect local air quality. 
These include dust emissions and exhaust emissions from plant, machinery and construction 
traffic. 

 

Page 174



- 91 - 

10.12.7 In order to mitigate the construction phase, the applicant would look to develop and 
implement a stakeholder communication plan that includes community engagement. They 
would also look to implement a Dust Management Plan (DMP) which would form part of a 
Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) which will also include the recording 
of any complaints and to identify causes in order to take action. They would also monitor the 
site daily through visual inspections, which will also include receptors outside of the 
respective construction sites. There would also be regular inspections to ensure compliance 
with the DMP along with planning the site layout in order to locate dust generating activities 
as far as possible from nearby receptors. There would also be the use of solid screens around 
dusty activities and stockpiles along with keeping scaffolding and barriers clean. 

 
10.12.8 There would also be a requirement to remove all dusty materials from the site as soon as 

possible along with the introduction of speed restrictions. In addition, there will be a 
requirement for vehicles to switch off engines when stationary, avoid the use of generators 
where possible, and produce a logistics and sustainable travel plan in order to reduce the 
number of construction vehicles on the road. They would also put in place measures relating 
to cutting, sawing and grinding to reduce dust emissions along with the use of enclosed 
chutes, conveyors and skips and use of suitable dust suppression measures on site. There 
would also be a number of other measures implemented during the demolition and 
construction phases of development. 

 
10.12.9 Following consultation with the Council’s Environmental Health Section, they do not raise any 

concerns with the proposed mitigation measures to be put in place during construction. 
However, a condition would be imposed requiring the submission of a CEMP to ensure the 
overall measures taking place during construction do reduce any impact in terms of air quality 
on the local environment. With regards to the operational aspect of the development, the air 
quality modelling undertaken by the applicant demonstrates that air quality would meet the 
annual and hourly NO2 objectives throughout the proposed development and at adjacent off-
site receptors. The modelling has indicated that the emissions from the operational traffic 
would give rise to a very limited rise in NO2 emissions which in accordance with IAQM/EPUK 
guidance is identified as having a negligible impact at all receptors in the area. As such,  the 
need for additional mitigation has not been identified as being required. As such, the Council’s 
Environmental Health Section has not raised any concerns with respect to the operational 
impact the development would have on air quality.  

 
  Noise Pollution  
 
10.12.10 With respect to noise, Policy FP8: Pollution Sensitive Uses stipulates that planning permission 

for pollution sensitive uses will be granted where they will not be subjected to unacceptably 
high levels of pollution exposure from either existing, or proposed pollution generating uses. 
Taking this policy into consideration, it is appreciated the application site does sit within a 
commercial environment so there is already a significant amount of background noise 
generated by traffic, plant and equipment, pedestrians and residents as well as the operation 
of existing businesses. Consequently, these noise sources could have an impact on the future 
amenities of the future residents of the development as well. 

 
10.12.11Dealing firstly with the impact of noise from the construction phase of the development, it is 

recommended a condition is imposed on any permission issued requiring the submission of a 
Construction Management Plan (CMP). Through the CMP the hours in which noisy activities 
take place can be controlled as measures as ensuring relevant mitigation measures are put 
in place to minimise the impact of noise from construction activities. Moreover, once a CMP 
has been agreed by the Council, if a breach were to take place, it can enforce the condition 
accordingly. Consequently, the imposition of such condition is supported by the Council’s 
Environmental Health Section.  

 
10.12.12Turning now to the proposed development itself and taking into consideration its general 

locality, it will be subjected to reasonably high road traffic and other environmental noise 

Page 175



- 92 - 

(including noise generated by commercial operators at Cockerell Close such as Flamingo) 
which serves to mask many sources of neighbourhood and neighbour noise. As such, the 
residential aspect of the proposed development would be exposed to high levels of noise 
which is generated from the commercial operators and the local highway network. In 
addition to this, it is fully appreciated that the proposed development itself could cause 
harm to the amenities of the occupiers of Broomin Green Farm as well as other nearby 
residential properties.  

 
10.12.13Given the aforementioned, the applicant has submitted a revised Noise Impact Assessment 

along with an amended scheme. The scheme was amended in part to address the issues of 
noise which is generated by the commercial operations on Cockerell Close as well as noise 
from the nearby highway network. This assessment has been reviewed by the Council’s 
Environmental Health Department and officers with careful consideration as to the effects of 
summer versus winter.  

 

10.12.14As identified from the Noise Impact Assessment by SLR (March 2022), identified that the 
northern and western facades of residential blocks would also be exposed to commercial 
site noise from those off-site commercial developments located to the north of the site. 
Such facades are better screened from road traffic sources reducing their masking 
internal background sound levels and were such as to place the commercial activities at 
risk of constraint contrary to the NPPF paragraph 187 national policy guidance. This 
problem is identified in the noise report and addressed through design and layout 
changes when compared to previous designs. The changes are such that no opening 
windows or doors are now potentially impacted. The revised approach to design change 
is apparent as it has adopted an approach which seeks to avoid land use policy conflicts.   

10.12.15 In regards to the transport sources of noise in the locality, these cannot be constrained, for 
example through nuisance action and as a result can be suitably addressed through 
mechanical ventilation of the residential units such that windows can remain closed without 
compromising fresh air and cooling requirements. However, many such windows are also 
screened by the layout to the point natural ventilation will be effective in many locations.  

10.12.16Other potential noise issues such as plant noise emitted from the commercial part of the 
development and its local traffic generation can be readily addressed through control over 
the external elements of the commercial area and its operations such as hours of use / 
activity, use of the service road and external activity management. Planning conditions 
requiring a scheme of control (as suggested by the Environmental Health Department) over 
such plant and activity can be used to address this. In terms of the service road a condition 
requiring a prior use approved noise management plan can address this. This is needed to 
protect the existing residential development and part of the proposed development. 

10.12.17Unlike existing off-site commercial operations that could be impacted by the development, 
the new business part of the development does not involve triggering constraint over existing 
commercial use. Simply put, new plant at the commercial part of the site and that serving 
residential blocks should be subject to prior written approval of the planning authority through 
conditions (as suggested by the Environmental Health Department), which would be subject 
to demonstrating noise levels are not excessive or unsuitable. Suitable levels of noise are 
readily met for such a site and issues are highly unlikely to arise but addressed through 
condition.  

10.12.18In terms of vehicular activity serving the commercial part of the development and potentially 
impacting both existing and proposed residential use, this is readily controlled through a noise 
management plan controlling use of external areas and part of the site road. The likelihood 
of problems is not expected to differ significantly from the current site uses, which contains 
more diversely spread commercial buildings and use, subject to control over the service road 
adjacent Broomin Green Farm and Block 4 of the development. The controls can be simplistic 

Page 176



- 93 - 

in design including times of use by goods vehicles, parking restrictions, including the 
exclusion of the operation of cooling plant and preventing movements by goods vehicles at 
night.  

10.12.19It can be concluded the degree of certainty that off-site commercial sources of noise are 
adequately mitigated at the development site residential openings due to the design adopted, 
is high. The risk of constraint upon existing commercial operations is not presented by this 
proposed development. Future transport noise levels are informed through predicted levels 
post development, especially where a development can change those levels due to screening 
effects along with changes to transport activity itself. Assessment is assisted through 
measuring the existing noise levels generated which has been undertaken and assessed in 
detail in the noise report in this case. 

10.12.20Measurements presented in the noise report demonstrate the area is subject to high levels 
of road traffic noise with major roads on two sides. Whilst the development itself will change 
the sound environment to a degree, the extent of road traffic noise and directions over which 
it emanates means proposed facades with operable windows and doors will remain impacted 
by high levels of road traffic noise. In turn this indicates the need for suitable noise mitigation 
of internal areas in many cases. In turn this indicates the need for mechanical ventilation to 
enable sufficient air exchange for summertime cooling and fresh air requirements / prevention 
of internal pollutant build up. There is therefore a need for a mechanical ventilation scheme 
relevant to each residential block. This is recognised in the SLR report and suitably 
discussed.  

10.12.21Background sound levels are identified as falling at night in a typical / expected manner and 
their differential with commercial sources will be exacerbated at new residential facades 
screened from the main road network and facing existing off-site commercial uses. 
Furthermore, external background sound level measurements outside facades can serve to 
overstate the level of internal masking noise when the external measurement location does 
not reflect the angle of incidence of any intruding sound upon those residential facades. They 
can be differentially reduced. This is a risk factor in this case. Notwithstanding the concerns 
identified above, the measurements provided do correctly reflect the methods as set out in 
BS4142:2014. Furthermore, none of the facades facing the existing off-site commercial uses 
now have operable windows or doors into residential rooms, thereby removing any concern 
over this point. This is a significant and positive change in the design that is supported.  

10.12.22Facades with operable windows and doors to residential rooms now directly face road traffic 
sources and, importantly, are substantially screened from the off-site commercial noise 
sources. The consequence is that transport based masking noise experienced internally will 
be higher than commercial noise sources when compared to any difference externally arising 
from predictions outside of those facades. In turn this element much increases certainty the 
commercial noise will not be of concern. A detailed analysis of commercial noise sources has 
been provided in the noise report including predictions of resulting noise using CadnaA and 
the ISO9613-2 methodology within the CadnaA software platform. It is not necessary to 
critique this assessment in detail nor the approach to low frequency noise adopted by the 
noise consultant, the latter of which did not find such sources. Critique is not needed as the 
margin provided below any potentially actionable noise level is substantial and fully accords 
with our own findings in similar cases at other sites. In other words predicted levels accord 
with expectation and furthermore those given are considered to overstate the already low 
risk. 

10.12.23Low frequency noise was not considered further in the SLR report as no such sources were 
identified. However, such sources could arise within the permitted nearby commercial uses 
and potentially could be considered further when looking at possible constraint of the existing 
off-site commercial developments. Notwithstanding this, the layout and form of development 
now proposed affords such levels of noise attenuation at operable doors and windows serving 

Page 177



- 94 - 

habitable spaces within the proposed development, including within the low frequency bands, 
it is no longer a conceivable risk of adverse impact. This is due to the design and layout 
adopted. Further there is a significant margin afforded.  

10.12.24A 6dB impulse rating penalty has been applied using BS4142:2014. This is agreed as 
appropriate and in line with values I have applied for similar operations. An overall rating of 
10dB has been applied which is considered as high or more than required and therefore 
provides greater margin for adverse effects. This is considered high as observed tonal and 
impulse character content is commonly found to reduce significantly at well screened 
locations, as provided in this case. It is also further reduced due to the extreme angle of 
incidence of such sources on openings when going inside. It is therefore agreed a 
conservative form of assessment has been applied by SLR. 2.8 The SLR predicted adverse 
decibel rating level over background sound levels using BS4142:2014 was placed at +4dB 
at its highest. This is agreed and expected to be lower. Nuisance action below a rating excess 
of 10dB in such circumstances is, in my experience, unknown and not sustainable. This in 
turn gives a margin of not less than 6dB in a very worst case scenario. In reality the margin 
is much greater due to the application of high ratings in this case and disregard of increased 
reductions when going inside due to higher angle of incidence losses.  

 
10.12.25Taking the above into consideration, even when considered using a conservative 

assessment method, the resulting levels are significantly below any point that could 
potentially lead to constraint of existing commercial enterprises. It is agreed the risk of 
adverse impact is greatest at night and the worst case margins predicted in the noise report 
relate to this period. Modelling of noise using ISO9613-2 is limited in terms of the reductions 
it can include due to multiple screening effects. In other words in complex cases it can 
understate the reduction in noise. The standard limits screening effects to just two points 
obstructing a source to receiver line. In this case there are more points of obstruction which 
are therefore of added / unknown additional benefit. Whilst these cannot be calculated, it is 
reasonable to conclude actual attenuation will be greater than predicted. This further reduces 
uncertainty.  

 
10.12.26Road traffic noise is correctly assessed using the Calculation of Road Traffic Noise which is 

the method adopted in the UK. These serve to confirm both masking levels of noise and some 
areas where there is exposure to excess transport noise at facades. Various facades are 
south facing meaning there is increased solar gain and increased risks of overheating during 
the daytime. These facades also experience highest levels of transport noise. As a result the 
need for mechanical forms of ventilation has been identified in the noise report and this is 
consistent with the dual requirements of removal of internal pollutants and prevention of 
overheating in this case whilst mitigating the noise. The actual requirement for mechanical 
ventilation is on a room by room basis and this can be addressed by prior approval of a 
ventilation scheme type condition.  

10.12.27The noise report identifies a risk of some balcony areas as predicted to experience slight 
excess transport noise above recommended levels. Forms of mitigating this excess noise are 
discussed in the report and recognised as a means of further mitigating the noise. However, 
on balance this is not considered necessary. The provision of a balcony area with higher than 
desired noise is better in terms of the provision of a private and dedicated amenity space to 
an individual unit of accommodation than not having such an amenity space at all. One 
alternative is to omit the adverse affected balconies but this is not considered of any benefit. 
Mitigation of the noise within balcony areas is an option but with some adverse effects arising 
from enclosure or partial enclosure for what is a small reduction in noise levels. Whilst 
reduced noise is always beneficial, human desire for an open aerated external balcony area 
is often much greater. In summary it is not considered there is any need to require additional 
mitigation of these areas that provide greater benefit overall as an open space. It is agreed 
solid balustrades can be beneficial, especially where they then reduce noise entry to the 
internal rooms with balcony doors open. This aspect of the design is therefore supported but 

Page 178



- 95 - 

it is not considered this should be a mandatory requirement for the balconies where excess 
noise is predicted.  

10.12.28 It is agreed with the SLR report that commercial plant needed to address servicing the 
office building, cooling its space and to its car parking space can be addressed at a 
subsequent stage. This can readily be addressed without adverse impact arising or the 
need for design revisions. A scheme to address commercial noise required by a planning 
condition is proposed in Section 7.2 of the noise report.  

10.12.29The assessment does not address the risk of noise from the use of the service road and 
parking along it as well as the operation of vehicles on that road. There is potential for them 
to impact the proposed residential development, especially block 4 and also the existing 
Broomin Green Farm. This can however, be readily controlled by the imposition of a condition 
requiring the submission of and adherence to a noise management scheme for this area of 
the site, as approved by the planning authority prior to the commencement of the commercial 
use. In this regard, Environmental Health have suggested a condition includes a simple plan 
which is used for identification purposes only which identifies the area to which noise 
management over use would apply.  

10.12.30 Dealing specifically with the concerns which has been raised by the occupiers of Broomin 
Green Farm, it is acknowledged that the biggest risk is from open delivery yards and the 
material handling noise which is the same in both the summertime and in winter.  A separate 
risk is of low frequency noise from refrigeration plant and that can be higher in the 
summer.  This risk can be assessed by working backwards.  In other words how much noise 
is needed for it to be excessive within dwellings.  Simply put, in this case, as now designed, 
levels could never be high enough at the Flamingo site to adversely affect the dwellings when 
considering normal plant and machinery.  Furthermore, if they were they would adversely 
affect Broomin Green Farmhouse and more distant dwellings substantially more than the 
proposed development would be affected.   

 10.12.31The existing industrial / commercial uses adjacent to the Farmhouse, before they became 
vacant, clearly presented a far greater potential issue of noise impact than offices.  There is 
a lot of plant and whilst current use may not generate a lot of noise it is clear it could within 
the current permitted forms of use.  With noise management of the road serving the offices 
this is not considered in the same league of potential adverse impact.  When looking at 
summer plant noise increases, officers are satisfied that the level of protection afforded by 
the design is wholly sufficient to counter this.   

10.12.32The aerial shot below shows many existing yard activities at the off-site 24 hour depot are 
currently unscreened at Broomin Green Farm.  The presence of some screening means 
some mobile sources of noise will rise and fall quite significantly.  For example a reversing 
FLT would be reduced by screening until moving into an unscreened position leading to a 
sudden rise in levels at Broomin Green Farm.  In contrast the new development is now 
continuously screened from all the activity.    

Page 179



- 96 - 

 

10.12.33  In terms of distance a parked lorry as seen in the aerial photograph is about 130m from an 
unscreened window at Broomin Green Farm and 95 metres from the totally screened 
residential window in the proposed development.  This distance difference means the noise 
reduces a further 2dBA to Broomin Green Farm due to distance but is not reduced by 
screening effects.  In contrast this means provided the screening reduces the noise at the 
new development more than 2dB then it will be lower than at Broomin Green Farm.    In 
actual fact the screening will reduce levels well in excess of 20dBA so 10 times the reduction 
compared to Broomin Green Farm.  This means the constraining residential premises that 
could affect the off-site sources in order of priority is Broomin Green Farm followed by 
Mozart Court which is a further 2dB lower than the farm and with levels at the new 
development substantially (more than 14dB) less.   

 10.12.34 In simple terms there is a reduction of noise due to distance and screening.  There are other 
factors but their influence is much less.  A point source of noise will reduce about 6dB for 
every doubling of distance.  So get four times the distance away and you will reduce the 
noise 12dB.  Get eight times the distance away to reduce it 18dBA.  Compare that to the 
screening of the new development in this case which reduces the noise more than 20dB.  It 
can be seen screening is substantially more important in this case than source level and 
even if there is a degree of screening at distant dwellings, the differential is so great the 
development as proposed will not constrain the existing off-site uses; more distant property 
would.   

10.12.35  Finally there is some argument of planning gain.  The higher residential and commercial 
blocks compared to the current development will serve to reduce some of the transport 
noise from Gunnels Wood Road slightly improving the sound environment at the northern 
facing facades of Broomin Green Farm.  There is also currently a yard area adjacent 
Broomin Green Farm to its western side which will no longer exist and the road replacing 
this will be subject to a noise management plan as suggested by Environmental 
Health.  This will be secured by way of conditions if the Council was minded to grant 
planning permission.  

10.12.36  Taking the aforementioned assessment into consideration, it can be deduced that through 
appropriate mitigation measures, the proposed development would not have a detrimental 
impact on the amenities of neighbouring residential properties, including Broomin Green 
Farm. For reference, the conditions which have been suggested by the Council’s 
Environmental Health Department cover the following: 

Page 180



- 97 - 

a) A pre development planning authority approved scheme to address the forms of noise 
mitigation required at each residential block and the offices, including noise generated by 
any mechanical ventilation;  
b) A pre development planning authority approved scheme to address the provision of 
mechanical ventilation to enable use of all residential, and commercial units without 
reliance on opening windows and doors where external transport levels are excessive.  
c) A pre development planning authority approved scheme of noise mitigation of any fixed 
plant and machinery introduced by the development that could affect existing and prosed 
residential uses.  
d) A noise management plan, subject to prior approval before the commercial use 
commences and relating to the use of the external service road adjacent the office / 
commercial development of the site.  
e) A prior approved demolition and construction noise assessment and management plan 
condition is needed to address impact upon the existing residential property during the 
construction and demolition phases.  

 
 Light Pollution 
 
10.12.37In terms of light pollution, Policy FP7: Pollution of the adopted Local Plan (2019) requires all 

development proposal should minimise, where possible, reduce….light…pollution. 
Applications for development where pollution is suspected must contain sufficient information 
for the application to make a full assessment on impacts. Planning permission will be granted 
where it can be demonstrated that the development will not have unacceptable impacts on: 

 
 a. the natural environment, general amenity and the tranquillity of the wider area which 

includes light pollution; 
 b. health and safety of the public; and 
 c. The compliance with statutory environmental quality standards.  
 
10.12.38It is important to note that the site is an operational employment site with associated 

veterinary clinics. As such, the premises which already operate from the development site 
create an element of light pollution from both internal and external lighting systems. Further 
to this, the site is also bordered by residential and commercial development along with a 
trafficked highway which comprises two arm lighting columns and a centralised light column 
on the roundabout. As such, the site is already affected by a level of background light.   

 
10.12.39Turning to the operational side of the development, the applicant has not submitted a detailed 

lighting strategy given the outline nature of the proposed development. However, to ensure 
that any external lighting does not prejudice highway safety or cause a substantive nuisance 
to neighbouring residential properties (including Broomin Green Farmhouse), a condition 
should be imposed to any permission issued. Details which will need to be provided as part 
of an overall lighting strategy will need to include:- 

 

 Description of the proposed hours of operation (especially on the commercial building), 
lighting spillage and column heights; 

 A layout plan (as this a Reserved Matter) of the proposed site showing beam orientation; 

 Details of the proposed equipment design; 

 Details of the expected impact on neighbouring properties and roads; 

 A statement of any proposed measures to mitigate for the possible impact of the 
development  (i.e. planting of trees, hedges and shrubs, which again would form part of 
any Reserved Matters application).  

 
10.12.40In terms of lighting associated with the construction aspect of the proposed development, this 

can be dealt with as part of a Construction Management Plan. This can be secured by way 
of condition if the Council is minded to grant planning permission.  

   
10.13 Trees and landscaping 

Page 181



- 98 - 

 
10.13.1 Policy NH5 of the adopted Local Plan (2019) states that development proposals will be 

expected to protect and retain individual trees within the development site and should include 
new planting where appropriate.  

 
10.13.2 The development contains a number of trees. There are nine Norway Maples on the northern 

boundary with Maxwell Road, two small groups of Hybrid Black Poplars on the northern and 
eastern boundary along with a group of trees comprising Sycamore, Ash, Weeping Willow, 
Norway Maps and Lombary Poplar. These lie between the site and the northern boundary of 
Broomin Green Farmhouse. To the south-east of the site are two large leaved Limes and to 
the south-west is a Whitebeam and Norway Maple. Within the site, there is a group of trees 
comprising Norway Maple and a Walnut. There is also a hedgerow of Hawthorn and Beech 
which lies at the eastern site boundary. 

 
10.13.3 Within context of the wider area, there is a linear wooded belt of trees which lie to the east of 

the site and this continues northwards, lying to the east of the industrial building currently 
occupied by Screwfix. The proposed development seeks to retain the majority of existing 
landscape features such as the off-site trees in proximity to the site boundary. The mature 
trees associated with the highways and cycleways would also be retained in order to soften 
views of the proposed development.  

10.13.4 Notwithstanding the above, it is noted that the development, as detailed on the parameter 
plans, would result in the removal of 8 trees which are located on the western boundary of 
the site as well as some trees within the application site to the east. However, the trees 
identified for removal are generally considered to be of low value. Following consultation with 
the Council’s Arboricultural Manager, he has not raised any concerns with regards to the 
removal of these trees.  

10.13.5 In addition to the above, the Arboricultural Manager has also recommended additional works 
the developer will need to undertake in relation to a number of trees which fall outside the 
site boundary. The works which have been suggested are set out in paragraph 5.8.1 of this 
report.  

10.13.6 Notwithstanding the aforementioned, the proposed trees identified for removal are only 
indicative as the scheme is currently in outline. As such, consideration as to the number of 
trees which are to be removed as part of any development would be considered as part of 
any reserved matters application. In addition to this, the works which have been suggested 
by the Council’s Arboricultural Manager could also form part of any reserved matters 
application. In terms of landscaping and replacement planting (including trees), this would 
also be considered in more detail as part of any future reserved matters application which is 
submitted to the Council.  

 
10.14 Biodiversity, Ecology and Protected species 

10.14.1 The NPPF and accompanying Planning Practice Guidance requires the Council to achieve 
measurable net gains in biodiversity at development sites and across the Borough. To 
achieve a biodiversity net gain, a development must deliver a minimum of 10% net gain post 
development, when compared with the pre-development baseline. The Council’s recently 
adopted Biodiversity SPD (2021) requires all major and minor applications other than the 
following exemptions currently suggested by the Government to demonstrate a net gain in 
biodiversity: 

i. Permitted development; 
ii. Householder development, including extensions; 
iii. Nationally significant infrastructure, which falls within scope of the Planning Act 2008; 

Page 182



- 99 - 

iv. Some brownfield sites with marginal viability and substantial constraints. It is 
expected that full details to be set out in secondary legislation, but considerations are 
likely to include where sites contain a high proportion of derelict land and buildings 
and only a small percentage of the site is undeveloped, land values are significantly 
lower than average, and the site does not contain any protected habitats; and 

v. Developments that would not result in measurable loss or degradation of habitat, for 
instance change of use of or alterations to building 

10.14.2 The application site is identified as previously developed land and currently comprises of 
amenity grassland, ruderal and scrub vegetation, hedges, trees and shrubs, hardstanding 
and buildings. The wider environment is generally urban in nature comprising a mixture of 
residential, industrial and commercial buildings along with hardstanding, trees and amenity 
grassland. The applicant has undertaken a Phase 1 Habitat Survey to assess the potential 
for the site and adjoining habitats to have species that receive legal protection at either UK 
and/or European level. The survey comprised a desk top study from Hertfordshire Biological 
Records Centre and from the multi-agency Geographical Information for the Countryside 
(MAGIC). A field survey was also undertaken along with a Bat Survey. 

 
10.14.3 The survey identified that there are no protected species such as birds, flora, invertebrates, 

mammals and reptiles within the application site. In terms of impact, as the development site 
is a considerable distance from any designated sites, it is considered that the proposed 
development would not have a detrimental impact on these sites. Consequently, it was 
concluded that the development site as a whole has a low ecological value. 

 
10.14.4 In regards to birds, these are protected by the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. It is 

considered that there is a suitable foraging and nesting habitat on the site, particularly within 
the trees and potentially in the flat roofed areas of the buildings. Notwithstanding this, as birds 
are protected, a condition would be imposed to protect nesting birds and for trees to only be 
removed at certain times of the year. 

 
10.14.5 Given the above, it is considered that the proposal would not have a detrimental impact on 

protected species, both flora and fauna. However, the ecology report does recommend that 
a condition be imposed for a breeding bird survey for Black Redstarts be carried out, one in 
May and one in June. In addition, it recommended that the hedges are retained where 
possible to provide continued nesting and foraging habitats for birds and foraging lines for 
bats. In this regard, as landscaping is a matter which is reserved, the Council can seek to 
ensure sufficient hedging is retained as part of any landscaping strategy for the development. 
It is also recommended a condition be imposed requiring details of bird boxes to be agreed 
in writing by the Council, and thereafter, to be installed in accordance with the approved 
details.  

 
10.14.6 Finally, it is also recommended that the use of brash or log-piles could be created at the edge 

of the site to provide wildlife stacks form invertebrates and small mammals. In addition, as 
part of any boundary treatment, any close board fencing should have hedgehog gaps placed 
in them to allow them and other small mammals’ access throughout the site.  

 
10.14.7 Following consultation with Herts and Middlesex Wild Life Trust (HMWT), they consider that 

as the site has a low ecological value, they do not consider there will be any significant, 
meaningful or measurable loss of biodiversity as a result of the development. This is because 
the biodiversity metric of the habitats identified on the site are so low that they are not deemed 
as meaningfully measurable. With regards to the biodiversity enhancements suggested by 
the applicants Ecologist, due to the location of the site they do not consider these measures 
as appropriate. However, they do agree that the proposed swift boxes are appropriate. As 
such, the Trust advise that if permission were to be granted a condition should be imposed 
requiring the suitable provision of swift boxes across the development site.  

 
10.15 Other Matters 

Page 183



- 100 - 

 
 Sustainable construction and climate change 
 
10.15.1 Policy FP1 of the adopted Local Plan (2019) stipulates that planning permission will be 

granted for development that can incorporate measures to address adaptation to climate 
change. New developments will be encouraged to include measures such as: 

 

 Ways to ensure development is resilient to likely variations in temperature; 

 Reducing water consumption to no more than 110 litres per person per day, including 
external water use; 

 Improving energy performance of buildings; 

 Reducing energy consumption through efficiency measures; 

 Using or producing renewable or low carbon energy from a local source; and 

 Contributing towards reducing flood risk through the use of SuDS or other appropriate 
measures. 

 
10.15.2 Taking the aforementioned policy into consideration, the applicant has not provided details 

of how the development would be adaptable to climate change. This is due to the application 
being in outline form. Therefore, if planning permission was to be granted, a condition can be 
imposed to any permission issued requiring the applicant to submit details of measures they 
will utilise to ensure the development is made adaptable to climate change. These details 
would have to be agreed in writing by the Council as the Local Planning Authority.  

 
10.15.3 Turning to sustainable construction, Hertfordshire County Council as Minerals and Waste 

Authority recommended the applicant submit a SWMP (Strategic Waste Management Plan). 
This is to ensure that materials used in construction consist of the development are properly 
recycled where possible. It is recommended that if planning permission were to be granted, 
a condition could be imposed requiring the applicant to submit a SWMP prior to the 
commencement of development. 

 
10.15.4 Given the above, and subject to conditions, it would ensure the development is designed in 

order to be adaptable to climate change as well as ensure a suitable waste management 
plan is provided.  

 
 Waste and Recycling 
 
10.15.5 The Design Guide (2009) states, provision should be made within new development for the 

storage and collection of waste from a site. The submitted plans indicate that there would be 
sufficient refuse facilities which will serve the proposed residential properties and commercial 
offices. Notwithstanding this, further details for refuse and recycle facilities would be dealt 
with at any subsequent reserved matters application which would have to be submitted in the 
future.  

 
Crime Prevention/anti-social behaviour/security 

 
10.15.6 In regards to crime prevention and designing out crime, whilst the concerns of the Police 

Crime Prevention Officer are noted, this scheme is in outline with detailed matters on layout, 
landscaping and appearance, including matters such as Secure by Design can be dealt with 
in greater detail at the reserved matters stage of the application process. Furthermore, 
matters around Secure by Design can also be dealt with as part of any future Building 
Regulations approval under Part Q. Notwithstanding this, an informative can be imposed to 
any decision issued to require the applicant to engage with the Police Crime Prevention 
Advisor in regards to Designing out Crime.   

 
10.15.7 It is noted that concerns have been raised by local residents that the development could have 

an impact on their security. In addition, they have raised concerns that the development could 
generate issues of anti-social behaviour. Concern has also been raised with respect to the 

Page 184



- 101 - 

pedestrian access which will exit the cycle track and terminate near the farmhouse entrance 
and that this would cause a security issue. Taking this into consideration, there is a 
requirement under the NPPF to design out crime. 

 
10.15.8 Taking the above into consideration, whilst the plans are indicative, they do provide sufficient 

detail to show how the development would address crime and the fear of crime (including 
safety concerns). Firstly, the buildings comprise of dual frontages with windows carefully 
positioned to overlook pedestrian, cycle and vehicular access points. Dealing specifically with 
the concern around security, the closet residential block as windows positioned so to overlook 
the access pathway as it traverses from the cycle track into the development site. Further to 
this, as it will enter into the central area of the residential area of the site, it would be 
overlooked by the surrounding residential blocks.  

 
10.15.9 Notwithstanding the above, it firstly must be emphasises that the access points at the 

southern end of the site were at the request of Hertfordshire County Council as Highways 
Authority. Secondly, the access drawing that would be approved, if the Council was minded 
to grant planning permission, does not detail these access points to the south, only the 
illustrative masterplan which will not from part of the approval. Consequently, these access 
points would be dealt in detail as part of any future reserved matters stage.  

 
 Loss of existing employers 
 
10.15.10 An assessment has been undertaken with regard to loss of existing premises in terms of their 

established planning use. This assessment is referred to in more detail in the Land Use Policy 
Considerations section of this report.   

 
10.15.11 Separately, it is important to note that Element FIRA International Ltd recently sought 

planning permission (20/00548/FPM) to utilise Unit B3, Cockerell Close, Stevenage as their 
new site of operations. This application was granted planning permission by the Council on 
9th December 2020. Therefore, it is evident that FIRA would continue to operate within 
Stevenage and would thus, see the retention of a key employer within the town.   

 
10.15.12 Turning to the development at the Icon site on Lytton Way, it is important to note that this site 

is not designated in the Local Plan (2019) as employment land. In addition, this site has been 
vacant for a number of years with no real prospect of the building being re-occupied for 
employment based purposes. This is mainly down to the fact that its layout comprises of long, 
thin areas of office, which are difficult to arrange efficiently. On the 15th July 2022, the 
Planning Inspectorate (Appeal Reference:- APP/K1935/W/20/3255692) allowed the Appeal 
and resolved to grant planning permission for the re-development of the site for residential 
purposes.  In reference to the building itself, the inspector stated in their decision letter 
(paragraph 27): 

 
 “there is no demand for the existing building for employment use. This appears to be the 

result from the attenuated layout and associated inefficiency of its office spaces, but also its 
very quality. While the loss of the existing building would be unfortunate, in the absence of 
any realistic commercial and practical interest in the existing buildings re-use, it appears 
inescapable”. 

 
10.15.13Given the above, the building has been identified as not being fit for purpose to accommodate 

a commercial use. As such, this is why the building has remained vacant for a number of 
years and not necessarily down to the market.  

 
10.15.14 Turning to the issues raised about the loss of office floorspace through permitted 

development, firstly where an office does not fall within an area which is governed by an 
Article 4 Direction, there is no restriction on someone applying for prior approval to convert 
these offices in residential dwelling units. In terms of the office buildings themselves which 
have been converted, Brickdale House for example was formally let to the Land Registry until 

Page 185



- 102 - 

they moved their offices to Leicester. In relation to other offices which have been converted 
to residential development, a number of these buildings are dated and do not have efficient 
designs in order to operate a modern office. 

 
10.15.15As set out earlier in the report, the Council has a shortfall in employment floorspace it cannot 

meet. Therefore, the new commercial development would help to increase the level of 
employment floorspace being provided within the Borough. In addition, and as set out above, 
the majority of the offices which have been lost and converted are no longer considered fit 
for purpose as deemed by the market. As such, these buildings have been converted to 
residential dwellings through permitted development regulations.     

 
 Demand for offices and flats 
 
10.15.16 The issue of demand for offices and flats is a planning matter as it relates to the issue of 

need. In terms of employment, the adopted Local Plan (2019) identifies that there is currently 
a significant shortfall in employment floorspace and that there is not sufficient land within the 
Borough to accommodate all the identified growth. As such, the scheme, whilst it would result 
in the loss of some employment land, will see a significant increase in the amount of 
employment floorspace over and above the current situation.  

 
10.15.17 With regards to the reference made to the number of flatted developments coming forward. 

It is evident that such developments are in keeping with the council’s regeneration aspirations 
for the New Town. Moreover, the evidence base which supports the local plan identifies that 
there is a need for smaller properties such as 1 and 2 bedroom flats. As such, this 
development would meet the identified needs as found in the evidence base which supports 
the Local Plan.  

 
 Community Infrastructure Levy 
 

10.15.18As indicated above, the Council adopted CIL on 1 April 2020 and the CIL Charging Schedule 
specifies a payment for new floorspace in line with the following rates (plus appropriate 
indexation): 

 

Development Type CIL Rate (£ per square meter) 

 Zone 1: Stevenage 
Central, Stevenage 

West Urban Extension 
and North of Stevenage 

Extension 

Zone 2: Everywhere else 

Residential  

Market housing £40/m2 £100/m2 

Sheltered 
housing 

£100/m2 

Extra care 
housing 

£40/m2 

Retail development £60/m2 

All other development £0/m2 

 
10.15.19CIL is a non-negotiable charge. The exact charge will be determined by the Council’s CIL 

officer after an application has been granted in accordance with the CIL Charging Schedule 
and the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended). Opportunities for 
relief or exemption from the CIL charge exist and will be taken into account in the calculation 
of the final CIL charge. 

 
10.15.20 CIL replaces the need for S106 agreements to specify financial and/or land contributions for 

non-site-specific infrastructure projects. This allows infrastructure to be planned on a 
borough-wide scale rather than on a site-by-site basis as mitigation against the impacts of 

Page 186



- 103 - 

individual proposals. A CIL Form 1: Additional Information has been submitted along with the 
application. The CIL contribution for this development is estimated to be £308,220.00. A CIL 
liability notice would be issued once planning permission is granted (subject to the Planning 
and Development Committee approving this application). In terms of CIL liability for the later 
phases of the development, these would be calculated during the determination process of 
each reserved matters application which is submitted to the Council for its approval.   

 
10.15.21The reason why the aforementioned is an approximate/estimate is because the CIL liability 

is  calculated in relation to outline planning permission on approval of the reserved matters 
taking account of whether any exemptions are to be applied (e.g. there is no CIL liability for 
affordable homes so CIL liability is reduced). In addition, as we do not know the exact 
floorspace figures for the development as these would be confirmed at reserved matters 
stage. As such, the CIL liability calculation would be undertaken when the relevant reserved 
matters application is submitted to the Council for its approval.  

 
10.15.22With regards to how the CIL monies are spent, the ultimate decision lies with Stevenage 

Borough Council and the allocation of funding amount will rest with the Planning and 
Development Committee. Service providers, who would not receive contributions through the 
Section 106 agreement for this development, including but not limited to those at 
Hertfordshire County Council and Stevenage Borough Council, will be able to bid for funding 
in due course.  

 
10.15.23As The office building would not be in a retail use it would therefore would be liable for CIL 

at £0m² as ‘other development’ under the CIL charging schedule. In order to exempt the 
applicant from paying the higher rate of CIL, the use of the building would need to be 
restricted in accordance with the respective employment uses sought under class E(g)(i) (an 
office to carry out any operational or administrative functions) of the Town and County 
Planning (Use Classes) (England) Order 1987. This can be done by way of a planning 
condition, should planning permission be granted.  

 
 Equality, Diversity and Human Rights 
 
10.15.24Consideration has been given to Articles 1 and 8 of the First Protocol of the European 

Convention on Human Rights. It is not considered that the decision would result in a violation 
of any person’s rights under the Convention. 

 
10.15.25When considering proposals placed before Members it is important that they are fully aware 

of and have themselves rigorously considered the equalities implications of the decision that 
they are taking. 

 
10.15.26Rigorous consideration will ensure that proper appreciation of any potential impact of that 

decision on the Council's obligations under the Public Sector Equalities Duty. As a minimum 
this requires decision makers to read and carefully consider the content of any Equalities 
Impact Assessment (EqIA) produced by officers. 

 
10.15.27The Equalities Act 2010 requires the Council when exercising its functions to have due regard 

to the need to (a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and other conduct 
prohibited under the Act; (b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a 
relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it and (c) foster good relations 
between persons who share protected characteristics under the Equality Act and persons 
who do not share it. The protected characteristics under the Equality Act are: age; disability; 
gender reassignment; marriage and civil partnership; pregnancy and maternity; race; religion 
and belief; sex and sexual orientation. 

 
10.15.28In terms of inclusive access, whilst this application is an outline application with all matters 

reserved excluding access, it would be expected the development would have to be DDA 
(Disability Discrimination Act) compliant. So at the reserved matters stage, the applicant will 

Page 187



- 104 - 

be required to provide detailed designs of building access into the relevant buildings. In 
addition, in accordance with Policy HO11: Accessible and Adaptable Housing of the adopted 
Local Plan (2019), as this is a major scheme at least 50% of all new dwellings will need to be 
category 2: accessible and adaptable dwellings. Therefore, the detailed design of the 
proposed residential element of the development would be expected to meet this requirement 
when a formal reserved matters application is submitted in the future. 

 
10.15.29The scheme would also be required to provide the necessary disabled parking provision in 

accordance with the Council’s adopted Parking Standards SPD (2020). Whilst details of these 
spaces would be provided at reserved matters stage, the bays will need to meet the relevant 
size standards and located in appropriate locations across the development.  

 
 Fire Safety 
 
10.15.30 Hertfordshire County Council Fire and Rescue advise that a fire hydrant will be required to 

serve the development. This would be secured as part of any Section 106 Legal Agreement.  
 

11.   PLANNING BALANCE AND CONCLUSIONS 

11.1  In summary, it can be deduced that the proposed commercial building would broadly align 

with the requirements of Policy EC4 of the adopted Local Plan (2019) if it was used for 

research and development or light industrial. However, the development as a whole would fail 

to accord with Policy EC4. This is because the residential aspect of the development, being 

located on designated employment land, conflicts with the requirements of Policy EC4. This 

is because it removes a portion of land which could come forward for employment purposes.  

In addition, there would be a loss of some of existing employment floorspace in order to deliver 

the residential aspect of the scheme and the employment potential these would bring if they 

were occupied.  

11.2  The scheme also conflicts with Policy GD1, specifically criterion ‘e’, because the development 

will have an impact on the amenities of the occupiers of Broomin Green Farmhouse 

specifically in relation to sunlight and daylight of the kitchen area which currently forms a multi-

functional purpose for the owners of this property as referenced in their objections.   

11.3  Turning to the impact on the heritage asset of Broomin Green Farmhouse, due regard has 

been given to Section 66 of the Listed Building Act 1990 in terms of considering whether to 

grant planning permission for development which affects the setting of the listed building, 

where special regard, with respect to this application, is given to the desirability of preserving 

the setting which is possesses. As set out in section 10.4 of this report, it has been 

demonstrated that the development would cause, at the lower end of the scale, less than 

substantial harm to the setting of the listed building.. Consequently, regard must be given to 

paragraph 202 of the NPPF stipulates that where a development proposal will lead to less 

than substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be 

weighed against the public benefits of the proposal. These are public benefits are considered 

in section 10.4 of the report and in further detail below as part of the Planning Balance 

exercise.  

11.4  In addition to the above, the proposal would also result in the loss of a non-designated heritage 

asset i.e. the FIRA building. Consequently, regard must be given to paragraph 203 of the 

NPPF which sets out, and as references earlier in the report, “The effect of an application on 

the significance of a non-designated heritage asset should be taken into account in 

determining the application. In weighing applications that affect directly or indirectly non 

designated heritage assets, a balanced judgement will be required having regard to the scale 

of any harm or loss and the significance of the heritage asset”. 

Page 188



- 105 - 

11.5  Taking the above into consider, whilst there are a number of policy conflicts, the scheme 

having been identified as having less than substantial harm at the lower of the scale, to the 

setting of the listed building, and the loss of non-designated heritage asset, there is 

nevertheless, a number of a planning benefits which weigh in the schemes favour. There 

would be a significant uplift in the amount of employment floorspace of 68.7% over and above 

what is currently provided on Maxwell Road. Moreover, the proposed development would 

generate a significant amount of jobs both in its construction and in the long term. Given there 

is a significant shortfall in employment provision as identified in the Local Plan (2019), the 

uplift in employment floorspace combined with the jobs which would be created would have 

substantial weight.  

11.6  In terms of the residential aspect, it would provide 80 residential units. In doing so, it would 

support the Government’s aim expressed in paragraph 60 of the Framework to significantly 

housing supply. Local Plan policy SP7 identifies the need for 7,600 new homes over the local 

plan period which, as set out earlier in the report, relies upon a number of strategic sites to 

come forward which are proving complex to deliver and slow to come forward. It is also evident 

that there has been a past history of under-delivery. This is evidenced in the Land West of 

Lytton Way Appeal Decision as referenced in this report. Given the number of units proposed, 

the provision of housing has significant weight.  

11.7  Consideration must also be given to the level of affordable housing which is to be proposed. 

The scheme would be policy compliant, with the provision of 20 units. Whilst the mix is not 

known at this time, there would be a requirement to provide First Homes in accordance with 

Central Government policy and therefore, have to be considered as a high priority tenure. 

Indeed, the provision of 20 units would equate to approximately 7% of affordable housing 

provided during the Local Plan period. Due to previous poor delivery of affordable homes and 

with large unmet need, the provision of affordable homes has significant weight.   

 11.8  In addition, the development would redevelop a suitable brownfield site which can also be 

classed under-utilised due to the level of surface car parking. Consistent with paragraph 120 

of the Framework, therefore, substantial weight is afforded to the scheme in this instance. 

Paragraph 69 of the Framework also sets out that small and medium sites can make an 

important contribution to meeting housing requirements in an area, and this includes 

supporting the development of windfall sites. As such, being a windfall is supported for 

housing is also supported by Policy HO5 of the Local Plan and Paragraph 69 of the NPPF.  

11.9  The economic benefits of the residential aspect of the development, in terms of jobs created 

from its construction and local expenditure can also be afforded significant weight. With 

regards to the financial obligations, whilst they are to mitigate the developments impact, the 

primary education contribution will help to fund the delivery of the 2FE Primary School which 

is a key part of the regeneration programme for Stevenage Town Centre. In addition, the 

scheme, through CIL would help to fund key pieces of infrastructure as identified in the 

Council’s Infrastructure Delivery Plan. These aspects are, therefore, considered as being of 

significant weight.  

11.10  The development would also enhance pedestrian and cycle connectivity, especially between 

the existing routes along Fairlands Way up to Cockerell Close. The development would also 

deliver enhancements to the existing bus stop which will make it more accessible. These are 

deemed to be of wider public benefits which will not only support the proposed development, 

but, will also be utilised by existing residents but the commercial developments positioned 

along Gunnels Wood Road. The development is also in a sustainable location close to bus 

and rail locations and the town centre and the scope to encourage use of sustainable modes 

Page 189



- 106 - 

of transport via the improved pedestrian and cycle access to the wider network, the travel 

plan, electric vehicle charging, car club bay and with the site being mixed use, would limit the 

need to travel by the private car and provide a genuine choice of transport modes, which 

accord with paragraph 105 of the NPPF. However, it is noted some of these features are 

required for compliance with local policy and compliance with guidance or building regulations. 

These features are offered reasonable weight. 

11.11   Therefore, it has to be concluded that the benefits the development would bring as a whole 

would be substantial. In addition to this, there is no real prospect of the FIRA building being 

occupied, as it was specifically designed to support the operations of FIRA who have now 

relocated to a new premises on Cockerell Close. Moreover, and as identified in paragraphs 

10.5.51 to 10.5.52 that it has been demonstrated that the significance of the FIRA building 

has been compromised by the unsympathetic extensions and alterations which have been 

undertaken over the years. As such, this is a reason why the building was not listed. Therefore, 

and through the imposition of a condition, an historic recording of the non-designated heritage 

will be required prior to it demolition following which, there are not sufficient grounds to be 

able to refuse planning permission. This is due to the overall substantial benefits the 

development would bring.  

11.12  Further to the above, it has been demonstrated that whilst the development would cause, at 

the lower end of the scale, less than substantial harm to the setting of the Grade II listed 

buildings known as Broomin Green Farm, the substantial benefits the development would 

bring would outweigh the harm that is caused.  

11.13  Turning to design, the development would replace both the veterinary and service line building 

which are of limited architectural. Taking this into consideration, the replacement of these 

buildings with a scheme of high quality design is important. Whilst the scheme is indicative, it 

does show one way in which development could be delivered on this site. The commercial 

building, with its active frontage which appropriately address the junction of Gunnels Wood 

Road and Fairlands Way, combined with its architectural style, would result in a development 

which will be of high quality and could potentially create a landmark feature on this important 

part of the development site. The residential buildings, in terms of their height, proportions, 

indicative architectural detailing, would be successful on this site. This is because they would 

be a significant improvement over the existing buildings of skyline and the veterinary surgery. 

In addition, whilst the development does not have the unique and striking architectural design 

of the FIRA building, the development as whole, the development as a whole would be of high 

quality.  

11.14  In terms of the amenity of future residents, the development has been carefully designed, with 

appropriate mitigation measures in place, to ensure that there would be an acceptable living 

environment. Furthermore, whilst the plans are indicative, it has been demonstrated that the 

internal floorspace areas would meet National Described Space Standards as required under 

Policy GD1. The indicative scheme can also accommodate an appropriate level of private 

amenity provision, parking (including disabled), cycle parking and refuse storage to serve 

future residents. In addition, the scheme can also demonstrate the ability to accommodate the 

necessary refuse facilities to serve the residential blocks.   

11.15  Turning to the commercial aspect of the development, with appropriate mitigation measures 

in place, it would not have a detrimental impact on the amenities of existing (including the 

owners of Broomin Green Farm) and future residents, be able to accommodate sufficient off 

street parking (including disabled and two wheel vehicles) as well as the necessary cycle 

parking.  

Page 190



- 107 - 

11.16  The proposed development, through appropriate mitigation measures, would not prejudice 

the safety and operation of the highway network. Furthermore, and through appropriate 

conditions, the development should not cause any undue harm to any potential archaeological 

remains which maybe present on the site. Moreover, and through appropriate conditions, the 

development would not have a detrimental impact on the environment, trees or on biodiversity.  

11.17  Appropriate mitigation measures as to the developments impact on infrastructure such as 

primary education (including nurseries) and GP services will be secured as part of any S.106 

legal agreement. In addition, the legal agreement will secure the relevant Travel Plan 

monitoring as well as secure the provision of employment and apprenticeship opportunities 

during the construction phase of the development. It will also have a clause which will require 

the delivery of the commercial phase of the overall scheme prior to the ability to deliver the 

final residential block which would be sited where Serviceline is currently located. This will 

ensure that the substantial employment benefits the commercial building brings will be 

delivered accordingly.  

11.18  With regards to the impact of the development on the amenity of existing residents, it can be 

demonstrated that the development would not have a detrimental impact on the residential 

properties at Philbeck House, Mozart Court and Fairview Road. In addition, the development 

has been designed so it does not have a detrimental impact on the amenities of the owners 

of Broomin Green Farm in terms of outlook and privacy. Moreover, and identified in the 

sunlight and daylight assessment, most of the rooms within Broomin Green Farm would meet 

BRE guidelines.  

11.19  However, it is clearly evident, due to the identified transgressions from BRE guidelines, the 

commercial part of the development will impact on the level of impact of sunlight and daylight 

which is received in the kitchen area of Broomin Green Farm. Therefore, it has been 

established that there is a conflict with criterion Policy GD1. However, and this is an important 

consideration, the radiance assessment which is a more sophisticate tool at determining the 

impact of a development on a particular room, does call into question as to whether the 

difference in light levels would be perceptible to occupant.  Moreover, and as emphasised by 

the Council’s consultant and as detailed in the BRE guide itself, it is only guidance and a 

planning balance has to made as to whether the overall benefits of this development being 

delivered on a brownfield site would outweigh the harm caused to Broomin Green Farm. In 

addition to this, any meaningful form of development which meets the aspirations of the Local 

Plan as well as that set out by Central Government in terms of delivery development on 

brownfield site, will have an impact on this room.   

11.20  As such, it is determined that the substantial benefits this development will bring, will outweigh 

the harm which would be caused to the kitchen area of Broomin Green Farm. In this regard, 

there are not sufficient grounds to warrant refusal of this application in this instance. In terms 

of the conflict with Policy EC4, again, it is considered that the overall substantial benefits this 

development would bring outweigh this policy conflict.  

11.21  In summary, the negative effect of the development on the kitchen area of Broomin Green 

Farm, the identified harm, at the lower end of the scale of less than substantial harm to the 

setting of the listed building, and, the loss of the non-designated heritage combined with 

conflicts identified with the Local Plan as a whole, are outweighed by other considerations as 

detailed above. Therefore, there are sufficient material considerations, subject to conditions 

and appropriate mitigation measures and obligations being secure in any subsequent S.106 

agreement, planning permission should be granted in this instance.  

Page 191



- 108 - 

12.       RECOMMENDATIONS  
 
12.1  That outline planning permission be GRANTED subject to:- 

A)  No intervention from the Secretary of State from the Ministry of Housing, Communities 

and Local Government following reference of the application under the Town and 

Country Planning (Consultation) (England) Direction 2021; 

B) The applicant having first entered into a S106 agreement to secure/provide 

contributions towards:- 

 The provision of 25% affordable housing; 

 Proportionate financial contributions towards the delivery of a 2FE Primary School 

(including nursery) at Stevenage Town Centre; 

 Monitoring of the Travel Plans (Residential and Offices);  

 The provision of fire hydrants; 

 To secure a trigger clause/mechanism to ensure that the office development is 

brought forward; 

 Financial contributions towards GMS GP Provision, mental health and community 

care costs; 

 Local employment and apprenticeships; 

 SBC Section 106 Monitoring Fee – 2.5% of total financial obligations (capped at 

£25,000); 

 HCC Monitoring Fee of £340 per trigger relating to HCC obligations.   

 

12.2  The detail of which would be delegated to the Assistant Director of Planning and Regulation 

in liaison with the Council’s appointed solicitor, as well as the imposition of suitable 

safeguarding conditions, with authority given to the Assistant Director of Planning and 

Regulation in consultation with the Chair of Planning Committee, to amend or add to the 

suggested draft conditions set out in this report, prior to the decision notice being issues, 

where such amendments or additions would be legally sound and most effectively deliver the 

development that the Planning Committee has resolved to approve. These suggested 

conditions are as follows:- 

 

 Definitions 
 

‘Commercial Development Plot’ means the plot identified on drawing number 2521-PL203A 
 

‘Residential Development Plot’ means the plot identified on drawing number 2521-PL203A 
 

 1  The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following 

approved plans: 

 2521-PL101; 2521-PL02; 8180606/6101C. 
 
 REASON:- For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 
 
2 Development shall not commence in relation to the either the Residential Development Plot 

or Commercial Development Plot until detailsof the layout, scale, appearance and the 
landscaping associated with that Development Plot (hereinafter called "the reserved 
matters") have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 REASON: - To comply with the requirements of Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990. 

Page 192



- 109 - 

 
3         The total number of Residential Units (within Class C3) hereby permitted shall not exceed 80 

dwellings and the height of the buildings within the Residential Development Plot shall be no 
greater than 7 storeys (excluding any roof top plant and core overrun). 

 
REASON: - To ensure that the development does not adversely affect the safety and 
operation of the adjoining highway network and to ensure an acceptable impact on the 
character and appearance of the area. 

 
4        The maximum gross internal floorspace (GIA) to be provided within the Commercial 

Development Plot shall not exceed 11,059 sq.m and the height of the office building shall be 
no greater than 7 storeys (excluding any roof top plant and core overrun). 
REASON: - To ensure that the development does not adversely affect the safety and 
operation of the adjoining highway network and to ensure an acceptable impact on the 
character and appearance of the area. 
 

5 The maximum number of parking spaces to serve the development hereby permitted shall 
not exceed 177 parking spaces for the commercial development and 53 parking spaces for 
the residential development.  

 REASON:- To ensure that the development does not exceed the level of parking as required 
under the Council’s Parking Standards.  

 
6 Application(s) for approval of the reserved matters shall be made to the Local Planning 

Authority before the expiration of three years from the date of this permission. 
            REASON:- To comply with the requirements of Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning 

Act 1990. 
 
7 The development hereby permitted shall be begun either before the expiration of five years 

from the date of this permission, or before the expiration of two years from the date of 
approval of the last of the reserved matters to be approved, whichever is the later. 
REASON: - To comply with the requirements of Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990. 

8 Prior to first occupation or use of the residential or commercial development plots authorised 
by this permission the bus improvement works including provision of raised Kassel kerbing, 
shelter and a bench at the existing southbound bus stop in Cavendish Road should have 
been undertaken. This work shall be fully completed to the satisfaction of the Highway 
Authority before first occupation or use of the development. 

 REASON:- So that all users of the development have the option of using bus transport, and 
to maximise its appeal, in compliance with paragraphs 108 and 110 of the NPPF. 

 
9  Prior to first occupation or use of the residential or commercial development plots authorised 

by this permission until the “Keep Clear Markings” on the A1072 Gunnels Wood Road 
near the junction with Maxwell Road have been secured in place and implemented. 
REASON:- In the interests of highway safety, amenity and capacity to ensure free and safe 
flow of traffic and to be in accordance with Policies 4, 5, 12, 15 and 17 of Hertfordshire’s 
Local Transport Plan (adopted 2018). 
 

 Commercial Development Plot 
 
10        No development shall commence within the Commercial Development Plot (unless the Local 

Planning Authority agree that a set amount of development must first commence to enable 
compliance with this condition) until a remediation strategy to deal with the risks associated 
with contamination of the Commercial Development Plot, has been submitted to, and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. This strategy shall include the following 
components:             

 
            1.         A preliminary risk assessment which has identified: 

Page 193



- 110 - 

 All previous uses; 

 Potential contaminants associated with those uses; 

 A conceptual model of the site indicating sources, pathways and receptors; 

 A potentially unacceptable risks arising from contamination at the site.  
 

2.        A site investigation scheme, based on (1) to provide information for a detailed 
assessment of the risk to all receptors that may be affected, including those off-site.  

 
3.        The results of the site investigation and the detailed risk assessment referred to in (2) 

and, based on these, an options appraisal and remediation strategy giving full details 
of the remediation measures required and how they are to be undertaken. 

 
4.        A verification plan providing details of the data that will be collected in order to 

demonstrate that the works set out in the remediation strategy in (3) are complete and 
identifying any requirements for longer-term monitoring of pollutant linkages, 
maintenance and arrangements for contingency action. 

 
Any changes to these components require the written consent of the local planning authority. 
The scheme shall be implemented as approved. 
REASON:-  To ensure that the development does not constitute to, or is not put at 
unacceptable risk from or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water pollution in line 
with paragraph 170 of the National Planning Policy Framework and adopted local plan policy 
FP5:Contaminated land. 
 

11        Prior to any part of the Commercial Development Plot being brought forward into use, a 
verification report demonstrating the completion of works set out in the approved remediation 
strategy and include results of sampling and monitoring carried out in accordance with the 
approved verification plan to demonstrate that the site remediation criteria have been met. 

            REASON:- To ensure that the site does not pose any further risk to human health or the 
water environment by demonstrating that the requirements of the approved verification plan 
have been met and that remediation of the site is complete. This is in line with paragraph 170 
of the National Planning Policy Framework and adopted local plan policy FP5:Contaminated 
land. 

 
12 Prior to commencement of development within the Commercial Development Plot (unless 

the Local Planning Authority agree that a set amount of development must first commence 
to enable compliance with this condition) a monitoring and maintenance plan in respect of 
contamination, including a timetable of monitoring and submission of reports to the local 
planning authority, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by, the local planning 
authority. Reports as specified in the approved plan, including details of any necessary 
contingency action arising from the monitoring, shall be submitted to, and approved in writing 
by, the local planning authority. 

            REASON:- To ensure that the site does not pose any further risk to human health or the 
water environment by managing any ongoing contamination issues and completing all 
necessary long-term remediation measures. This is in line with paragraph 170 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework and adopted local plan policy FP5: Contaminated land. 

 
13       If, during development of the Commercial Development Plot, contamination not previously 

identified is found to be present within the development plot, then no further development of 
that development plot (unless otherwise agreed in writing with the local planning authority) 
shall be carried out until a remediation strategy detailing how this contamination will be dealt 
with has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning authority. The 
remediation strategy shall be implemented as approved. 

            REASON:- To ensure that the development does not contribute to, is not put at unacceptable 
risk from, or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water pollution from previously 
unidentified contamination sources at the development. This is in line with paragraph 170 of 

Page 194



- 111 - 

the National Planning Policy Framework and adopted local plan policy FP5: Contaminated 
land. 

 
14 Prior to the commencement of any development for the commercial phase (excluding 

operations consisting of site clearance, demolition, earthworks, archaeological investigations, 
investigations for assessing ground conditions, remedial work in respect of any contamination 
or other adverse ground conditions, diversion and laying of services, erection of any 
temporary means of enclosure, and the temporary display of site notices or advertisements) 
a Construction Environmental Management Plan shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority. The development shall be implemented in accordance 
with the approved plan. The plan will include the following information: 

 
i)             Procedures and protocols to prevent or manage the exposure of construction 
workers, visitors to the construction area, and users of neighbouring areas to contaminated 
materials; 
 
ii)            Measures to limit dust generation during excavation, handling and storage of 
potentially contaminated materials; 
 
iii)           Boundary monitoring of dust, volatile organic compounds and asbestos fibres during 
excavation and soil handling at points of greatest sensitivity; 
 
iv)           Appropriate procedures for handling and treatment of groundwater; 
 
v)            Measures to protect workers from vapours and dermal contact if hydrocarbon 
contamination is excavated, for instance, during piling; 
 
vi)           Measures required under the Control of Asbestos Regulations 2012 and associated 
code of practice; 
 
vii)           Good practice operation and containment measures for storage of fuels or liquid 
chemicals to conform with government regulations and pollution prevention guidance (PPGs) 
issued by the EA; 
 
viii)            Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities, identification of 
biodiversity protection zones, practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive 
working practices) to avoid or reduce impacts during construction, the location and timing of 
sensitive works to avoid harm to biodiversity features, identify the times during construction 
when specialist ecologists need to be present on site to oversee works, responsible persons 
and lines of communication, use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs. 

 
REASON:- To ensure the implementation of the development does not harm ecological 
features during the construction phase and to minimise disruption to neighbouring properties 
and the environment.  

 
15       No drainage systems for the infiltration of surface water to the ground for the Commercial 

Development plot are permitted other than with the written consent of the local planning 
authority. Any proposals for such systems must be supported by an assessment of the risks 
to controlled waters. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details. 

           REASON:- To ensure that the development does not contribute to, is not put at unacceptable 
risk from, or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water pollution caused by 
mobilised contaminants. This is in line with paragraph 170 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework and adopted local plan policy FP5: Contaminated land. 

 
16        Piling or any other foundation design using penetrative methods shall not be permitted within 

the Commercial Development Plot other than with the express consent of the Local Planning 

Page 195



- 112 - 

Authority, which may be given for those parts of the site where it has been demonstrated that 
there is no resultant risk to groundwater. The development shall be carried out in accordance 
with the approved details.  

            REASON:- To protect groundwater environment, including groundwater. Some piling 
techniques can cause preferential pathways for contaminants to migrate to groundwater and 
cause pollution. A piling risk assessment should be submitted with consideration of the EA 
guidance. Given the site’s location in SPZ1 we will also require a groundwater monitoring 
programme during any piling work at the site. This groundwater monitoring programme 
should incorporate mitigation measures to be adopted should piling works be noted to be 
adversely impacting on groundwater quality beneath the site.  

 
17        A scheme for managing any borehole installed within the Commercial Development Plot for 

the investigation of soils, groundwater or geotechnical purposes shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The scheme shall provide details of how 
redundant boreholes are to be decommissioned and how any boreholes that needs to be 
retained, post-development, for monitoring purposes with be secured, protected and 
inspected. The scheme as approved shall be implemented prior to the occupation of the 
Commercial Development Plot. 

            REASON:- To ensure that the development does not contribute to, is not put at unacceptable 
levels of water pollution caused by mobilise contaminants.  This is in line with paragraph 170 
of the National Planning Policy Framework and adopted local plan policy FP5: Contaminated 
land. 

 
18 All areas of hedges, scrub or similar vegetation where birds may nest which are to be 

removed as part of the development, are to be cleared outside the bird-nesting season 
(March – August inclusive) or if clearance during the bird nesting season cannot be 
reasonably be avoided, a suitably qualified ecologist will check the areas to be removed 

immediately prior to clearance and advise whether nesting birds are present. If active nests 
are recorded, no vegetation clearance or other works that may disturb active nests shall 
proceed until all young have fledged the nest.  

 
REASON: - Nesting birds are protected from disturbance under the Wildlife & Countryside 
Act 1981 (as amended). 
 

19        No development within the Commercial Development Plot, including any site clearance or 
demolition works, shall commence until all trees within the development plot, and adjacent to 
it on Maxwell Road, which are to be retained have been protected by fencing or other means 
of enclosure in accordance with a detailed scheme submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority.  Such protection as may be agreed shall be inspected and 
approved by the Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement of the work and 
maintained until the conclusion of all site and building operations. 

 
REASON: - To ensure that the retained trees are not damaged or otherwise adversely 
affected during site operations.        

 
20        Within the tree protection areas to be fenced off in accordance with condition 19, there shall 

be no alteration to the ground level and they shall be kept clear of vehicles, materials, surplus 
soil, temporary buildings, plant and machinery. 

 
REASON: - To ensure that the retained trees are not damaged or otherwise adversely 
affected during site operations.  

 
21        No external or internal lighting shall be installed on the commercial development plot unless 

details of such lighting, including the intensity of illumination and predicted light contours, 
have first been submitted to, and approved in writing the Local Planning Authority prior to first 
occupation of the office development. Any external lighting shall accord with the details so 
approved. 

Page 196



- 113 - 

            REASON:- In order to protect the amenities and operations of neighbouring properties and 
to ensure any external lighting does not prejudice highway safety.   

 
22        Prior to the commencement of the relevant part of development within the Commercial 

Development Plot, a Demolition/Construction Traffic Management Plan/Method Statement 
for the demotion and construction phases shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter, the works of demolition and construction of the 
development shall only be carried out in accordance with the approved statement. The 
Demolition/Construction Management Plan/Method Statement shall address the following 
matters:- 

 
(i)         Details of construction phasing programme (including any pre-construction demolition 

or enabling works) which shall include the date of start and finish of works on site; 
 

(ii)       Timing of construction activities (including delivery times and removal of waste) and 
to avoid school pick up/drop off times; 

 
(iii) Demolition and construction works between the hours of 0730 and 1800 on Mondays 

to Fridays and between the hours of 0830 and 1300 on Saturdays only. 
 
(iv)       The site set-up and general arrangements for storing plant including cranes, 

materials, machinery and equipment, temporary offices and other facilities, 
construction vehicle parking and loading/unloading and vehicle turning areas/details 
of any vehicle holding areas; 

 
(v)       Access and protection arrangements around the site for pedestrians, cyclists and 

other road users;  
 
(vi)      Provision of sufficient on-site parking prior to the commencement of construction 

activities; 
 
(vii)       Construction vehicle numbers, type and routing in traffic management requirements 

along with details of the vehicle call up procedure; 
 
(viii)      Screening and hoarding; 
 
(ix)      End of day tidying procedures; 
 
(x)         Construction and storage compounds (including areas designated for car parking, 

loading/unloading and turning areas); 
 
(xi)      Siting and details of wheel washing facilities; 
 
(xii)     Siting, methodology and facilities for wheel cleaning, including the cleaning of site 

entrances, site access roads and the adjacent public highway; 
 
(xiii) Control measures to manage noise and dust;  
 
(xiv)     Disposal of surplus materials; 
 
(xv) Post construction restoration/reinstatement of the working areas and temporary 

access to the public highway; 
 
(xvi) Where works cannot be contained wholly within the site a plan should be submitted 

showing the site layout on the highway including the extent of hoarding, pedestrian 
routes and remaining road width for vehicle movements.  

 

Page 197



- 114 - 

(xvii) map showing the location of construction traffic routes to and from the site, details of 
their signing, monitoring and enforcement measures; 

 
(xviii) Details of any changes to on-street waiting and loading restrictions that will be 

required; and 
 
(xxiv)  Details of measures and training to reduce the danger posed to cyclists by HGVs, 

including membership of the Freight Operators Recognition Scheme or an approved 
equivalent. 

 
 
REASON:- To minimise the impact of construction vehicles and to maintain the amenity of 
the local area.  

 
23        No development shall take place within the Commercial Development Plot until a detailed 

Site Waste Management Plan (SWMP) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The SWMP shall detail how waste materials generated as a result 
of the proposed demolition and/or construction works will be disposed of, and the level and 
type of soil to be imported to the site as part of the development. 

            REASON:- In order to reduce the level of waste generated during the demolition and 
construction phases  of development and to recycle all waste materials where possible. 

 
24 No development within the Commercial Development Plot approved by this planning 

permission shall take place until such time as a scheme to manage surface water run-off and 
surface water flood risk has been submitted to, and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. 

 
1. Surface water drainage scheme which should include:  

- Compliance of the principles set out in the approved FRA R-FRA-U8603PM-02-A dated 
January 2019 and Technical Note U8603PM/KER/001 dated May 2019 carried out by JPP 
Consulting including the discharge rate of 2.5l/s providing 700m3 of onsite surface water 
attenuation.  

- Infiltration testing in accordance with BRE Digest 365 which should be carried out at the 
location of any infiltration measure. Where infiltration is not possible, evidence that approval 
has been sought from the relevant water authority should be provided for any connection into 
a public surface water sewer.  

- Implement the use of above ground SuDS measures with a clear justification if this is not 
possible. A lack of space will not be accepted as justification due to the layout not yet 
established.  

- Provide appropriate water quality treatment stages, through the use of appropriate SuDS 
measures in line with the CIRIA SuDS Manual Simple Index assessment. This should include 
measures such as permeable paving with a granular subbase, swales, filtration trenches etc., 
to manage the surface water at source.  

- Provide a detailed drainage layout showing the proposed final development layout, location 
of all SuDS measures and associated infrastructure which should be accompanied by 
supporting surface water calculations for all rainfall events up to and including the 1 in 100 
year + climate change event (+40%).  

- Provide an outline SuDS Management, Adoption and Maintenance Plan  
 

2. Management of surface water flood risk which should include:  

- Assessment of existing surface water flood risk based on the EA Areas Susceptible to 
Surface Water Flood Risk Maps, including extents, flow paths and depths, to ensure the 
proposed layout does not increase flood risk elsewhere, by avoiding development in areas of 
existing surface water flood risk. Where this cannot be avoided, it should be demonstrated 
that any displaced flood water can be mitigated and is not displaced elsewhere. If buildings 
are to be placed in areas of existing flood risk, the applicant will need to provide flood 

Page 198



- 115 - 

resilience measures such as raised finished floor levels in line with EA advice ensuring there 
is no risk of ingress into the proposed buildings.  
 
The scheme shall be fully implemented and subsequently maintained, in accordance with the 
timing / phasing arrangements embodied within the scheme, or within any other period as 
may subsequently be agreed, in writing, by the local planning authority. 

 
 REASON:- This condition is required for the following reasons:  

1. To prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory storage of and disposal of surface water 
from the site.  

2. To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and future users.  
 
25 The Commercial development permitted by this planning permission shall be carried out in 

accordance with the principles set out in the Flood Risk Assessment Technical Note, dated 
8th May 2019, ref: U8603PM/KER/001 prepared by JPP Consulting Ltd, and the following 
mitigation measures:  
1. Provide totalling 701m3 of storage to ensure no increase in surface water run-off volumes 
for all rainfall events up to and including the 1 in 100 year + climate change event.  

2. Implement drainage strategy based on attenuation and restricted discharge at 2.5l/s.  

3. Implementation of permeable paving for all external car parking areas.  
 
REASON:- To prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory storage of and disposal of 
surface water from the site. 

 
26 No development of the Commercial Development Plot shall take place until the final design 

of the drainage scheme is completed and sent to the LPA for approval. The surface water 
drainage system will be based on the principles submitted in the Flood Risk Assessment 
Technical Note, dated 8th May 2019, ref: U8603PM/KER/001, and the Proposed Surface 
Water Drainage Strategy drawing, Drawing No. FRA104, Rev. A, dated 08.05.2019, prepared 
by JPP Consulting Ltd and any subsequent approved detailed drainage design approved 
through the reserved matters application which includes the approved layout of the 
development. The scheme shall also include:  

  
1. Detailed engineered drawings of the proposed SuDS features including their location, size, 
volume, depth and any inlet and outlet features including any connecting pipe runs and all 
corresponding calculations/modelling to ensure the scheme caters for all rainfall events up to 
and including the 1 in 100 year + climate change event.  

2. Demonstrate an appropriate SuDS management and treatment train and inclusion of 
above ground features such as permeable paving etc. and reducing the requirement for any 
underground storage  
REASON:- To prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory storage of and disposal of 
surface water from the site. 

 
27 Upon completion of the drainage works for the Commercial Development Plot and in 

accordance with the timing / phasing arrangement, a management and maintenance 
plan for the SuDS features and drainage network must be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include:  
1. Provision of a complete set of as built drawings for site drainage.  

2. Maintenance and operational activities.  

3. Arrangements for adoption and any other measures to secure the operation of the 
scheme throughout its lifetime.  

 
REASON:- To prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory storage of/disposal of 
surface water from the site. 
 

Page 199



- 116 - 

28       No development within the Commercial Development Plot shall commence until full details 
(in the form of scaled plans and written specifications), have been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority, in consultation with the Highway Authority, to 
illustrate the following: 

 
i. Cycleways and footways; 
ii. Roads and footways; 
iii. Car parking (including visitors and wheelchair accessible/enlarged bays and passive 

and active electric charging points), motorcycle parking and Cycle Parking (including 
visitors) provision in accordance with adopted standard; 

iv. Detailed cross-sections of the site showing existing levels and proposed finished 
levels, position of access roads, car and cycle parking areas; and 

v. The approved details shall be fully implemented before the development is first 
brought into use and thereafter retained for their purpose. 

 
REASON:- In order to protect highway safety and the amenity of other users of the public 
highway and to ensure the new roads through and within the site are constructed to the 
standards outlined in Roads in Hertfordshire: Highway Design Guide 3rd Edition. 
 

29 Before the access for the Commercial Development Plot is first brought into use, as defined 
on drawing Proposed Site Accesses Visibility Splay Analysis reference 8180606/6101 Rev 
C, vehicle to vehicle visibility splays of 2.4 metres by 43 metres in both directions shall be 
provided and permanently maintained to the Maxwell Road vehicles access. Within which, 
there shall be no obstruction to visibility between 600 mm and 2.0 metres above the footway 
level. These measurements shall be taken from the intersection of the centre line of the 
permitted access with the edge of the footway and from the intersection point along the edge 
of the carriageway. 

 
  REASON:- To ensure suitable, safe and satisfactory planning and development of the site in 

accordance with Policy 5 of Hertfordshire’s Local Transport Plan 4 (adopted 2018). 
 
30 No development within the Commercial Development Plot shall commence until a scheme 

for the parking of cycles for visitors and staff together with changing facilities, staff lockers 
and showers, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, 
in consultation with the Highway Authority. The approved scheme shall be fully implemented 
before the development is first brought into use and thereafter retained for this purpose. 
REASON:- In the interests of encouraging the use of sustainable modes of transport. 

 
31        No development (including demolition) shall take place within the Commercial Development 

Plot until an Archaeological Written Scheme of Investigation has been submitted to and 
approved by the local planning authority in writing. The scheme shall include an assessment 
of archaeological significant and research questions; and: 

 
1.        The programme and methodology of site investigation and recording; 
2.        The programme and methodology of site investigation and recording as suggested by 

the evaluation; 
3.        The programme for post investigation assessment; 
4.        Provision to be made for analysis of the site investigation and recording; 
5.        Provision to be made for publication and dissemination of the analysis and records of 

the site investigation; 
6.        Provision to be made for archive deposition of the analysis and records of the site 

investigation; 
7.        Nominations of a competent person or persons/organisations to undertake the works 

set out within the Archaeological Written Scheme of Investigation. 
REASON:- In order to protect potential heritage assets of archaeological interest. 
 

Page 200



- 117 - 

32       Prior to occupation of the Commercial Development Plot hereby permitted, a Workplace 
Travel Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, in 
consultation with the Highway Authority.  The Travel Plan, as submitted, shall follow the 
current ‘Travel Plan Development Control Guidance’ issued by Hertfordshire County Council 
and should include: 

 
(1) Targets for sustainable travel arrangements; 
(2) Effective measures for the ongoing monitoring (including appointment of the Travel Plan 
Coordinator(s) of the travel plan; 
(3) A commitment to delivering the travel plan objectives for a period of at least five years 
from first occupation of the development; and 
(4) Effective mechanisms to achieve the objectives of the travel plan by both present and 
future occupiers of the development. The development shall be implemented only in 
accordance with the approved travel plan.’ 

 
REASON:- In the interests of sustainability and to ensure that traffic generated from the site 
is minimised. 
 

33 No development within the Commercial Development Plot can commence until the full details 
of the level of footway and carriageway visibility from each individual access, and the level of 
visibility from and around each main junction within the site have been submitted and have 
been approved by the Local Planning Authority, in consultation with the Highway Authority. 
The splays as marked on these plans shall be provided before first use of the Development 
and permanently maintained thereafter. 

 
REASON:- To provide adequate visibility for drivers entering or leaving each individual site 
access, and drivers routing through each junction within the site. 
 

34 The detailed plans submitted in connection with approval of reserved matters for the 
Commercial Development Plot shall clearly demonstrate that all vehicles, including refuse 
and emergency vehicles, can safely and conveniently access and route through the site, and 
that there is a sufficient turning space for each of the parking areas, inclusive of provision of 
sufficient turning and operating areas. The areas shall be laid out, demarcated, levelled, 
surfaced and drained in accordance with the approved plan and retained thereafter available 
for that specific use. All necessary turning and operating areas shall be in place before first 
use of the development. 

 
REASON:- To ensure the permanent availability of the parking /manoeuvring area, in the 
interests of highway safety and to ensure that vehicles entering and exiting the site do not 
adversely affect the free and safe flow of traffic on the public highway. 

 
35 No development within the Commercial Development Plot can commence until the full details 

of all hard surfaced areas within the site have been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority, in consultation with the Highway Authority. This includes, but is 
not limited to, all roads, footways, forecourts, driveways, parking and turning areas, and foul 
and surface water drainage. The works thereby approved should be completed before first 
use of the development. 
REASON:-  To ensure a satisfactory standard of highway design and construction, and that 
all necessary vehicle parking/turning areas are fully accessible. 

 
36 Prior to the first occupation or use of the Commercial Development Plot hereby permitted 

vehicular and pedestrian (and cyclist) access to and egress from the adjoining highway shall 
be limited to the access(es) shown on drawing number PL202 Rev A only. Any other 
access(es) or egress(es) shall be permanently closed, and the footway / highway verge shall 
be reinstated in accordance with a detailed scheme to be agreed with the Local Planning 
Authority, concurrently with the bringing into use of the new access(es).  

 

Page 201



- 118 - 

REASON:- To ensure construction of a satisfactory development and in the interests of 
highway safety and amenity in accordance with Policies 5 and 7 of Hertfordshire’s Local 
Transport Plan (adopted 2018). 

 
37 The use of the Commercial Development Plot authorised by this permission shall not begin 

until the improvement works to walking and cycling, including the following have been made: 
 

i. Western pedestrian crossing facility on Maxwell Road, 
 

ii. Resurfacing of the existing footway along the site’s northern boundary,  
 

i. New footway on the southern side of Maxwell Road between the two new pedestrian 
crossing facilities and the existing pedestrian/cyclist link on the site’s easternmost 
boundary; and 

 
iii. New pedestrian and cyclist connection (3m wide) between the commercial building 

and the Broomin Green Farm boundary to the cycle track in the south,  
 

The works shall be fully completed to the satisfaction of the Highway Authority before first 
use. 

 
REASON:- So that all users of the development have can safely walk and cycle to and from 
the site, in compliance with paragraphs 108 and 110 of the NPPF. 

 
38 No development relating to the Commercial Development shall commence until detailed 

drawings showing that the gradients of the new western pedestrian crossing facility on 
Maxwell Road are shown to be not steeper than 1 in 20. The gradients should be in place 
before the use of the crossing.  

 
REASON:- In the interests of pedestrian safety. 

 
39 No development within the Commercial Development Plot can commence until the full details 

of all hard surfaced areas within the site have been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority, in consultation with the Highway Authority. This includes, but is 
not limited to, all roads, footways, forecourts, driveways, parking and turning areas, and foul 
and surface water drainage. The works thereby approved should be completed before first 
use of the development. 

 
REASON:- To ensure a satisfactory standard of highway design and construction, and that 
all necessary vehicle parking/turning areas are fully accessible. 
 

40 No development (including demolition) shall take place within the Commercial Development 
Plot until an Archaeological Written Scheme of Investigation has been submitted to and 
approved by the local planning authority in writing. The scheme shall include an assessment 
of archaeological significant and research questions; and: 

 
1.           The programme and methodology of site investigation and recording; 
2.           The programme and methodology of site investigation and recording as suggested 

by the evaluation; 
3.           The programme for post investigation assessment; 
4.           Provision to be made for analysis of the site investigation and recording; 
5.           Provision to be made for publication and dissemination of the analysis and records 

of the site investigation; 
6.           Provision to be made for archive deposition of the analysis and records of the site 

investigation; 
7.           Nominations of a competent person or persons/organisations to undertake the 

works set out within the Archaeological Written Scheme of Investigation. 

Page 202



- 119 - 

REASON:- In order to protect potential heritage assets of archaeological interest. 
 
41       No development shall take place within the Commercial Development Plot (unless the Local 

Planning Authority agree that a set amount of development must first commence to enable 
compliance with this condition) until any necessary on site archaeological works have been 
completed in accordance with the Written Scheme of Investigation approved under condition 
40. 
REASON:- In order to protect potential heritage assets of archaeological interest. 

 
42       The development within the Commercial Development Plot shall not be occupied and used 

until the archaeological site investigation assessment has been completed in accordance 
with the programme set out in the Written Scheme of Investigation approved under condition 
40 and shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority.  
REASON:- In order to protect potential heritage assets of archaeological interest. 
 

43        Each reserved matters application for the Commercial Development Plot shall include an 
Energy and Sustainability Statement detailing requirements of how the building(s) in each 
respective phase are adaptable to climate change (detailing renewable energy technologies 
and water efficiency measures along with details of measures to control overheating and 
cooling demand in the building(s)), to be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The details shall also include a management plan and maintenance 
strategy/schedule for the operation of the technologies, a servicing plan (if applicable) and a 
noise assessment (if applicable). The measures for adaptation to climate change as well as 
managing overheating and cooling shall be implemented in accordance with the approved 
details.   

            REASON:- To ensure the development is adaptable to climate change and to avoid 
overheating and minimising cooling demand. 

 
44 No development, including site clearance and demolition works, or any tree or vegetation 

removal, within the Commercial Development Plot shall take place until a Breeding Birds 
Survey for Black Redstarts is carried out, one in May and one in June in accordance with the 
recommendations detailed in the submitted Phase I Habitat Survey and Preliminary Bat 
Survey Update 2018 (prepared by 4 Acre Ecology Limited, Issue No. 2, issued on 
22/01/2019). 

             REASON:- Nesting birds are protected from disturbance under the Wildlife & Countryside 
Act 1981 (as amended). 

 
45       Prior to commencement of works above slab level within the Commercial Development Plot 

a scheme to provide suitable bird boxes shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The approved boxes shall be installed prior to the first occupation 
of the development.  
REASON: - To increase opportunities for wildlife in new developments. 

 
46 No development or demolition works shall take place on the FIRA building until an appropriate 

programme of historic building recording and analysis has been secured and implemented in 
accordance with a written scheme of investigation which has been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the local planning authority. The development shall be carried out at all times in 
strict accordance with the approved scheme, or such other details as may be subsequently 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
REASON:- To ensure that an appropriate record is made of the historic building fabric that 
may be affected by the development 
 

47 Prior to the occupation of the Commercial Development Plot, the applicant shall submit a 
Servicing and Delivery Plan for that phase. This plan shall be submitted to the Local Planning 
Authority for approval in writing The Servicing and Delivery Plan shall contain for the relevant 
phase the delivery and servicing requirements, waste collection points for the proposed use, 
a scheme for coordinating deliveries and servicing for the proposed development, areas 

Page 203



- 120 - 

within the development site that will be used for loading and manoeuvring of delivery and 
servicing vehicles, and access to from the site for delivery and servicing vehicles. The details 
shall include waste vehicle circulation route and constructed in accordance with the approved 
details. Thereafter the routes shall be maintained in accordance with those approved details. 
REASON: In the interest of maintaining highway efficiency and safety. 
 

48 Notwithstanding the provisions of Article 3 of the Town and Country Planning Use Classes 
Order 1987 (as amended), and Schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any Orders revoking or re-enacting these Orders) 
this permission relating to the Commercial Development Plot shall only permit the use of the 
premises as Class E(g)(i), E(g)(ii) and E(g)iii, and for no other use or purpose, including any 
use or purpose within the same use Class. 

 REASON:- To enable the Local Planning Authority to fully consider the effects of any 
development normally permitted by these Orders to safeguard the provision of employment 
uses as required under Policy EC4 of the Local plan and to safeguard the amenities of the 
locality. 

 
49 Prior to the occupation and use of the commercial buildings on the site the subject of this 

approval shall not commence without the prior written approval by the Local Planning 
Authority of a written code for the management of noise from any external area, site roads 
and spaces that are external to the office and commercial building permitted.  The external 
areas covered are delineated on the attached plan in red hatch which is used for identification 
purposes only (Plan Number A).  The code shall be submitted to and approved in writing prior 
to the commencement of the use to which this consent relates.  Amendments to the approved 
management code are subject to prior approval in writing by the local planning authority and 
demonstration within the scheme of lack of adverse impact upon neighbouring residential 
land use.  

 
The code shall be fully implemented and operated at all times in accordance with the 
approved details including any additional controls required by the local planning authority as 
part of its written approval of the written code.  The management code shall identify measures 
to reduce the impact of noise on the community as set out below: 

 
a) Restriction of use of machinery, equipment, vehicles (including fork lift trucks), plant and 
activities within the areas at night (23:00 – 07:00) and during evenings (19:00-23:00) other 
than as specifically approved by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
b) Restriction over the opening and requirements for the enforced closure of building doors 
and windows which communicate with external areas (outside of buildings) of the site where 
these serve plant rooms and areas of predicted noise escape. 

 
c) The restriction and management of all deliveries by vehicles to the site to occur within the 
daytime period. To include the prevention of vehicles awaiting entry to the buildings before 
07:00 on any day including their queuing or waiting at the site entrance and its site roadway. 

 
d) Restriction over daytime use of the external areas at weekends and during public holidays. 

 
e) Restriction over the use of radios, tannoys, audible warning devices and public address 
systems within the external areas. This relates to type, noise level and times of operation. 

 
f) Control and limitation of the activities of staff and employees within the external areas 
during evenings and at night. 

 
g) The location of plant and machinery outside the building and its noise level. 

 
The written code of management as approved by the local planning authority shall be fully 
implemented and maintained in accordance with any details of approval at all times during 

Page 204



- 121 - 

use of the commercial buildings on the site, the subject of this approval.  The management 
code is subject to amendment through written request of the operators through prior written 
approval of the local planning authority and consultation with adjacent residential users. 
REASON:- In order to protect the amenities of nearby residential properties and future 
occupiers of the residential development plot.  
 

50 Demolition of the existing buildings within the Commercial Plot and construction work of the 
proposed development within the Commercial Plot shall not begin until a scheme for 
protecting the existing residential neighbouring properties and the proposed residential 
neighbours formed as part of the development hereby permitted has been submitted to and 
approved by the Local Planning Authority in writing.  Any scheme approved by the local 
planning authority can be subject to controls added by them as part of its approval of the said 
scheme.   

 
The scheme and any controls imposed by way of approval shall address the mitigation and 
control of noise, times and days of demolition and construction activity, prediction of noise 
levels during stages of the construction and demolition at residential boundaries, methods of 
minimising and mitigating noise impact at residential receptors, including through the phasing 
of the development construction as well as the types of plant and methods of construction 
applied.  The scheme shall also include the measurement, recording and reporting to the 
local planning authority of boundary level noise emissions at adjacent residential receptors 
and a process for reducing such noise where predicted levels are exceeded or complaints by 
affected residents arise.  The scheme shall include a procedure for the recording and 
reporting of all complaints of noise to the local planning authority.  The scheme as approved 
shall be fully implemented and maintained in accordance with any details of approval at all 
times during any construction or demolition works the subject of this approval.   
 REASON:- In order to protect the amenities of nearby residential properties and future 
occupiers of the residential development plot.  

 
51 Prior to the commencement of construction of the Commercial building the developer shall 

submit and have approved in writing, by the local planning authority, a scheme of noise 
mitigation, including vibration, to address emissions of noise whether airborne or structure 
borne, emanating from any fixed plant or machinery serving the said building.  This relates to 
such noise and vibration which may impact any dwelling that is part of the development or 
neighbouring it.  Any scheme approved by the local planning authority can be subject to 
controls added by them as part of its approval of the said scheme.    

 
The measures set out in the scheme shall also include the mitigation of noise emitted from 
any lift, pump, fan, compressor and building services plant including air handling units, 
condenser units, electrical transformers and sub-stations required to serve the building.    

 
The scheme of measures shall be such as to prevent low frequency noise exceeding the 
criteria as set out in national guidance NANR45 within any dwelling room and ensure any 
assessment of its rating level when determined in accordance with BS4142014 is below the 
typical background sound level at adjacent dwellings.   

 
The scheme as approved by the local planning authority shall be fully implemented and 
maintained in accordance with the conditions of approval at all times during the use of the 
relevant building the subject of this approval. 
REASON:- In order to protect the amenities of nearby residential properties and future 
occupiers of the residential development plot. 

 
Residential Development Plot 
 
52 No development shall commence within the Residential Development Plot (unless the Local 

Planning Authority agree that a set amount of development must first commence to enable 
compliance with this condition) until a remediation strategy to deal with the risks associated 

Page 205



- 122 - 

with contamination of the Residential Development Plot, has been submitted to, and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. This strategy shall include the following 
components:             

 
            1.       A preliminary risk assessment which has identified: 

 All previous uses; 

 Potential contaminants associated with those uses; 

 A conceptual model of the site indicating sources, pathways and receptors; 

 A potentially unacceptable risks arising from contamination at the site.  
 

2.        A site investigation scheme, based on (1) to provide information for a detailed 
assessment of the risk to all receptors that may be affected, including those off-site.  

 
3.         The results of the site investigation and the detailed risk assessment referred to in (2) 

and, based on these, an options appraisal and remediation strategy giving full details 
of the remediation measures required and how they are to be undertaken. 

 
4.         A verification plan providing details of the data that will be collected in order to 

demonstrate that the works set out in the remediation strategy in (3) are complete and 
identifying any requirements for longer-term monitoring of pollutant linkages, 
maintenance and arrangements for contingency action. 

 
Any changes to these components require the written consent of the local planning authority. 
The scheme shall be implemented as approved. 
REASON:-  To ensure that the development does not constitute to, or is not put at 
unacceptable risk from or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water pollution in line 
with paragraph 170 of the National Planning Policy Framework and adopted local plan policy 
FP5:Contaminated land. 

 
53 Prior to any part of the Residential Development Plot being brought forward into use, a 

verification report demonstrating the completion of works set out in the approved remediation 
strategy and include results of sampling and monitoring carried out in accordance with the 
approved verification plan to demonstrate that the site remediation criteria have been met. 

            REASON:- To ensure that the site does not pose any further risk to human health or the 
water environment by demonstrating that the requirements of the approved verification plan 
have been met and that remediation of the site is complete. This is in line with paragraph 170 
of the National Planning Policy Framework and adopted local plan policy FP5:Contaminated 
land. 

 
54       Prior to commencement of development within the Residential Development Plot (unless the 

Local Planning Authority agree that a set amount of development must first commence to 
enable compliance with this condition) a monitoring and maintenance plan in respect of 
contamination, including a timetable of monitoring and submission of reports to the local 
planning authority, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by, the local planning 
authority. Reports as specified in the approved plan, including details of any necessary 
contingency action arising from the monitoring, shall be submitted to, and approved in writing 
by, the local planning authority. 

            REASON:- To ensure that the site does not pose any further risk to human health or the 
water environment by managing any ongoing contamination issues and completing all 
necessary long-term remediation measures. This is in line with paragraph 170 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework and adopted local plan policy FP5: Contaminated land. 

 
55        If, during development of the Residential Development Plot, contamination not previously 

identified is found to be present within the development plot, then no further development of 
that development plot (unless otherwise agreed in writing with the local planning authority) 
shall be carried out until a remediation strategy detailing how this contamination will be dealt 

Page 206



- 123 - 

with has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning authority. The 
remediation strategy shall be implemented as approved. 

            REASON:- To ensure that the development does not contribute to, is not put at unacceptable 
risk from, or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water pollution from previously 
unidentified contamination sources at the development. This is in line with paragraph 170 of 
the National Planning Policy Framework and adopted local plan policy FP5: Contaminated 
land. 

 
56        No drainage systems for the infiltration of surface water to the ground are permitted other 

than with the written consent of the local planning authority. Any proposals for such systems 
must be supported by an assessment of the risks to controlled waters. The development shall 
be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 

            REASON:- To ensure that the development does not contribute to, is not put at unacceptable 
risk from, or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water pollution caused by 
mobilised contaminants. This is in line with paragraph 170 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework and adopted local plan policy FP5: Contaminated land. 

 
57 Piling or any other foundation design using penetrative methods shall not be permitted within 

the Residential Development Plot other than with the express consent of the Local Planning 
Authority, which may be given for those parts of the site where it has been demonstrated that 
there is no resultant risk to groundwater. The development shall be carried out in accordance 
with the approved details.  

           REASON:- To protect groundwater environment, including groundwater. Some piling 
techniques can cause preferential pathways for contaminants to migrate to groundwater and 
cause pollution. A piling risk assessment should be submitted with consideration of the EA 
guidance. Given the site’s location in SPZ1 we will also require a groundwater monitoring 
programme during any piling work at the site. This groundwater monitoring programme 
should incorporate mitigation measures to be adopted should piling works be noted to be 
adversely impacting on groundwater quality beneath the site.  

 
58       A scheme for managing any borehole installed within the Residential Development Plot for 

the investigation of soils, groundwater or geotechnical purposes shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The scheme shall provide details of how 
redundant boreholes are to be decommissioned and how any boreholes that need to be 
retained, post-development, for monitoring purposes with be secured, protected and 
inspected. The scheme as approved shall be implemented prior to the occupation of the 
Residential Development Plot. 

            REASON:- To ensure that the development does not contribute to, is not put at unacceptable 
levels of water pollution caused by mobilise contaminants.  This is in line with paragraph 170 
of the National Planning Policy Framework and adopted local plan policy FP5: Contaminated 
land. 

 
59       All areas of hedges, scrub or similar vegetation where birds may nest which are to be removed 

as part of the development, are to be cleared outside the bird-nesting season (March – 
August inclusive) or if clearance during the bird nesting season cannot be reasonably be 
avoided, a suitably qualifies ecologist will check the areas to be removed immediately prior 
to clearance and advise whether nesting birds are present. If active nests are recorded, no 
vegetation clearance or other works that may disturb active nests shall proceed until all young 

have fledged the nest.  
 

REASON: - Nesting birds are protected from disturbance under the Wildlife & Countryside 
Act 1981 (as amended). 
 

60        No development within the Residential Development Plot, including any site clearance or 
demolition works, shall commence until all trees within the development plot, and those 
adjacent to it on Maxwell Road, which are to be retained have been protected by fencing or 
other means of enclosure in accordance with a detailed scheme submitted to and approved 

Page 207



- 124 - 

in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Such protection as may be agreed shall be 
inspected and approved by the Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement of the 
work and maintained until the conclusion of all site and building operations. 
REASON: - To ensure that the retained trees are not damaged or otherwise adversely 
affected during site operations. 

 
61        Within the tree protection areas to be fenced off in accordance with condition 60, there shall 

be no alteration to the ground level and they shall be kept clear of vehicles, materials, surplus 
soil, temporary buildings, plant and machinery. 
REASON: - To ensure that the retained trees are not damaged or otherwise adversely 
affected during site operations.  

 
62        Prior to commencement of works above slab level within the Residential Development Plot, 

details of any external lighting, including the intensity of illumination and predicted light 
contours, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Any 
external lighting shall accord with the details so approved. 

            REASON:- In order to protect the amenities and operations of neighbouring properties and 
to ensure any external lighting does not prejudice highway safety.   

 
63 Prior to the commencement of the relevant part of development within the Residential 

Development Plot, a Demolition/Construction Management Plan/Method Statement for the 
demotion and construction phases shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Thereafter, the works of demolition and construction of the development 
shall only be carried out in accordance with the approved statement. The 
Demolition/Construction Management Plan/Method Statement shall address the following 
matters:- 

 
 

(i)         Details of construction phasing programme (including any pre-construction demolition 
or enabling works) which shall include the date of start and finish of works on site; 

 
(ii)       Timing of construction activities (including delivery times and removal of waste) and 

to avoid school pick up/drop off times; 
 

(iii) Demolition and construction works between the hours of 0730 and 1800 on Mondays 
to Fridays and between the hours of 0830 and 1300 on Saturdays only. 

 
(iv)       The site set-up and general arrangements for storing plant including cranes, 

materials, machinery and equipment, temporary offices and other facilities, 
construction vehicle parking and loading/unloading and vehicle turning areas/details 
of any vehicle holding areas; 

 
(v)       Access and protection arrangements around the site for pedestrians, cyclists and 

other road users;  
 
(vi)      Provision of sufficient on-site parking prior to the commencement of construction 

activities; 
 
(vii)       Construction vehicle numbers, type and routing in traffic management requirements 

along with details of the vehicle call up procedure; 
 
(viii)      Screening and hoarding; 
 
(ix)      End of day tidying procedures; 
 
(x)         Construction and storage compounds (including areas designated for car parking, 

loading/unloading and turning areas); 

Page 208



- 125 - 

 
(xi)      Siting and details of wheel washing facilities; 
 
(xii)     Siting, methodology and facilities for wheel cleaning, including the cleaning of site 

entrances, site access roads and the adjacent public highway; 
 
(xiii) Control measures to manage noise and dust;  
 
(xiv)     Disposal of surplus materials; 
 
(xv) Post construction restoration/reinstatement of the working areas and temporary 

access to the public highway; 
 
(xvi) Where works cannot be contained wholly within the site a plan should be submitted 

showing the site layout on the highway including the extent of hoarding, pedestrian 
routes and remaining road width for vehicle movements.  

 
(xvii) map showing the location of construction traffic routes to and from the site, details of 

their signing, monitoring and enforcement measures; 

 
(xviii) Details of any changes to on-street waiting and loading restrictions that will be 

required; and 
 
(xxiv)  Details of measures and training to reduce the danger posed to cyclists by HGVs, 

including membership of the Freight Operators Recognition Scheme or an approved 
equivalent. 

 
REASON:- To minimise the impact of construction vehicles and to maintain the amenity of 
the local area. 

 
64        No development shall take place within the Residential Development Plot until a detailed Site 

Waste Management Plan (SWMP) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The SWMP shall detail how waste materials generated as a result 
of the proposed demolition and/or construction works will be disposed of, and the level and 
type of soil to be imported to the site as part of the development. 

            REASON:- In order to reduce the level of waste generated during the demolition and 
construction phases  of development and to recycle all waste materials where possible. 

 
65        No development within the Residential Development Plot approved by this planning 

permission shall take place until such time as a scheme to manage surface water run-off and 
surface water flood risk has been submitted to, and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. 

 
1. Surface water drainage scheme which should include:  

- Compliance of the principles set out in the approved FRA R-FRA-U8603PM-02-A dated 
January 2019 and Technical Note U8603PM/KER/001 dated May 2019 carried out by JPP 
Consulting including the discharge rate of 2.5l/s providing 700m3 of onsite surface water 
attenuation.  

- Infiltration testing in accordance with BRE Digest 365 which should be carried out at the 
location of any infiltration measure. Where infiltration is not possible, evidence that approval 
has been sought from the relevant water authority should be provided for any connection into 
a public surface water sewer.  

- Implement the use of above ground SuDS measures with a clear justification if this is not 
possible. A lack of space will not be accepted as justification due to the layout not yet 
established.  

- Provide appropriate water quality treatment stages, through the use of appropriate SuDS 
measures in line with the CIRIA SuDS Manual Simple Index assessment. This should include 

Page 209



- 126 - 

measures such as permeable paving with a granular subbase, swales, filtration trenches etc, 
to manage the surface water at source.  

- Provide a detailed drainage layout showing the proposed final development layout, location 
of all SuDS measures and associated infrastructure which should be accompanied by 
supporting surface water calculations for all rainfall events up to and including the 1 in 100 
year + climate change event (+40%).  

- Provide an outline SuDS Management, Adoption and Maintenance Plan  
 

2. Management of surface water flood risk which should include:  

- Assessment of existing surface water flood risk based on the EA Areas Susceptible to 
Surface Water Flood Risk Maps, including extents, flow paths and depths, to ensure the 
proposed layout does not increase flood risk elsewhere, by avoiding development in areas of 
existing surface water flood risk. Where this cannot be avoided, it should be demonstrated 
that any displaced flood water can be mitigated and is not displaced elsewhere. If buildings 
are to be placed in areas of existing flood risk, the applicant will need to provide flood 
resilience measures such as raised finished floor levels in line with EA advice ensuring there 
is no risk of ingress into the proposed buildings.  
 
The scheme shall be fully implemented and subsequently maintained, in accordance with the 
timing / phasing arrangements embodied within the scheme, or within any other period as 
may subsequently be agreed, in writing, by the local planning authority. 

 
 REASON:- This condition is required for the following reasons:  

1. To prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory storage of and disposal of surface water 
from the site.  

2. To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and future users.  
 

66 The within the Residential Development Plot permitted by this planning permission shall 
be carried out in accordance with the principles set out in the Flood Risk Assessment 
Technical Note, dated 8th May 2019, ref: U8603PM/KER/001 prepared by JPP Consulting 
Ltd, and the following mitigation measures:  
1. Provide totalling 701m3 of storage to ensure no increase in surface water run-off 
volumes for all rainfall events up to and including the 1 in 100 year + climate change event.  

2. Implement drainage strategy based on attenuation and restricted discharge at 2.5l/s.  

3. Implementation of permeable paving for all external car parking areas.  
 
REASON:- To prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory storage of and disposal of 
surface water from the site. 

 
67 No development within the Residential Development Plot shall take place until the final design 

of the drainage scheme is completed and sent to the LPA for approval. The surface water 
drainage system will be based on the principles submitted in the Flood Risk Assessment 
Technical Note, dated 8th May 2019, ref: U8603PM/KER/001, and the Proposed Surface 
Water Drainage Strategy drawing, Drawing No. FRA104, Rev. A, dated 08.05.2019, prepared 
by JPP Consulting Ltd and any subsequent approved detailed drainage design approved 
through the reserved matters application which includes the approved layout of the 
development. The scheme shall also include:  

  
1. Detailed engineered drawings of the proposed SuDS features including their location, 
size, volume, depth and any inlet and outlet features including any connecting pipe runs 
and all corresponding calculations/modelling to ensure the scheme caters for all rainfall 
events up to and including the 1 in 100 year + climate change event.  

2. Demonstrate an appropriate SuDS management and treatment train and inclusion of 
above ground features such as permeable paving etc. and reducing the requirement for any 
underground storage  

Page 210



- 127 - 

REASON:- To prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory storage of and disposal of 
surface water from the site. 

 

68 Upon completion of the drainage works for the Residential Development Plot and in 
accordance with the timing / phasing arrangement, a management and maintenance 
plan for the SuDS features and drainage network must be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include:  
1. Provision of a complete set of as built drawings for site drainage.  

2. Maintenance and operational activities.  

3. Arrangements for adoption and any other measures to secure the operation of the 
scheme throughout its lifetime.  

 
REASON:- To prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory storage of/disposal of 
surface water from the site. 
 

69        Prior to occupation of the development of the Residential Development Plot hereby permitted, 
a Residential Travel Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority, in consultation with the Highway Authority.  
 
The Travel Plan, as submitted, shall follow the current ‘Travel Plan Development Control 
Guidance’ issued by Hertfordshire County Council and should include: 
 
(1) Targets for sustainable travel arrangements; 
(2) Effective measures for the ongoing monitoring (including appointment of the Travel Plan 
Coordinator(s) of the travel plan; 
(3) A commitment to delivering the travel plan objectives for a period of at least five years 
from first occupation of the development; and 
(4) Effective mechanisms to achieve the objectives of the travel plan by both present and 
future occupiers of the development. The development shall be implemented only in 
accordance with the approved travel plan.’ 
 
REASON:- In the interests of sustainability and to ensure that traffic generated from the site 
is minimised. 

 
70 No development shall commence of the Residential Development Plot until full details (in the 

form of scaled plans and written specifications), have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority, in consultation with the Highway Authority, to illustrate 
the following: 

 
i. Cycleways and footways; 
ii. Roads and footways; 
iii. Car parking (including visitors and wheelchair accessible/enlarged bays and passive 

and active electric charging points), motorcycle parking and Cycle Parking (including 
visitors) provision in accordance with adopted standard; 

iv. Detailed cross-sections of the site showing existing levels and proposed finished levels, 
position of access roads, car and cycle parking areas; and 

v. The approved details shall be fully implemented before the development is first 
occupied and thereafter retained for their purpose. 

 
REASON:- In order to protect highway safety and the amenity of other users of the public 
highway and to ensure the new roads through and within the site are constructed to the 
standards outlined in Roads in Hertfordshire: Highway Design Guide 3rd Edition 

 

71 Before the accesses serving the Residential Development Plot are first brought into use, as 
defined on drawing Proposed Site Accesses Visibility Splay Analysis reference 
8180606/6101 Rev C, vehicle to vehicle visibility splays of 2.4 metres by 43 metres in both 

Page 211



- 128 - 

directions shall be provided and permanently maintained to the Maxwell Road vehicles 
accesses. Within which, there shall be no obstruction to visibility between 600 mm and 2.0 
metres above the footway level. These measurements shall be taken from the intersection of 
the centre line of the permitted access with the edge of the footway and from the intersection 
point along the edge of the carriageway. 

 
REASON:-  To ensure suitable, safe and satisfactory planning and development of the site 
in accordance with Policy 5 of Hertfordshire’s Local Transport Plan 4 (adopted 2018). 

 

72 No development within the Residential Development Plot shall commence until detailed 
drawings showing that the gradients of the proposed eastern pedestrian crossing facility on 
Maxwell Road are shown to be not steeper than 1 in 20. The gradients should be in place 
before the use of the crossing.  

 
REASON:- In the interests of pedestrian safety. 
 

73 No development can commence within the Residential Development Plot until the full details 
of the level of footway and carriageway visibility from each individual access, and the level of 
visibility from and around each main junction within the site have been submitted and have 
been approved by the Local Planning Authority, in consultation with the Highway Authority. 
The splays as marked on these plans shall be provided before first 
occupation of the Development and permanently maintained thereafter. 
 
REASON:- To provide adequate visibility for drivers entering or leaving each individual site 
access, and drivers routing through each junction within the site. 
 

74 The detailed plans submitted in connection with approval of reserved matters for the 
Residential Development Plot shall clearly demonstrate that all vehicles, including refuse and 
emergency vehicles, can safely and conveniently access and route through the site, and that 
there is a sufficient turning space for each of the parking areas, inclusive of provision of 
sufficient turning and operating areas. The areas shall be laid out, demarcated, levelled, 
surfaced and drained in accordance with the approved plan and retained thereafter available 
for that specific use. All necessary turning and operating areas shall be in place before first 
occupation of the development. 
 
REASON:- To ensure the permanent availability of the parking /manoeuvring area, in the 
interests of highway safety and to ensure that vehicles entering and exiting the site do not 
adversely affect the free and safe flow of traffic on the public highway. 
 

75 No development within the Residential Development Plot can commence until the full details 
of all hard surfaced areas within the site have been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority, in consultation with the Highway Authority. This includes, but is 
not limited to, all roads, footways, forecourts, driveways, parking and turning areas, and foul 
and surface water drainage. The works thereby approved should be completed before first 
occupation of the development. 
 
REASON:- To ensure a satisfactory standard of highway design and construction, and that 
all necessary vehicle parking/turning areas are fully accessible. 
 

76 Prior to the first occupation or use of the Residential Development Plot hereby permitted 
vehicular and pedestrian (and cyclist) access to and egress from the adjoining highway shall 
be limited to the access(es) shown on drawing number PL202 Rev A only. Any other 
access(es) or egress(es) shall be permanently closed, and the footway / highway verge shall 
be reinstated in accordance with a detailed scheme to be agreed with the Local Planning 
Authority, concurrently with the bringing into use of the new access(es).  
 

Page 212



- 129 - 

REASON:- To ensure construction of a satisfactory development and in the interests of 
highway safety and amenity in accordance with Policies 5 and 7 of Hertfordshire’s Local 
Transport Plan (adopted 2018). 

 
77 The occupation of the Residential Development Plot authorised by this permission shall not 

begin until the Traffic Regulation Order (TRO), including for parking and waiting restrictions 
in the form of double yellow lines that are required as part of improving access and 
accessibility to the site, has been secured in place and implemented over a distance of 10 
metres of either side of the site access junctions stop-lines and the opposite side of the road. 
 
REASON:- In the interests of highway safety, amenity and capacity to ensure free and safe 
flow of traffic and to be in accordance with Policies 4, 5, 12, 15 and 17 of Hertfordshire’s 
Local Transport Plan (adopted 2018). 
 

78 The occupation of the Residential Development Plot authorised by this permission shall not 
begin until the improvement works to walking and cycling, including the following have been 
made: 
 

i. Eastern pedestrian crossing facility on Maxwell Road; 
 

ii. Resurfacing of the existing footway along the site’s northern boundary; 
 

iii. New footway on the southern side of Maxwell Road between the two new pedestrian 
crossing facilities and the existing pedestrian/cyclist link on the site’s easternmost 
boundary; and 

 
iv. New pedestrian and cyclist connection (3m wide) between Block 3 and the Broomin 

Green Farm boundary to the cycle track in the south. 
 
The works shall be fully completed to the satisfaction of the Highway Authority before first 
occupation. 
 
REASON:- So that all users of the development have can safely walk and cycle to and from 
the site, in compliance with paragraphs 108 and 110 of the NPPF. 

 
79     Prior to commencement of works above slab level within the Residential Development Plot a 

scheme to provide suitable bird boxes has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The approved boxes shall be installed prior to the first occupation 
of any residential dwelling.  

            REASON: - To increase opportunities for wildlife in new developments. 
 
80        No development (including demolition) shall take place within the Residential Development 

Plot until an Archaeological Written Scheme of Investigation has been submitted to and 
approved by the local planning authority in writing. The scheme shall include an assessment 
of archaeological significant and research questions; and: 

 
1.           The programme and methodology of site investigation and recording; 
2.           The programme and methodology of site investigation and recording as suggested 

by the evaluation; 
3.           The programme for post investigation assessment; 
4.           Provision to be made for analysis of the site investigation and recording; 
5.           Provision to be made for publication and dissemination of the analysis and records 

of the site investigation; 
6.           Provision to be made for archive deposition of the analysis and records of the site 

investigation; 
7.           Nominations of a competent person or persons/organisations to undertake the 

works set out within the Archaeological Written Scheme of Investigation. 

Page 213



- 130 - 

REASON:- In order to protect potential heritage assets of archaeological interest. 
 

81        No development shall take place within the Residential Development Plot (unless the Local 
Planning Authority agree that a set amount of development must first commence to enable 
compliance with this condition) until any necessary on site archaeological works have been 
completed in accordance with the Written Scheme of Investigation approved under condition 
80. 
REASON:- In order to protect potential heritage assets of archaeological interest. 

 
82 Prior to first occupation of the development within the Residential Development Plot the 

archaeological site investigation assessment shall be completed in accordance with the 
programme set out in the Written Scheme of Investigation approved under condition 80 and 
submitted to the Local Planning Authority.  
REASON:- In order to protect potential heritage assets of archaeological interest. 
 

84       Each reserved matters application for the Residential Development Plot shall include an 
Energy and Sustainability Statement detailing requirements of how the building(s) in each 
respective phase are adaptable to climate change (detailing renewable energy technologies 
and water efficiency measures along with details of measures to control overheating and 
cooling demand in the building(s)), to be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The details shall also include a management plan and maintenance 
strategy/schedule for the operation of the technologies, a servicing plan (if applicable) and a 
noise assessment (if applicable). The measures for adaptation to climate change as well as 
managing overheating and cooling shall be implemented in accordance with the approved 
details.   

            REASON:- To ensure the development is adaptable to climate change and to avoid 
overheating and minimising cooling demand. 

 
85 As part of any reserved matters application relating to the Residential Development Plot, the 

applicant shall submit a full noise assessment in line with BS4142: 2014 in regards to noise 
from nearby commercial premises on the adjacent industrial estate. In addition, the noise 
assessment will also need to consider noise arising from road and air transport sources.  The 
applicant shall also submit a detailed scheme for ensuring that internal noise levels do not 
exceed those specified in BS8233:2014 in so far as to the living rooms, dining rooms and 
bedrooms in the residential development. In addition, details shall also be provided with 
respect to ventilation and thermal comfort arrangements which would be utilised within the 
residential development. None of the dwellings shall be occupied until such a scheme has 
been implemented in accordance with the approved details, and shown to be effective, and 
it shall be retained in accordance with those details thereafter. 

 
REASON:- To ensure that residents of the development do not suffer undue noise and 
disturbance from traffic on the adjoining highway and the operation of nearby businesses, 
including the proposed office development as detailed in the application submission. 

 
86 No development, including site clearance and demolition works, or any tree or vegetation 

removal, within the Residential Development Plot shall take place until a Breeding Birds 
Survey for Black Redstarts is carried out, one in May and one in June in accordance with the 
recommendations detailed in the submitted Phase I Habitat Survey and Preliminary Bat 
Survey Update 2018 (prepared by 4 Acre Ecology Limited, Issue No. 2, issued on 
22/01/2019). 

            REASON:- Nesting birds are protected from disturbance under the Wildlife & Countryside 
Act 1981 (as amended). 

 
87        No development shall commence above slab level until details of 10 integrated swift boxes 

(including model and location) marked on a plan, have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. These devices shall be fully installed prior to 
occupation and retained as such thereafter.   

Page 214



- 131 - 

REASON: - To increase opportunities for wildlife in new developments. 
 

88 Prior to the commencement of any development for the residential phase (excluding 
operations consisting of site clearance, demolition, earthworks, archaeological investigations, 
investigations for assessing ground conditions, remedial work in respect of any contamination 
or other adverse ground conditions, diversion and laying of services, erection of any 
temporary means of enclosure, and the temporary display of site notices or advertisements) 
a Construction Environmental Management Plan shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority. The development shall be implemented in accordance 
with the approved plan. The plan will include the following information: 

 
i)             Procedures and protocols to prevent or manage the exposure of construction 
workers, visitors to the construction area, and users of neighbouring areas to contaminated 
materials; 
 
ii)            Measures to limit dust generation during excavation, handling and storage of 
potentially contaminated materials; 
 
iii)           Boundary monitoring of dust, volatile organic compounds and asbestos fibres during 
excavation and soil handling at points of greatest sensitivity; 
 
iv)           Appropriate procedures for handling and treatment of groundwater; 
 
v)            Measures to protect workers from vapours and dermal contact if hydrocarbon 
contamination is excavated, for instance, during piling; 
 
vi)           Measures required under the Control of Asbestos Regulations 2012 and associated 
code of practice; 
 
vii)           Good practice operation and containment measures for storage of fuels or liquid 
chemicals to conform with government regulations and pollution prevention guidance (PPGs) 
issued by the EA; 
 
viii)            Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities, identification of 
biodiversity protection zones, practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive 
working practices) to avoid or reduce impacts during construction, the location and timing of 
sensitive works to avoid harm to biodiversity features, identify the times during construction 
when specialist ecologists need to be present on site to oversee works, responsible persons 
and lines of communication, use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs. 
 
REASON:- To ensure the implementation of the development does not harm ecological 
features during the construction phase and to minimise disruption to neighbouring properties 
and the environment.  
 

89 Prior to the occupation of the residential phase of the development, the applicant shall submit 
a Servicing and Delivery Plan for that phase. This plan shall be submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority for approval in writing The Servicing and Delivery Plan shall contain for 
the relevant phase the delivery and servicing requirements, waste collection points for the 
proposed use, a scheme for coordinating deliveries and servicing for the proposed 
development, areas within the development site that will be used for loading and 
manoeuvring of delivery and servicing vehicles, and access to from the site for delivery and 
servicing vehicles. The details shall include waste vehicle circulation route and constructed 
in accordance with the approved details. Thereafter the routes shall be maintained in 
accordance with those approved details. 
REASON: In the interest of maintaining highway efficiency and safety. 

 

Page 215



- 132 - 

90 Unless agreed through the reserved matters pursuant to condition, no plant or equipment 
shall be affixed to any external face of a building or added to the roof of the building. 

 REASON:-  In the interests of visual amenity. 
 
91 At least 50% of the residential units are Category 2: Accessible and Adaptable dwellings. 
 REASON:- To ensure the development will meet the increase in demand for accessible and 

adaptable units for elderly and disabled residents in accordance with Policy HO11 of the 
Stevenage Borough Local Plan 2011 – 2031 (adopted 2019).  

 
92       No external or internal lighting shall be installed on the residential development unless details 

of such lighting, including the intensity of illumination and predicted light contours, have first 
been submitted to, and approved in writing the Local Planning Authority prior to first 
occupation of the office development. Any external lighting shall accord with the details so 
approved. 

            REASON:- In order to protect the amenities and operations of neighbouring properties and 
to ensure any external lighting does not prejudice highway safety.   

 
93 Prior to the commencement of construction of any individual residential building the developer 

shall submit in writing and have approved in writing by the local planning authority, a scheme 
of noise mitigation and mechanical and natural ventilation control to protect the internal 
environment of each dwelling within the building.  Any scheme approved by the local planning 
authority can be subject to controls added by them as part of its approval of the said scheme.    

 
The measures set out in the scheme shall include the mitigation of noise generated internally 
by any ventilation systems that are to be built as well as external environmental noise sources 
that impact dwellings.    

 
The scheme of measures shall permit occupation without excessive heat or carbon dioxide 
gain within rooms whilst maintaining a reasonable internal acoustic environment and in 
particular with windows and doors closed where this is necessary to prevent excessive 
resulting internal noise.  The scheme shall also address the identification, location, type and 
specification of openings, including ventilators, windows and doors in the external building 
façades that communicate with dwelling rooms and permit entry of noise from other 
commercial and industrial sites located on the northern side of Maxwell Road.   

 
The scheme, as approved by the local planning authority shall be fully implemented and 
maintained in accordance with the approved details, at all times during the use of the relevant 
building for residential purposes, the subject of this approval.  Post the implementation of the 
scheme the subject of this condition and notwithstanding any permitted development rights, 
no additional façade openings are permitted to be created without the prior written approval 
of the local planning authority.   

 

Prior to the commencement of construction of any individual building the developer shall 
submit in writing and have approved in writing, by the local planning authority, a scheme of 
noise mitigation, including vibration, to address emissions of noise whether airborne or 
structure borne, emanating from any fixed plant or machinery serving the said building.  This 
relates to such noise and vibration which may impact any dwelling that is part of the 
development or neighbouring it.  Any scheme approved by the local planning authority can 
be subject to controls added by them as part of its approval of the said scheme.    

 
The measures set out in the scheme shall also include the mitigation of noise emitted from 
any lift, pump, fan, compressor and building services plant including air handling units, 
condenser units, electrical transformers and sub-stations required to serve the building.    

 
The scheme of measures shall be such as to prevent low frequency noise exceeding the 
criteria as set out in national guidance NANR45 within any dwelling room and ensure any 

Page 216



- 133 - 

assessment of its rating level when determined in accordance with BS4142014 is below the 
typical background sound level at adjacent dwellings.   

 
The scheme as approved by the local planning authority shall be fully implemented and 
maintained in accordance with the conditions of approval at all times during the use of the 
relevant building the subject of this approval. 
 
REASON:- In order to protect the amenities of nearby residential properties and future 
occupiers of the residential development plot.  
 

94 Demolition of the existing buildings and construction work of the proposed development 
within the Residential Development Plot shall not begin until a scheme for protecting the 
existing residential neighbouring properties and the proposed residential neighbours formed 
as part of the development hereby permitted has been submitted to and approved by the 
Local Planning Authority in writing.  Any scheme approved by the local planning authority can 
be subject to controls added by them as part of its approval of the said scheme.   

 
The scheme and any controls imposed by way of approval shall address the mitigation and 
control of noise, times and days of demolition and construction activity, prediction of noise 
levels during stages of the construction and demolition at residential boundaries, methods of 
minimising and mitigating noise impact at residential receptors, including through the phasing 
of the development construction as well as the types of plant and methods of construction 
applied.  The scheme shall also include the measurement, recording and reporting to the 
local planning authority of boundary level noise emissions at adjacent residential receptors 
and a process for reducing such noise where predicted levels are exceeded or complaints by 
affected residents arise.  The scheme shall include a procedure for the recording and 
reporting of all complaints of noise to the local planning authority.  The scheme as approved 
shall be fully implemented and maintained in accordance with any details of approval at all 
times during any construction or demolition works the subject of this approval.   
REASON:- In order to protect the amenities of nearby residential properties and future 
occupiers of the residential development plot.  
 

95 Prior to the commencement of construction of any individual building within the Residential 
Development Plot the developer shall submit in writing and have approved in writing, by the 
local planning authority, a scheme of noise mitigation, including vibration, to address 
emissions of noise whether airborne or structure borne, emanating from any fixed plant or 
machinery serving the said building.  This relates to such noise and vibration which may 
impact any dwelling that is part of the development or neighbouring it.  Any scheme approved 
by the local planning authority can be subject to controls added by them as part of its approval 
of the said scheme.    

 
The measures set out in the scheme shall also include the mitigation of noise emitted from 
any lift, pump, fan, compressor and building services plant including air handling units, 
condenser units, electrical transformers and sub-stations required to serve the building.    

 
The scheme of measures shall be such as to prevent low frequency noise exceeding the 
criteria as set out in national guidance NANR45 within any dwelling room and ensure any 
assessment of its rating level when determined in accordance with BS4142014 is below the 
typical background sound level at adjacent dwellings.   

 
The scheme as approved by the local planning authority shall be fully implemented and 
maintained in accordance with the conditions of approval at all times during the use of the 
relevant building the subject of this approval.    
 REASON:- In order to protect the amenities of nearby residential properties and future 
occupiers of the residential development plot.  

 

Pro-active Statement 

Page 217



- 134 - 

 
Planning permission has been granted for this proposal. The Council acted pro-actively 
through positive engagement with the applicant at the pre-application stage and during the 
determination process which lead to improvements to the scheme. The Council has therefore 
acted pro-actively in line with the requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(paragraph 38) and in accordance with the Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015. 
 
INFORMATIVES 
 

1 Environment Agency 
 

 The developer should follow the risk management framework provided in CLR11, Model 
Procedures of Land Contamination, when dealing with land affected by contamination. Refer 
to the Environment Agency Guiding principles for land contamination that are required in 
order to assess risks to controlled waters from the site. The Local Authority can advise on 
risk receptors such as human health. Consider using the National Quality Mark Scheme for 
Land Contamination Management which involves the use of competent persons to ensure 
that land contamination risks are appropriately managed. In addition, to consideration should 
be made to the Environment Agency’s approach to groundwater protection February 2018 
version 1.2.  

 
Refer to the contaminated land pages on GOV.UK for more information. It is expected the 
site investigations to be carried out in accordance with best practice guidance for site 
investigations on land affected by land contamination, for example British Standards, when 
investigating potentially contaminated sites and groundwater, and references with these 
documents: 

 

 BS5930:2015 Code of practice for site investigations; 

 BS10175:2011 A1:2013 Code of practice for investigation of potentially contaminated 
sites; 

 BS ISO 5667-22:2010 Water quality, sampling, Guidance on the design and installation of 
groundwater monitoring points; 

 BS ISO 5667-11:2009 Water quality, sampling, Guidance on sampling of groundwater’s 
(A minimum of 3 groundwater monitoring boreholes are required to establish the 
groundwater levels, flow patterns and groundwater quality, more monitoring locations may 
be required to establish the conceptual model); 

 Use MCERTS accredited methods for testing contaminated soils at the site. 

 A Detailed Quantitative Risk Assessment (DQRA) for controlled waters using the results 
of the site investigations with consideration of the hydrogeology of the site and the degree 
or any existing groundwater and surface water pollution should be carried out. 

 
The verification plan should include proposals for a groundwater monitoring programme to 
encompass regular monitoring for a period date before, during and after ground works. For 
example, monthly monitoring before, during and for a least the first quarter after completion 
of ground works, and then quarterly for the remaining 9-month period. Where SuDS are 
proposed, infiltration SuDS should not be located in unsuitable and unstable land affect by 
contamination or solution features.  
 
Where infiltration SuDS are to be used for surface run-off from roads, car parking and public 
or amenity areas, they should have a suitable series of treatment steps to prevent the 
pollution of groundwater. For the immediate drainage catchment areas used for handling and 
storage of chemicals and fuel, handling and storage of waste, lorry, bus and coach of parking 
turning areas, infiltration SuDS are not permitted without an environmental. Further advice in 
the updated CIRIAL SuDS manual should be used as reference.  
 

2 Hertfordshire Highways  

Page 218



- 135 - 

 
 AN1) Storage of materials: The applicant is advised that the storage of materials associated 
with the construction of this development should be provided within the site on land which is 
not public highway, and the use of such areas must not interfere with the public highway. If 
this is not possible, authorisation should be sought from the Highway Authority before 
construction works commence. Further information is available via the website 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/highways-roads-
and-pavements.aspx or by telephoning 0300 1234047.  

 
 AN2) Obstruction of public highway land: It is an offence under section 137 of the Highways 
Act 1980 for any person, without lawful authority or excuse, in any way to wilfully obstruct the 
free passage along a highway or public right of way. If this development is likely to result in 
the public highway or public right of way network becoming routinely blocked (fully or partly) 
the applicant must contact the Highway Authority to obtain their permission and requirements 
before construction works commence. Further information is available via the website  
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/highways-roads-
and-pavements.aspx telephoning 0300 1234047. 
 
AN3) Road Deposits: It is an offence under section 148 of the Highways Act 1980 to deposit 
mud or other debris on the public highway, and section 149 of the same Act gives the 
Highway Authority powers to remove such material at the expense of the party responsible. 
Therefore, best practical means shall be taken at all times to ensure that all vehicles leaving 
the site during construction of the development are in a condition such as not to emit dust or 
deposit mud, slurry or other debris on the highway. Further information is available via the 
website 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/highways-roads 
and-pavements.aspx or by telephoning 0300 1234047. 
 
AN4) Construction standards for works within the highway. The applicant is advised that in 
order to comply with this permission it will be necessary for the developer of the site to enter 
into an agreement with Hertfordshire County Council as Highway Authority under Section 
278 of the Highways Act 1980 to ensure the satisfactory completion of the access and 
associated road improvements. The construction of such works must be undertaken to the 
satisfaction and specification of the Highway Authority, and by a contractor who is authorised 
to work in the public highway. Before works commence the applicant will need to apply to the 
Highway Authority to obtain their permission and requirements. Further information is 
available via the website 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/highways-roads-
and-pavements.aspx or by telephoning 0300 1234047. 

 
AN5) Constructions standards for works within the highway. The application is advised that 
in order to comply with this permission it will be necessary for the developer of the site to 
enter into an agreement with Hertfordshire County Council as Highways Authority under 
Section 278 of the Highways Act 1980 to ensure the satisfactory completion of the access 
and associated road improvements. The requirement as part of the offsite s278 works is to 
provide: 
 

 Access works; 

 Provision of two pedestrian crossing facilities in Maxwell Road; 

 Resurfacing of the existing footway along the site’s northern boundary; 

 Provision of a new footway between the two new pedestrian crossing facilities; 

 Provision of two new shared pedestrian/cycle links from the site to the cycle track to 
the south; 

 Cavendish Road bus stop improvements: provision of Kassel kerbing, bus shelter, 
bench; 

 Connect the existing two off road cycle facilities across Maxwell Road; 

Page 219

https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/highways-roads


- 136 - 

 Improve pedestrian access to Cavendish Road bus stop by resurfacing the provision 
of dropped kerbs and tactiles; and 

 ‘Keep Clear’ markings on the Maxwell Road / Gunnels Wood Road junction.  
 

The details should be included as part of the s278 drawing as part of the required highway 
work in conjunction with the development. The construction of such works must be 
undertaken to the satisfaction and specification of the Highways Authority, and, by a 
contractor who is authorised to work in the public highway. Before works commence the 
applicant will need to apply to the Highway Authority to obtain their permission and 
requirements.  

 
3 Thames Water 
 

 With regards to surface water drainage, Thames Water would advise that if the developer 
follows the sequential approach to the disposal of surface water, we would have no objection. 
Where the developer proposes to discharge to a public sewer, prior approval from Thames 
Water Developer Services will be required.   
 

4 Ecology 
 
 As part of any reserved matters application relating to landscaping, it is recommended that 

where possible, brash or log-piles should be created at the edge of the site if any tree/shrub 
clearance is undertaken, to provide wildlife stacks for invertebrates and small mammals. In 
addition, any closed board fencing as part of any boundary treatment should have Hedgehog 
gaps placed in them (150mm wide and 100mm high) to allow them and other small animals 
access throughout the site and area.  

 
5 Trees and Landscaping  
 

 As part of any reserved matters application relating to landscaping, the Council’s 
Arboricultural Manager recommends that the following  tree works should part of any 
landscaping scheme submitted to the Council for its approval:- 

1. Removal of 2 no. Poplar Trees in the North East corner of Block 1; 
2. 30% reduction of first row of trees on the Eastern boundary by Blocks 1 and 2; 
3. 30% reduction of the two Lime trees by the South Eastern corner of the site; 
4. 30% overall reductions on the two groups of Maple trees on the northern boundary 

near Block 4 and Office Block; 
5. Removal (including stump grinding) of the two Maple trees on the North side by the 

sub-station.  

6 Community Infrastructure Levy 

Stevenage Borough Council adopted a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging 
Schedule at Full Council on 27 January 2020 and started implementing CIL on 01 April 2020.  

This application may be liable for CIL payments and you are advised to contact the CIL Team 
for clarification with regard to this. If your development is CIL liable, even if you are granted 
an exemption from the levy, please be advised that it is a requirement under Regulation 67 
of The Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended) that CIL Form 6 
(Commencement Notice) must be completed, returned and acknowledged by Stevenage 
Borough Council before building works start. Failure to do so will mean you risk losing the 
right to payment by instalments and a surcharge will be imposed. NB, please note that a 
Commencement Notice is not required for residential extensions if relief has been granted.  

Page 220



- 137 - 

Stevenage's adopted CIL Charging Schedule and further details of CIL can be found on the 
Council's webpages at www.stevenage.gov.uk/CIL or by contacting the Council's CIL Team 
at CIL@Stevenage.gov.uk 

7 Party Wall etc. Act 1996 

 Any work that affects a party wall, including foundations dug within 3.0m of a neighbouring 
building, may be controllable under the Act and may require approval from the adjoining 
owner(s).  Party Wall Act matters are always civil matters and it is neither Stevenage Borough 
Council's nor Hertfordshire Building Control Ltd's remit to control or enforce Party Wall act 
matters.  Please refer to the Government's explanatory booklet The Party Wall etc. Act 1996, 
a copy of which is available online at  

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-party-wall-etc-act-1996-revised-
explanatory-booklet 

8 Building Regulations 

To obtain advice regarding current Building Regulations please contact Hertfordshire Building 
Control Ltd. by emailing us at building.control@hertfordshirebc.co.uk or phoning us on 01438 
879990. 

To make a building regulations application please apply through our website portal at 
https://www.hertfordshirebc.co.uk/contact-us/ payment can be made online or by phoning the 
above number after the application has been uploaded.  Please phone Hertfordshire Building 
Control for fees guidance on 01438 879990. 

Hertfordshire Building Control can also be contacted by post at Hertfordshire Building control 
Ltd., 4th Floor, Campus West, Welwyn Garden City, Hertfordshire, AL8 6BX. 

Once a building regulations application has been deposited with relevant drawings and fee 
building work may commence.  You will be advised in their acknowledgement letter of the 
work stages we need to inspect but in most instances these are usually: 

         Excavation for foundations 

         Damp proof course 

        Concrete oversite 

         Insulation 

         Drains (when laid or tested) 

         Floor and Roof construction 

        Work relating to fire safety 

         Work affecting access and facilities for disabled people 

         Completion 

Please phone Hertfordshire Building Control on 01438 879990 before 10.00am to ensure a 
same day inspection (Mon - Fri).  

Page 221

mailto:CIL@Stevenage.gov.uk
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-party-wall-etc-act-1996-revised-explanatory-booklet
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-party-wall-etc-act-1996-revised-explanatory-booklet


- 138 - 

9 Police Crime Prevention Design Service 

 Prior to construction the applicant will contact the Hertfordshire Constabulary CPDS with a 
view to seeking to achieve accreditation to the Police preferred minimum security standard 
that is Secured by Design. The reason for this is to ensure that the development is compliant 
with both National and Local Planning Policies, in addition, this will also demonstrate the 
discharge of obligations under Approved Document ‘Q’ – Security of Building Regulations”. 

  
13. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS  
 
1. The application file, forms, plans and supporting documents having the reference number 

relating to this item. 
 
2.  Stevenage Borough Council Supplementary Planning Documents – Parking Provision 

adopted October 2020, Stevenage Design Guide adopted October 2009, The impact of 
Development on Biodiversity adopted March 2021, Stevenage Borough Council Developer 
Contributions adopted March 2021. 

 
3.  Stevenage Borough Local Plan 2011-2031 adopted 2019. 
 
4. Hertfordshire County Council’s Local Transport Plan 4 adopted May 2018. 
 
5.  Responses to consultations with statutory undertakers and other interested parties referred 

to in this report. 
 
6.  Central Government advice contained in the National Planning Policy Framework July 2021 

and Planning Policy Guidance March 2014. 
 

Page 222



 Part I – Release 
to Press 

 
 
 

 
 

Meeting: Planning and Development 
Committee 

Agenda Item:  

Date: 9 August 2022   

Author: Linda Sparrow 01438 242837 

Lead Officer: Zayd Al-Jawad 01438 242257  

Contact Officer: Linda Sparrow 01438 242837  

Application No: 22/00625/PATELE 

Location: Burghley Close, Stevenage, Herts 

Proposal: Proposed 5G telecoms installation: 15M street pole 
and 3 additional ancillary equipment cabinets and 
associated ancillary works  

Drawing Nos.: 002; 215; 265; 

Applicant: CK Hutchison Networks (UK) Ltd 

Date Valid: 7 July 2022 

Recommendation: PRIOR APPROVAL REQUIRED AND GIVEN 

 

 
Plan for information purposes only 

1.   SITE DESCRIPTION 

1.1 The application site is located on a highway verge on the western side of the entry road 
into Burghley Close from Hertford Road.  The junction with The Glynde lies to the north-
west of the application site and Hertford Road to the south.  

 

2.   RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 

2.1 None.  

Page 223

Agenda Item 5



- 2 - 

3.   THE CURRENT APPLICATION  
 

3.1 Prior approval is sought under Schedule 2, Part 16, Class A of the Town and Country 
Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (As amended) for the 
installation of a 15m high Phase 8 Monopole with associated equipment cabinets. 

 
3.2 The proposed pole would be 15m high while the 3no. associated cabinets would 

measure 1.9m by 670mm and 1.8m high; 750mm by 650mm and 1.1m high and 450mm 
by 650mm and 1.5m high.   

 
3.3 The application comes before Committee for consideration as it has been called in by 

Councillor Howells. 
 

4.       PUBLIC REPRESENTATIONS  

4.1 This planning application has been publicised by way of neighbour notification letters, 
sent to 76 properties within a 100m radius of the application site. 

 
4.2 A site notice was not erected in the locality in this instance as to do so would result in the 

public consultation period ending after a decision is made at this committee meeting.  
However, under Schedule 2, Part 16, Class A, A.3, (5)(d) of the Town and Country 
Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (As amended), the 
Local Planning Authority is required to give notice of the application by way of a site 
notice OR serving notice on any adjoining owner or occupier.  Therefore, by sending 
letters to all properties within a 100m radius of the site exceeds our requirements under 
the aforementioned Legislation and the addition of a site notice placed locally is not 
necessary.  

 
4.3 As a result of the public consultation, 8 letters of objection from local residents and a 

letter from the Stevenage MP, Mr McPartland, have been received. The residents’ letters 
are summarised as follows: 

 Could reduce visibility between vehicles and pedestrians; 

 Shocked it will be in a residential area so close to a residential dwelling; 

 Eyesore in the street scene; 

 Concerned about health impacts; 

 Only people to benefit are passing cars; 

 Plenty of alternative sites; 

 Not in line with the NPPF of 2019; 

 Adverse impact on visual amenity 

 Hertford Road is an attractive area and this mast will irreparably damage the 
pleasing character of the street scene unless it can be camouflaged or hidden; 

 If this was a remote rural area there may be a case for a 5G mast, however nearly 
all properties in this area have fast fibre from Virgin Media (the optimum solution) so 
there is no need for 5G when the existing broadband is superior in speed; 

 How will 5G increase economic growth? 

 Will affect house prices; 

 Will affect wildlife in the local stream. 
 
4.4 The letter from Mr McPartland, MP for Stevenage, is summarised as follows: 

 Not an appropriate site being a residential area; 

 I have started a campaign to the local residents to make them aware of the 
impacts of these masts and to hopefully have them reconsidered in the planning 
process; 

 The mast is not in line with the NPPF of 2019 as it is not sympathetically 
designed and is more visible than the current infrastructure; 

 More favourable sites could be found. 

Page 224



- 3 - 

 Advice is that masts should be tens or hundreds of metres away from the user 
and not accessible to the public; 

 It is clear that a wider debate and strategy in the location of these huge masts is 
needed; they need to be absorbed into existing street furniture such as street 
lights on roundabouts. 

 
4.5 Please note that these are not a verbatim of the comments received. Full copies of the 

comments received against this application can be viewed on the Council’s website. 
 

5. CONSULTATIONS  
 
5.1       Hertfordshire County Council as Highways Authority  
 
5.1.1 The Highway Authority are unable to extend the grant of planning permission as a 

boundary plan identifying if the land is highway land has not been submitted. 
  

5.1.2 The Planning Officer confirmed via email on 26 July 2022 that the land is adopted 
highways grass and the Highways Officer responded to advise they would reply with 
their comments as soon as they can. 

 
5.2 Council’s Environmental Health Section 
 
5.2.1 No objections. 
 

6.  RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES  

6.1 Background to the development plan 
 
6.1.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 provides that the 

decision on the planning application should be in accordance with the development plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. For Stevenage the statutory 
development plan comprises: 
 
• The Stevenage Borough Council Local Plan 2011-2031 
• Hertfordshire Waste Development Framework 2012 and Hertfordshire Waste Site 

Allocations Development Plan Document (adopted 2012 and 2014); and 
• Hertfordshire Minerals Local Plan 2002 – 2016 (adopted 2007). 
• National Planning Policy Framework (2021) 

 
6.2 Central Government Advice 

 
6.2.1 Section 10 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF; 2021) states advanced, 

high quality and reliable communications infrastructure is essential for economic growth 
and social well-being. Planning policies and decisions should support the expansion of 
electronic communications networks, including next generation mobile technology (such 
as 5G) and full fibre broadband connections. Policies should set out how high quality 
digital infrastructure, providing access to services from a range of providers, is expected 
to be delivered and upgraded over time; and should prioritise full fibre connections to 
existing and new developments (as these connections will, in almost all cases, provide 
the optimum solution). 

 
6.2.2  The relevant paragraphs of the NPPF are as follows:  
 

Paragraph 114 - supports the provision of 5G infrastructure in order to support economic 
growth and social well-being through the increased connectivity that 5G will provide. 
Central Government is also supportive of the provision of 5G network infrastructure. 

Page 225



- 4 - 

  
Paragraph 115 - Where new sites are required (such as for new 5G networks), 
equipment should be sympathetically designed and camouflaged where appropriate.  

 
Paragraph 118 - Local planning authorities must determine applications on planning 
grounds only. They should not seek to prevent competition between different operators, 
question the need for an electronic communications system, or set health safeguards 
different from the International Commission guidelines for public exposure.  

 

6.2.3 The installation of a mobile phone mast is classed as development and would normally 
require a full application for planning permission. However, designated mobile network 
operators have certain permitted development rights and this allows them to build 
prescribed infrastructure without having to apply for planning permission from the Local 
Planning Authority (LPA). “Prior approval” from the LPA regarding the siting and 
appearance of the development is required in certain circumstances, including for all 
new ground-based masts.  

 
6.2.4 A mobile network operator may submit an application for prior approval under the 

General Permitted Development Order (Part 16 of Schedule 2 of the GPDO 2015 (as 
amended)). The Order grants approval of the principle of the development as permitted 
development but requires operators to obtain the prior approval from the LPA for the 
siting and appearance of the items to be installed, in addition to providing the ‘necessary 
evidence’ set out in NPPF chapter 10, paragraph 115, including a statement that self-
certifies that, when operational, International Commission guidelines will be met. 

 
Latest Government Advice 22nd July 2020  

 
6.2.5 The government has published the outcome of a consultation exercise in 2020 on 

proposed reforms to permitted development rights to support the deployment of 5G and 
extend mobile coverage. The following paragraphs are relevant to this application.  

 
6.2.6 The scope of the consultation was on the principle of proposed planning reforms to 

support the deployment of 5G and extend mobile coverage. However, concerns were 
raised that did not relate to the specific proposed planning changes that views were 
sought on. These concerns, expressed by the majority of personal respondents, were in 
relation to in-principle opposition to the deployment of 5G infrastructure. In particular, on 
grounds relating to public health concerns, and the effects of electromagnetic fields 
(EMF) radiation on the environment, including on wildlife populations.  

 
6.2.7 Public Health England’s (PHE) Centre for Radiation, Chemical and Environmental 

Hazards (CRCE) takes the lead on public health matters associated with radiofrequency 
electromagnetic fields, or radio waves, used in telecommunications. PHE is familiar with 
the evidence submitted to the consultation about possible risks to public health and 
considers that its advice, as set out below, remains unchanged. PHE updated its 
guidance, published in October 2019, in respect of 5G in ‘5G technologies: radio waves 
and health’. PHE summarised its guidance as: 

 
“It is possible that there may be a small increase in overall exposure to radio waves 
when 5G is added to an existing network or in a new area. However, the overall 
exposure is expected to remain low relative to guidelines and, as such, there should be 
no consequences for public health.”  

 
6.2.8 Some 5G technology will use similar frequencies to existing communications systems. 

Other 5G technology will work at higher frequencies where the main change would be 
less penetration of radio waves through materials. Central to PHE advice is that 
exposure to radio waves should comply with the guidelines published by the 
International Commission on Non-Ionizing Radiation Protection (ICNIRP). In compliance 

Page 226



- 5 - 

with PHE advice, mobile network operators have committed to follow the ICNIRP 
guidelines.  

 
6.2.9 ICNIRP is an independent organisation which is formally recognised by the World Health 

Organisation. It issues guidelines on human exposure to EMF, based upon the 
consensus view of a large amount of research carried out over many years. This 
includes the frequencies used by 5G and all other mobile / wireless technologies. Over 
the last two decades there have been over 100 expert reports on EMF and health 
published internationally with well over 3,000 studies informing these reviews and the 
existing scientific exposure guidelines.  

 
6.2.10 Ofcom will carry out audits of mobile base stations on an ongoing basis to ensure that 

ICNIRP guidelines are not exceeded and publish the results of these audits on its 
website. Mobile operators are responsible for ensuring that all sites remain compliant. 
PHE have also published guidance in respect of ‘Mobile phone base stations: radio 
waves and health’. Ofcom is also proposing new licence conditions for spectrum 
licensees using equipment that can transmit at power levels above 10 Watts. Under 
these proposals, licensees would be required to operate within the ICNIRP guidelines as 
a condition of their Ofcom licence – including keeping data and records of any testing to 
demonstrate their compliance. 

 
6.2.11 PHE is committed to monitoring the evidence applicable to this and other radio 

technologies, and to revising its advice, should that be necessary. 
  
6.2.12 EMF radiation has the potential to impact the movement of insects and some species of 

animals. However, there is currently no evidence that human-made EMF radiation at 
realistic field levels has population level impacts on either animals or plants.  

 
 Justification of Need  
 
6.2.13 Central Government expects LPAs to respond positively to proposals for 

telecommunications development and not question the need for equipment in principle, 
or obstruct the competitiveness of code operators. If a code operator provides 
justification for needing a telecommunications installation in any given vicinity, the LPA 
has no choice but to agree to some form and kind of installation. 

  
6.2.14 The justification provided to support the development is that the location has been 

identified as being necessary for CK Hutchison Networks (UK) Ltd business development 
and meets its specific technical and operational requirements. The application site is 
required to provide new 5G network coverage for CK Hutchison Networks (UK) Ltd. The 
cell areas for 5G are very limited with a typical radius of only 50m.  

 
6.2.15 Other locations in the vicinity of the site have been considered and dismissed and it is 

accepted that mobile phone base stations operate on a low power and accordingly, the 
base stations need to be located in the areas they are required to serve. With increasing 
numbers of people using mobiles in their homes for business as well as for social 
purposes, the base stations need to be located in, or close to, residential areas to 
ensure coverage.  

 
 
6.2.16 The information submitted with the application states that six other sites, all within 

residential streets in the area, have been considered but dismissed as not suitable due 
to narrow footpaths, proximity to railway lines, topography of the land and un-adopted 
land.  The discounted sites are as follows: 

Page 227



- 6 - 

  
 
6.2.17 The Government is driving forward the delivery of 5G networks.  In a press release in 

May 2022 they state that 5G is the next generation of mobile internet an can offer 
download speeds up to 100 times faster than 4G.  It is expected to broaden the role that 
mobile technology plays in wider society which could transform the way public services 
are delivered by allowing greater real-time monitoring and responsiveness in order to 
reduce waste, pollution or congestion. 

 
6.2.18 At the time of writing, our dependence on network services and connectivity is ever more 

apparent. Restrictions on travel resulting from the Coronavirus pandemic, plus three 
national lockdowns, have resulted in a large shift from office based to home working, 
from physical, professional and social gatherings to virtual ones, and to unprecedented 
reliance on online shopping and entertainment services. Network usage within suburbs 
has increased dramatically as less people are travelling to town and city centres than 
during pre-pandemic times. Maintaining and enhancing the mobile networks is of vital 
national importance, and it was significant that telecommunications were designated as 
“critical work” during that time. It is anticipated that the current shift towards 
homeworking and online services will persist, to a lesser degree, in the future. It is vital 
that the infrastructure is in place throughout the UK to meet this demand, and the needs 
of the public.  

 
6.2.19 The benefit of having a strong and resilient network has been highlighted in the last 30 

months following the sudden shift in the network requirements, as the demand on the 
network in residential areas increased with home-working and home-schooling. 
Research by Ofcom, Online Nation 2020 found that until early that year, online video 
calling was used much less than other online communication services, with 35% of 
online adults using online video calling at least weekly in the 12 months to February 
2020. However, in May 2020, this had doubled to 71% of online adult consumers using 
online video calling services at least weekly, with 38% using them at least daily. 
Research suggests that 7% of adult internet-users used video calling for the first time as 
a result of the coronavirus pandemic.  

 
6.2.20 The Ofcom Connected Nations 2020 UK Report outlined a sharp increase in both mobile 

and voice data, particularly during the enforced national lockdowns of 2020. The report 
states that average call volumes and average call duration increased in the week that 
national lockdown was introduced in March 2020, with mobile hotspots shifting away 
from city centres to the suburbs and residential areas as restrictions continued.  
Significantly, the same report states that the consumption of mobile data saw a 
staggering rise of 42%, when compared with the previous year. Additionally, the traffic 
carried in England in June 2020 (during lockdown) exceeded that carried across the 

Page 228



- 7 - 

whole of the UK (England, Scotland, Wales, and Northern Ireland) in February 2020 
(prior to lockdown).  

 
6.2.21 Research by Online Nation 2020 found in April 2020, internet users in the UK spent an 

average of 4 hours 2 minutes online each day, 37 minutes more each day per online 
adult compared with January 2020. This emphasises the importance of 
telecommunications infrastructure in being able to provide internet users with reliable 
network coverage and capacity to deal with an increasing amount of time online each 
day.  

 
6.2.22 Notwithstanding the Covid-19 pandemic, and the increase in network reliance, a look at 

past data shows that our reliance on mobile networks was increasing year-on-year, prior 
to 2020. Ofcom’s Communications Market Report 2018 provides a figure of 92 million 
active mobile subscribers in the UK at the end of 2017. It detailed that 78% of adults 
used a smartphone and that 76% of mobile users were using their devices for web and 
data access. Figures within the report also confirm that users were spending an 
increasing amount of time per day using their mobile phone. 68% of participants in the 
Touchpoints research reported that they “could not live without” their mobile phone 
(rising to 78% among 25-34s). Whilst not included within the research figures, anecdotal 
evidence suggests that this number is greater still amongst those aged under 18. Given 
that two years have now passed since this report, it is anticipated that these figures have 
increased further. All of which points towards the nation’s increasing dependency on 
mobile services and connectivity.  

 
6.2.23 A relatively recent YouGov survey (January 2021) adds further support to this, with 67% 

of those who were at the time working from home during the pandemic confirming that 
they had been using mobile data, as opposed the fixed-line broadband, agreeing that 
access to it would be an important factor when choosing where to live in the future. This 
rises to 76% for 18 to 34-year olds. The survey also confirmed that 44% of one network 
Operator’s data traffic in January 2021 went to streaming services, such as Disney+, and 
that 45% of 18 to 24 year olds confirming that they are more likely to use their mobile 
data for browsing social media.  

 
6.2.24 All of the above occur in a domestic setting. There is a clear need and demand for 

connectivity and capacity, and it is anticipated that telecommunications infrastructure has 
become, and will continue to become, commonplace in residential and suburban 
settings, and on highways verges, such as the application site.  

 
6.2.25 Ofcom’s 2018 Communications Market Research Report shows that smartphones are 

owned by four of every five UK consumers and smart TVs are in almost half of all 
households. Demand for data continues to grow rapidly for UK consumers, with 1.9GB 
consumed by an average mobile subscription per month in 2017, (up from 1.3 GB the 
previous year). The report found that more than seven in ten now use their mobile to 
access the internet, sufficient coverage is obviously vital for this basic utilities service to 
be provided.  

 
6.2.26 Since 2016, and particularly during the enforced lockdowns of 2020 and 2021, public 

and business reliance on the established mobile networks has continued to increase. 
Improved mobile coverage and connectivity is now no longer viewed as a ‘luxury’, but 
rather an every-day necessity. This has been further exacerbated as, at the time of 
writing, the country appears to be adopting a more hybrid-working pattern, split between 
traditional office working, and working from home. As this ‘working from home’ naturally 
occurs within a residential setting, then it follows that the necessary infrastructure and 
apparatus must be in place to allow this to happen. As such, this type of infrastructure 
must be deployed within sub-urban, urban and residential areas. It is imperative that 
improving network connectivity and capacity is continuous – to meet the demands of the 

Page 229



- 8 - 

public who have changed both their working and social behaviour over the last 2 and a 
half years.  

 
6.4 Stevenage Borough Local Plan 2011 – 2031 (adopted May 2019) 
 

 Policy SP8 – Good Design; 

 Policy GD1 – High Quality Design; 
 

7. APPRAISAL  
 
7.1  The determining issues relate to the acceptability of the application in terms of siting and 

appearance as defined under Schedule 2, Part 16, Class A of the Town and Country 
Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended). The 
factors which can be considered in relation to appearance as part of the prior approval 
process include:  

 

 design, form, shape and dimensions;  

 colour and materials; and  

 whether there are more suitable sites for the proposed works.  
 
7.1.1 The factors which can be considered concerning siting include:  
 

 the height of the site in relation to surrounding ground; 

 the existing topographical features and natural vegetation; 

 the effect on the skyline or horizon;  

 the site when observed from any side; 

 the site in relation to areas designated for scenic value; 

 the site in relation to existing masts; and 

 the site in relation to residential properties 
 
7.1.2 It is therefore clear that the considerations to be taken into account in the determination 

of Prior Approval applications are prescribed and are very limited and do not include 
issues of public health. 

 

7.2  Appearance  

7.2.1 The proposed development is for the erection of a 15m tall monopole with 3no. 
associated equipment cabinets on the highway grass verge on the western side of the 
entry road into Burghley Close from Hertford Road. A recent change in legislation has 
increased the height of some masts to 20m, therefore while this proposed mast may be 
taller than others in the borough, a height of 20m will become more typical. A 
Government press release in March 2022 indicates that the Government intends to relax 
the permitted development rights further to allow masts up to 30m tall and 2m wider than 
is currently allowable.   

7.2.2 There are no significant trees within the immediate area, and those that are present are 
within private gardens and cannot be guaranteed to remain to screen the proposed mast.  
There are a number of lampposts in the area and a number of houses have very tall 
aerials on their roofs.   

7.2.3 A previous telecommunications application (21/00638/PATELE) was refused in Fishers 
Green and subsequently allowed on appeal (APP/K1935/W/21/3281055).  In his report, 
the Inspector stated that the area of Fishers Green was essentially urban in nature 
despite the open common land due to the presence of roads, kerbs, footways, verges, 
street lighting, a bus shelter, traffic signs, speed humps, lane markings, yellow lines and 
other urban paraphernalia.  As such, he concluded that a mast in an urban setting, even 

Page 230



- 9 - 

when visible from substantial distances, would nevertheless not appear out of place in 
these urban surroundings.   

7.2.4   It is, therefore, considered that on balance the appearance of the proposed mast in this 
urban residential setting is acceptable and would not appear of keeping within the urban 
setting and would not therefore give rise to undue harm to the character and appearance 
of the area. The justification of the need for the mast and the continued provision of 
coverage for mobile users are considered to outweigh any harm in this instance.   

7.2.5 Turning to the proposed equipment cabinets, they are essential to the operation of the 
mast.  Moreover, these cabinets being less than 2.5m3 each could be implemented 
under permitted development. Therefore, the cabinets are deemed to be acceptable in 
this instance. 

7.3 Siting 
 

7.3.1 In terms of siting and position, the mast and its associated cabinets are set on an 
existing highway verge. The Highways Authority issued notice that they cannot extend 
the grant of permission as no boundary plan has been submitted to confirm if the land is 
adopted highway.  The Planning Officer advised the Highways Officer that Council 
records indicate the land is adopted highway grass.  The Highways Officer has advised 
they will re-assess the application and submit their comments.  At the time of writing this 
report, no comments have been received and it is therefore anticipated that their 
comments will be presented at the committee by way of an addendum report.  

 
7.3.2 While concern has been raised by local residents regarding the impact of the proposal 

upon the inter-visibility between pedestrian and vehicles at the adjacent T-junction, the 
submitted plans indicate the mast and associated cabinets would be approximately 6m 
to the south of this junction and would therefore be unlikely to interfere with highway 
safety.  Further, the siting would be approximately 2.5m from the footpath to the east 
and approximately 4.5m from the footpath to the north so it is not considered that there 
would be an impact on pedestrian safety on the adjacent footpath.  
 

7.3.3 The Council’s Environmental Health department have raised no objections to the siting 
of the mast and equipment cabinets in this location despite the proximity to No.85 
Hertford Road.  It is noted that the owner/occupier of this property has not made any 
representations to the Council on the matter either.  
 

7.3.4 Neither the Legislation, NPPF nor the Code of Practice for Wireless Network 
Development in England set any parameters or guidance on siting of masts in residential 
areas; nor do they set any prescribed distances from residential dwellings.  As such, 
despite the proximity of the development to No.85 Hertford Road, there are no 
Legislative or policy means with which to refuse the application on this basis and defend 
at appeal.  
 

7.3.5 The comments from local residents regarding residents already having access to better 
broadband and therefore not requiring a mobile phone mast, as referred to in point 
6.2.17 above in this report, the siting of masts are not just for the benefit of immediate 
local residents, but rather by having masts covering all areas of the Town, they will allow 
a greater degree of accuracy for real-time monitoring of public transport as well as 
improving access to mobile services by members of the public in the area who would not 
have access to a broadband service.  

 
7.3.6 The importance of continued, and improved, telecommunications network coverage 

cannot be underestimated, especially throughout the years 2020 and 2021, when the 
dependence on these networks has been higher than ever before. This dependence has 
continued into 2022 as our online shopping, gaming, and social habits have changed, 

Page 231



- 10 - 

post-pandemic, as well as many people adopting a working-from-home or hybrid work 
pattern. The applicant has provided a number of appeal cases which have been 
considered appropriate by the Planning Inspectorate for installations very similar to the 
one proposed here, even within close proximity to residential housing.  One such appeal, 
very recently in March 2022, the decision of Broadland District Council to refuse their 
Prior Approval for the installation of a 17.5-metre-high monopole and associated 
cabinets was overturned by the Planning Inspectorate (MBNL Limited Vs Broadland 
District Council, appeal reference APP/K2610/W/21/3280694). Within the decision 
notice, the Inspector made specific reference to the ‘Living conditions of the occupiers of 
neighbouring properties’, stating that:  

 
“At the location where the mast is proposed to be located there are houses which 
face onto, but are not accessed from, Dussindale Drive. These houses are set 
behind hedges and fences and separated from the proposed site of the mast by a 
cycleway and footpath. They also have front gardens and drives between the front 
elevation of the house and the cycleway and footpath. The proposed equipment 
cabinets would not be visible from these houses. However, the mast would be visible 
from the windows of their front elevations” (Applicant emphasis added).  
“Policy GC4 of the DPD seeks, amongst other things, to consider ‘the impact upon the 
amenity of existing properties’ of new development. Whilst the proposed mast is 
significantly taller than other street fixtures in the area it has a slim profile and will 
be finished in a light grey colour. It is also set off the boundary with existing 
residential properties with a cycleway and footpath in between the proposed site and the 
boundary of the houses. In these respects, it is therefore consistent with Policy CG4 of 
the DPD” (Applicant emphasis added).  
“Moreover, the residential properties have front gardens and drives between their 
front elevations and their boundaries. Consequently, given the slim profile of the 
mast, its light grey colour, and its distance from the front elevations of nearby 
properties I do not consider that its siting and appearance would unacceptably 
harm the outlook of the occupiers of these properties” (Applicant emphasis added).  

 
7.3.7 Given that the Planning Inspectorate have, as recently as March 2022, determined that 

taller installations than the one proposed as part of this application (i.e. a 17.5m-high 
monopole as outlined in the appeal above), are considered acceptable within close 
proximity to residential properties, then it is recognised that a smaller mast in this 
instance is considered acceptable in terms of impact on residential dwellings.   

 
7.4 Other Considerations  
 
7.4.1 The comments received from the members of the public and the Stevenage MP about 

the application are noted. However, the information submitted with the application states 
that six other sites, all within residential streets, have been considered but dismissed as 
not suitable due to narrow footpaths, proximity to railway lines, topography of the land 
and un-adopted land.   

 
7.4.2 The Council’s environmental Health Officers have not raised objection to the proposal on 

noise grounds. 
 
7.4.3 The impact of the proposed mast upon property values and health are not issues that 

may be taken into consideration in the determination of the application as they are not 
specifically included in the legislation and are not planning issues.  

 
7.4.4 The application has been accompanied by an ICNIRP certificate stating the proposed 

mast would comply with the required guidelines and would accordingly not have a 
harmful impact upon health.  

 
 

Page 232



- 11 - 

Human Rights and Equalities 
 
7.4.5 Consideration has been given to Articles 1 and 8 of the First Protocol of the European 

Convention on Human Rights. It is not considered that the decision would result in a 
violation of any person’s rights under the Convention.  

 
7.4.6 When considering proposals placed before Members it is important that they are fully 

aware of and have themselves rigorously considered the equalities implications of the 
decision that they are taking. 

 
7.4.7 Rigorous consideration will ensure that proper appreciation of any potential impact of 

that decision on the Council's obligations under the Public Sector Equalities Duty. As a 
minimum this requires decision makers to read and carefully consider the content of any 
Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA) produced by officers. 

 
7.4.8 The Equalities Act 2010 requires the Council when exercising its functions to have due 

regard to the need to (a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and other 
conduct prohibited under the Act; (b) advance equality of opportunity between persons 
who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it and (c) 
foster good relations between persons who share protected characteristics under the 
Equality Act and persons who do not share it. The protected characteristics under the 
Equality Act are: age; disability; gender reassignment; marriage and civil partnership; 
pregnancy and maternity; race; religion and belief; sex and sexual orientation. 

 
 

8.   CONCLUSIONS 

8.1 The proposed 15m Phase 8 Monopole and associated ancillary works would not have an 
unduly harmful impact on the character and appearance of the area and are therefore 
considered acceptable in terms of siting and appearance. The justification of the need 
for the mast and the continued provision of coverage for mobile users outweigh any 
harm identified in this instance. 

 

9.       RECOMMENDATIONS  
 
9.1  That prior approval is Required and Given. 

10. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS  
 
1. The application file, forms, plans and supporting documents having the reference 

number relating to this item. 
 
2. Responses to consultations with statutory undertakers and other interested parties 

referred to in this report. 
 
4.  Central Government advice contained in the National Planning Policy Framework June 

2021 and the Planning Policy Guidance March 2014. 
 
5. Stevenage Borough Local Plan 2011-2031 (adopted May 2019).  
 
6. Central Government advice contained in the Code of Practice for Wireless Network 

Development in England, 2016.  
 

Page 233



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 234



 Part I – Release 
to Press 

 
 
 

 
 

Meeting: Planning and Development 
Committee 

Agenda Item:  

Date: 9 August 2022   

Author: Linda Sparrow 01438 242837 

Lead Officer: Zayd Al-Jawad 01438 242257  

Contact Officer: Linda Sparrow 01438 242837  

Application No: 22/00635/PATELE 

Location: Broadwater Crescent, Stevenage, Herts 

Proposal: The installation of a new 15m-high telecommunications 
monopole and 3no. ground-based equipment cabinets; 
and ancillary development thereto. 

Drawing Nos.: 002; 215; 265; 

Applicant: CK Hutchison Networks (UK) Ltd 

Date Valid: 8 July 2022 

Recommendation: PRIOR APPROVAL REQUIRED AND GIVEN 

 
 
Plan for information purposes only 

1.   SITE DESCRIPTION 

1.1 The application site is located on a highway verge on the northern side of Broadwater 
Crescent, in between the two junctions for Nodes Drive to the west and The Willows to 
the east.  To the south on the opposite side of the road is the junction with Marymead 
Drive with the commercial vehicle sales business of Village Cars to the south-east of the 
site. 

 
1.2 The site lies within the Broadwater (Marymead) Conservation Area.  

Page 235

Agenda Item 6



- 2 - 

2.   RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 

2.1 None.  

3.   THE CURRENT APPLICATION  
 

3.1 Prior approval is sought under Schedule 2, Part 16, Class A of the Town and Country 
Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (As amended) for the 
installation of a 15m high Phase 8 Monopole with associated equipment cabinets. 

 
3.2 The proposed pole would be 15m high while the 3no. associated cabinets would 

measure 1.9m by 670mm and 1.8m high; 750mm by 650mm and 1.1m high and 450mm 
by 650mm and 1.5m high.   

 
3.3 The application comes before Committee for consideration as it has been called in by 

Councillor Howells. 
 

4.       PUBLIC REPRESENTATIONS  

4.1 This planning application has been publicised by way of neighbour notification letters, 
sent to 80 properties within a 100m radius of the application site. 

 
4.2 A site notice was not erected in the locality in this instance as to do so would result in the 

public consultation period ending after a decision is made at this committee meeting.  
However, under Schedule 2, Part 16, Class A, A.3, (5)(d) of the Town and Country 
Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (As amended), the 
Local Planning Authority is required to give notice of the application by way of a site 
notice OR serving notice on any adjoining owner or occupier.  Therefore, by sending 
letters to all properties within a 100m radius of the site exceeds our requirements under 
the aforementioned Legislation and the addition of a site notice placed locally is not 
necessary.  

 
4.3 Owing to the location being within the Broadwater (Marymead) Conservation Area, a 

notice was placed in the local newspaper.  
 
4.4 As a result of the public consultation, no letters of representation have been received 

from local residents although a letter of objection was received from the Stevenage MP, 
Mr McPartland, which is summarised below: 

 Not an appropriate site being a residential area; 

 I have started a campaign to the local residents to make them aware of the 
impacts of these masts and to hopefully have them reconsidered in the planning 
process; 

 The mast is not in line with the NPPF of 2019 as it is not sympathetically 
designed and is more visible than the current infrastructure; 

 More favourable sites could be found. 

 Advice is that masts should be tens or hundreds of metres away from the user 
and not accessible to the public; 

 It is clear that a wider debate and strategy in the location of these huge masts is 
needed; they need to be absorbed into existing street furniture such as street 
lights on roundabouts. 

 
 
 

Page 236



- 3 - 

5. CONSULTATIONS  
 
5.1       Hertfordshire County Council as Highways Authority  
 
5.1.1 Recommend refusal as the proposal would prevent any future improvement schemes 

and therefore is contrary to Policy 1 of Hertfordshire’s Local Transport Plan 4 (2018). 
 
5.2 Council’s Environmental Health Section 
 
5.2.1 No objections but would like regard to be had to the immediate neighbour in Nodes Drive 

and the potential for a noise issue arising from any cooling fans in the base cabinets, if 
not operating at optimum. 

 
5.3 B.E.A.M.S 

 
5.3.1 The application site is within the Broadwater (Marymead) Conservation Area.  A 

conservation area is an area of "special architectural or historic interest, the character of 
which it is desirable to preserve or enhance". The local planning authority has a duty to 
identify and designate conservation areas under Section 69 of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.  Broadwater (Marymead) Conservation 
Area was designated in 2007 as a good example of one of Stevenage's Mark 1 'New 
Town' neighbourhoods. It focuses on the Marymead neighbourhood centre with shops / 
church etc. and some of the surrounding residential development.  The application 
proposes a new 15m high telecommunications monopole and associated cabinets as 
part of enhancing the mobile network coverage locally.  The developer has not 
acknowledged the position of the site within the Broadwater (Marymead) Conservation 
Area; it is recommended the supplementary statement provided is expanded upon to 
address this and consider any impacts upon the significance of the Conservation Area 
that may arise. Would there be a more suitable site locally, or outside the Conservation 
Area boundary? 

 

6.  RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES  

6.1 Background to the development plan 
 
6.1.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 provides that the 

decision on the planning application should be in accordance with the development plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. For Stevenage the statutory 
development plan comprises: 
 
• The Stevenage Borough Council Local Plan 2011-2031 
• Hertfordshire Waste Development Framework 2012 and Hertfordshire Waste Site 

Allocations Development Plan Document (adopted 2012 and 2014); and 
• Hertfordshire Minerals Local Plan 2002 – 2016 (adopted 2007). 
• National Planning Policy Framework (2021) 

 
6.2 Central Government Advice 

 
6.2.1 Section 10 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF; 2021) states advanced, 

high quality and reliable communications infrastructure is essential for economic growth 
and social well-being. Planning policies and decisions should support the expansion of 
electronic communications networks, including next generation mobile technology (such 
as 5G) and full fibre broadband connections. Policies should set out how high quality 
digital infrastructure, providing access to services from a range of providers, is expected 
to be delivered and upgraded over time; and should prioritise full fibre connections to 
existing and new developments (as these connections will, in almost all cases, provide 
the optimum solution). 

Page 237



- 4 - 

 
6.2.2  The relevant paragraphs of the NPPF are as follows:  
 

Paragraph 114 - supports the provision of 5G infrastructure in order to support economic 
growth and social well-being through the increased connectivity that 5G will provide. 
Central Government is also supportive of the provision of 5G network infrastructure. 

  
Paragraph 115 - Where new sites are required (such as for new 5G networks), 
equipment should be sympathetically designed and camouflaged where appropriate.  

 
Paragraph 118 - Local planning authorities must determine applications on planning 
grounds only. They should not seek to prevent competition between different operators, 
question the need for an electronic communications system, or set health safeguards 
different from the International Commission guidelines for public exposure.  

 

6.2.3 The installation of a mobile phone mast is classed as development and would normally 
require a full application for planning permission. However, designated mobile network 
operators have certain permitted development rights and this allows them to build 
prescribed infrastructure without having to apply for planning permission from the Local 
Planning Authority (LPA). “Prior approval” from the LPA regarding the siting and 
appearance of the development is required in certain circumstances, including for all 
new ground-based masts.  

 
6.2.4 A mobile network operator may submit an application for prior approval under the 

General Permitted Development Order (Part 16 of Schedule 2 of the GPDO 2015 (as 
amended)). The Order grants approval of the principle of the development as permitted 
development but requires operators to obtain the prior approval from the LPA for the 
siting and appearance of the items to be installed, in addition to providing the ‘necessary 
evidence’ set out in NPPF chapter 10, paragraph 115, including a statement that self-
certifies that, when operational, International Commission guidelines will be met. 

 
Latest Government Advice 22nd July 2020  

 
6.2.5 The government has published the outcome of a consultation exercise in 2020 on 

proposed reforms to permitted development rights to support the deployment of 5G and 
extend mobile coverage. The following paragraphs are relevant to this application.  

 
6.2.6 The scope of the consultation was on the principle of proposed planning reforms to 

support the deployment of 5G and extend mobile coverage. However, concerns were 
raised that did not relate to the specific proposed planning changes that views were 
sought on. These concerns, expressed by the majority of personal respondents, were in 
relation to in-principle opposition to the deployment of 5G infrastructure. In particular, on 
grounds relating to public health concerns, and the effects of electromagnetic fields 
(EMF) radiation on the environment, including on wildlife populations.  

 
6.2.7 Public Health England’s (PHE) Centre for Radiation, Chemical and Environmental 

Hazards (CRCE) takes the lead on public health matters associated with radiofrequency 
electromagnetic fields, or radio waves, used in telecommunications. PHE is familiar with 
the evidence submitted to the consultation about possible risks to public health and 
considers that its advice, as set out below, remains unchanged. PHE updated its 
guidance, published in October 2019, in respect of 5G in ‘5G technologies: radio waves 
and health’. PHE summarised its guidance as: 

 
“It is possible that there may be a small increase in overall exposure to radio waves 
when 5G is added to an existing network or in a new area. However, the overall 
exposure is expected to remain low relative to guidelines and, as such, there should be 
no consequences for public health.”  

Page 238



- 5 - 

 
6.2.8 Some 5G technology will use similar frequencies to existing communications systems. 

Other 5G technology will work at higher frequencies where the main change would be 
less penetration of radio waves through materials. Central to PHE advice is that 
exposure to radio waves should comply with the guidelines published by the 
International Commission on Non-Ionizing Radiation Protection (ICNIRP). In compliance 
with PHE advice, mobile network operators have committed to follow the ICNIRP 
guidelines.  

 
6.2.9 ICNIRP is an independent organisation which is formally recognised by the World Health 

Organisation. It issues guidelines on human exposure to EMF, based upon the 
consensus view of a large amount of research carried out over many years. This 
includes the frequencies used by 5G and all other mobile / wireless technologies. Over 
the last two decades there have been over 100 expert reports on EMF and health 
published internationally with well over 3,000 studies informing these reviews and the 
existing scientific exposure guidelines.  

 
6.2.10 Ofcom will carry out audits of mobile base stations on an ongoing basis to ensure that 

ICNIRP guidelines are not exceeded and publish the results of these audits on its 
website. Mobile operators are responsible for ensuring that all sites remain compliant. 
PHE have also published guidance in respect of ‘Mobile phone base stations: radio 
waves and health’. Ofcom is also proposing new licence conditions for spectrum 
licensees using equipment that can transmit at power levels above 10 Watts. Under 
these proposals, licensees would be required to operate within the ICNIRP guidelines as 
a condition of their Ofcom licence – including keeping data and records of any testing to 
demonstrate their compliance. 

 
6.2.11 PHE is committed to monitoring the evidence applicable to this and other radio 

technologies, and to revising its advice, should that be necessary. 
  
6.2.12 EMF radiation has the potential to impact the movement of insects and some species of 

animals. However, there is currently no evidence that human-made EMF radiation at 
realistic field levels has population level impacts on either animals or plants.  

 
 Justification of Need  
 
6.2.13 Central Government expects LPAs to respond positively to proposals for 

telecommunications development and not question the need for equipment in principle, 
or obstruct the competitiveness of code operators. If a code operator provides 
justification for needing a telecommunications installation in any given vicinity, the LPA 
has no choice but to agree to some form and kind of installation. 

  
6.2.14 The justification provided to support the development is that the location has been 

identified as being necessary for CK Hutchison Networks (UK) Ltd business development 
and meets its specific technical and operational requirements. The application site is 
required to provide new 5G network coverage for CK Hutchison Networks (UK) Ltd. The 
cell areas for 5G are very limited with a typical radius of only 50m.  

 
6.2.15 Other locations in the vicinity of the site have been considered and dismissed and it is 

accepted that mobile phone base stations operate on a low power and accordingly, the 
base stations need to be located in the areas they are required to serve. With increasing 
numbers of people using mobiles in their homes for business as well as for social 
purposes, the base stations need to be located in, or close to, residential areas to 
ensure coverage.  

 

Page 239



- 6 - 

6.2.16 The information submitted with the application states that five other sites, all within 
residential streets in the area, have been considered but dismissed as not suitable due 
to overhead power/utility lines and existing utilities.  The discounted sites are as follows: 

  
 
6.2.17 The Government is driving forward the delivery of 5G networks.  In a press release in 

May 2022 they state that 5G is the next generation of mobile internet and can offer 
download speeds up to 100 times faster than 4G.  It is expected to broaden the role that 
mobile technology plays in wider society which could transform the way public services 
are delivered by allowing greater real-time monitoring and responsiveness in order to 
reduce waste, pollution or congestion. 

 
6.2.18 At the time of writing, our dependence on network services and connectivity is ever more 

apparent. Restrictions on travel resulting from the Coronavirus pandemic, plus three 
national lockdowns, have resulted in a large shift from office based to home working, 
from physical, professional and social gatherings to virtual ones, and to unprecedented 
reliance on online shopping and entertainment services. Network usage within suburbs 
has increased dramatically as less people are travelling to town and city centres than 
during pre-pandemic times. Maintaining and enhancing the mobile networks is of vital 
national importance, and it was significant that telecommunications were designated as 
“critical work” during that time. It is anticipated that the current shift towards 
homeworking and online services will persist, to a lesser degree, in the future. It is vital 
that the infrastructure is in place throughout the UK to meet this demand, and the needs 
of the public.  

 
6.2.19 The benefit of having a strong and resilient network has been highlighted in the last 30 

months following the sudden shift in the network requirements, as the demand on the 
network in residential areas increased with home-working and home-schooling. 
Research by Ofcom, Online Nation 2020 found that until early that year, online video 
calling was used much less than other online communication services, with 35% of 
online adults using online video calling at least weekly in the 12 months to February 
2020. However, in May 2020, this had doubled to 71% of online adult consumers using 
online video calling services at least weekly, with 38% using them at least daily. 
Research suggests that 7% of adult internet-users used video calling for the first time as 
a result of the coronavirus pandemic.  

 
6.2.20 The Ofcom Connected Nations 2020 UK Report outlined a sharp increase in both mobile 

and voice data, particularly during the enforced national lockdowns of 2020. The report 
states that average call volumes and average call duration increased in the week that 
national lockdown was introduced in March 2020, with mobile hotspots shifting away 
from city centres to the suburbs and residential areas as restrictions continued.  
Significantly, the same report states that the consumption of mobile data saw a 
staggering rise of 42%, when compared with the previous year. Additionally, the traffic 

Page 240



- 7 - 

carried in England in June 2020 (during lockdown) exceeded that carried across the 
whole of the UK (England, Scotland, Wales, and Northern Ireland) in February 2020 
(prior to lockdown).  

 
6.2.21 Research by Online Nation 2020 found in April 2020, internet users in the UK spent an 

average of 4 hours 2 minutes online each day, 37 minutes more each day per online 
adult compared with January 2020. This emphasises the importance of 
telecommunications infrastructure in being able to provide internet users with reliable 
network coverage and capacity to deal with an increasing amount of time online each 
day.  

 
6.2.22 Notwithstanding the Covid-19 pandemic, and the increase in network reliance, a look at 

past data shows that our reliance on mobile networks was increasing year-on-year, prior 
to 2020. Ofcom’s Communications Market Report 2018 provides a figure of 92 million 
active mobile subscribers in the UK at the end of 2017. It detailed that 78% of adults 
used a smartphone and that 76% of mobile users were using their devices for web and 
data access. Figures within the report also confirm that users were spending an 
increasing amount of time per day using their mobile phone. 68% of participants in the 
Touchpoints research reported that they “could not live without” their mobile phone 
(rising to 78% among 25-34s). Whilst not included within the research figures, anecdotal 
evidence suggests that this number is greater still amongst those aged under 18. Given 
that two years have now passed since this report, it is anticipated that these figures have 
increased further. All of which points towards the nation’s increasing dependency on 
mobile services and connectivity.  

 
6.2.23 A relatively recent YouGov survey (January 2021) adds further support to this, with 67% 

of those who were at the time working from home during the pandemic confirming that 
they had been using mobile data, as opposed the fixed-line broadband, agreeing that 
access to it would be an important factor when choosing where to live in the future. This 
rises to 76% for 18 to 34-year olds. The survey also confirmed that 44% of one network 
Operator’s data traffic in January 2021 went to streaming services, such as Disney+, and 
that 45% of 18 to 24 year olds confirming that they are more likely to use their mobile 
data for browsing social media.  

 
6.2.24 All of the above occur in a domestic setting. There is a clear need and demand for 

connectivity and capacity, and it is anticipated that telecommunications infrastructure has 
become, and will continue to become, commonplace in residential and suburban 
settings, and on highways verges, such as the application site.  

 
6.2.25 Ofcom’s 2018 Communications Market Research Report shows that smartphones are 

owned by four of every five UK consumers and smart TVs are in almost half of all 
households. Demand for data continues to grow rapidly for UK consumers, with 1.9GB 
consumed by an average mobile subscription per month in 2017, (up from 1.3 GB the 
previous year). The report found that more than seven in ten now use their mobile to 
access the internet, sufficient coverage is obviously vital for this basic utilities service to 
be provided.  

 
6.2.26 Since 2016, and particularly during the enforced lockdowns of 2020 and 2021, public 

and business reliance on the established mobile networks has continued to increase. 
Improved mobile coverage and connectivity is now no longer viewed as a ‘luxury’, but 
rather an every-day necessity. This has been further exacerbated as, at the time of 
writing, the country appears to be adopting a more hybrid-working pattern, split between 
traditional office working, and working from home. As this ‘working from home’ naturally 
occurs within a residential setting, then it follows that the necessary infrastructure and 
apparatus must be in place to allow this to happen. As such, this type of infrastructure 
must be deployed within sub-urban, urban and residential areas. It is imperative that 
improving network connectivity and capacity is continuous – to meet the demands of the 

Page 241



- 8 - 

public who have changed both their working and social behaviour over the last 2 and a 
half years.  

 
6.4 Stevenage Borough Local Plan 2011 – 2031 (adopted May 2019) 
 

 Policy SP8 – Good Design; 

 Policy GD1 – High Quality Design; 
 

7. APPRAISAL  
 
7.1  The determining issues relate to the acceptability of the application in terms of siting and 

appearance as defined under Schedule 2, Part 16, Class A of the Town and Country 
Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended). The 
factors which can be considered in relation to appearance as part of the prior approval 
process include:  

 

 design, form, shape and dimensions;  

 colour and materials; and  

 whether there are more suitable sites for the proposed works.  
 
7.1.1 The factors which can be considered concerning siting include:  
 

 the height of the site in relation to surrounding ground; 

 the existing topographical features and natural vegetation; 

 the effect on the skyline or horizon;  

 the site when observed from any side; 

 the site in relation to areas designated for scenic value; 

 the site in relation to existing masts; and 

 the site in relation to residential properties 
 
7.1.2 It is therefore clear that the considerations to be taken into account in the determination 

of Prior Approval applications are prescribed and are very limited and do not include 
issues of public health. 

 

7.2  Appearance  

7.2.1 The proposed development is for the erection of a 15m tall monopole with 3noassociated 
equipment cabinets on the highway grass verge on the western side of the entry road 
into Burghley Close from Hertford Road. A recent change in legislation has increased the 
height of some masts to 20m, therefore while this proposed mast may be taller than 
others in the borough, a height of 20m will become more typical. A Government press 
release in March 2022 indicates that the Government intends to relax the permitted 
development rights further to allow masts up to 30m tall and 2m wider than is currently 
allowable.   

7.2.2 Whilst there are no trees immediately close to the proposed site, there are a number of 
mature trees in the wider area.  There are a number of lampposts in the area and a 
number of houses have very tall aerials on their roofs.   

7.2.3 A previous telecommunications application (21/00638/PATELE) was refused in Fishers 
Green and subsequently allowed on appeal (APP/K1935/W/21/3281055).  In his report, 
the Inspector stated that the area of Fishers Green was essentially urban in nature 
despite the open common land due to the presence of roads, kerbs, footways, verges, 
street lighting, a bus shelter, traffic signs, speed humps, lane markings, yellow lines and 
other urban paraphernalia.  As such, he concluded that a mast in an urban setting, even 

Page 242



- 9 - 

when visible from substantial distances, would nevertheless not appear out of place in 
these urban surroundings.   

7.2.4   It is, therefore, considered that, on balance, the appearance of the proposed mast in this 
urban residential setting is acceptable and would not appear out of keeping within the 
urban setting and would not therefore give rise to undue harm to the character and 
appearance of the area. The justification of the need for the mast and the continued 
provision of coverage for mobile users are considered to outweigh any harm in this 
instance.   

7.2.5 Turning to the proposed equipment cabinets, they are essential to the operation of the 
mast.  Moreover, these cabinets being less than 2.5m3 each could be implemented 
under permitted development. Therefore, the cabinets are deemed to be acceptable in 
this instance. 

7.2.6 The comments from the Council’s Listed Buildings and Conservation Officer, B.E.A.M.S, 
are noted.  The applicant has not provided a detailed impact statement on the impact of 
the proposed development on the character and appearance of the Conservation Area.  
However, as referred to in points 7.2.3 and 7.2.4, the area is considered urban in nature 
and the erection of a mast would not appear out of keeping within its setting. 

7.2.7 The applicant has provided details of an appeal which was allowed following refusal of a 
mast close to a listed building.  Whilst not entirely similar to the application at hand, 
Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas are both considered designated heritage assets 
and so the appeal is considered an acceptable evidence base for this proposal.  This 
appeal was in November 2021 against London Borough of Hillingdon (MBNL Limited vs 
London Borough of Hillingdon APP/R5510/W/21/3269903).  The Inspector stated that: 

“Based on the evidence before me, the height of the monopole would be 
substantially taller than the mature trees which bound the site. Accordingly, it 
would represent a significant departure from the established height of existing 
lampposts with the height of the proposed structure representing a visually 
dominant addition to the existing environment. Due to the substantial height of the 
monopole, and plethora of associated cabinets, the proposal would detract from the 
pleasing greenery within which it would be located. This would harm the established 
landscape feature which positively contributes to the surrounding area as well as 
causing some harm to the visual amenities of surrounding properties, particularly 
those within converted office premises. (Applicant emphasis added).  
“The proposal would also be located relatively close to three Grade II Listed 
Buildings. However, because the proposal does not seek planning permission or 
permission in principle, the duty established within Section 66 of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, does not apply to this proposal. Despite 
this, the Framework still requires the heritage implications to be fully considered”. 
(Applicant emphasis added).  
“Accordingly, although the siting and appearance of the proposed development 
would cause some limited harm to the setting of the nearby listed buildings, I am 
satisfied that the economic and social benefits of the proposal, would outweigh 
this harm” (Applicant emphasis added).  

7.2.8 As such, whilst BEAMS consider that insufficient evidence has been supplied with the 
application to determine the impact on the Conservation Area, it is felt that, given the area 
is urban residential, and masts are considered an acceptable structure in an urban setting 
(see 7.2.3), the harm to the designated heritage asset would be less than substantial and 
when weighing up the planning balance, significant weight is given to the public benefits 
of the proposal.  Accordingly, the impact of the mast on the Conservation Area is 
considered to be less than substantial and therefore acceptable in this regard.  

Page 243



- 10 - 

7.3 Siting 
 

7.3.1 In terms of siting and position, the mast and its associated cabinets would be set on an 
existing highway verge.  HCC Highways as Highways Authority have recommended 
refusal of the application stating that it would prevent future improvement works to the 
footpath.  They acknowledge the footpath in this location is already wide and there is a 
bus stop nearby but go on to state that as part of the Hertfordshire Local Transport Plan, 
Policy 1 encourages greater and safer use of sustainable transport modes to include 
improvements to existing pedestrian and cycle routes.  

 
7.3.2 Whilst the potential future improvement policy is noted, this verge is relatively short at 

approximately 40m in length, and is terminated at the western end by Nodes Drive and 
the eastern end by the rear garden fence of The Vicarage, The Willows.  It is not 
therefore considered that this small stretch of verge would be utilised for such potential 
improvement works.  Further, as a Statutory Undertaker, telecommunication operators 
have rights to install equipment within highway verges and footpaths. 

 
7.3.3 It is considered that the public benefits of improving the mobile network outweigh the 

concerns of the Highways Authority in this instance in relation to potential future 
improvement works.  

7.3.4 The Council’s Environmental Health department have raised no objections to the siting 
of the mast and equipment cabinets in this location despite the proximity to properties in 
Nodes Drive.  However, they have requested regard is given to the impact on these 
properties by way of noise.  There is no evidence that telecommunication masts emit 
noise to such a level that would be harmful to local residents.  
 

7.3.5 Neither the Legislation, NPPF nor the Code of Practice for Wireless Network 
Development in England, set any parameters or guidance on siting of masts in 
residential areas; nor do they set any prescribed distances from residential dwellings.  
As such, despite the proximity of the development to properties in Nodes Drive, there 
are no Legislative or policy means with which to refuse the application on this basis and 
defend at appeal.  
 

7.3.6 The importance of continued, and improved, telecommunications network coverage 
cannot be underestimated, especially throughout the years 2020 and 2021, when the 
dependence on these networks has been higher than ever before. This dependence has 
continued into 2022 as our online shopping, gaming, and social habits have changed, 
post-pandemic, as well as many people adopting a working-from-home or hybrid work 
pattern. The applicant has provided a number of appeal cases which have been 
considered appropriate by the Planning Inspectorate for installations very similar to the 
one proposed here, even within close proximity to residential housing.  One such 
appeal, very recently in March 2022, the decision of Broadland District Council to refuse 
their Prior Approval for the installation of a 17.5-metre-high monopole and associated 
cabinets was overturned by the Planning Inspectorate (MBNL Limited Vs Broadland 
District Council, appeal reference APP/K2610/W/21/3280694). Within the decision 
notice, the Inspector made specific reference to the ‘Living conditions of the occupiers of 
neighbouring properties’, stating that:  

 
“At the location where the mast is proposed to be located there are houses which 
face onto, but are not accessed from, Dussindale Drive. These houses are set 
behind hedges and fences and separated from the proposed site of the mast by a 
cycleway and footpath. They also have front gardens and drives between the front 
elevation of the house and the cycleway and footpath. The proposed equipment 
cabinets would not be visible from these houses. However, the mast would be visible 
from the windows of their front elevations” (Applicant emphasis added).  
“Policy GC4 of the DPD seeks, amongst other things, to consider ‘the impact upon the 
amenity of existing properties’ of new development. Whilst the proposed mast is 

Page 244



- 11 - 

significantly taller than other street fixtures in the area it has a slim profile and will 
be finished in a light grey colour. It is also set off the boundary with existing 
residential properties with a cycleway and footpath in between the proposed site and the 
boundary of the houses. In these respects, it is therefore consistent with Policy CG4 of 
the DPD” (Applicant emphasis added).  
“Moreover, the residential properties have front gardens and drives between their 
front elevations and their boundaries. Consequently, given the slim profile of the 
mast, its light grey colour, and its distance from the front elevations of nearby 
properties I do not consider that its siting and appearance would unacceptably 
harm the outlook of the occupiers of these properties” (Applicant emphasis added).  

 
7.3.7 Given that the Planning Inspectorate have, as recently as March 2022, determined that 

taller installations than the one proposed as part of this application (i.e. a 17.5m-high 
monopole as outlined in the appeal above), are considered acceptable within close 
proximity to residential properties, then it is recognised that a smaller mast in this 
instance is considered acceptable in terms of impact on residential dwellings.  
  

7.3.8 Further, as set out in point 6.2.17 in this report, the siting of masts are not just for the 
benefit of immediate local residents, but rather by having masts covering all areas of the 
Town, they will allow a greater degree of accuracy for real-time monitoring of public 
transport as well as improving access to mobile services by members of the public in the 
area who would not have access to a broadband service. 
 
Human Rights and Equalities 

 
7.3.9 Consideration has been given to Articles 1 and 8 of the First Protocol of the European 

Convention on Human Rights. It is not considered that the decision would result in a 
violation of any person’s rights under the Convention.  

 
7.3.10 When considering proposals placed before Members it is important that they are fully 

aware of and have themselves rigorously considered the equalities implications of the 
decision that they are taking. 

 
7.3.11 Rigorous consideration will ensure that proper appreciation of any potential impact of 

that decision on the Council's obligations under the Public Sector Equalities Duty. As a 
minimum this requires decision makers to read and carefully consider the content of any 
Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA) produced by officers. 

 
7.3.12 The Equalities Act 2010 requires the Council when exercising its functions to have due 

regard to the need to (a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and other 
conduct prohibited under the Act; (b) advance equality of opportunity between persons 
who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it and (c) 
foster good relations between persons who share protected characteristics under the 
Equality Act and persons who do not share it. The protected characteristics under the 
Equality Act are: age; disability; gender reassignment; marriage and civil partnership; 
pregnancy and maternity; race; religion and belief; sex and sexual orientation. 

 

8.   CONCLUSIONS 

8.1 The proposed 15m Phase 8 Monopole and associated ancillary works would not have an 
unduly harmful impact on the character and appearance of the Conservation Area and 
are therefore considered acceptable in terms of siting and appearance. The justification 
of the need for the mast and the continued provision of coverage for mobile users 
outweigh any harm identified in this instance. 

 

Page 245



- 12 - 

9.       RECOMMENDATIONS  
 
9.1  That prior approval is Required and Given. 

10. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS  
 
1. The application file, forms, plans and supporting documents having the reference 

number relating to this item. 
 
2. Responses to consultations with statutory undertakers and other interested parties 

referred to in this report. 
 
4.  Central Government advice contained in the National Planning Policy Framework June 

2021 and the Planning Policy Guidance March 2014. 
 
5. Stevenage Borough Local Plan 2011-2031 (adopted May 2019).  
 
6. Central Government advice contained in the Code of Practice for Wireless Network 

Development in England, 2016.  
 
7. Broadwater (Marymead) Conservation Area Management Plan (2012) 

Page 246



DC36 

PART 1 
                       Release to Press 

 
 
 
 

Meeting: Planning and Development 
Committee 

Agenda Item:  

Date: 9th August 2022   

IMPORTANT  INFORMATION - DELEGATED DECISIONS 

Author – Technical Support 01438 242838 

Lead Officer – Zayd Al-Jawad 01438 242257 

Contact Officer – James Chettleburgh 01438 242266 

The Assistant Director of Planning and Regulation has issued decisions in respect of the 
following applications in accordance with his delegated authority:- 
 
1.  Application No : 21/00047/COND 

 
 Date Received : 26.01.21 

 
 Location : The Bragbury Centre  Kenilworth Close Stevenage Herts 

 
 Proposal : Discharge of condition 18 (acoustics) attached to planning 

permission 20/00736/FPM / discharge of condition 19 
(acoustics) attached to planning permission 18/00398/FPM 
 

 Date of Decision : 28.07.22 
  

Decision : 
 
The discharge of Condition(s)/Obligation(s) is APPROVED 
 

 
 
2.  Application No : 21/01170/FP 

 
 Date Received : 29.10.21 

 
 Location : 3 Arlington Court Arlington Business Park Whittle Way 

Stevenage 
 

 Proposal : Installation of a laboratory and chemical fume cupboard with 
flue piped through external wall and roof 
 

 Date of Decision : 25.07.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 247

Agenda Item 7



DC36 

 
 
 
3.  Application No : 21/01272/COND 

 
 Date Received : 29.11.21 

 
 Location : The Bragbury Centre Kenilworth Close Stevenage Herts 

 
 Proposal : Discharge of condition 3 (Soft and Hard Landscaping) attached 

to planning permission reference number 20/00736/FPM 
 

 Date of Decision : 07.07.22 
  

Decision : 
 
The discharge of Condition(s)/Obligation(s) is APPROVED 
 

 
 
4.  Application No : 22/00106/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 08.02.22 

 
 Location : 13 Orchard Road Stevenage Herts  

 
 Proposal : Loft conversion comprising installation of rear facing dormer 

window and insertion of 2 no. front roof lights to existing roof, 
demolition of existing orangery and alterations to existing single 
storey rear extension's roof to facilitate the erection of a single 
storey rear extension. 
 

 Date of Decision : 22.07.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
5.  Application No : 22/00241/COND 

 
 Date Received : 22.03.22 

 
 Location : Land To South Of Norton Road Stevenage Herts  

 
 Proposal : Discharge of conditions 4 (piling method); 14 (flood risk); 15 

(drainage); 18 (employment) and 19 (fire hydrants) attached to 
planning permission reference number 21/00071/FPM 
 

 Date of Decision : 07.07.22 
  

Decision : 
 
The discharge of Condition(s)/Obligation(s) is APPROVED 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 248



DC36 

 
 
 
6.  Application No : 22/00331/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 11.04.22 

 
 Location : 31 Peartree Way Stevenage Herts SG2 9DZ 

 
 Proposal : Part single storey, part two storey rear extension 

 
 Date of Decision : 21.07.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
7.  Application No : 22/00370/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 20.04.22 

 
 Location : 586 Grace Way Stevenage Herts SG1 5AY 

 
 Proposal : Roof alterations to existing first floor rear extension and single 

storey front and rear extensions (AMENDED DESCRIPTION) 
 

 Date of Decision : 18.07.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
8.  Application No : 22/00386/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 23.04.22 

 
 Location : 60 Wildwood Lane Stevenage Herts SG1 1TB 

 
 Proposal : Part single-storey, part two-storey rear extension. part first floor, 

part two storey side extension and replacement front porch 
 

 Date of Decision : 08.07.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
   
9.  Application No : 22/00434/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 09.05.22 

 
 Location : 45 Walkern Road Stevenage Herts SG1 3RA 

 
 Proposal : Part two storey, part single storey side and rear extension 

 
 Date of Decision : 21.07.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 

Page 249



DC36 

 
 
10.  Application No : 22/00444/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 12.05.22 

 
 Location : 21 Haycroft Road Stevenage Herts SG1 3JL 

 
 Proposal : Single storey rear extension 

 
 Date of Decision : 22.07.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
11.  Application No : 22/00447/FP 

 
 Date Received : 12.05.22 

 
 Location : 11 Hitchin Road Stevenage Herts SG1 3BJ 

 
 Proposal : Change of use from Hotel (Use Class C1) to Hostel (Use Class 

Sui Generis) 
 

 Date of Decision : 22.07.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
12.  Application No : 22/00458/COND 

 
 Date Received : 16.05.22 

 
 Location : Garages At Dunn Close Stevenage Herts SG1 1SB 

 
 Proposal : Discharge of conditions 13 (Construction Management) and 21 

(Site Waste Management) of planning permission 
21/00944/FPM 
 

 Date of Decision : 04.07.22 
  

Decision : 
 
The discharge of Condition(s)/Obligation(s) is APPROVED 
 

 
 
13.  Application No : 22/00459/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 17.05.22 

 
 Location : 53 Woodland Way Stevenage Herts SG2 8BU 

 
 Proposal : Single storey rear extension with insertion of roof lights and 

removal of chimney stack 
 

 Date of Decision : 11.07.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
Page 250



DC36 

 
14.  Application No : 22/00460/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 17.05.22 

 
 Location : 11 Oundle Path Stevenage Herts SG2 8LA 

 
 Proposal : Part two-storey and part single-storey rear extension 

 
 Date of Decision : 07.07.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
15.  Application No : 22/00462/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 18.05.22 

 
 Location : 60 The Willows Stevenage Herts SG2 8AS 

 
 Proposal : First floor side extension 

 
 Date of Decision : 12.07.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is REFUSED 
 
For the following reason(s); 
The proposed development, if approved, would result in 
inadequate car parking provision to serve the property in line 
with the Council's adopted parking standards. This is likely to 
result in additional on-street parking which would give rise to 
conditions prejudicial to the free flow of traffic and conditions of 
highway safety in the vicinity of the application site. The 
proposal is therefore contrary to Policy IT5 of the Stevenage 
Borough Local Plan 2011 - 2031 (2019), the Council's Parking 
Provision SPD (2020), the National Planning Policy Framework 
(2021) and the National Planning Practice Guidance (2014). 
 
 

16.  Application No : 22/00466/FPH 
 

 Date Received : 18.05.22 
 

 Location : 571 Lonsdale Road Stevenage Herts SG1 5EA 
 

 Proposal : Single storey front extension 
 

 Date of Decision : 12.07.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 251



DC36 

 
 
17.  Application No : 22/00470/CLPD 

 
 Date Received : 19.05.22 

 
 Location : 24 Southsea Road Stevenage Herts SG1 2PJ 

 
 Proposal : Certificate of lawfulness for proposed for single storey rear 

extension. 
 

 Date of Decision : 04.07.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Certificate of Lawfulness is APPROVED 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 252



DC36 

 
 
 
18.  Application No : 22/00471/FP 

 
 Date Received : 20.05.22 

 
 Location : 48 Made Feld Stevenage Herts SG1 1PQ 

 
 Proposal : Two-storey side extension, single-storey front extension, part 

single-storey, part two-storey rear extension, rear dormer 
window, 2 no. front dormer windows, 2 no. roof lights to facilitate 
enlargement of existing property and to create 2 no. 1 bedroom 
flats, associated parking and ancillary works. 
 

 Date of Decision : 04.07.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is REFUSED 
 
For the following reason(s); 
The proposed flat roof rear dormer window, by virtue of its 
design, scale and massing, would be over dominant and 
detrimental to the form of the original dwelling to the detriment 
of the visual amenities of the area.  Additionally, the proposal 
does not follow the guidance for roof extensions as set out in 
the Stevenage Design Guide 2009 and is therefore contrary to 
Policies GD1 and SP8 of the Stevenage Local Plan 2011 - 2031 
(2019), the Council's Design Guide SPD (2009), the National 
Planning Policy Framework (2021) and the National Planning 
Practice Guidance (2014). 
 
The proposed dormers in the front roof slope would, by virtue of 
their siting, be out of keeping with the visual characteristics of 
the street scene, resulting in a detrimental impact on the 
character and appearance of the area.  Additionally, the 
proposal does not follow the guidance for roof extensions as set 
out in the Stevenage Design Guide 2009 and is therefore 
contrary to Policies GD1 and SP8 of the Stevenage Local Plan 
2011 - 2031 (2019), the Council's Design Guide SPD (2009), 
the National Planning Policy Framework (2021) and the National 
Planning Practice Guidance (2014). 
 
The culmination of the rear dormer windows together with the 
extension works would, by virtue of their scale and massing  
result in a development almost three storeys in height which 
would result in an unacceptable outlook for the occupiers of No. 
46 Made Feld, having a harmful and overbearing impact on the 
rear habitable room windows and the immediate garden area of 
this neighbour. The development is, therefore, contrary to 
Policies GD1 and SP8 of the Stevenage Borough Local Plan 
2011 - 2031 (2019), the Council's Design Guide SPD (2009), 
National Planning Policy Framework (2021) and the Planning 
Practice Guidance (2014). 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 253



DC36 

 
 
 
19.  Application No : 22/00474/CLPD 

 
 Date Received : 23.05.22 

 
 Location : 66 Stanmore Road Stevenage Herts SG1 3QE 

 
 Proposal : Certificate of Lawfulness for proposed dormer window 

 
 Date of Decision : 18.07.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Certificate of Lawfulness is APPROVED 
 

 
 
20.  Application No : 22/00475/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 23.05.22 

 
 Location : 101 Hayfield Stevenage Herts SG2 7JR 

 
 Proposal : Single storey rear extension following removal of conservatory 

 
 Date of Decision : 12.07.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
21.  Application No : 22/00478/TPCA 

 
 Date Received : 25.05.22 

 
 Location : 12 Orchard Road Stevenage Herts SG1 3HE 

 
 Proposal : Re-pollard back to previous knuckles - 1No lime tree T1 

 
 Date of Decision : 04.07.22 
  

Decision : 
 
CONSENT TO CARRY OUT WORKS TO A TREE IN A 
CONSERVATION AREA 
 

 
 
22.  Application No : 22/00484/CLEU 

 
 Date Received : 25.05.22 

 
 Location : 50 Silam Road Stevenage Herts SG1 1JJ 

 
 Proposal : Certificate of lawfulness for existing use of 6 bedroom HMO 

 
 Date of Decision : 13.07.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Certificate of Lawfulness is APPROVED 
 

 
 
 

Page 254



DC36 

 
 
 
23.  Application No : 22/00489/HPA 

 
 Date Received : 26.05.22 

 
 Location : 30 Orchard Crescent Stevenage Herts SG1 3EN 

 
 Proposal : Single storey rear extension which will extend beyond the rear 

wall of the original house by 6m, for which the maximum height 
will be 4.00m and the height of the eaves will be 3.00m. 
 

 Date of Decision : 04.07.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Prior Approval is REQUIRED and REFUSED 
 
Prior Approval is refused as the eaves height exceeds 3m as 
required by Schedule 2, Part 1, Class A (i) of the Town and 
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) 
Order 2015 
 

 
24.  Application No : 22/00491/FP 

 
 Date Received : 27.05.22 

 
 Location : Chells Manor House  Chells Lane Stevenage Herts 

 
 Proposal : Change of use from office (Use Class E(g)(i) to dwelling (Use 

Class C3) and internal alterations 
 

 Date of Decision : 26.07.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
25.  Application No : 22/00492/HPA 

 
 Date Received : 27.05.22 

 
 Location : 6 Badgers Close Stevenage Herts SG1 1UH 

 
 Proposal : Single storey rear extension which will extend beyond the rear 

wall of the original house by 6m, for which the maximum height 
will be 3.00m and the height of the eaves will be 3.00m. 
 

 Date of Decision : 07.07.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Prior Approval is REQUIRED and REFUSED 
 
Insufficient evidence has been submitted to satisfy the Local 
Planning Authority that the development would not harm the 
amenities of neighbouring properties in accordance with 
Schedule 2, Part 1, Class A.4(7) to (9) of the Town and County 
Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 
2015 (As amended) and therefore, prior approval is required 
and refused 

 
 

Page 255



DC36 

 
 
26.  Application No : 22/00493/FP 

 
 Date Received : 27.05.22 

 
 Location : 36 Dovedale Stevenage Herts SG2 9EP 

 
 Proposal : Single storey side extension and change of use from single 

residential dwelling house to a 6 bedroom HMO 
 

 Date of Decision : 13.07.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
27.  Application No : 22/00494/HPA 

 
 Date Received : 27.05.22 

 
 Location : 91 Bronte Paths Stevenage Herts SG2 0PL 

 
 Proposal : Single storey rear extension which will extend beyond the rear 

wall of the original house by 3.30m, for which the maximum 
height will be 3.50m and the height of the eaves will be 2.50m. 
 

 Date of Decision : 05.07.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Prior Approval is NOT REQUIRED 
 

 
 
28.  Application No : 22/00495/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 29.05.22 

 
 Location : 39 Goddard End Stevenage Herts SG2 7ER 

 
 Proposal : Part single, part two storey rear extension and insertion of side 

flank window and door 
 

 Date of Decision : 07.07.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
29.  Application No : 22/00497/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 30.05.22 

 
 Location : 78 St. Margarets Stevenage Herts SG2 8RF 

 
 Proposal : Proposed single storey rear extension 

 
 Date of Decision : 25.07.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
Page 256



DC36 

 
 
30.  Application No : 22/00498/LB 

 
 Date Received : 30.05.22 

 
 Location : Chells Manor House  Chells Lane Stevenage Herts 

 
 Proposal : Change of use from office (Use Class E(g)(i) to dwelling (Use 

Class C3) and internal alterations 
 

 Date of Decision : 26.07.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Listed Building Consent is GRANTED 
 

 
 
31.  Application No : 22/00505/TPCA 

 
 Date Received : 31.05.22 

 
 Location : Keepers Cottage Weston Road Stevenage Herts 

 
 Proposal : Substantial crown reduction/reshaping of around 30-40% to 1 

No: T1 English Oak 
 

 Date of Decision : 05.07.22 
  

Decision : 
 
CONSENT TO CARRY OUT WORKS TO A TREE IN A 
CONSERVATION AREA 
 

 
 
32.  Application No : 22/00506/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 01.06.22 

 
 Location : 35 Briardale Stevenage Herts SG1 1TR 

 
 Proposal : Part two-storey, part single storey rear extension and porch 

extension 
 

 Date of Decision : 26.07.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
33.  Application No : 22/00508/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 01.06.22 

 
 Location : 16 Bowcock Walk Stevenage Herts SG1 1SZ 

 
 Proposal : Single storey front and rear extensions and detached single-

storey garage 
 

 Date of Decision : 15.07.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

Page 257



DC36 

 
 
34.  Application No : 22/00511/COND 

 
 Date Received : 01.06.22 

 
 Location : Land Adjacent To 108 Oaks Cross Stevenage Herts SG2 8LT 

 
 Proposal : Discharge of Condition 18 (EV Charging) attached to planning 

permission reference number 21/01204/FPM 
 

 Date of Decision : 22.07.22 
  

Decision : 
 
The discharge of Condition(s)/Obligation(s) is APPROVED 
 

 
 
35.  Application No : 22/00512/CLPD 

 
 Date Received : 02.06.22 

 
 Location : 118 Grace Way Stevenage Herts SG1 5AE 

 
 Proposal : Certificate of lawfulness (Proposed) for a single storey rear 

extension 
 

 Date of Decision : 25.07.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Certificate of Lawfulness is APPROVED 
 

 
 
36.  Application No : 22/00516/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 07.06.22 

 
 Location : 59 Mandeville Stevenage Herts SG2 8JN 

 
 Proposal : Demolition of the existing porch and erection of single-storey 

front extension. 
 

 Date of Decision : 25.07.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
37.  Application No : 22/00519/CLPD 

 
 Date Received : 07.06.22 

 
 Location : 11 Wortham Way Stevenage Herts SG2 9SH 

 
 Proposal : Certificate of Lawfulness for proposed single storey rear 

extension 
 

 Date of Decision : 18.07.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Certificate of Lawfulness is APPROVED 
 

 
Page 258



DC36 

 
38.  Application No : 22/00524/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 07.06.22 

 
 Location : 14 Julians Road Stevenage Herts SG1 3ES 

 
 Proposal : Single storey side and rear extension. 

 
 Date of Decision : 25.07.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
39.  Application No : 22/00525/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 07.06.22 

 
 Location : 112 Collenswood Road Stevenage Herts SG2 9HG 

 
 Proposal : Single storey front extension, part single-storey, part two-storey 

rear extension and erection of outbuilding. 
 

 Date of Decision : 21.07.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
40.  Application No : 22/00544/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 09.06.22 

 
 Location : 145 Hertford Road Stevenage Herts SG2 8ST 

 
 Proposal : Single storey rear extension to replace existing conservatory, 

alterations to first floor windows and new dormer to side 
elevation 
 

 Date of Decision : 26.07.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
41.  Application No : 22/00553/CLPD 

 
 Date Received : 12.06.22 

 
 Location : 38 Franklins Road Stevenage Herts SG1 3BW 

 
 Proposal : Certificate of lawfulness for proposed loft conversion with side 

dormer window and rooflights 
 

 Date of Decision : 08.07.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Certificate of Lawfulness is APPROVED 
 

 
 

Page 259



DC36 

42.  Application No : 22/00560/FPH 
 

 Date Received : 14.06.22 
 

 Location : 124 Collenswood Road Stevenage Herts SG2 9HG 
 

 Proposal : Two storey side extension 
 

 Date of Decision : 26.07.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
43.  Application No : 22/00561/CLPD 

 
 Date Received : 14.06.22 

 
 Location : 124 Collenswood Road Stevenage Herts SG2 9HG 

 
 Proposal : Certificate of Lawfulness for proposed outbuilding 

 
 Date of Decision : 26.07.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Certificate of Lawfulness is APPROVED 
 

 
 
44.  Application No : 22/00562/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 15.06.22 

 
 Location : 26 Alleyns Road Stevenage Herts SG1 3PP 

 
 Proposal : Single storey rear extension 

 
 Date of Decision : 26.07.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
45.  Application No : 22/00566/HPA 

 
 Date Received : 16.06.22 

 
 Location : 167 Raleigh Crescent Stevenage Herts SG2 0EA 

 
 Proposal : Single storey rear extension which will extend beyond the rear 

wall of the original house by 4.50m, for which the maximum 
height will be 3.30m and the height of the eaves will be 2.20m 
 

 Date of Decision : 15.07.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Prior Approval is NOT REQUIRED 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 260



DC36 

 
 
 
46.  Application No : 22/00575/CLPD 

 
 Date Received : 17.06.22 

 
 Location : 3 Poston Place Stevenage Herts SG2 0BS 

 
 Proposal : Lawful Development Certificate (Proposed) for the installation of 

roof lights. 
 

 Date of Decision : 26.07.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Certificate of Lawfulness is APPROVED 
 

 
 
47.  Application No : 22/00580/CLEU 

 
 Date Received : 21.06.22 

 
 Location : 438 Canterbury Way Stevenage Herts SG1 4EA 

 
 Proposal : Certificate of lawfulness for existing use of HMO for 5 people 

 
 Date of Decision : 22.07.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Certificate of Lawfulness is APPROVED 
 

 
48.  Application No : 22/00634/NMA 

 
 Date Received : 08.07.22 

 
 Location : 40 Knights Templars Green Stevenage Herts SG2 0JY 

 
 Proposal : Non material amendment to planning application reference 

number 21/01154/FPH (Appeal Decision 
APP/K1935/D/22/3292617) to amend wording of Condition 2 
(Materials). 
 

 Date of Decision : 14.07.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Non Material Amendment AGREED 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 261



DC36 

 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

1. The application file, forms, plans and supporting documents having the reference 
number relating to this item. 

 
2. Stevenage Borough Council Supplementary Planning Documents – Parking Provision 

adopted January 2020. 
 

3. Stevenage Borough Local Plan 2011-2031 adopted May 2019. 
 

4. Hertfordshire County Council’s Local Transport Plan 4 adopted May 2018.  
 

5. Responses to consultations with statutory undertakers and other interested parties 
referred to in this report. 

 
6. Central Government advice contained in the National Planning Policy Framework 

February 2019 and Planning Policy Guidance March 2014. 

 

 

Page 262



PART 1 
                       Release to Press 

 
 
 

Meeting: Planning and Development 
Committee 

Agenda Item:  

Date: Tuesday 9 August 2022   

INFORMATION REPORT - APPEALS / CALLED IN APPLICATIONS 

Author – Linda Sparrow 01438 242837 

Lead Officer – Zayd Al-Jawad 01438 242257 

Contact Officer – James Chettleburgh 01438 242266 

1. APPEALS RECEIVED 

 
1.1 NONE. 

 

2. DECISIONS AWAITED 

2.1 21/00681/AD, McDonalds, Monkswood Retail Park, Elder Way.  Appeal against refusal 
of advertisement consent for 1no. internally illuminated totem sign. 

 
2.2 21/00809/FP.  168 Fairview Road.  Appeal against refusal of planning permission for 

the erection on 1no. two bedroom detached dwellings with parking and access.  
 
2.3 21/01152/ENF.  68 Basils Road.  Appeal against the serving of an enforcement notice 

to remove the first floor of the two storey rear extension which was refused under 
planning permission reference number 21/01256/FPH.  

 
2.4 21/01256/FPH.  68 Basils Road.  Appeal against the refusal of planning permission for 

the retention of a part two storey, part single storey rear extension. 
 
2.5 21/01126/FP.  56 Austen Paths.  Appeal against the refusal of planning permission for 

the change of use from a 6-bedroom House of Multiple Occupation (HMO) Class C4, to 
a 7-bedroom HMO (Sui Generis), 3 x car parking spaces; 8-bicycle parking spaces, 
and location of 7-bin storage facilities to the rear driveway. 
 

2.6 21/01101/FP, 303 Ripon Road.  Appeal against refusal of planning permission for the 
conversion of 1 no. 4 bedroom dwelling to 3 no. studios, single storey front and rear 
extensions and conversion of garage including the change of use from public amenity 
land to residential use and associated parking. 
 

3. DECISIONS RECEIVED 
 
3.1 19/000474/FPM, Land West of Lytton Way.  Appeal against refusal of planning 

permission for the demolition of existing office building (Use Class B1) and structures, 
and the construction of seven apartment buildings comprising 576 dwellings (Use 
Class C3) together with internal roads, parking, public open space, landscaping, 
drainage and associated infrastructure works. 

 
3.2 The appeal was allowed subject to conditions.  
 
  
 Page 263

Agenda Item 8



 Procedural Matters 
 
3.3 The previous appeal decision was quashed in the High Court on 1st December 2021 

and so required to be re-determined. 
 
3.4 Following the submission of the appeal, the Council had adopted new standards for 

cycle parking which is to be secured by condition. Amended plans submitted with 
minor changes to parking bays, location of sub-stations and addressing drafting issues 
were agreed during the inquiry.   

 
3.5 Regard was given to the executed Legal Agreement which was submitted on 6 July 

2022. 
 
 Main Issue 
 
3.6 Main parties had reached common ground regarding infrastructure provision which 

was the third reason for refusal. In this case, the developer agreed to all the financial 
obligations where were being sought, including primary education and NHS GP 
provision. It was also agreed that there were no negative impacts on the Old Town 
High Street Conservation Area (this is because the reasons for refusal did not explicitly 
state the development would have a detrimental impact on the historic character of the 
conservation area). 

 
3.7 In contrast to the previous inspector, this inspector did not consider privacy or outlook 

as it was not disputed by main parties (again, this was not a reason for refusal so could 
not be challenged by officers during appeal proceedings). As such, the appeal 
focussed on the two main reasons for refusal relating to design.  

 
 Reasons – Character and appearance 
 
3.8 The inspector in the decision letter sets out in detail the general policy requirements 

set both nationally and locally in relation to Good Design. The inspector also goes into 
detail the sites characteristics and the context of the surrounding area.  

 
3.9 The proposed development seeks to comprehensively redevelop the site with 576 

residential units across seven blocks. The blocks would curve from north to south 
(blocks 1 to 6) with block 7 being located towards the railway line. The blocks would 
have similar floorplans with the taller northern and southern blocks forming the 
wayfinding aspect of the scheme. The pavilion blocks (blocks 2 and 5) would be lower 
and some would adjoin the taller blocks and central gateway blocks (Blocks 1, 3, 4 and 
6). The gateway blocks would be taller than the pavilion blocks and would directly abut 
the main entrance to the site and arrival square.  

 
3.10 The design concept sees the taller blocks and wayfinding blocks as having a vertical 

emphasis and being a lighter colour whereas the pavilion blocks would have a 
horizontal emphasis and be a darker brick. Separate pavilion blocks 2 and 5 would 
have a central set-back of a different brick to denote each blocks central entrance. 
Sitting lower than the most frontage blocks, block 7 would use a contrasting form. The 
blocks would range between 6 and 16 storeys.  

 
3.11 The number of tall buildings was a concern raised by the Council with the Council’s 

expert design witness confirming in his evidence that he considered the site suitable 
for a single tall building, but more would be unlikely. There are taller buildings in 
Stevenage, but they are set at some distance apart.  

 
3.12  The inspector noted the Council’s aim to regenerate the new town, the recent 

permissions for the MSCP (multi-storey car park) and Matalan, and planning 
applications (which have resolution to grant) with taller buildings. As such, the town 
was going to see the provision of number of tall buildings. The inspector, therefore, 
considers the provision of tall building on the site as not harmful per se. This is Page 264



because of the developments proximity is not only located close to tall buildings within 
and outside of the town centre, but also as an island surrounded by roads, parkways 
and the railway and is therefore separated from other smaller buildings. In the absence 
of a policy to prevent the grouping of tall buildings, the inspector considers that of 
greater concern is of whether the development is of sufficient design quality and 
appropriate effect on the character and appearance of the area to be consistent with 
local and national policies.  

 
3.13 Turning to matters of building form and layout, height, proportions, materials and 

architectural detail, the inspector did not consider the golden ratio as set out in the 
previous inspectors decision.  

 
3.14 In her analysis of the proposal, the inspector considered that taken together, the 

building form and layout, height, proportions, active frontages, materials and 
architectural detail of the proposed development would be successful in the site. The 
inspector goes onto consider that whilst the scheme does not have the flair that is 
attributed to the existing building, she emphasised the importance of high quality 
materials to be secured by way of condition. With the condition in place, the inspector 
considered that the proposed development would be high quality. 

 
3.15 However, the inspector in her analysis considered that the development would have a 

moderate adverse effect on townscape and views. This is due to how the groupings of 
the buildings would appear from certain viewpoints. Notwithstanding, she did not 
consider the proposed development would have an adverse impact on the legibility of 
the town centre. Moreover, she also considered that the landscaping and car parking 
areas would not have an adverse effect on the proposed development.  

 
3.16 In summary, the inspector considered the development would have a moderate 

harmful effect on the character and appearance of the area, stemming only from the 
loss of the existing building and the developments appearance in long views. As such, 
she considered there was a conflict with local plan policies on design. But, she did 
consider the proposal accorded with Policy SP7 in respect of environmental capacity. 

 
 Other Matters 
 
3.17 Reference was made about the number of flatted developments coming forward. 

However, the inspector set out in the decision letter that such developments are in 
keeping with the Council’s regeneration aspirations for the town centre. Though 
mention has been made about increasing density to avoid building on Green Belt land 
and to delivery of an arts centre in the existing building, the inspector set out in her 
decision that she is required to consider the scheme that is before her. Moreover, the 
inspector correctly pointed out that overall suitability of housing allocations and land 
being removed from the Green Belt is best addressed through Local Plan examination.  

 
3.18 In terms of people living in the development, the inspector does note that the 

development could house people who commute to London or Cambridge. This is 
considered to be a reasonable assumption given the sites location near the train 
station. The inspector was also correct in her judgement that a requirement to restrict 
the flats to only those who work locally is neither enforceable or reasonable.  In terms 
of affordable housing, these are generally grouped together in flatted developments in 
terms of ease of management and maintenance.  

 
3.19 Turning to comments relating to the challenges about finding school places and 

appointments at doctor’s surgeries, the inspector argues that whilst it would not be 
reasonable for the development to fund existing gaps in infrastructure, it would address 
its own effect on school and NHS infrastructure via planning obligations. In terms of 
Police and other emergency services, there was no evidence before the inspector that 
this development would contribute towards those services or that it would have a 
negative impact on water pressure which requires mitigation.  

 Page 265



3.20 Improvements to walking and cycling routes would be secured via the Section 106 
legal agreement. The matter of sewerage is addressed by condition, there would be 
sufficient parking provision and there is no evidence before the inspector for her to 
consider issues around congestion, fly parking and rat running on neighbouring roads.  

 
3.21 The inspector did note that there is potential issues with noise, anti-social behaviour, 

crime and lack of community cohesion, it has not been demonstrated that the proposed 
development would worsen any existing situation. Additionally, matters around noise 
will be addressed by condition and steps have been taken to design out crime. In terms 
of impact of light on neighbouring developments, the inspector raised no concerns in 
her decision and there were no concerns raised around privacy. In addition, she did 
not consider that it had been demonstrated that light pollution would occur as a result 
of the proposed development.  

 
3.22 In terms of safety around tall-buildings, the inspector had noted these concerns, she 

set out in the decision letter that the legal agreement provides a water scheme with the 
provision and maintenance of fire hydrants and no cladding is proposed. A condition is 
also imposed to deal with the impacts from construction. The inspector also sets out 
that matters around thermal insulation would be addressed through Building 
Regulations and concerns around property values is not a material planning 
consideration.   

 
 Planning obligations 
 
3.23 The relevant parties have entered into a legal agreement which includes obligations 

which would come into effect if planning was granted. The inspector considered these 
obligations in accordance with Regulation 122 of the Community Infrastructure Levy.  

 
3.24 The inspector considered the clauses around affordable housing, including a clawback 

mechanism to secure any potential uplift in on-site affordable housing provision or a 
financial contribution in lieu met the relevant tests. The inspector also considered the 
obligations relating to open space and its maintenance also accorded with regulation 
122.  

 
3.25 The Inspector also considered, based on the evidence provided during the appeal by 

both the Council and County Council, that the full £1,670,632 contribution towards 
Primary Education met the CIL tests. This deviates from the previous inspectors 
decision which sought a substantial reduction in the financial obligation for Primary 
Education by 80%. The inspectors decision does not deviate from the previous 
inspectors decision on the NHS contribution of £81,538. Other obligations including the 
£22,574.33 towards a Car Club along with travel plan monitoring, provision of cycle 
ramps and footway connections and monitoring fees were also considered to meet the 
relevant tests.  

 
3.26 However, the inspector did not consider the requirement for trees and plants to be 

sourced from nurseries in England and Wales, which whilst laudable, failed to meet the 
3 tests under regulation 122. In summary, the inspector concluded the legal agreement 
would be consistent with the local plan along with the ability to provide more affordable 
housing where viability permits.   

 
 Planning Balance 
 
3.27 The latest Housing Delivery Test (HDT) score as issued in January 2022 is 79% which 

exceeds the thresholds set out in the NPPF (above 75%). The appellant had projected 
HDT results for future years which the inspector gave no weight to.  

 
3.28 In terms of the dispute between the Council and the appellant on 5 Year Land Supply 

(YLS), the points of dispute related to methodology and to the delivery of a number of 
sites within the supply. The updated Statement of Common Ground confirms the 
parties agree to the 20% buffer to be applied and the base date is 1 April 2022.  Page 266



 
3.29  The appellant considers the deliverable 5 year supply is 2,491, which is 2.476 years 

(Sedgefield) and 3.54 years (Liverpool). The Council considered supply to be 4,126 
which is 4.58 years (Sedgefield) and 5.87 years (Liverpool). The inspector does not 
consider in her decision letter who was correct or which methodology should be used 
i.e. Liverpool or Sedgefield.  

 
3.30  The inspector went on to argue that as the scheme 576 units, it would support the 

Government’s aim as set out in the NPPF to significantly boost the supply of housing.  
Reference was given to Policy SP7 which refers to the need to deliver 7,600 homes 
over the plan period. The inspector notes that many of these homes are to be 
delivered on strategic sites (e.g. North Stevenage, West Stevenage, Stevenage Town 
Centre) and argues they appear to be complex to deliver and slow to come forward.  

 
3.31 The inspector also argues there is also an historic under delivery of new homes in 

Stevenage, and even if she were to support the Council’s best case scenario, in light of 
the scale of development proposed and due to local and national circumstances, she 
gave the provision of additional homes substantial weight.  

 
3.32  In terms of the obligations to be secured in the Legal Agreement, she gave those 

neutral weight. In terms of affordable housing, whilst the scheme was not policy 
compliant, the inspector considered the delivery of affordable rent units which is the 
highest priority tenure. She also argued there had been an under delivery of affordable 
homes in Stevenage and the scheme would deliver 17% of affordable homes required 
over the Plan Period. As such, due to the number of units being delivered (52) 
combined with under delivery and the size of unmet need, she gave significant weight.  

 
3.33 In terms of the sites sustainable location and provision of measures such as a car club, 

travel plans, travel vouchers, EV charging, which whilst are requirement of policy, 
including Building Regulations, she gave these reasonable weight.  

 
3.34 With regards to redevelopment of a brownfield site, in accordance with the NPPF, this 

was afforded substantial weight. The proposed development would also go beyond 
requirements with a 60% carbon reduction where the inspector applied significant 
weight. The development would also have a biodiversity net gain of 22.3% where the 
inspector applied significant weight to. With regards to economic impacts such as jobs 
and local expenditure, the inspector considered these to be afforded significant weight.  

 
3.35 The inspector therefore considered that the overall benefits of the scheme have 

substantial weight. In conclusion, whilst the inspector noted the negative attributes of 
the scheme in relation to design and conflict with the development plan, the inspector 
sets out in the decision letter that the overall benefits outweigh this conflict.  

 
 Schedule of conditions 
 
3.36 The schedule of conditions were discussed at the inquiry with amendments taking into 

account new plan numbers. Details of the conditions and reasons for them being 
imposed are set out in the appeal decision.  

 
 Conclusion 
 
3.37 The inspector concluded the appeal should be allowed.  

Page 267



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 268



  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

Appeal Decision  

Inquiry held on 7 – 9, 14 and 15 June 2022  

Site visit made on 17 June 2022  
by Joanna Gilbert MA (Hons) MTP MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date: 15th July 2022 

 
Appeal Ref: APP/K1935/W/20/3255692 

Land to the west of Lytton Way, Stevenage SG1 1AG. 
• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

against a refusal to grant planning permission. 

• The appeal is made by Hill Residential Ltd against the decision of Stevenage Borough 

Council. 

• The application Ref 19/00474/FPM, dated 1 August 2019, was refused by notice dated  

6 March 2020. 

• The development proposed is demolition of existing office building (B1 use) and 

structures, and the construction of seven apartment buildings comprising 576 dwellings 

(C3 use) together with internal roads, parking, public open space, landscaping, drainage 

and associated infrastructure works. 

• This decision supersedes that issued on 20 August 2021. That decision on the appeal 

was quashed by order of the High Court. 

Decision 

1. The appeal is allowed and planning permission is granted for demolition of 
existing office building (B1 use) and structures, and the construction of seven 

apartment buildings comprising 576 dwellings (C3 use) together with internal 
roads, parking, public open space, landscaping, drainage and associated 

infrastructure works at Land to the west of Lytton Way, Stevenage, SG1 1AG in 
accordance with the terms of the application, Ref 19/00474/FPM, dated 1 
August 2019, subject to the 17 conditions in the attached schedule. 

Procedural Matters 

2. The previous appeal decision for this development proposal was quashed by 

order of the High Court on 1 December 2021 and so is required to be 
redetermined. My attention has been drawn to a legal judgment1 with regard to 
consideration being given to a quashed decision as a material consideration. 

3. Following the appeal’s submission, the Council revised its requirements for 
cycle parking. The provision of revised drawings to address the Council’s 

revised standards is dealt with by a condition, which requires the submission of 
plans to show compliance with the revised cycle parking standards. 

4. Two amended plans 2660-LA-01 Rev E and 2660-LA-02 Rev E were submitted 

prior to the Inquiry opening. As they only made very minor changes to the 
location of parking bays and sub-stations to correct drafting errors, no 

prejudice would be caused to any parties by my consideration of these plans. 

 
1 Davison v Elmbridge Borough Council [2019] EWHC 1409. 

Page 269

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/K1935/W/20/3255692

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

5. I have had regard to a signed and executed legal agreement which was 

submitted on 6 July 2022. 

Main Issue 

6. Since the appeal was submitted and the first Inquiry took place, the main 
parties have reached common ground regarding infrastructure provision which 
formed the third reason for refusal. I have therefore addressed this as part of 

other matters within my decision. It is also agreed by the main parties that 
there would not be a negative effect on the nearby Old Town High Street 

Conservation Area. I have not dealt with this matter further. In contrast to the 
previous Inspector, I have not discussed privacy of future residents associated 
with distances between windows as it is not disputed by the main parties. 

7. Addressing both the first and second reasons for refusal, the main issue in this 
appeal is therefore the effect of the proposed development on the character 

and appearance of the area. 

Reasons 

Character and appearance 

Policy context 

8. Chapter 12 of the National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework) deals 

with good design. Paragraph 126 of the Framework confirms the fundamental 
importance of creating high-quality, beautiful and sustainable buildings and 
places. Paragraph 130 of the Framework states that decisions should ensure 

that developments will function well and add to the overall quality of the area 
not just for the short term but over the lifetime of the development; are 

visually attractive as a result of good architecture, layout and appropriate and 
effective landscaping; are sympathetic to local character and history, including 
the surrounding built environment and landscape setting; establish or maintain 

a strong sense of place, optimise the potential of the site; and create places 
that are safe, inclusive and accessible. Paragraph 134 of the Framework states 

that development that is not well designed should be refused, especially where 
it fails to reflect local design policies and government guidance on design. 

9. The Planning Practice Guidance (PPG)2 sets out the importance of well-designed 

places and refers to the ten characteristics of good design set out in the 
National Design Guide (2021) (NDG), including context, identity, built form, 

movement, and nature. The NDG also highlights the Framework’s role in 
achieving high quality places and is supported by the National Model Design 
Code (NMDC) and its guidance notes. 

10. Derived from Ebenezer Howard’s Garden City movement, the New Town 
movement led to Stevenage being designated as the United Kingdom’s first 

New Town in 1946. Development of the Stevenage New Town took place over 
the following decades. Recognising the need for regeneration of the New Town, 

the Stevenage Local Plan 2011 – 2031 (Local Plan) was adopted in May 2019. 
The Local Plan’s vision includes plans to deliver transformational physical, 
social and economic regeneration of the New Town, twinned with housing and 

employment growth. It looks to maximise the use of previously developed sites 
in the Town Centre, the Old Town and the New Town. It designates Major 

 
2 Paragraph: 26-001-20191001. 

Page 270

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/K1935/W/20/3255692

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

Opportunity Areas to deliver high-quality mixed-use schemes with the aim of 

delivering a step-change in the perception of the Town Centre. In looking to 
provide hundreds of new homes on previously developed sites, it refers to the 

need to provide high standards of design and sustainability. 

11. The site is presently in employment use. Local Plan Policy EC7 states that 
planning permission for the loss of employment land on sites not allocated for 

any specific purpose will be granted where there is sufficient suitable 
employment land available elsewhere, there are overriding benefits against 

other objectives or policies in the Local Plan or it can be demonstrated that a 
unit has been unsuccessfully marketed for its existing use, or has remained 
vacant, over a considerable period of time. The criteria of Policy EC7 on the 

quantum of employment land and vacancy and marketing are met. The main 
parties are therefore in agreement that the loss of employment floorspace and 

land would be acceptable in this instance. 

12. Local Plan Policy SP7 sets out housing numbers and locations, but also supports 
applications for housing on unallocated sites where they are in suitable 

locations and will not exceed environmental capacity. Although this policy is 
within the Council’s decision, Ms Fitzpatrick confirmed in her proof of evidence 

that she considered the policy not to have been breached. 

13. Local Plan Policy SP8 is a strategic policy which requires new development to 
achieve the highest standards of design and sustainability, by preserving and 

enhancing Stevenage’s most important areas and characteristics whilst 
delivering substantial improvement to the image and quality of the town’s built 

fabric; requiring significant developments to be masterplanned to ensure the 
delivery of high-quality schemes; setting out detailed design criteria and 
requiring applicants to have regard to Supplementary Planning Documents and 

other relevant guidance; and implementing the Government's optional 
Technical Standards. Both main parties agree that Policy SP8 is consistent with 

the Framework. 

14. Furthermore, the supporting text to Policy SP8 recognises that new designs 
should raise the overall tone of design whilst respecting those parts of the New 

Town’s history and general principles that still work. It notes that examples of 
historic and modern high-quality design and layout should be preserved whilst 

also influencing the future, and highlights the contribution of high-quality 
design of transport infrastructure to sustainability and quality of life. 

15. Local Plan Policy GD1 on high quality design states that planning permission 

will be granted where criteria are met. Only criteria a. and e. are disputed here. 
These criteria respectively require that development respects and makes a 

positive contribution to its location and surrounds, and does not lead to an 
adverse impact on the amenity of future occupiers, neighbouring uses or the 

surrounding area. The Council’s position is that criterion e. encompasses 
consideration of the impact of the development on the visual amenities 
experienced by both those visiting and living in the proposed development, as 

well as those experiencing the proposed development from outside. Both main 
parties agree that Policy GD1 is consistent with the Framework. 

16. The Stevenage Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document (2009) 
(Design Guide) provides standards for the design and layout of development 
within Stevenage’s urban area and sets out a number of principles of ‘best 

practice’ design. It notes that a feature of the town’s development was the 

Page 271

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/K1935/W/20/3255692

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          4 

relatively low density of housing, resulting from the aim to provide an ‘open 

town’, following the Garden City movement’s principles. This involved high 
levels of open space, an extensive network of green corridors and wide roads. 

However, it goes on to note that due to the town’s growth requirements and 
the need to provide a substantial number of homes, where appropriate, 
densities will need to be raised in order to meet targets for new homes. It is 

highlighted that this will need to be carefully balanced with the need to retain 
open space as a key original feature of the town. 

17. It also recognises at page 28 of the Design Guide that the relationship of taller 
buildings to their neighbours is of particular importance and prefers buildings to 
‘step up’ or gradually increase from one height to another. It asserts that 

Stevenage is dissimilar to traditional towns in the way that, with the exception 
of a few developments, building heights do not increase substantially as 

development gets closer to the town centre or other nodal activity points. It 
continues that this has created a lack of landmark developments and high 
density buildings. It advises that buildings of greater heights should be 

encouraged at nodal points, and in easily accessible locations and confirms that 
in these circumstances a gradual increase in building heights will not be 

required. 

18. The Stevenage Central Town Centre Framework (June 2015) seeks to address 
the town centre’s spatial extent and refers to the need for a gravitational shift 

westwards from the current and historic town centre core. It also puts the 
railway station at the heart of Stevenage Central and promotes high-density 

development around and integral to the railway station, with high-quality public 
realm of streets and squares. 

Existing site and its context 

19. The defined town centre on the adopted Policies Map (2019) skirts the site’s 
edge, includes office development at the end of Ditchmore Lane and is bounded 

by A1155 Fairlands Way, St Georges Way, and A602 Lytton Way, with the 
inclusion of the railway station and the retail park west of the railway station. 

20. Situated north-west of and immediately outside Stevenage’s defined town 

centre and north of the railway station and the newly relocated bus station, the 
site comprises an existing office building, car parking, and surrounding treed 

and vegetated banked areas. The height of the banked site and the ground 
floor of the existing building aligns more strongly with adjoining roads than 
with the lower level pedestrian and cycle routes running along the site’s 

eastern boundary. The site adjoins Trinity Road and a roundabout to the north, 
Lytton Way to the east, Fairlands Way and a roundabout to the south, and the 

railway line and Chequers Bridge Road to the west. 

21. Vehicular access to the existing car park is fairly central within the site and is 

from Lytton Way. Via the site’s sloping banked edges, routes connect into the 
extensive pedestrian and cycle network. Pedestrians and cyclists travelling to 
the town centre use the underpass to Gates Way or travel towards the railway 

station and cross Lytton Way nearer the town centre. 

22. Beyond Trinity Road, flatted 7-storey blocks at Monument Court and a petrol 

station lie to the north. To the west and beyond the railway line, the site faces 
flatted development at Kilby Road, where the tallest part of the flats reaches 10 
storeys adjacent to Fairlands Way. There are also lower residential properties 

Page 272

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/K1935/W/20/3255692

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          5 

on Watson Road, Fairview Road and Brick Kiln Road. To the south, a multi-

storey car park of approximately 6 storeys is under construction on the railway 
station car park. To the east, the site faces offices, hotel and residential 

accommodation on the other side of Lytton Way. 

23. The main parties agree that the site is located in the Edge of Town Centre 
townscape character area (TCA 3) as defined in the appellant’s Townscape and 

Visual Impact Appraisal (July 2020) (TVIA). TCA 3 comprises a mixed use area 
of a varied scale, materials, and architecture, which provides a transition 

between Stevenage’s Old and New Towns and the residential areas beyond. It 
is dominated by the strong road layout, with pedestrian and cycle routes 
connected by underpasses under the road network. Tree planting, landscaping 

and grassed verges contribute positively to TCA 3’s character. Neighbouring 
TCA 1 in the TVIA covers the town centre and is noted to have buildings of 3 to 

4 storeys rising to occasional taller buildings of up to 18 storeys. 

24. In addition to the existing tall buildings at Monument Court and Kilby Road 
outside the town centre and the car park building under construction, there is 

an 8 storey building at Kings Road. Numerous tall buildings are located in the 
defined town centre. At Silam Road, Harrow Court and Brent Court are 18-

storey point blocks set in the Town Centre Gardens, while there are further 
individual blocks ranging from 7 to 16 storeys at Cuttys Lane, the Holiday Inn, 
Southgate House, Towers Road, Danestrete, the Council offices and the Ibis 

hotel. Tall buildings have planning permission at Matalan on Danestrete. 
Although they had not obtained planning permission at the time of the Inquiry, 

the Council has also resolved to grant planning permission for a part 9, part 13 
storey building at 11 The Forum and for tall buildings at SG1. 

25. Although the New Town masterplan for Stevenage allocated this site for 

wholesale/industrial purposes, it remained vacant until the 1980s when the 
existing building was built. As Mr Coleman3 notes, the building is “very well 

detailed and assembled and the atrium entrance is particularly impressive both 
spatially and in its rich use of materials.” 

26. Possessing a citadel-like quality due to its height, architecture and position on a 

banked island site separated from neighbouring sites by roads, the existing 
building is undoubtedly striking with extensive use of blue glass across two 

wings connected by a glazed atrium. Indeed, interested parties have 
commented on its importance individually, and as part of the wider townscape 
of central Stevenage, and about any scope for sustainable re-use. Unlike 

interested parties, neither main party considers the building to be worthy of 
heritage designation, either locally or nationally. Notwithstanding its vacant 

and somewhat derelict appearance, the existing building is a fine building of its 
time and I concur with the previous Inspector that it is architecturally one of 

the more distinguished buildings in Stevenage. 

27. However, it is undisputed between the main parties that there is no demand for 
the existing building for employment use. This appears to result from the 

attenuated layout and associated inefficiency of its office spaces, but also from 
its very quality. While the loss of the existing building would be unfortunate, in 

the absence of any realistic commercial and practical interest in the existing 
building’s re-use, it appears inescapable. Nevertheless, the existing building 
contributes positively to the character and appearance of the area. 

 
3 Paragraph 2.5.1, Proof of Evidence of Mr Coleman 

Page 273

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/K1935/W/20/3255692

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          6 

The proposed buildings 

28. The proposed development would comprehensively redevelop the entire site 
and would introduce 7 blocks of 576 flats. While one block (Block 7) would be 

located towards the railway line, the other 6 blocks would curve from north 
(Block 1) to south (Block 6) along the site’s eastern perimeter. 

29. All the blocks are essentially similar in floorplan, but some are combined in 

pairs to make larger blocks. The tallest wayfinding or identity blocks would be 
located at the site’s northern and southern ends, while the pavilion blocks 

(Type B Blocks 2 and 5) would be lower and some would adjoin both the 
wayfinding blocks and the central gateway blocks (Type A Blocks 1, 3, 4, and 
6). The gateway blocks would be taller than the pavilion block elements and 

would directly abut the existing vehicular access from Lytton Way and the 
arrival square. The design concept sees the taller wayfinding and gateway 

blocks as having a more vertical emphasis and being of a lighter colour, while 
the pavilion blocks would have a more horizontal emphasis and would be of 
darker brick. Separate pavilion blocks 2 and 5 would have a central set-back of 

a different brick to denote each block’s central entrance. Sitting at a lower 
height than most of the frontage blocks, Block 7 would use the contrasting 

form of the Type A blocks but would employ the brick colours from the Type B 
blocks. The blocks would range between 6 and 16 storeys in height. 

30. The number of tall buildings proposed is a matter of concern for the Council. 

Indeed, Mr Colligan confirmed in his evidence that he considered the site to be 
suitable for a single tall building, but more would be unlikely. There are existing 

tall buildings in central Stevenage as set out above. A number of the taller 
buildings are some distance apart and the tallest buildings at Harrow Court and 
Brent Court are set in extensive landscaping. However, not all tall buildings are 

set in such extensive landscaping and not all lie within the defined town centre, 
with Monument Court and Kilby Road being somewhat shorter, out of town 

centre examples proximate to the site. 

31. Given the Council’s stated aims to regenerate the New Town, the recent 
permissions for the nearby multi-storey car park and Matalan, and the planning 

applications (with resolution to grant) for other tall buildings, Stevenage is 
likely to see the development of a number of taller buildings. The concept of 

tall buildings in this location is not harmful per se. This is because the proposed 
development is not only close to existing and proposed tall buildings within and 
outside the town centre, but also lies on an island site surrounded by roads, 

parkways and the railway and is therefore separated from other lower 
buildings. In the absence of specific policy preventing the provision of a group 

of tall buildings, of greater concern is whether the proposal is of sufficient 
design quality and appropriate effect on the character and appearance of the 

area to be consistent with relevant local and national policies. 

32. Turning to matters of the building form and layout, height, proportions, 
materials and architectural detail of the proposed development, I have not 

applied the golden ratio or section exercise undertaken by the previous 
Inspector as I have based my findings on my judgment of the whole 

composition in its context. 

33. The proposed development takes similar building forms and repeats them 
across the site in a generally outward-facing manner. With the exception of 

Block 7 which would sit to the rear of the site facing the arrival square, the 

Page 274

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/K1935/W/20/3255692

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          7 

design approach to the eastern perimeter is approximately mirrored on either 

side of the central vehicular access to the site. 

34. The NMDC guidance notes refer to a choice of symmetry or conscious 

asymmetry. Mr Colligan highlighted this axial symmetry as being inappropriate 
and problematic, with references to its use in bombastic displays of wealth and 
power. In my view, this is disproportionate to the potential effect of the 

proposed development’s layout. While I concur with Mr Colligan that Block 7 is 
not significant in itself, the use of axial symmetry is a convenient way of 

addressing the existing and retained vehicular access and the lengthy 
perimeter of a relatively narrow site. Though the retention of the existing 
vehicular access has been criticised from a design perspective, this appears 

sensible in terms of use of resources. 

35. The repetition of forms across the site would provide consistency, with similar 

floorplans used in pairs or in T-shapes. Unlike nearby tall buildings, the building 
forms employed would be uncomplicated, using a rectangular floorplan and 
consistent materials to emphasise their simplicity. While the taller blocks made 

up of both a wayfinding/gateway and pavilion component (Blocks 1, 3, 4 and 6) 
would undoubtedly be both tall and wide, I find their proportions would not be 

unpleasing. The separate pavilion blocks would be more subtly designed and 
more successful in their proportions due to their articulation, but this would not 
render the taller blocks unsuccessful. The height and respective massing of the 

blocks would vary across the site, with the tallest blocks at the north and south 
and at the vehicular access. They would be separated from one another by 

landscaped areas which would help in breaking them up and in linking them to 
their landscaped surroundings, while the palette of different brick colours would 
be effective in differentiating the blocks from one another and articulating the 

larger blocks along the site’s eastern perimeter. 

36. In terms of the differentiation in heights, this would reduce the potentially 

fortress-like qualities of a group of taller buildings. However, the form of the 
topmost parts of the proposed buildings would be more stepped than swooping. 
Notwithstanding this, I consider that their simplicity at height would be likely to 

stand the test of time more effectively than some more complex structures 
with more detailed roof treatments and see no particular necessity in any 

variation in treatments of the tallest Blocks 1 and 6. 

37. The architectural detailing and materials have been carefully considered with 
the use of a simple range of brick colours across the different blocks, providing 

some variety. There would be unity of design approach across the proposed 
development, with bronze coloured fenestration and rainwater goods and 

contrasting repeated stripes of brick banding at ground floor level across the 
buildings. This would create visual interest and some articulation along with the 

use of two different types of balcony, with either coloured metal panels or 
glazing. The metal panels would be perforated in the shape of a repeated and 
stylised Pasque flower. The pavilion blocks 2 and 5 would also have stretcher 

courses in a different brick colour on central elements of each block. Windows 
would be relatively generous, well-proportioned and consistent across floors, 

with some variation for wider windows where balconies would be located in a 
staggered pattern on alternate floors. 

38. Furthermore, in respect of active frontages, while there would not be as many 

flats at ground floor level as on upper floors, there would be activity from 

Page 275

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/K1935/W/20/3255692

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          8 

comings and goings to undercroft car parking, cycle parking and the flats 

themselves. Given the likely number of residents, there would be likely to be 
activity on site on a frequent basis. Additionally, those flats which would be at 

ground floor level would overlook the banked landscaping and the pedestrian 
and cycle network, thereby providing some surveillance. 

39. Taken together, the building form and layout, height, proportions, active 

frontages, materials and architectural detail of the proposed development 
would be successful within the site. While the proposed development would not 

have the flair of the existing building, I cannot emphasise enough the 
importance of ensuring that high quality materials can be secured by condition. 
Working on the basis that this would be the case, I consider that the proposed 

development’s detailing and materials would be high-quality. 

The effect on townscape and views 

40. The TVIA assessed the proposed development from a number of locations in 
and around central Stevenage and has been carried out in accordance with the 
relevant guidance. Viewpoints were agreed with Council officers. I have 

referred to relevant viewpoints (RV) in this decision. 

41. Amongst the parks and green spaces that penetrate the urban area, King 

George V Recreation Ground and Millennium Gardens are east of the site and 
beyond the High Street and Ditchmore Lane. From RV7 on the recreation 
ground, the existing building can be seen along with the tallest part of the Kilby 

Road flats and the Platform flats off Gates Way, though they are largely 
screened by trees and a supermarket on the edge of the open, grassed 

recreation ground. When on the recreation ground, it is also possible to see 
Harrow Court and Brent Court and other buildings within the Town Centre to 
the south. Millennium Gardens is located on the recreation ground’s north-

western corner and forms a more intimate open space surrounded by hedging 
and with ornamental planting. From RV8 within Millennium Gardens, only the 

topmost portion of the existing building’s atrium can be glimpsed above other 
buildings. From RV9 at the junction of nearby Gates Way, the existing building 
is very visible. 

42. In contrast to the existing situation, the proposed development would be highly 
visible in RV7 and RV8. At RV9, the existing lower-scale built form would be 

replaced by views of the gateway blocks and block 7 beyond. While the 
proposed buildings would vary in height and distance from these three 
viewpoints, the cluster of tall buildings proposed would undoubtedly draw the 

eye. This would result from both the overall height of the proposed buildings 
and from their grouping as a densely concentrated crescent. 

43. While I agree with the previous Inspector that drawing attention is not in itself 
harmful, the proposed development’s design quality and articulation would not 

be as visible at RV7. While one would still see detailed articulation of the 
proposed development and gaps between the buildings at RV8 and RV9, in 
more distant views such as RV7 that detailed articulation, different colouring of 

buildings, and any changes in light and shadow between buildings would no 
longer be seen to an effective extent. Furthermore, a number of the gaps 

between blocks would be less noticeable at this distance. This distance and lack 
of visible detail would reduce the proposed development to a rather 
uncompromising view of a group of large blocks without relief. However, 11 

The Forum, if built, would also be highly visible in these views as another large 

Page 276

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/K1935/W/20/3255692

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          9 

block. Although the proposed development would be imposing, it would not be 

the only imposing building or group of buildings to be seen from the recreation 
ground. I therefore find the view across the recreation ground would be only 

moderately adversely affected. 

44. There is no dispute that Stevenage’s existing architecture varies in quality. 
Despite its buildings, one of Stevenage’s key characteristics is of parkways or 

green corridors, consisting of main roads, cycling and pedestrian routes lined 
by mature trees and grassed verges or banks. These form part of the New 

Town’s original grid structure. The verdant qualities of the spaces bounding the 
transport routes both soften the effect of different buildings on the wider 
townscape and unify spaces. As one travels down parkways, one sees buildings 

framed by and emerging from vegetation at different points. 

45. In terms of parkway and road viewpoints, the longer views south and west 

along Fairlands Way at RV1, RV10 and RV11 would change with the proposed 
development in place, as would views closer at hand at RV16 at the pedestrian 
overbridge crossing Fairlands Way. Both existing and proposed developments 

would be seen from these vantage points moving down Fairlands Way towards 
the site. On travelling down Fairlands Way, other taller buildings such as 

Harrow Court come into view. Views from RV12 at Town Centre Gardens 
adjacent to Fairlands Way would be more limited and would include new 
development in the town centre as well as a view of the northern half of the 

proposed development. Once in the proximity of the site at RV16 at the 
pedestrian overbridge at Lytton Way, the proposed development would be 

much more evident than the existing building. When on Lytton Way, both 
existing and proposed developments would be seen from the railway bridge to 
the town centre (RV15) and from nearby vantage points. As for the view from 

parks, there would be a moderate adverse effect in the longer views at RV1, 
R10, R11, and R15 as the proposed development would appear more clustered, 

homogenous and lacking in articulation. 

46. RV18 east along Fairlands Way would also see change with the proposed 
development in place and some adverse effect stemming from the clustering of 

buildings and likely level of visibility of articulation. This would be despite 
existing trees and the Kilby Road flats’ presence. Meanwhile, RV19 at Chequers 

Bridge Road would be less affected due to the limited visibility of buildings. 

47. As with the effect on the recreation ground, there would be a moderate 
adverse effect on parkway and road viewpoints at RV1, RV10, RV11, RV15, and 

RV18, while there would be a more limited adverse effect on RV12 and RV19. 

48. Moving away from parkways and parks to views within the residential areas, 

the northern part of the proposed development would be partially viewed 
above trees in RV5 along Letchmore Road, while the proposed development’s 

southern extent would be more readily viewed from the southern end of 
Letchmore Road at RV6. While the buildings would certainly be evident, I find 
that the adverse effect on these viewpoints would be more minor than upon 

longer views along the parkways and across the recreation ground as the 
proposed development would not be visible to the same extent as from the 

parks and parkways. 

49. In summary, I consider that the proposed development would have a moderate 
adverse effect on townscape and views. 

Page 277

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/K1935/W/20/3255692

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          10 

Effect on the legibility of the town centre 

50. With regard to the legibility of the town centre, it is acknowledged that the 
proposed development is within an accessible location, in easy walking or 

cycling distance to public transport, and a range of services and facilities within 
the UK’s first pedestrianised shopping centre. As such, despite its location 
outside the defined town centre, it is hard to see how it would fail to comply 

with the principles for taller buildings set out at page 28 of the Design Guide. 
Anyone travelling around Stevenage on a regular basis would become familiar 

with the proposed development if built and would be able to orient themselves 
in relation to the nearby railway station and the town centre. Even if unfamiliar 
with Stevenage, legibility does not appear to be particularly difficult within and 

around the town centre, with signage and routes easily directing pedestrians 
travelling from the railway station to the town centre and to key services and 

facilities within the town. 

51. My attention has been drawn to examples of taller buildings such as the station 
area at CB1, the Byker Wall, and Parkhill flats outside city centres in 

Cambridge, Newcastle upon Tyne and Sheffield respectively. While Stevenage 
and the proposed development share only limited similarities with these cities 

and their buildings, I agree with the appellant that the presence of a taller 
building or group of taller buildings would not automatically cause someone to 
think that they were in the town centre when they were in or close to the site, 

as it would be clear that the proposed development was residential in nature. 

52. With regard to the view from RV21 north-east from the B656 north of Langley, 

it is possible to see Stevenage over 2km away. It would be possible to see the 
proposed development and the Matalan and SG1 schemes, if built, from this 
viewpoint. However, they would make only a small change to the background 

view above the treeline. They would not, to my mind, alter the perception that 
Stevenage lies to the north-east of the viewpoint, and would not prevent 

appropriate wayfinding to Stevenage or its town centre. 

53. In summary, the proposed development would not have an adverse effect on 
the legibility of the town centre. 

Landscaping and parking 

54. There is extensive tree planting, grassed banking and other landscaping 

surrounding the existing building, much of which would be retained and 
supplemented with new trees. The proposed frontage blocks would be 
separated by four wedges of open space on the site’s eastern perimeter and 

the main vehicular access to the site to the arrival square. These wedges would 
contain mixed planting, spaces for seating, and sculptural play features. The 

sunken amenity garden adjacent to block 7 would have ramped access and 
would provide a more informal open space and children’s play area, while the 

more formal and well-proportioned arrival square would accommodate trees 
and soft landscaping as well as the access route through to the residential 
blocks and car parking areas. Consistent with Local Plan Policy NH7, the 

proposed development would provide sufficient amenity space for residents. 

55. Concern has been raised by the Council regarding the extent of parking within 

the site. Parking would be located either in undercroft areas at the bottom of 
blocks or in surface parking courts. Parking would adjoin the open spaces and 
landscaping for the site. Despite the extensive and somewhat dominant nature 

Page 278

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/K1935/W/20/3255692

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          11 

of the proposed parking, this would not undermine the high quality and 

detailing of the proposed landscaping. Even with the level of car parking 
proposed within the site, the intensely developed site would have a series of 

active and well-connected spaces and would have a sense of openness and 
verdancy as a result of the juxtaposition of landscaping, parking and access 
routes. 

56. It has also been suggested that the proposed development would have a poor 
relationship with the parkway landscape. However, not only would the site’s 

distinctive banking be enhanced with a mixture of bulbs, meadow and shrubs, 
but the landscaped wedges between the blocks would be visible from the 
parkway, creating green fingers into the island site over and above the existing 

landscaping of the surface car park. While the landscaped wedges would be 
relatively narrow, they would be open to the exterior and the interior of the 

proposed development, allowing views in and out of the spaces. Although they 
would be relatively small spaces, I consider that they would be usable and 
would be intimate, rather than oppressively narrow and small. 

57. Public access to and permeability of the site would be enhanced by the 
proposed development as a new pedestrian and cycle access would be 

introduced via Trinity Road. Furthermore, given the landscaping layout and the 
accessibility of open spaces, the site would be much more inviting and 
accessible to cross than at present. Overall, I find that the landscaping and 

parking would not have an adverse effect on the proposed development. 

Conclusion on character and appearance 

58. In conclusion, the proposed development would have a moderate harmful 
effect on the character and appearance of the area, stemming only from the 
loss of the existing building and from the proposed development’s appearance 

in long views. The proposal would, therefore, be contrary to Local Plan Policies 
SP8 and GD1, Chapter 12 of the Framework, and the PPG relating to high 

quality design. As its only detrimental effect would be in relation to the loss of 
the existing building and effect on longer views, I consider that the proposed 
development would comply with Policy SP7 in respect of environmental 

capacity. 

Other Matters 

59. Reference has been made to the number of flatted developments coming 
forward. However, it is evident that such developments are generally in 
keeping with the Council’s regeneration aspirations for the New Town. Though 

mention has been made to increasing density to avoid building on Green Belt 
land and to delivery of an arts centre in the existing building, I am required to 

deal with the appeal before me. Matters relating to the overall suitability of 
housing allocations and land being removed from the Green Belt are best 

addressed through a Local Plan examination. 

60. While it is possible that the proposed development will house residents who 
commute to London or Cambridge, it is neither enforceable nor reasonable for 

occupation to be restricted to those working locally. It has been suggested that 
affordable housing should be integrated across the site, but affordable housing 

is often grouped for ease of management and maintenance. 

Page 279

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/K1935/W/20/3255692

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          12 

61. I note comments about the challenges faced in obtaining school places and 

appointments at doctors’ surgeries. While it would not be reasonable to expect 
the proposed development to address existing gaps in infrastructure, it would 

address its own effect on school and NHS infrastructure via planning 
obligations. In terms of Police and other emergency services infrastructure and 
effects on water pressure, there is no evidence before me to indicate that this 

development should contribute towards those services or that it would have a 
negative effect on water pressure which requires mitigation. 

62. Improvements are proposed to cycling and walking routes through the 
proposed development and would be secured by condition and legal 
agreement. The matter of sewerage is also addressed by condition. With regard 

to parking, the parking levels on site would be adequate given the location and 
scope for use of sustainable modes of transport. There is no evidence before 

me which indicates that the proposed development would cause congestion, fly 
parking, and rat-running on neighbouring roads. 

63. Although there may be issues with noise, anti-social behaviour, crime and lack 

of community cohesion locally, it has not been demonstrated that the proposed 
development would worsen any existing situation. Additionally, noise would be 

addressed by means of condition, including disruption from construction. Steps 
have been taken to design out crime. In relation to light to Brick Kiln Road, 
Monument Court, Townsend Mews and Platform, the technical assessments of 

sunlight and daylight indicate no material impact in these respects post-
development. While a number of units would face Brick Kiln Road and Kilby 

Road, the distances between existing and proposed development would be 
such that there would not be negative effects on privacy. It has not been 
demonstrated that light pollution would occur as a result of the proposed 

development. 

64. While I appreciate concerns about safety of tall buildings, the legal agreement 

provides a water scheme with provision and maintenance of fire hydrants and 
no cladding is proposed. Although there will be inevitable disruption during 
construction works, a condition has been applied to mitigate this and require 

the approval of a construction method statement to cover matters such as 
dust, noise, and working times. Thermal insulation would be addressed via 

Building Regulations. Concerns relating to property values are not planning 
matters. 

Planning Obligations 

65. The relevant parties have entered into a legal agreement under section 106 of 
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, which includes obligations which 

would come into effect if planning permission were to be granted. It also 
releases the parties from the legal agreement for the quashed decision. 

66. I have considered the obligations in light of the three statutory tests at 
Regulation 122(2) of The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Regulations 
2010 (as amended) and paragraph 57 of the Framework. These are that the 

obligations are necessary to make the development acceptable in planning 
terms, directly related to the development, and fairly and reasonably related in 

scale and kind. 

67. Affordable housing and associated viability reviews are addressed by the legal 
agreement. Some 52 affordable housing units would be provided, with the 

Page 280

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/K1935/W/20/3255692

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          13 

scope for additional provision of affordable housing on site or as a payment in 

lieu of provision dependent on use of review mechanisms. There is an 
affordable housing cap of 105 units. These figures are not disputed and 

originate from viability negotiations. These obligations meet the three tests. 

68. The legal agreement also deals with open space management and maintenance 
and requires an open space specification and management plan to be 

submitted to and approved by the Council prior to commencement. Open space 
would then need to be laid out in accordance with an agreed timetable, with 

the amenity space adjacent to block 7 set out prior to first occupation. This 
obligation meets the three tests. 

69. The legal agreement sets out an undisputed contribution of £1,670,732 

towards the delivery of a new 2 form entry primary school in the town centre. 
The additional pupil yield from the proposed development and other nearby 

developments cannot be met by local primary schools, which have limited or no 
spare capacity. Furthermore, the proposed new school’s location is some 0.8 
miles from the site, a reasonable walking distance. The level of contribution is 

based on a percentage of the overall cost of delivering a new school (18%) 
calculated on the basis of likely child yield from the proposed development 

(0.36 form entry), plus a proportion of the land costs for the primary school. 

70. While the previous Inspector reduced the primary education contribution to 
some 20% of the original figure to reflect the approach taken to the healthcare 

contribution, Hertfordshire County Council has provided me with additional 
information in support of primary education obligations4.  

71. The Council’s CIL was adopted in January 2020 and implemented from April 
2020. It envisages at paragraph 5.1 that CIL and planning obligations will work 
alongside one another. The Council’s Infrastructure Delivery Plan (March 2021) 

recognises the rising demand for primary school places in the town centre and 
envisages that new schools will be realised through developer contributions, 

including financial contributions towards off-site education provision. 

72. The Council’s Annual Infrastructure Funding Statement (IFS) (December 2021) 
confirms that the Council does not expect to fund any infrastructure with 

collected CIL receipts in the next calendar year, as the pot of CIL monies is not 
yet at a level where it is able to fund projects. Not only are the Council’s CIL 

receipts not expected to be large enough to fully fund significant infrastructure 
projects, such as a new school, but there are other competing projects for CIL 
funding which may be prioritised by the Council. It is possible therefore that 

the County Council would not receive any funding from CIL toward the school.  

73. In the event that CIL monies were allocated for the school, the IFS confirms 

that CIL monies may be used to fund an infrastructure gap if planning 
obligations are not able to fund the relevant infrastructure alone. This appears 

consistent with the advice in the PPG5 which confirms that authorities can 
choose to pool funding from different routes to fund the same infrastructure 
provided that authorities set out in their infrastructure funding statements 

which infrastructure they expect to fund through CIL. 

74. The previous Inspector found it would be necessary to pro rata the monies put 

forward as a planning obligation due to the possible proportion of the school’s 

 
4 RD9.1.3 Hertfordshire County Council Appeal Primary Education Contribution Supporting Statement 
5 PPG 23b-003-20190901: How do planning obligations relate to other contributions? 

Page 281

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/K1935/W/20/3255692

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          14 

costs that would be met from CIL receipts. The evidence before me indicates 

that the main funding stream for the new school is planning obligations monies 
from the proposed development and from other residential developments 

coming forward in the vicinity. It is entirely consistent with the PPG and the 
Council’s IFS that funding would be requested from CIL if a funding gap 
remained. I therefore find that the primary education contribution would meet 

the three tests. 

75. The legal agreement contributes £81,538 towards new or improvements to 

existing doctors’ surgeries at King Georges Practice Group or the Stanmore 
Medical Group. It is clear that there is limited capacity at local practices and 
that the agreed contribution is based on likely increase in households moving 

into the area. This obligation meets the three tests. 

76. A water scheme is included in the legal agreement in accordance with BS 750 

(2012), providing for operational fire hydrants prior to occupation. It is 
necessary for future residents’ safety and meets the three tests. 

77. The legal agreement also deals with travel planning and includes provision of a 

Travel Plan for approval by the County Council with consequent updating and 
review at specific points; nomination of a Travel Plan Co-ordinator; production 

and provision of residential travel packs, including sustainable travel vouchers; 
and a payment of £6,000 towards evaluation of the travel planning. Car club 
contributions of £22,574.33 towards provision of 2 hybrid car club cars and 

associated parking spaces on site and supplying the agreed contract with the 
car club operator to the Council are also required, while the legal agreement 

stipulates an agreement under section 278 of the Highway Act 1980 to deliver 
highways improvements for a cycle ramp and footway connection to Trinity 
Road. All of these provisions would encourage use of sustainable transport by 

future residents of the site and permeability of the site would be enhanced. I 
consider that these obligations meet the three tests. 

78. Monitoring of the planning obligations is also necessary to ensure that they are 
spent appropriately and delivered. The Council’s approach to monitoring is set 
out in the Council’s Developer Contributions Supplementary Planning Document 

(2021). This appears proportionate and reasonable. For the proposed 
development, the monitoring fee would be £25,000, the upper limit of 

contributions sought by the Council. This meets the three tests. 

79. With regard to the requirement at Schedule 9 of the legal agreement for trees 
and plants used in the development to be sourced from nurseries in England 

and Wales, whilst the aim is laudable, I am unconvinced that this is necessary 
in planning terms. As such, this would fail to meet the first of the tests. I 

therefore attach no weight to this element of the legal agreement in 
determining the appeal. 

80. In conclusion, the legal agreement would provide the necessary mitigation 
required to address the impact of development. Furthermore, with the 
exception of the requirement in Schedule 9 for locally sourced trees and plants, 

it would meet the tests set out in Regulation 122(2) of the CIL Regulations and 
paragraph 57 of the Framework and would be consistent with Local Plan 

Policies SP5 and SP7, which ,amongst other things, expect provision of a range 
of infrastructure to be secured when new development comes forward, and 
require at least 20% of all new homes to be affordable housing with an 

aspiration of up to 40% where viability permits. 

Page 282

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/K1935/W/20/3255692

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          15 

Planning Balance 

81. Paragraph 74 of the Framework outlines that local planning authorities should 
identify and update annually a supply of specific deliverable sites sufficient to 

provide a minimum of five years’ worth of housing against their housing 
requirement set out in adopted strategic policies or against their local housing 
need where the strategic policies are more than five years old. The Local Plan 

was adopted in 2019. 

82. The latest Housing Delivery Test (HDT) results were published in January 2022. 

These results indicate that the 2022 measurement for Stevenage is 79%. This 
measurement exceeds the advice at paragraph 11 and footnote 8 of the 
Framework that where the HDT indicates that the delivery of housing was 

substantially below (less than 75% of) the housing requirement over the 
previous three years, the policies most relevant for determining the application 

should be regarded as out of date and that permission should be granted 
unless any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the Framework, 

taken as a whole. 

83. The appellant has projected HDT results for future years. The HDT measures 

whether planned requirements or local housing need have been met over the 
last 3 years, rather than projecting forward. Given the scope for adjustments to 
the HDT and the departure from the HDT’s essentially backward-looking 

nature, I give this approach no weight in my decision. 

84. The parties remain in dispute about whether a 5 year housing land supply can 

be demonstrated. The points of dispute relate to methodology and to the 
deliverability of a number of sites within the supply. The updated Statement of 
Common Ground on 5 year housing land supply (dated 1 June 2022) confirms 

that the main parties agree that a 20% buffer should be applied and that the 
base date is 1 April 2022. The appellant considers the deliverable 5 year supply 

in Stevenage to be 2,491, which is 2.76 years (Sedgefield) and 3.54 years 
(Liverpool). The Council considers its deliverable supply to be 4,126, which is 
4.58 years (Sedgefield) and 5.87 years (Liverpool). 

85. Nevertheless, the proposed development would deliver 576 residential units. In 
doing so it would support the Government’s aim expressed at paragraph 60 of 

the Framework to significantly boost the supply of housing. Local Plan Policy 
SP7 refers to the need to deliver at least 7,600 homes over the plan period. 
Many of those homes are expected to be delivered on large strategic sites, 

which are proving complex to deliver and slow to come forward. There has also 
been a past history of under-delivery. Therefore, even if I were to endorse the 

Council’s best case scenario on their current housing land supply, in light of the 
scale of development proposed and of the aforementioned local and national 

circumstances, I give the provision of housing substantial weight. 

86. The majority of obligations in the legal agreement are intended to mitigate the 
effect of the development on local infrastructure. Therefore they are neutral in 

weight. The only exceptions to this are the obligation on trees and plants which 
does not meet the tests and therefore has no weight, and obligations for 

affordable housing and sustainable transport. 

87. There are viability review mechanisms which would, if triggered, allow for 
affordable housing up to a cap of 105 units. However, I base my consideration 

Page 283

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/K1935/W/20/3255692

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          16 

of weight on the known provision of affordable housing, that is 52 affordable 

housing units or some 9% of the proposed development. They would be for 
affordable rent, the highest priority tenure. I have been referred to other 

schemes which have gained planning permission or it has been resolved that 
planning permission should be granted. In these schemes, for one reason or 
another, affordable housing provision has been lower than the expected policy 

figure of 20%. Indeed 52 homes would equate to over 17% of the affordable 
housing delivered thus far in the plan period. In these circumstances of poor 

delivery of affordable homes and with a sizeable unmet need for such housing, 
I give the provision of affordable housing significant weight. 

88. Given the site’s sustainable location close to bus and railway stations and the 

town centre and the scope to encourage use of sustainable modes of transport 
via the improved pedestrian and cycle access to the wider network, the Travel 

Plan, provision of sustainable travel vouchers, electric vehicle charging, and car 
club vehicles on site, this would limit the need to travel by the private car and 
provide a genuine choice of transport modes, consistent with paragraph 105 of 

the Framework. Notwithstanding the importance of all these features, some are 
required for compliance with local policy and guidance or compliance with 

Building Regulations. While the Council asserts that these would be required for 
any high-density scheme, I find these features to be of reasonable weight. 

89. In addition, the proposal would redevelop a suitable brownfield site. Consistent 

with paragraph 120 of the Framework, I afford this substantial weight. The 
Local Plan contains no specific carbon reduction requirements. The proposed 

development would go beyond mitigation and would provide over 60% carbon 
saving against Building Regulations, to which I attach significant weight. There 
would be biodiversity net gain of some 22.3% in habitat units and 4,790 

hedgerow units when measured against DEFRA Biodiversity Metric 2.0. 
Furthermore, bird and bat boxes would be secured via condition. Accordingly, 

the proposed development would make a significant contribution to biodiversity 
net gain, to which I give significant weight. The economic benefits in terms of 
jobs and increased local expenditure can also be afforded significant weight. 

90. I find that the benefits together have substantial weight. 

91. Turning to adverse impacts, the proposed development would have a negative 

effect on the character and appearance of the area and would consequently 
conflict with the development plan. The level of harm would be no greater than 
moderate in terms of character and appearance and in terms of conflict with 

Local Plan Policies SP8 and GD1 for the reasons set out above. The adverse 
impacts would be insufficient to outweigh the benefits even if the Council can 

demonstrate a 5 year housing land supply. 

92. In conclusion, the negative effects of the proposed development in terms of 

character and appearance and the conflict with the development plan as a 
whole are outweighed by other considerations. Therefore, despite the conflicts 
with Local Plan Policies SP8 and GD1, there are sufficient material 

considerations to indicate that planning permission should be granted in this 
instance. 

Conditions 

93. The schedule of conditions was discussed during the Inquiry and the appellant 
gave their agreement to pre-commencement conditions after the Inquiry 

Page 284

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/K1935/W/20/3255692

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          17 

closed. The conditions have been amended to reflect changes in plan and 

condition numbers, to remove repetition, and to improve clarity. Numbers in 
brackets refer to numbers in the schedule of conditions in this decision. 

94. It is necessary to specify conditions confirming the time limit for development 
(1) and approved plans (2) to ensure certainty. Two pre-commencement 
conditions (3 and 4) are necessary as they should be addressed before 

construction works begin. The condition for a construction method statement 
(3) is necessary to safeguard the living conditions of local residents and to 

ensure highway safety. I have not included routing of vehicles as this may not 
be within the control of the appellant. The tree protection condition (4) is 
necessary to ensure that retained trees are safeguarded during construction. 

95. I have imposed a condition (5) for satisfactory storage and disposal of surface 
water from the site, thereby reducing flood risk. It is also necessary to require 

a scheme for protecting the proposed dwellings from noise from road, rail and 
air transport sources to avoid harm to living conditions (6). 

96. Conditions requiring approval of materials (7) and of a ramp for the amenity 

garden (10) are in the interests of visual amenity and accessibility respectively. 
In order to protect the living conditions of residents and preserve highway 

safety, a condition on external lighting has been applied (8). In seeking to 
mitigate climate change, a condition is necessary to deliver an energy strategy 
and water targets (9). In the interests of the safety of residents, a condition 

(11) is necessary to ensure that Secured by Design principles are met on site. 

97. To encourage use of sustainable transport and provision of cycle parking 

consistent with the Stevenage Parking Provision and Sustainable Transport 
Supplementary Planning Document (October 2020), a condition (12) is 
necessary. A further condition (13) requires details and provision of boundary 

treatments and is necessary both to safeguard residents’ living conditions and 
to prevent risk of interference with the safe movement of trains along the East 

Coast Main Line. 

98. In order to prevent detrimental effects on local sewerage and associated 
flooding and pollution, a condition has been imposed to ensure that appropriate 

infrastructure is in place (14). Condition (15) addresses bird and bat box 
provision in the interests of enhancing biodiversity. I have also attached a 

condition on refuse and recycling storage (16) in the interests of future 
occupiers’ living conditions. In the event that land contamination is discovered 
during development, a condition (17) is necessary to ensure no harm to human 

health and that the environment is safeguarded against pollution. 

Conclusion 

99. For the reasons set out above, I conclude that the appeal should be allowed. 

 

Joanna Gilbert  

INSPECTOR 
  

Page 285

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/K1935/W/20/3255692

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          18 

APPEARANCES 

FOR THE LOCAL PLANNING AUTHORITY: 

James Neill, Counsel  Instructed by Head of Legal 

Services, Stevenage Borough 
Council 

He called:  

James Chettleburgh BSc (Hons) MSc MRTPI Stevenage Borough Council  

Garry Colligan BSc (Hons) BArch RIBA 

MRTPI FRSA 

Think Place 

Gemma Fitzpatrick MSc MRTPI Stevenage Borough Council  

Sarah Martins MSc Diploma in Law  Stevenage Borough Council 

Rob Walker Trowers and Hamlin LLP 

 

FOR THE APPELLANT: 

Robert Walton QC Instructed by Colin Campbell, Hill 
Group UK Ltd 

He called:  

Colin Campbell BSc (Hons) DipTP MRTPI  Head of Planning, Hill Group UK Ltd 

Richard Coleman Dip Arch (Cant) ARB 

RIBA RIAI  

Independent Architectural, 

Townscape and Heritage Consultant 
at Citydesigner 

Gemma Dudley Partner, Planning Highways & 

Environment, HCR Hewitsons 

Joanna Ede BA (Hons) MA DipLA CMLI Director of Townscape, Landscape 

and VIA Services, Turley 

Justin Kelly Dip Arch Tech, BArch, Dip 
Arch, ARB, RIBA, RIAI, MCIAT, FCIAT  

Partner, BPTW 

Catherine Ritson BL(Hons) CMLI  Director, Allen Pyke Associates 

 

Documents received during the Inquiry 

RID01 Appellant’s Opening Statement 

RID02 Council’s Opening Statement 

RID03 Clips of documents referred to by Mr Colligan in his evidence in chief 

RID04 Stevenage Borough Council CIL Charging Schedule (Adopted April 
2020) 

RID05 Email dated 11 June 2022 from Mrs Wadsworth, a local resident 

Page 286

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/K1935/W/20/3255692

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          19 

RID06 Updated Table A 

RID07 Updated Table CC10 

RID08 Updated Table CC11 

RID09 Updated Statement of Common Ground for SG1 

RID10 Updated Statement of Common Ground for North Stevenage 

RID11 Email from the Council dated 14 June 2022 re housing sites at The 

Chace, Dunn Close, Oaks Cross, and Queensway 

RID12 Council’s Closing Submissions 

RID13 Appellant’s Closing Submissions 

 

Documents received after the Inquiry 

RID14 Email from the Appellant dated 15 June 2022 confirming agreement 

to pre-commencement conditions 

RID15 Email from the Council dated 15 June 2022 regarding sustainable 

travel vouchers 

RID16 Email from Inspector to main parties dated 28 June 2022 regarding 
housing land supply figures 

RID17 Email from the Appellant dated 28 June 2022 regarding housing land 
supply figures 

RID18 Email from the Council dated 30 June 2022 regarding housing land 
supply figures 

RID19 Email from the Appellant dated 4 July 2022 regarding housing land 

supply figures 

RID20 Planning obligation under section 106 of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990 in relation to land to the West of Lytton Way, 
Stevenage dated and submitted 6 July 2022  

 

Schedule of 17 conditions 
 

1) The development hereby permitted shall begin not later than 3 years from 

the date of this decision. 
 

2) Other than as required by conditions 4, 12 and 13, the development hereby 
permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved 
plans: 

 
16-019 D 050 C01, 16-019 D 051 C05, 16-019 D 060 C01, 16-019 D 100 

C04, 16-019 D 101 C03, 16-019 D 102 C04, 16-019 D 111 C02, 16-019 D 
112 C02, 16-019 D 113 C02, 16-019 D 114 C03, 16-019 D 115 C02, 16-019 
D 151 C01, 16-019 D 152 C01, 16-019 D 153 C01, 16-019 D 154 C01, 16-

019 D 200 C04, 16-019 D 201 C03, 16-019 D 202 C03, 16-019 D 203 C03, 

Page 287

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/K1935/W/20/3255692

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          20 

16-019 D 204 C02, 16-019 D 251 C01, 16-019 D 252 C01, 16-019 D 253 

C02, 16-019 D 254 C01, 16-019 D 300 C04, 16-019 D 301 C02, 16-019 D 
302 C02, 16-019 D 311 C02, 16-019 D 312 C03, 16-019 D 314 C02, 16-019 

D 351 C01, 16-019 D 352 C01, 16-019 D 353 C01, 16-019 D 354 C01, 16-
019 D 400 C05, 16-019 D 401 C02, 16-019 D 402 C02, 16-019 D 411 C03, 
16-019 D 412 C03, 16-019 D 413 C02, 16-019 D 451 C02, 16-019 D 452 

C02, 16-019 D 453 C02, 16-019 D 454 C01, 16-019 D 500 C04, 16-019 D 
501 C03, 16-019 D 502 C03, 16-019 D 503 C03, 16-019 D 504 C02, 16-019 

D 551 P02, 16-019 D 552 C01, 16-019 D 553 C02, 16-019 D 554 C01, 16-
019 D 600 C05, 16-019 D 601 C03, 16-019 D 602 C03, 16-019 D 611 C02, 
16-019 D 612 C02, 16-019 D 613 C03, 16-019 D 614 C02, 16-019 D 651 

C02, 16-019 D 652 C02, 16-019 D 653 C02, 16-019 D 654 C01, 16-019 D 
700 C05, 16-019 D 701 C04, 16-019 D 702 C04, 16-019 D 706 C02, 16-019 

D 707 C02, 16-019 D 708 C03, 16-019 D 709 C02, 16-019 D 751 C01, 16-
019 D 752 C01, 16-019 D 753 C01, 16-019 D 754 P01; 2660-LA-01E, 2660-
LA-02E, 2660-DT-01. 

 
3) No development shall take place, including any works of demolition, until a 

Construction Method Statement (CMS) has been submitted to, and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The CMS shall provide for:  

a) a construction phasing programme; 

b) the parking and turning areas for vehicles of site operatives and visitors, 
and for construction vehicles; 

c) loading, unloading and storage of plant and materials; 

d) siting of site offices and facilities for site operatives; 

e) the erection and maintenance of screening and hoarding, including access 

arrangements around the site for pedestrians, cyclists and other road 
users; 

f) siting and details of wheel washing facilities; 

g) measures to control noise, vibration, odour, light, air quality and the 
emission of dust during demolition and construction; 

h) details of any proposed piling operations, including justification for the 
proposed piling strategy, vibration impact assessment and proposed 

control and mitigation measures; 

i) a Site Waste Management Plan for recycling/disposing of waste resulting 
from demolition and construction works, including hours of operation for 

collection of waste; 

j) delivery, demolition and construction working hours; and 

k) details of consultation and complaint management. 

The approved CMS shall be adhered to throughout the construction period 

for the development. 
 

4) No development, including any site clearance or demolition works, shall 

commence until all trees within the development site which are to be 
retained as identified in the Tree Protection Plan (Plan 67135-02, Appendix 4 

of the Arboricultural Impact Assessment (AIA) dated 31/10/2018 reference 
67135 (V2)) have been protected by fencing or other means of enclosure in 

Page 288

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/K1935/W/20/3255692

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          21 

accordance with Appendices 4 and 8 of the AIA. Tree protection shall be 

retained in place until the conclusion of all site and building operations. 
Within the tree protection areas, there shall be no alteration to the ground 

level and they shall be kept clear of vehicles, materials, surplus soil, 
temporary buildings, plant and machinery. 
 

5) No development apart from demolition and site preparation works shall take 
place until the final design of the surface water drainage schemes and their 

maintenance regimes have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance 
with the approved details and be retained thereafter. 

 
6) Prior to commencement of works above slab level, a scheme for protecting 

the proposed dwellings from noise from road, rail and air transport sources 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. Before any dwelling is occupied, all works intended to protect that 

dwelling which form part of the scheme shall be completed and be retained 
thereafter. 

 
7) Prior to commencement of works above slab level, samples of the materials 

to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the buildings 

hereby permitted shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The development shall thereafter be carried out in 

accordance with the approved details. 
 
8) Prior to commencement of works above slab level, details of any external 

lighting, including the intensity of illumination and predicted light contours, 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority. Any external lighting shall accord with the approved details and be 
retained thereafter. 

 

9) Prior to commencement of works above slab level, an energy strategy to 
achieve 65% carbon reduction against Part L of the Building Regulations 

2013 when assessed using SAP10 emission factors shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall 
be implemented and retained thereafter in accordance with the approved 

details of the energy strategy and in accordance with the water consumption 
targets contained within the Whitecode Design Associates Energy Strategy 

10293-S-ENER-0001 Revision 5 dated 30 July 2019.  
 

10) Prior to commencement of works above slab level, details of ramped access 
into the amenity garden to the south of block 7 shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The ramped access shall 

be carried out in accordance with the approved details prior to the first use 
of the amenity garden and be retained thereafter. 

 
11) Prior to commencement of works above slab level, a detailed scheme of 

Secured by Design Section 2: Physical Security of the Home measures for 

the development hereby permitted shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall thereafter be 

carried out in accordance with the approved scheme prior to occupation of 
each block and be retained thereafter. 

 

Page 289

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/K1935/W/20/3255692

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          22 

12) Notwithstanding condition 2 and the details of car and cycle parking shown 

on the submitted plans, no works above slab level shall take place until 
revised plans, including the details of any external cycle stores, showing the 

provision of at least 948 cycle parking spaces together with the details of 
their type and design have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The cycle parking shall be fully completed for each 

block or phase and in accordance with the approved details before first 
occupation of that particular block or phase of the development and be 

retained thereafter. 
 
13) Notwithstanding condition 2, details of the treatment of all boundaries 

including details of any walls, fences, gates or other means of enclosure and 
timing of their delivery shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 

Local Planning Authority prior to any landscaping work taking place. The 
approved boundary treatments shall be completed in accordance with the 
approved details and be retained thereafter. No part of the development 

shall be occupied until an Armco or similar barrier has been installed in 
positions where vehicles may be in a position to drive or roll onto the 

railway. 
 
14) Prior to the first occupation of any dwelling within the development, written 

confirmation shall be provided to the Local Planning Authority that either:- 
 

(i) All wastewater network upgrades required to accommodate the 

additional flows from the development have been completed; or 

(ii) A housing and infrastructure phasing plan has been agreed with Thames 

Water to allow additional properties to be occupied. 

 

Where a housing and infrastructure phasing plan is agreed, no occupation 

shall take place other than in accordance with the agreed housing and 

infrastructure phasing plan. 

 

15) Prior to the first occupation of any dwelling within the development, details 

of a scheme to provide at least 20 bird and 30 bat boxes shall be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall 

include details of the timing of provision. The development shall be carried 
out in accordance with the approved scheme and be retained thereafter. 

 

16) Prior to the first occupation of any dwelling within a block, the refuse and 
recycling stores for that block as shown on the approved plans shall be 

carried out in accordance with the approved details and be retained 
thereafter.  

 

17) In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the 
approved development that was not previously identified it must be reported 

in writing immediately to the Local Planning Authority. An investigation and 
risk assessment must be undertaken and where remediation is necessary a 
remediation scheme, including a programme for implementation, must be 

submitted to the Local Planning Authority and approved in writing. Following 
completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme, a 

verification report must be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for 
approval. 

Page 290

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

	Agenda
	2 MINUTES - 14 JULY 2022
	3 ANNUAL MONITORING REPORT 2020-21
	4 19/00062/OPM - LAND AT MAXWELL ROAD
	5 22/00625/PATELE - BURGHLEY CLOSE
	6 22/00635/PATELE - LAND ADJACENT TO VILLAGE CARS, BROADWATER CRESCENT
	7 INFORMATION REPORT - DELEGATED DECISIONS
	8 INFORMATION REPORT - APPEALS/CALLED IN APPLICATIONS
	Appeal decision - 3255692


